MITOCHONDRIA IN SKELETAL MUSCLE HEALTH, AGING AND DISEASES

EDITED BY: Gilles Gouspillou and Russell T. Hepple PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-073-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-073-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

1

MITOCHONDRIA IN SKELETAL MUSCLE HEALTH, AGING AND DISEASES

Topic Editors:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada **Russell T. Hepple,** McGill University, Canada



Immunolabeling for Endonuclease G (red; a mitochondrial pro-apoptotic protein translocating to nuclei when mitochondria trigger apoptosis), dystrophin (green), and nuclei (blue) obtained on a muscle cross section of an old men.

Image taken and adapted, with permission, from: Gouspillou G, Sgarioto N, Kapchinsky S, Purves-Smith F, Norris B, Pion CH, Barbat-Artigas S, Lemieux F, Taivassalo T, Morais JA, Aubertin-Leheudre M, Hepple RT. Increased sensitivity to mitochondrial permeability transition and myonuclear translocation of endonuclease G in atrophied muscle of physically active older humans. FASEB J. 2014 Apr;28(4):1621-33. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-242750. Epub 2013 Dec 26.

Skeletal muscle is the most abundant tissue of the human body, making up to 40 to 50% of the human body mass. While the importance of optimal muscle function is well recognized in the athletic field, its significance for general health is often underappreciated. In fact, the evidence that muscle mass, strength and metabolism are essential for our overall health is overwhelming. As the largest protein reservoir in the human body, muscles are essential in the acute response to critical illness such as sepsis, advanced cancer, and traumatic injury. Loss of skeletal muscle mass has also been associated with weakness, fatigue, insulin resistance, falls, fractures, frailty, disability, several chronic diseases and death. As a consequence, maintaining skeletal muscle mass, strength and metabolism throughout the lifespan is critical to the maintenance of whole body health.

2

Mitochondria are fascinating organelles regulating many critical cellular processes for skeletal muscle physiology, including for instance energy supply, reactive oxygen species production, calcium homeostasis and the regulation of apoptosis. It is therefore not surprising that mitochondrial dysfunction has been implicated in a large number of adverse events/conditions and pathologies affecting skeletal muscle health.

While the importance of normal mitochondrial function is well recognized for muscle physiology, there are important aspects of mitochondrial biology that are still poorly understood. These include mitochondrial dynamics (fusion and fission processes), morphology and processes involved in mitochondrial quality control (mitophagy). Defining the mechanisms regulating these different aspects of mitochondrial biology, their importance for muscle physiology, as well as the interrelations will be critical for expanding understanding of the role played by mitochondria in skeletal muscle physiology and health.

The present research topic provides readers with novel experimental approaches, knowledge, hypotheses and findings related to all aspects of mitochondrial biology in healthy and diseased muscle cells.

Citation: Gouspillou, G., Hepple, R. T., eds. (2017). Mitochondria in Skeletal Muscle Health, Aging and Diseases. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-073-2

Table of Contents

- *Editorial: Mitochondria in Skeletal Muscle Health, Aging and Diseases* Gilles Gouspillou and Russell T. Hepple
- 10 Mitochondrial NAD(P)H In vivo: Identifying Natural Indicators of Oxidative Phosphorylation in the ³¹P Magnetic Resonance Spectrum Kevin E. Conley, Amir S. Ali, Brandon Flores, Sharon A. Jubrias and Eric G. Shankland
- 20 Mitochondrial Bioenergetics and Fiber Type Assessments in Microbiopsy vs. Bergstrom Percutaneous Sampling of Human Skeletal Muscle Meghan C. Hughes, Sofhia V. Ramos, Patrick C. Turnbull, Ali Nejatbakhsh, Brittany L. Baechler, Houman Tahmasebi, Robert Laham, Brendon J. Gurd, Joe Quadrilatero, Daniel A. Kane and Christopher G. R. Perry
- 30 The Measurement of Reversible Redox Dependent Post-translational Modifications and Their Regulation of Mitochondrial and Skeletal Muscle Function

Philip A. Kramer, Jicheng Duan, Wei-Jun Qian and David J. Marcinek

44 Hypothesis on Skeletal Muscle Aging: Mitochondrial Adenine Nucleotide Translocator Decreases Reactive Oxygen Species Production While Preserving Coupling Efficiency

Philippe Diolez, Isabelle Bourdel-Marchasson, Guillaume Calmettes, Philippe Pasdois, Dominique Detaille, Richard Rouland and Gilles Gouspillou

53 Protein Kinase A Governs Oxidative Phosphorylation Kinetics and Oxidant Emitting Potential at Complex I

Daniel S. Lark, Lauren R. Reese, Terence E. Ryan, Maria J. Torres, Cody D. Smith, Chien-Te Lin and P. Darrell Neufer

- 64 Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Bioenergetics and Morphology in High Fat Diet Induced Obesity and Insulin Resistance: Focus on Dietary Fat Source Rosalba Putti, Vincenzo Migliaccio, Raffaella Sica and Lillà Lionetti
- 72 Utilizing Small Nutrient Compounds as Enhancers of Exercise-Induced Mitochondrial Biogenesis

Daniel M. Craig, Stephen P. Ashcroft, Micah Y. Belew, Ben Stocks, Kevin Currell, Keith Baar and Andrew Philp

83 On the Mechanism by Which Dietary Nitrate Improves Human Skeletal Muscle Function

Charles Affourtit, Stephen J. Bailey, Andrew M. Jones, Miranda J. Smallwood and Paul G. Winyard

91 In utero *Undernutrition Programs Skeletal and Cardiac Muscle Metabolism* Brittany Beauchamp and Mary-Ellen Harper

4

- *98 Mitochondrial Quality Control and Muscle Mass Maintenance* Vanina Romanello and Marco Sandri
- 119 Mitochondrial Regulation of the Muscle Microenvironment in Critical Limb Ischemia

Terence E. Ryan, Cameron A. Schmidt, Tom D. Green, David A. Brown, P. Darrell Neufer and Joseph M. McClung

128 Complex Coordination of Cell Plasticity by a PGC-1α-controlled Transcriptional Network in Skeletal Muscle

Barbara Kupr and Christoph Handschin

135 Regulation of Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Activity by Thyroid Hormones: Focus on the "Old" Triiodothyronine and the "Emerging" 3,5-Diiodothyronine Assunta Lombardi, Maria Moreno, Pieter de Lange, Susanna Iossa, Rosa A. Busiello and Fernando Goglia





Editorial: Mitochondria in Skeletal Muscle Health, Aging and Diseases

Gilles Gouspillou^{1, 2, 3*} and Russell T. Hepple^{4, 5}

¹ Département des Sciences de l'Activité Physique, Faculté des Sciences, Université du Québec à Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ² Groupe de Recherche en Activité Physique Adaptée, Montreal, QC, Canada, ³ Centre de Recherche de l'Institut, Universitaire de Gériatrie de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁴ Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁵ Meakins-Christie Laboratory, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada

Keywords: muscle, aging, mitochondria, metabolism, mitophagy, mitochondrial dynamics, bioenergetics, muscle fibers

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Mitochondria in Skeletal Muscle Health, Aging and Diseases

Mitochondria are fascinating organelles regulating many critical cellular processes for skeletal muscle physiology. Indeed, they play central roles in muscle cell metabolism, energy supply, the regulation of energy-sensitive signaling pathways, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production/signaling, calcium homeostasis and the regulation of apoptosis (Brookes et al., 2004). Given these multifaceted roles of mitochondria in fundamental aspects of skeletal muscle cell physiology, it is not surprising that mitochondrial dysfunction has been implicated in a large number of adverse conditions affecting skeletal muscle health. This includes for instance the aging-related loss of muscle mass and function (Dirks and Leeuwenburgh, 2004; Short et al., 2005; Chabi et al., 2008; Gouspillou et al., 2010, 2014a,b; Picard et al., 2010; Hepple, 2014), disuse-induced muscle atrophy (Min et al., 2011), ventilator-induced diaphragmatic dysfunction (Picard et al., 2015), Duchenne and collagen muscular dystrophies (Godin et al., 2012; Bernardi and Bonaldo, 2013), long-term muscle dysfunction induced by chemotherapy treatment (Gouspillou et al., 2015; Power et al., 2016), and the development of insulin resistance (Goodpaster, 2013).

While the importance of normal mitochondrial function is well recognized for muscle physiology, there are important aspects of mitochondrial biology that are still poorly understood/investigated in the highly specialized muscle tissue. These include mitochondrial dynamics (fusion and fission processes), morphology and processes involved in mitochondrial quality control (mitophagy). Defining the mechanisms regulating these different aspects of mitochondrial biology, their importance for muscle physiology, as well as the interrelations existing between mitochondrial function, morphology, dynamics and mitophagy will be critical to further increase our understanding of the role played by mitochondria in skeletal muscle physiology and pathophysiology. The aim of the present research topic was therefore to bring together key experiments, advances, knowledge and new findings related to all aspects of mitochondrial biology in healthy and/or diseased muscle cells.

The accurate assessment of mitochondrial function is of crucial importance to dissect the role played by mitochondrial dysfunction in pathologies affecting skeletal muscles. It is also essential for the clear identification of mitochondrial adaptations to various interventions, such as nutritional or physical activity interventions. In the present research topic, Conley et al. provide a promising approach to assess mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation *in vivo* by monitoring changes in mitochondrial NAD(P)H using ³¹P NMR spectroscopy. In their study, Conley et al. show that a unique resonance (-11.05 ppm) in the *in vivo* ³¹P spectrum provides a natural indicator of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Peter J. Reiser, Ohio State University, USA

*Correspondence: Gilles Gouspillou gouspillou.gilles@uqam.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 August 2016 Accepted: 20 September 2016 Published: 06 October 2016

Citation:

Gouspillou G and Hepple RT (2016) Editorial: Mitochondria in Skeletal Muscle Health, Aging and Diseases. Front. Physiol. 7:446. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00446 mitochondrial oxidation that is sensitive to the increase in mitochondrial phosphorylation rate induced by exercise training in elderly individuals.

One of the commonly used methods to assess mitochondrial function in vitro in skeletal muscle is the preparation of permeabilized myofibers (Kuznetsov et al., 2008). To be applied in humans, this technique requires biopsies to collect muscle samples. While the Bergstrom biopsy technique (Bergstrom, 1975) is the gold standard to collect skeletal muscle samples, a growing interest now surrounds microbiospsies due to their lower level of invasiveness (Havot et al., 2005). However, no previous in-depth validation of this method for the assessment of mitochondrial function in permeabilized myofibers and for the assessment of muscle phenotype had been performed to date. Hughes et al. therefore compared mitochondrial bioenergetics in muscle sample obtained through Bergstrom biopsies vs. microbiopsies. They reveal that microbiopsies can provide a reliable assessment of mitochondrial bioenergetics only when assay conditions are supplemented with the myosin ATPase inhibitor Blebistatin. However, the authors highlight that caution should be taken when assessing muscle fiber type composition using the microbiopsy approach, since significant differences in fiber type proportion were observed between the two approaches (Hughes et al.).

Oxidative stress is thought to play an important role in skeletal muscle dysfunction and atrophy seen in aging, disuse, and many skeletal muscle pathologies (Powers et al., 2012; Johnson et al., 2013). Because they are considered as one of the main sources of ROS production, mitochondria are a key focus in the field of oxidative stress. While reactive oxygen and nitrogen species were initially only seen as detrimental for muscle cells, it is now recognized that these reactive species are essential for normal skeletal muscle physiology (Sohal and Orr, 2012), mainly through the reversible redox post-translational modifications they can induce. The ability to accurately quantify reversible redox post-translational modifications is therefore critical to investigate the mechanisms by which mitochondrial oxidative stress contributes to skeletal muscle dysfunction in diseases. In their article, Kramer et al. provide a detailed review of the available literature on reversible redox post-translational modifications and mitochondrial and skeletal muscle function. They then provide critical review on current approaches to assess reversible redox post-translational modifications (Kramer et al.).

Several studies have implicated altered kinetic properties of the adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT) in the agingrelated impairment in mitochondrial energetics in skeletal muscle cells (Yan and Sohal, 1998; Gouspillou et al., 2014b). In the present research topic, Diolez et al. formulate the interesting hypothesis that these alterations in ANT could represent a protective mechanism to limit ROS production in aged muscle mitochondria while moderately disrupting mitochondrial energetics. Considering the importance of ROS as therapeutic targets, this hypothetical mechanism deserves further study.

The present research topic also provides readers with fundamental advancement in our understanding of the regulation of mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle cells. Indeed, in an elegant study, Lark et al. provide evidence that Protein Kinase A (PKA) can regulate mitochondrial energetics and H_2O_2 emission. Using PKA inhibitors and various mitochondrial substrates, they show that this regulation occurs at the level of Complex I. Finally, they provide new insights on how mitochondrial cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production, cAMP being a positive regulator of PKA, is regulated (Lark et al.).

Understanding how nutrition modulates mitochondrial biology in muscle cells is of tremendous importance in the field of medicine. For instance, mitochondrial dysfunction has been suggested to be causally involved in obesity-induced insulin resistance and in the pathophysiology of type II diabetes (Goodpaster, 2013). Precisely defining how skeletal muscle mitochondria respond to obesogenic diet feeding is therefore of critical importance. In the present research topic, Putti et al. provide readers with a mini-review focused on the impacts of different dietary fat sources on mitochondrial bioenergetics, morphology and dynamics in skeletal muscle cells in the context of insulin-resistance. They also highlight the pressing need for mechanistic studies to confirm *in vivo* the relationship between mitochondrial morphology and dynamics and the development of insulin-resistance (Putti et al.).

Besides being of particular interest for the field of medicine, defining the impact of nutrition on mitochondrial biology is also an important research topic in the field of exercise physiology. The present research topic features two important review articles in this field. The first one, written by Craig et al. critically reviews the available literature on the utilization of small nutrients, such as caffeine, green tea extracts, polyphenols and amino-acids to enhance the impact of exercise training on mitochondrial biogenesis. They also provide recommendations and guidance for future studies that are required to explore the efficacy of these nutrients in humans, as well as the exercise setting in which they may prove beneficial (Craig et al.). The second review, written by Affourtit et al., first provides a state-of-the-art review of the available literature on the beneficial effects of dietary nitrate on human performance. Affourtit et al. then critically review the available experimental data in relation to the underlying mechanisms, with a particular emphasis on the impact of nitrate on mitochondrial bioenergetics.

It is now well established that low birth weight is associated with an increase in the risk of developing disease in later life such as coronary heart disease, diabetes, hypertension and stroke (see de Boo and Harding, 2006; Gluckman et al., 2008 for detailed reviews). Maternal undernutrition ranks as one of the most important causes that can lead to low birth weight (de Boo and Harding, 2006). In the present research topic, Beauchamp and Harper review the available evidence indicating that in utero undernutrition results in a metabolic reprogramming in both cardiac and skeletal muscles, characterized for instance by a reduction in mitochondrial content and respiration in the offspring. They also provide insights into the underlying mechanisms and provide a rationale linking the metabolic alterations resulting from in utero undernutrition to the increased risk of developing metabolic diseases (Beauchamp and Harper).

As mentioned earlier, mitochondrial dysfunction has been implicated in many conditions associated with muscle atrophy, including aging, cancer cachexia, and disuse-induced muscle atrophy (Dirks and Leeuwenburgh, 2004; Short et al., 2005; Chabi et al., 2008; Gouspillou et al., 2010, 2014a,b; Picard et al., 2010, 2015; Min et al., 2011; Hepple, 2014; Argilés et al., 2015). While the field to date has mainly focused on mitochondrial function (i.e., energetics, ROS production and mitochondrial mediated apoptosis), a growing interest now surrounds mechanisms involved in mitochondrial quality control (i.e., mechanisms responsible for the degradation of damaged / dysfunctional mitochondria). In the present research topic, Romanello and Sandri provide readers with a thorough and critical review on the current knowledge linking mitochondrial function, dynamics and quality control in the regulation of muscle mass. They also highlight several research avenues and challenges that will undoubtedly stimulate the field (Romanello and Sandri).

In the present research topic, Ryan et al. contributed a very interesting review paper focused on skeletal muscle and endothelial cell mitochondria in the setting of Critical Limb Ischemia. The latter is the most severe clinical presentation of peripheral arterial disease and manifests as chronic ischaemic "rest pain" and/or ischaemic skin lesions (Minar, 2009). Unfortunately, there is no effective way to treat the muscle myopathies caused by this disease. In their review, Ryan et al. first highlight the importance of skeletal muscle in the manifestation of Critical Limb Ischemia, and then provide a strong and exciting rationale for a role for endothelial cell and skeletal muscle mitochondria in the patient outcomes. As such, they propose that limb muscle and endothelial cell mitochondria should be considered as targets for novel therapeutic intervention (Ryan et al.).

Skeletal muscles have an impressive capacity to adapt to mechanical and physiological challenges by changing their phenotype in terms of size, fiber type, capillarization levels and aerobic capacity. Although skeletal muscle plasticity has been the focus of intense research effort, the molecular mechanisms underlying muscle plasticity are still incompletely understood.

REFERENCES

- Argilés, J. M., Lopez-Soriano, F. J., and Busquets, S. (2015). Muscle wasting in cancer: the role of mitochondria. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care.* 18, 221–225. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000164
- Bergstrom, J. (1975). Percutaneous needle biopsy of skeletal muscle in physiological and clinical research. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 35, 609–616.
- Bernardi, P., and Bonaldo, P. (2013). Mitochondrial dysfunction and defective autophagy in the pathogenesis of collagen VI muscular dystrophies. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 5:a011387. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011387
- Brookes, P. S., Yoon, Y., Robotham, J. L., Anders, M. W., and Sheu, S. S. (2004). Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 287, C817–C833. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00139.2004
- Chabi, B., Ljubicic, V., Menzies, K. J., Huang, J. H., Saleem, A., and Hood, D. A. (2008). Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell.* 7, 2–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007. 00347.x

Since the seminal paper published by Spiegleman's group in 2002 (Lin et al., 2002), in which PGC-1 α over-expression was shown to result in an increase in the proportion of slow-oxidative fibers, PGC-1 α has attracted sustained attention. In the present research topic, Kupr and Handschin discuss recent advances in our understanding of how PGC-1 α regulates skeletal muscle cell plasticity in health and disease. They also highlight further avenues of research to fully decrypt how PGC-1 α influences muscle plasticity in health and disease (Kupr and Handschin).

Although often overlooked, our endocrine system exerts an important control on the regulation of mitochondrial mass and function in skeletal muscle cells, especially through thyroid hormones (Salvatore et al., 2014). Amongst thyroid hormones exerting control on mitochondrial biology in skeletal muscle cells, 3,5,3'-Triiodo-L-thyronine (T3) has been extensively studied (Salvatore et al., 2014). In the present research topic, Lumbardi et al. review the experimental evidence indicating that 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine (T2), and emerging iodothyronines also impact mitochondrial metabolism in skeletal muscle cells (Lombardi et al.). These novel aspects of thyroid physiology reviewed in Lombardi et al. open new perspectives for understanding the involvement of skeletal muscle mitochondria in systemic consequences of hypo- and hyper-thyroidism.

Because of the diversity and the quality of the articles compiled herein, we feel the present research topic was a success. We hope that it will not only provide readers with new insights and viewpoints on the role played by mitochondria in skeletal muscle health, aging and diseases, but will also serve as a platform to stimulate new ideas, experiments and research projects for further advances in the field.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GG and RH co-wrote and approved this Editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all authors, reviewers and Frontiers Editorial Staffs for their precious contributions to this Research Topic.

- de Boo, H. A., and Harding, J. E. (2006). The developmental origins of adult disease (Barker) hypothesis. Aust. N.Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 46, 4–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.2006.00506.x
- Dirks, A. J., and Leeuwenburgh, C. (2004). Aging and lifelong calorie restriction result in adaptations of skeletal muscle apoptosis repressor, apoptosis-inducing factor, X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis, caspase-3, and caspase-12. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 36, 27–39. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003.10.003
- Gluckman, P. D., Hanson, M. A., Cooper, C., and Thornburg, K. L. (2008). Effect of *in utero* and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 61–73. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0708473
- Godin, R., Daussin, F., Matecki, S., Li, T., Petrof, B. J., and Burelle, Y. (2012). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator1- gene alpha transfer restores mitochondrial biomass and improves mitochondrial calcium handling in post-necrotic mdx mouse skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 590(Pt 21), 5487–5502. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.240390
- Goodpaster, B. H. (2013). Mitochondrial deficiency is associated with insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 62, 1032–1035. doi: 10.2337/db12-1612

- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Biran, M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2014b). Mitochondrial energetics is impaired *in vivo* in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell*. 13, 39–48. doi: 10.1111/acel.12147
- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Franconi, J. M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2010). Alteration of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in aged skeletal muscle involves modification of adenine nucleotide translocator. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1797, 143–151. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.09.004
- Gouspillou, G., Scheede-Bergdahl, C., Spendiff, S., Vuda, M., Meehan, B., Mlynarski, H., et al. (2015). Anthracycline-containing chemotherapy causes long-term impairment of mitochondrial respiration and increased reactive oxygen species release in skeletal muscle. *Sci. Rep.* 5:8717. doi: 10.1038/srep08717
- Gouspillou, G., Sgarioto, N., Kapchinsky, S., Purves-Smith, F., Norris, B., Pion, C. H., et al. (2014a). Increased sensitivity to mitochondrial permeability transition and myonuclear translocation of endonuclease G in atrophied muscle of physically active older humans. *FASEB J.* 28, 1621–1633. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-242750
- Hayot, M., Michaud, A., Koechlin, C., Caron, M. A., Leblanc, P., Préfaut, C., et al. (2005). Skeletal muscle microbiopsy: a validation study of a minimally invasive technique. *Eur. Respir. J.* 25, 431–440. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00053404
- Hepple, R. T. (2014). Mitochondrial involvement and impact in aging skeletal muscle. Front. Aging Neurosci. 6:211. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00211
- Johnson, M. L., Robinson, M. M., and Nair, K. S. (2013). Skeletal muscle aging and the mitochondrion. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 24, 247–256. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.12.003
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Veksler, V., Gellerich, F. N., Saks, V., Margreiter, R., and Kunz, W. S. (2008). Analysis of mitochondrial function *in situ* in permeabilized muscle fibers, tissues and cells. *Nat. Protoc.* 3, 965–976. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.61
- Lin, J., Wu, H., Tarr, P. T., Zhang, C. Y., Wu, Z., Boss, O., et al. (2002). Transcriptional co-activator PGC-1 alpha drives the formation of slow-twitch muscle fibres. *Nature* 418, 797–801. doi: 10.1038/nature00904
- Min, K., Smuder, A. J., Kwon, O. S., Kavazis, A. N., Szeto, H. H., and Powers, S. K. (2011). Mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants protect skeletal muscle against immobilization-induced muscle atrophy. J. Appl. Physiol. 111, 1459–1466. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00591.2011
- Minar, E. (2009). Critical limb ischaemia. Hamostaseologie 29, 102-109.

- Picard, M., Azuelos, I., Jung, B., Giordano, C., Matecki, S., Hussain, S., et al. (2015). Mechanical ventilation triggers abnormal mitochondrial dynamics and morphology in the diaphragm. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 1161–1171. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00873.2014
- Picard, M., Ritchie, D., Wright, K. J., Romestaing, C., Thomas, M. M., Rowan, S. L., et al. (2010). Mitochondrial functional impairment with aging is exaggerated in isolated mitochondria compared to permeabilized myofibers. *Aging Cell.* 9, 1032–1046. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00628.x
- Power, G. A., Minozzo, F. C., Spendiff, S., Filion, M.-E., Konokhova, Y., Purves-Smith, M. F., et al. (2016). Reduction in single muscle fiber rate of force development with aging is not attenuated in world class older masters athletes. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 310, C318–C327. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00289.2015
- Powers, S. K., Smuder, A. J., and Judge, A. R. (2012). Oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy: cause or consequence? *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 15, 240–245. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328352b4c2
- Salvatore, D., Simonides, W. S., Dentice, M., Zavacki, A. M., and Larsen, P. R. (2014). Thyroid hormones and skeletal muscle-new insights and potential implications. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 10, 206–214. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.238
- Short, K. R., Bigelow, M. L., Kahl, J., Singh, R., Coenen-Schimke, J., Raghavakaimal, S., et al. (2005). Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial function with aging in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 5618–5623. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501559102
- Sohal, R. S., and Orr, W. C. (2012). The redox stress hypothesis of aging. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 52, 539–555. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.10.445
- Yan, L. J., and Sohal, R. S. (1998). Mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocase is modified oxidatively during aging. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 12896–12901.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Gouspillou and Hepple. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mitochondrial NAD(P)H *In vivo*: Identifying Natural Indicators of Oxidative Phosphorylation in the ³¹P Magnetic Resonance Spectrum

Kevin E. Conley^{1,2,3*}, Amir S. Ali¹, Brandon Flores¹, Sharon A. Jubrias¹ and Eric G. Shankland¹

¹ Department of Radiology, University of Washington Medical Center, Seattle, WA, USA, ² Department of Physiology and Biophysics, University of Washington Medical Center, Seattle, WA, USA, ³ Department of Bioengineering, University of Washington Medical Center, Seattle, WA, USA

Natural indicators provide intrinsic probes of metabolism, biogenesis and oxidative protection. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide metabolites (NAD(P)) are one class of indicators that have roles as co-factors in oxidative phosphorylation, glycolysis, and anti-oxidant protection, as well as signaling in the mitochondrial biogenesis pathway. These many roles are made possible by the distinct redox states (NAD(P)⁺ and NAD(P)H), which are compartmentalized between cytosol and mitochondria. Here we provide evidence for detection of NAD(P)⁺ and NAD(P)H in separate mitochondrial and cytosol pools in vivo in human tissue by phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy (³¹P MRS). These NAD(P) pools are identified by chemical standards (NAD⁺, NADP⁺, and NADH) and by physiological tests. A unique resonance reflecting mitochondrial NAD(P)H is revealed by the changes elicited by elevation of mitochondrial oxidation. The decline of NAD(P)H with oxidation is matched by a stoichiometric rise in the NAD(P)⁺ peak. This unique resonance also provides a measure of the improvement in mitochondrial oxidation that parallels the greater phosphorylation found after exercise training in these elderly subjects. The implication is that the dynamics of the mitochondrial NAD(P)H peak provides an intrinsic probe of the reversal of mitochondrial dysfunction in elderly muscle. Thus, non-invasive detection of NAD(P)⁺ and NAD(P)H in cytosol vs. mitochondria yields natural indicators of redox compartmentalization and sensitive intrinsic probes of the improvement of mitochondrial function with an intervention in human tissues in vivo. These natural indicators hold the promise of providing mechanistic insight into metabolism and mitochondrial function in vivo in a range of tissues in health, disease and with treatment.

Keywords: magnetic resonance spectroscopy, ^{31}P MRS, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, NAD⁺, NADP⁺, muscle, exercise

INTRODUCTION

Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide is a co-enzyme that is integral to cell and mitochondrial metabolism (Williamson et al., 1967; Stubbs et al., 1972; Nicholls and Ferguson, 2002; Ying, 2008; White and Schenk, 2012) and has a signaling role in mitochondrial biogenesis (Imai, 2011; Canto and Auwerx, 2012). NADH is a key player in oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Russell T. Hepple, McGill University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Douglas Root, University of North Texas, USA Giorgos K. Sakkas, University of St. Mark & St. John, UK

> *Correspondence: Kevin E. Conley kconley@uw.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 29 October 2015 Accepted: 01 February 2016 Published: 30 March 2016

Citation:

Conley KE, Ali AS, Flores B, Jubrias SA and Shankland EG (2016) Mitochondrial NAD(P)H In vivo: Identifying Natural Indicators of Oxidative Phosphorylation in the ³¹P Magnetic Resonance Spectrum Front. Physiol. 7:45. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00045

(Nicholls and Ferguson, 2002) and in glycolysis (Williamson et al., 1967; Stubbs et al., 1972), while the related metabolite, NADP, is important in anti-oxidant protection (Ying, 2008). Optical methods detect the sum of these compounds (NAD⁺ and $NADP^+ = NAD(P)^+$) and can resolve their cellular location to provide natural indicators of mitochondrial function and cytosolic redox state (NAD(P)H/NAD(P)⁺) (Jobsis and Duffield, 1967; Barlow and Chance, 1976; Wendt and Chapman, 1976; Scholz et al., 1995; Mayevsky and Rogatsky, 2007; Gandra et al., 2012; Claflin et al., 2015). These measures have lead to insight into the role of NAD(P) redox in oxidative stress (Ying, 2008; Murphy, 2009; Aon et al., 2010; Massudi et al., 2012a), as an index of oxygenation states (Barlow and Chance, 1976; Mayevsky and Rogatsky, 2007), and as a probe of mitochondrial (dys)function in age and disease (Heikal, 2010; Massudi et al., 2012b; Claflin et al., 2015). However, optical measures are typically limited to isolated tissues and are limited in depth penetration in vivo. A non-invasive measure of NAD(P) in vivo would open a window on cell and mitochondrial metabolism in age and disease as well as the impact of treatments to reverse metabolic dysfunction.

Non-invasive magnetic resonance methods now make detecting NAD(P)⁺ and NAD(P)H in vivo possible both in animals and humans (de Graaf and Behar, 2014; Zhu et al., 2015). A distinct spectral position (chemical shift, CS) in the phosphorus spectrum (³¹P MRS) is found for each metabolite representing the NAD(P)⁺ and NAD(P)H redox states (Lu et al., 2014). It may also be possible to distinguish the cellular location of these NAD(P) redox states since several metabolites are reported to show distinct CS in the ³¹P MR spectrum between these two compartments (Garlick et al., 1983; Hutson et al., 1989, 1992). For example, both ATP and NADP⁺ show striking differences in CS with Mg²⁺ binding at the low metal concentration in the cytosol vs. the 10-fold higher level found in mitochondria (Mas and Colman, 1984; Gout et al., 2014). Inorganic phosphate also shows a significant chemical shift in vivo as a result of the pH difference in cytosol vs. mitochondria (Garlick et al., 1983; Hutson et al., 1992; Kan et al., 2010). There are also promising studies suggesting that NAD(P) redox states can be distinguished between the mitochondria vs. the cytosol. These studies found that phosphoryl compounds related to NAD(P) showed CS differences between erythrocytes vs. the bathing solution that are large enough to be detected by ³¹P MRS (Kirk and Kuchel, 1988a,c). Thus, it may be possible to detect a NAD(P)H CS difference inside mitochondria relative to the cytosol in the ³¹P MR spectrum thereby providing a natural indicator of key player in oxidative phosphorylation.

Here we describe a unique resonance in the ³¹P MRS spectrum that conforms with the properties of NAD(P)H in mitochondria in human muscle *in vivo*. The aim of this study was to test the nature of this new resonance and determine if it provides a natural indicator of mitochondrial oxidative function. The first test compared this unique resonance to chemical standards of metabolites known to be present in the same region of the ³¹P MR spectrum, including NAD⁺, NADP⁺, NADH, and NADPH (Kushmerick et al., 1986). No overlap in the spectral position (chemical shift) of the unique resonance vs. that of known metabolites was found. Two additional tests

were performed to determine whether dynamics elicited in this peak by exercise conformed with changes expected for mitochondrial NAD(P)H. This functional test was designed to elevate oxidative phosphorylation and involved 40 elderly subjects before and after exercise training. The pre-training test revealed a reciprocal decline in the unique resonance vs. elevation in NAD(P)⁺, which are changes consistent with oxidation of mitochondrial NAD(P)H to NAD(P)⁺. The posttraining test found a greater change in the unique resonance after exercise training, which is consistent with elevated oxidation and the greater phosphorylation rate reported in these subjects. Taken together, these results provide evidence that this MRS detectable resonance conforms to the properties of mitochondrial NAD(P)H. Thus, this unique resonance holds promise as the first natural indicator of the inner workings of oxidative phosphorylation in the ³¹P MRS spectrum. It also holds promise as a sensitive indicator of the mitochondrial response to treatments designed to improve mitochondrial function.

METHODS

Subjects

An elderly group consisted of 40 subjects (18 male, 22 female) ranging in age from 65 to 80 years (68.8 ± 5.9 years, means \pm S.E.M.). Subjects were not involved in formal exercise training, were in good health and had no significant cardiac, neurological, or musculoskeletal disease, as we have described (Conley et al., 2000; Jubrias et al., 2001). All subjects voluntarily gave informed, written consent as approved by the University of Washington Human Subjects Review Committee and in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

MR Methods

A General Electric 1.5 T Signa imager/spectrometer was used for the in vivo spectra as described (Conley et al., 2000). A 9 cm diameter surface coil tuned to the phosphorus frequency (25.9 MHz) was placed over the vastus lateralis muscle of the thigh. The B₁ field homogeneity was optimized by off resonance proton shimming on the muscle water peak. The unfiltered PCr linewidth (full width at half-maximal height) was typically 4-8. Each subject had a high resolution ³¹P MR spectrum of the resting vastus lateralis muscle taken under conditions of fully relaxed nuclear spins (16 free-induction decays (FID) with a 16s interpulse delay) using a spectral width of $\pm 1250 \,\text{Hz}$ and 2048 data points. Since volume selective methods were not used in collection, the spectra represent signal from a hemispherical volume defined by the coil radius. No volume selective methods were used to collect the spectra. Dynamic changes during stimulation and recovery were made using a standard 1-pulse experiment with partially saturated nuclear spins (1.5 s interpulse delay). Artifacts due to movement were reduced by stabilizing the limb during the muscle contractions. All fully relaxed spectra were zero filled from 2048 to 4096 points, Fourier transformed with 15 Hz apodization, baseline corrected, and manually phased using the Mnova software package (Mestrelab Research, Santiago de Compostela (Spain)). No other spectral treatment was employed.

Chemical Phantoms

Metabolites that resonate in the NAD(P) region of the ³¹P MR spectrum were identified from muscle extracts (Kushmerick et al., 1986). Solutions containing these chemicals were prepared using binding constants taken from the USA National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Critically Selected Stability Constants of Metal Complexes Database (see Kushmerick, 1997). All solutions contained (in mmol/L): EGTA 15, MOPS 80, free Mg^{2+} 1, Na⁺ 83, and K⁺ 52. The following were varied in individual solutions: ATP, ADP, P_i, Creatine Phosphate (PCr), ADP, NAD⁺, NADH, NADP⁺, or UDP-Glucose. The ionic strength was maintained at 0.175 M, pH = 7.0 (36°C) in all solutions. High-resolution MR spectra of individual solutions in an NMR tube were taken at 4.7T (sweep width = 10,000 Hz, 16 K complex points, 128 FIDs, 5 s delay between pulses).

Peak Simulations

Resonances were simulated at 1.5T using the spin parameters and chemical shifts for the simulations determined from NAD⁺, NADP⁺, and NADH in physiological solution at 4.7T. The Spin Simulation feature of the Mnova software (Mestrelab Research, Santiago de Compostela (Spain)) permitted determining the spectral properties of these resonances. The line-width of the simulated resonances were fixed to that of α -ATP due to the similar chemical environment of the two phosphate groups in NAD(P). The details of this process have been described (Lu et al., 2014).

NAD(P) Region In vivo

The -10.4 to -11.3 region containing NAD⁺ and NADP⁺ was extracted from the fully relaxed spectra by fitting a Lorenzian line shape to the α -ATP peak (**Figure 1**). The spectral intensity of this region was integrated as well as three sub-regions: -10.5 to -10.68 ppm (NADH), -10.69 to -10.92 (NAD(P)⁺) and -10.93 to -11.30 (hereafter, -11.05 ppm). The dynamic changes in these regions were determined by subtraction spectra normalized to the α -ATP level between stimulated vs. resting muscle and during recovery vs. resting muscle.

Stimulation and Recovery Protocol

The quadriceps muscles were activated by transcutaneous electrical stimulation of the femoral nerve, as previously described (Blei et al., 1993; Conley et al., 2000). Spectra were collected during rest, stimulation and recovery to measure the PCr, P_i , ATP, and the NAD(P) region peaks. Spectra were averaged during each of the three periods to analyze the NAD(P) region peaks:

Control period (60 s, 10 spectra): Baseline data were obtained during resting muscle conditions to establish initial metabolite peak levels.

Stimulation period (120 s, 20 spectra): A 3 Hz electrical stimulation period was used to decrease [PCr] and activate NAD(P)H synthesis.

Aerobic recovery (300 s, 50 spectra): upon cessation of stimulation, PCr recovery was followed until restoration of baseline levels during which NAD(P)H oxidation was determined.

Statistics

Pre- vs. post-training differences relative to zero were tested with a 2-tailed Student's *t*-test. No adjustment for multiple comparisons was made as per reference (Perneger, 1998). Statistical differences are reported at P < 0.05. Means are reported \pm SEM.

RESULTS

Here we show evidence for a unique resonance in the ³¹P spectrum corresponding to NAD(P)H in mitochondria. To identify this resonance, we first compare the unique resonance against known metabolites in muscle. Second, we test the link between the unique resonance vs. the change in mitochondrial content that came with exercise training in these subjects. Third, we use an acute exercise bout to activate NAD(P)H oxidation to test for changes in the resonance and determine whether these changes (oxidation) parallel the improvement in phosphorylation found after exercise training in these subjects.

Unique Resonance in ³¹P Spectrum *In vivo*

The presence of an unidentified peak in the ³¹P MR spectrum of human muscle is illustrated in Figure 1. An expansion of the spectrum in the α -ATP region shows the NAD(P) peak region from -10.4 to -11.3 ppm. This spectrum was taken from an elderly vastus lateralis muscle under MR conditions in which peak areas reflect their chemical content (i.e., fully relaxed conditions). The resonances for chemical standards of NADH (-10.6 ppm), NAD⁺ (-10.75 ppm), and NADP⁺ (-10.84 ppm) are superimposed on the NAD region from the in vivo spectrum in Panel B [UDP-glucose is also present (Kushmerick et al., 1986) and resonates in this region at -10.84 in *in vitro* solutions that emulate in vivo conditions]. This comparison highlights the presence of an additional resonance centered at -11.05 ppm in the NAD(P) region. Thus, the unique resonance at -11.05 ppm does not correspond with resonances for metabolites in this spectral region that have been identified in tissue extracts (Kushmerick et al., 1986).

Unique Resonance is 40% of Total NAD(P) Integral

The NAD(P) integral is 11% of the area of α -ATP (11.5 ± 1.0%), which agrees with the total NAD per ATP content (7–12%; Sahlin, 1983; Henriksson et al., 1986) reported from biochemical analyses in human vastus lateralis muscle (Sahlin, 1983; Henriksson et al., 1986; Ren et al., 1988). Based on the ATP level in these muscles (5.8 mM; Conley et al., 2000), the full integral (0.7 mM) contains 0.4 mM NAD(P) (60% of the integral) vs. 0.5 mM measured for total NAD in young muscle (Henriksson et al., 1986). The unique resonance at -11.05 ppm is the second largest peak in the NAD(P) integral (**Figure 1C**), which translates to 0.25 mM (38% of the total). This is close to the value (0.26 mM) estimated from the NADH content of muscle mitochondria (heart, 10 nmole/mg mitochondrial protein, Alano et al., 2007) and the mitochondrial volume density of the elderly muscle in this study [3% (Conley et al., 2000), i.e., 10 nmole/mg × mg



FIGURE 1 | **NAD(P)** resonances *in vivo* in human muscle. (A) ³¹ P magnetic resonance spectrum from human vastus lateralis at 1.5T with expansion of α -ATP and NAD(P). (B) Resonances for NADH, NAD+, and NADP+ (dashed lines) vs. the *in vivo* spectrum (blue) reveal an unidentified peak (arrow, -11.05 ppm). (C) Content of the three resonances *in vivo* [NAD(P)] per ATP content, mean % ± SEM, *n* = 39 (Conley et al., 2000).

protein/ μ l (Vinnakota and Bassingthwaighte, 2004) × 0.03 μ l mito/ μ l muscle = 0.26 nmole/ μ l or 0.26 mM]. Thus, two key segments of the NAD(P) region *in vivo* are consistent in size with the contents of total NAD⁺ assayed in muscle and NADH estimated from mitochondrial volume density of human muscle.

In contrast, the small resonance at -10.6 ppm associated with NADH in solution was 5% of the total integral in the NAD(P) region or ~0.01 mM. A low NADH content in the cell is expected from the oxidized NAD redox state maintained by enzyme equilibria linked to the phosphorylation potential (Williamson et al., 1967; Stubbs et al., 1972). This low value agrees with the NADH levels in older bioluminescent assays on human vastus lateralis tissue (0.02 mM at rest, Henriksson et al., 1986). These findings suggest that the chemical standard for NADH at -10.6 ppm identifies the resonance for the small cellular NADH pool, while the larger -11.05 ppm resonance is more consistent with the mitochondrial NAD(P)H pool. Thus, the metabolite content represented by the -10.4 ppm to -11.3 ppm integral, which includes the unique resonance at -11.05 ppm, is in reasonable agreement with the total NAD(P) content reported from biochemical analysis of vastus lateralis muscle tissue.

Increase in –11.05 ppm Peak and Mitochondrial Volume with Exercise Training

Our second test of the nature of the unique resonance took advantage of the increased mitochondrial content that accompanied a 6-mo exercise training program in these subjects (Jubrias et al., 2001). We tested whether the -11.05 ppm resonance increased in proportion to the elevation in mitochondrial volume density found with resistance training (RT) in these subjects (Δ 31%). Figure 2 shows the significant changes in the -11.05 ppm resonance with RT in elderly subjects (Δ 39%), while no change was found on average in either property in control (CN) or endurance trained (ET) groups. Also, no change was found in the NADH peak area at -10.60 ppm in the RT group ($0.1 \pm 0.5\%$ ATP). Thus, the adaptation in the -11.05 ppm peak was exclusively associated with that of mitochondrial volume density with exercise training.



Reciprocal Change in -11.05 ppm Peak vs. NAD(P)⁺ with Elevated Oxidation

A third test involved an exercise and recovery bout designed to alter the NAD(P) resonances by elevating oxidative phosphorylation, as shown in **Figure 3**.

Figure 3A shows the changes in creatine phosphate (PCr), a natural indicator of cell ATP use and re-synthesis, during an exercise and recovery bout. Exercise consisted of a 2 min muscle stimulation period that increased ATP use resulting in depletion of PCr level from the resting state (red line). The curvilinear shape of the PCr breakdown curve indicates that activation of ATP synthesis by mitochondria reduces the net breakdown toward the end of the stimulation period. Once stimulation ends and contractile ATP demand ceases, oxidative phosphorylation predominates (blue line) and PCr is resynthesized to quickly return to resting levels.

Figure 3B shows the ³¹P spectra of the NAD(P) region taken from 10 subjects during these two periods. The spectrum collected from resting muscle (black line) represents the low oxidative phosphorylation condition. The spectrum collected from muscle during stimulation is shown in by red lines (left hand panels) and that collected during the recovery period of elevated oxidative phosphorylation is shown by the blue lines



(right hand panels). The solid arrows show the reciprocal changes in the -10.75 ppm and in the -11.05 ppm region.

Figure 3C shows the net differences in these regions with subtraction of these spectra. The change in the -10.75 ppm region is outlined by several dashed peaks. These peaks represent the resonances of the following chemical metabolites in solution: NADH (-10.6 ppm), NAD⁺ (-10.75 ppm), and NADP⁺ (10.83 ppm). Note that the decline in the -10.75 ppm region with stimulation (red arrows) is matched by an equal rise in the -11.05 ppm region. The opposite changes are seen during recovery from stimulation (blue line): the -11.75 ppm region rises and the -11.05 ppm region declines.

Figure 3D shows the integration of the peak areas in the difference spectra. Equal and opposite change in the -10.75 vs. -11.05 ppm region is confirmed by no significant difference

in a paired *t*-test of the absolute integrated areas of the two regions in stimulation or recovery (P > 0.15 each). Such reciprocal changes are expected for a trade-off of oxidized and reduced forms of NAD(P)⁺. The correspondence of the dashed peaks representing the resonances for NAD⁺ and NADP⁺ and the change in the -10.75 ppm region is strong support that this region represents net changes in NAD(P)⁺. Similarly, the reciprocal change in the -11.05 ppm region suggests that change in NAD(P)H occurs in the region of the unique resonance. These changes are consistent with the dynamics expected for reduction and oxidation of mitochondrial NAD(P)H. Taken together, these results point to mitochondrial NAD(P)H dynamics occurring at the downfield spectral position (-11.05 ppm) from the resonance defined by the chemical NADH (-10.6 ppm) that likely defines the cell NADH.

Exercise Training Accelerates NAD(P) Dynamics and Phosphorylation

Our final test was whether the -11.06 ppm peak changes with an independent measure of oxidative phosphorylation. These subjects showed increased phosphorylation capacity after endurance (ET) and resistance (RT) training (Jubrias et al., 2001). This capacity was measured during the stimulation-recovery experiment shown in Figure 3, which was undertaken in each subject and repeated after exercise training. Table 1 shows the changes in the -11.05 ppm peak in the three groups in this training experiment and reveals that both ET and RT groups show a net decline in the -11.05 ppm peak after training. No change is apparent in the control group. A corresponding net rise that balances the decline in the -11.05 ppm peak area is apparent in the -10.6 ppm peak (ET) or the -11.75 ppm peak (RT) with training. This rise in the integrated peaks in the -10.5to -10.9 ppm region vs. the -11.05 ppm region demonstrates a net stoichiometry in the changes of the NAD(P) peaks with training. This net decline in the -11.05 ppm region during elevated oxidation following training further supports this spectral region as representing the mitochondrial metabolites, NAD(P)H.

Figure 4 shows that the significant decline in the -11.05 ppm region (-10.9 to -11.3 ppm) mirrored the net increase in phosphorylation with training in these subjects. These reciprocal changes suggest that the Δ -11.05 ppm region reflects the greater oxidation of NAD(P)H that is expected with the elevated phosphorylation (Δ PCr) found after training. Together, these results support that mitochondrial NADH oxidation *in vivo* is represented by the decline in the unique resonance at -11.05 ppm in the NADP region. Further, these results indicate that the -11.05 ppm peak is a sensitive indicator of the impact of an intervention on improving mitochondrial oxidation in elderly muscle.

DISCUSSION

The metabolic role and redox state of the NAD(P) metabolites depend on their cellular location as illustrated in Figure 5. NADH is a critical substrate for oxidative phosphorylation and predominates over NAD⁺ in mitochondria. The opposite is true for the oxidized cytosol in which enzyme equilibria linked to the phosphorylation potential holds NAD(P)H content low and NAD(P)⁺ high (Williamson et al., 1967; Stubbs et al., 1972). Here we describe a unique resonance at -11.05 ppm in the in vivo ³¹P MR spectrum that conforms with the properties of mitochondrial NAD(P)H. This unique resonance has the high chemical content and the dynamic changes with oxidative phosphorylation that are expected for the NAD(P) redox state in mitochondria. In contrast, a second peak identified by an NADH chemical standard (at -10.6 ppm) is consistent with the low metabolite content expected for cytosolic NADH. Three results summarize the evidence that the -11.05 ppm peak is a natural indicator of the content and dynamics of mitochondrial NAD(P)H and thereby provides a intrinsic probe of oxidative phosphorylation *in vivo*:



FIGURE 4 | Changes in the -11.05 ppm peak (A) and phosphorylation (B) with exercise training. Net decrease in the -11.05 peak and net elevation in oxidative phosphorylation during recovery is shown in muscle after resistance (RT) and endurance (ET) training vs. controls (CN). **P* < 0.05.

TABLE 1 | Change in peak areas during the exercise recovery period in post- vs. pre-trained muscle.

Group	∆–10.60 ppm	∆–10.75 ppm	∆–11.05 ppm
CN	2.3 ± 6.3	-1.0 ± 0.5	-0.2 ± 1.3
RT	0.3 ± 0.7	1.5 ± 0.4*	-1.7 ± 0.7*
ET	1.5 ± 0.6*	0.1 ± 1.4	-1.7 ± 0.6*

Units are % NAD per α -ATP peak for three resonances at distinct chemical shifts (ppm) in the NADP region. Values are means \pm SE. Δ defines post- vs. pre-training changes in the integral of area of each resonance per integral of the α -ATP resonance.

The groups are: CN, control; RT, resistance training; ET, endurance training groups. Δ -10.6, Δ -10.75, and Δ -11.05 are the chemical shifts (ppm) for the resonances defined by external standards for the reduced (NADH) and oxidized (NAD(P)⁺) forms and a third resonance not identified by external standards, respectively. *Bold font, P < 0.05 post- vs. pre-training.

- i) Quantitative agreement: A correspondence is found between the chemical content represented by the -11.05 ppm peak and the NAD(P)H level estimated from the mitochondrial content of these muscles and their changes with exercise training.
- ii) Reciprocal dynamics with NAD(P)⁺: The equal and opposite change in the -11.05 ppm peak vs. NAD⁺ with exercise and recovery reflects the expected trade-off between reduced (NAD(P)H) and oxidized (NAD(P)⁺) redox states in mitochondria.
- iii) Dynamics parallel phosphorylation: A net decline in the -11.05 ppm peak mirrors the greater phosphorylation after exercise training, which supports this unique resonance as a sensitive natural indicator of changes in mitochondrial NAD(P)H oxidation with an intervention.

NAD(P) In vivo vs. In vitro

Several lines of evidence indicate good agreement of the NAD(P) metabolite levels determined in the ³¹P MR spectrum *in vivo* and those reported in isolated human muscle by *in vitro* methods. The metabolite content represented by the peaks in the NAD(P) region (-10.5 to -11.3 ppm; 11% NAD/ATP) is in agreement with biochemical assays of NAD in human vastus lateralis (Sahlin, 1983; Henriksson et al., 1986). Chemical identification of the peaks in this region reveals that NAD(P)⁺ accounts for 60% of the total peak area while only 5% of the total is accounted



for by the chemically defined NADH (-10.6 ppm). The chemical content of the NAD(P)⁺ region (0.4 mM) is consistent with estimates for NAD⁺ derived from biochemical assays in young muscle (0.5 mM). The remaining 38% of the peak area of the NAD(P) region is represented by a peak centered at -11.05 ppm. Both the MR determination and that derived from independent measures estimate a NAD(P)H content of ~ 0.26 mM.

Two Resonances Reflect NAD(P)H In vivo

A large difference in peak areas is expected from *in vitro* results if cytosolic vs. mitochondrial NAD(P)H can be distinguished in the ³¹P MR spectrum (Williamson et al., 1967; Stubbs et al., 1972). The chemical content represented by the -10.60 ppm peak was low (5% of NAD(P) integral) relative to the unique resonance at -11.05 ppm (38%) as expected for cytosolic NADH, which is maintained at a low level by enzyme equilibria linked to the phosphorylation potential (Williamson et al., 1967; Stubbs et al., 1972). The larger chemical content of the -11.05 ppm corresponds with the predominance of mitochondrial NAD(P)H pool. This agreement of the size of two ³¹P MR resonances with the expected NAD(P)H contents provides evidence that the cytosolic vs. mitochondrial NADH pools can be distinguished by MRS *in vivo* (Krebs and Veech, 1969; Stubbs et al., 1972).

Compartmentalization of NAD(P)H

The basis of the distinct spectral positions of NAD(P) is likely due to the changes in physical properties when the metabolite is located inside a compartment, such as in mitochondria. For example, enhanced fluorescence efficiency occurs with NAD(P)H inside mitochondria due to binding to complex I of the electron transport chain (Blinova et al., 2008), which permits highlighting mitochondrial NAD(P)H by optical spectroscopy and imaging.

A second example is the different chemical shift in the ³¹P MR spectrum seen with phosphoryl compounds located inside erythrocytes (Kirk and Kuchel, 1988a,c; Larkin et al., 2007). Compounds related to NAD(P) show a Δ -0.5 ppm CS in the red blood cell, which is similar to the shift of the -11.05 ppm vs. -10.6 ppm NAD(P)H peak in vivo in muscle (Kirk and Kuchel, 1988a,c; Larkin et al., 2007). The mechanism for this downfield CS in red cells is reported to be elevated hydrogen bonding resulting from the high protein concentration of the erythrocyte (predominantly hemoglobin content) (Kirk and Kuchel, 1988b; Larkin et al., 2007). A high protein content is also characteristic of mitochondria (Vinnakota and Bassingthwaighte, 2004). Thus, the segregation of phosphoryl compounds inside a high protein environment provides a physical mechanism for the downfield CS of the -11.05 ppm peak (reflecting NAD(P)H in mitochondria) relative to NAD(P)H in the cell (-10.6 ppm)in vivo.

Increase in -11.05 ppm Peak and Mitochondrial Content with Exercise Training

A test of the identity of the -11.05 ppm peak is provided by the changes in the peaks of the NAD(P) region and in mitochondrial properties with exercise training (Figure 2). A shift in NAD(P) metabolite levels in correspondence with changes in mitochondria have been reported in several tissues with calorie restriction in mice in in vitro assays (Chen et al., 2008). One mechanism for an NAD⁺ increase is a rise in the enzyme responsible for NAD⁺ biosynthesis—NAMPT—that accompanies calorie restriction and exercise training (Costford et al., 2009). These adaptations in NADH and mitochondria were not uniform across tissues in calorie restricted mice (Chen et al., 2008). They also differed between training modes in the human muscle (Figure 2). A higher -11.05 ppm peak ($\Delta 39\%$) was found in proportion to the greater mitochondrial content with RT (Δ 31%), but neither property changed significantly with ET (Figure 2). In contrast to the -11.05 ppm peak, the chemically defined NADH peak at -10.6 ppm did not change despite the increased mitochondrial content in RT. This stability of the peak at -10.6 ppm in the face of a large increase in mitochondrial content is consistent with this resonance representing NAD(P)H in the cytosol. In contrast, a mitochondrial origin for the -11.05 ppm peak is supported by the unique rise of this resonance with mitochondrial volume density after exercise training.

Activating NAD(P)H Generation and Oxidation

A functional test of the identity of the -11.05 ppm peak is provided by the dynamics of the peaks in the NADP region with exercise and recovery. These dynamics are elicited by a protocol that activates increased energy use (as shown by PCr depletion from the resting state) followed by a period of elevated oxidative phosphorylation after exercise (as shown by restoration of PCr, **Figure 3A**). The peaks in the NAD region change in concert with these PCr dynamics during exercise and recovery (**Figure 3B**) to reveal the trade-offs in the reduced vs. oxidized redox states

of NAD(P) (Figure 3C) (Jobsis and Duffield, 1967; Wendt and Chapman, 1976). Such trade-offs are evident from the changes in the -11.05 ppm peak, which are matched by equal and opposite changes in oxidized NAD(P) (Figure 3D). Similar changes are apparent in optical fluorescence studies that indicate reduced mitochondrial NAD(P)H with muscle stimulation and oxidized NAD(P)H during elevated oxidative phosphorylation in recovery (Jobsis and Duffield, 1967; Wendt and Chapman, 1976; Gandra et al., 2012; Claflin et al., 2015). A rise in NAD(P)H generation under intense exercise has also been found in glycolytic type II fibers of human muscle in biochemical studies (Ren et al., 1988), while reduced NADH is found during sustained exercise in the oxidative, type I fibers of humans (Ren et al., 1988). Thus, the functional dynamics of the -11.05 ppm peak parallel the changes in mitochondrial NAD(P)H during exercise cycles reported in independent studies. These reciprocal changes in spectral regions are consistent with the -11.05 ppm peak representing mitochondrial NAD(P)H.

Sensitive Index of Mitochondrial Oxidative Improvements

An in vivo measure of mitochondrial NAD(P)H holds the promise of providing a natural indicator of oxidation adaptations with an intervention in human muscle. A test of the -11.05 ppm peak as such an indicator is provided by the results of exercise training that raised oxidative phosphorylation in these subjects (Jubrias et al., 2001). Figure 4 shows a net drop in the -11.05ppm resonance in an exercise bout after exercise training. This net decline parallels the net increase in phosphorylation rate and suggests that the -11.05 ppm peak reflects increased oxidation of mitochondrial NADH in the trained subjects. Independent findings of faster oxygen uptake after exercise training support these results. Human muscle O2 uptake during recovery from exercise is increased and the kinetics of whole-body oxygen uptake is more rapid at the onset of exercise after training in adult and elderly subjects (Zoladz et al., 2006; Murias et al., 2010). The alternative is a higher ATP flux without increased O2 uptake as a result of improvement in the coupling of generating ATP per O₂, which also occurs with exercise training (Conley et al., 2013). A recent analysis concluded that both mechanisms are activated: greater electron transport chain flux and more efficient generation of ATP appeared to contribute nearly equally to the phosphorylation improvements in these subjects (Conley, 2016). The results in Figure 4 support this independent analysis to demonstrate that elevated oxidation is a part of the improvement in mitochondrial capacity to generate ATP after training. These results indicate that the dynamics of the -11.05 ppm peak captures the mitochondrial oxidation improvements that underlie greater phosphorylation. Importantly, both the oxidation and phosphorylation measures come from the same ³¹P MR spectra collected in a single exercise test in human muscle in vivo.

Limitations and Future Directions

The low chemical content of NAD(P) related metabolites (<1 mM) *in vivo* is a limitation to detecting this natural indicator by ³¹P MRS. Measurements are possible at the low field strength

of 1.5T because of the trade-off with high B1 field homogeneity at 1.5T, which provides good resolution of the individual NAD(P) peaks despite the low signal-to-noise. The large diameter coil (9 cm) used in this study and large muscle mass of the quadriceps group (\sim 1 kg) also helped to improve the signal for detecting these low concentration metabolites. Nonetheless, the high standard errors on some of the determinations may be due to this combination of low chemical content and low MRI field strength. However, two advances allow improved signal-to-noise over that found in the study. The first advance is the higher field strength (3T) MRIs that are now available in most medical centers that focus on human metabolic research. A second advance is the ability to decouple protons from phosphorus to increase the signal-to-noise of the NAD(P) peaks. Decoupling is a method derived from high-resolution MR spectroscopy that is now a standard feature of 3T MRIs with multi-nuclear detection (e.g., ³¹P MRS) capability. Thus, the availability of the higher 3T field strength for human studies and the ability to further enhance signal-to-noise with proton decoupling will make detecting of the NAD(P) peaks and their dynamic changes with an intervention possible for clinical research studies.

SUMMARY

Here we show that a unique resonance in the in vivo ³¹P spectrum provides a natural indicator of mitochondrial oxidation and its improvement with treatment. This assignment comes from the known compartmentalization of NADH between the highly oxidized cell (-10.6 ppm) vs. more reduced mitochondria (-11.05 ppm). A functional test that followed NAD(P) dynamics during exercise and recovery cycles confirmed that the -11.05 ppm peak reflected oxidation and reduction of mitochondrial NAD(P)H. Finally, the greater -11.05 ppm peak changes in the exercise test paralleled the faster phosphorylation rate in these subjects after exercise training. This correspondence provides further support that this unique resonance is a natural indicator of mitochondrial oxidation. Thus, intrinsic probes are present in the ³¹P MR spectrum that reveal the NAD(P) redox disparity between mitochondria and cell and provide a natural indicator of oxidative phosphorylation that is sensitive to improvements in mitochondrial function with treatment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KC, SJ, and ES conceived and designed the study; all authors contributed to the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; KC and ES were involved in drafting or revising the paper.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH grants RC2AG036606, R01AR41928, R01AG10853, and a Nathan Shock Center Pilot Project award, as well as Seattle Children's Mitochondrial Guild and the Royalty Research Fund of the University of Washington.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Martin Brand and Martin Kushmerick for their insights. Michael Regnier provided physiological solutions that

REFERENCES

- Alano, C. C., Tran, A., Tao, R., Ying, W., Karliner, J. S., and Swanson, R. A. (2007). Differences among cell types in NAD(+) compartmentalization: a comparison of neurons, astrocytes, and cardiac myocytes. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 85, 3378–3385. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21479
- Aon, M. A., Cortassa, S., and O'Rourke, B. (2010). Redox-optimized ROS balance: a unifying hypothesis. *Biochim. Biophys Acta* 1797, 865–877. doi: 10.1016/j. bbabio.2010.02.016
- Barlow, C., and Chance, B. (1976). Ischemic areas in perfused rat hearts: measurement by NADH fluorescence photography. *Science* 193, 909–910. doi: 10.1126/science.181843
- Blei, M. L., Conley, K. E., and Kushmerick, M. J. (1993).Separate measures of ATP utilization and recovery in human skeletal muscle [published erratum appears in J Physiol (Lond) 1994 Mar 15;475(3):548]. J. Physiol. (Lond). 465, 203–222. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019673
- Blinova, K., Levine, R. L., Boja, E. S., Griffiths, G. L., Shi, Z. D., Ruddy, B., et al. (2008). Mitochondrial NADH fluorescence is enhanced by complex I binding. *Biochemistry* 47, 9636–9645. doi: 10.1021/bi800307y
- Canto, C., and Auwerx, J. (2012). Targeting sirtuin 1 to improve metabolism: all you need is NAD(+)? *Pharmacol. Rev.* 64, 166–187. doi: 10.1124/pr.110.003905
- Chen, D., Bruno, J., Easlon, E., Lin, S. J., Cheng, H. L., Alt, F. W., et al. (2008). Tissue-specific regulation of SIRT1 by calorie restriction. *Genes Dev.* 22, 1753–1757. doi: 10.1101/gad.1650608
- Claflin, D. R., Jackson, M. J., and Brooks, S. V. (2015). Age affects the contractioninduced mitochondrial redox response in skeletal muscle. *Front. Physiol.* 6:21. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00021
- Conley, K. E. (2016). Mitochondria to motion: optimizing oxidative phosphorylation to improve exercise performance. J. Exp. Biol. 219, 243–249. doi: 10.1242/jeb.126623
- Conley, K. E., Jubrias, S. A., Cress, M. E., and Esselman, P. C. (2013). Elevated energy coupling and aerobic capacity improves exercise performance in endurance-trained elderly subjects. *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 899–907. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2012.069633
- Conley, K. E., Jubrias, S. A., and Esselman, P. C. (2000). Oxidative capacity and ageing in human muscle. *J. Physiol.* 526(Pt 1), 203–210. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00203.x
- Costford, S. R., Bajpeyi, S., Pasarica, M., Albarado, D. C., Thomas, S. C., Xie, H., et al. (2009). Skeletal muscle NAMPT is induced by exercise in humans. *Am J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 298, E117–E126. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00318.2009
- de Graaf, R. A., and Behar, K., L. (2014). Detection of cerebral NAD(+) by *in vivo* (1)H NMR spectroscopy. *NMR Biomed*, 27, 802–809. doi: 10.1002/nbm.3121
- Gandra, P. G., Nogueira, L., and Hogan, M. C. (2012). Mitochondrial activation at the onset of contractions in isolated myofibres during successive contractile periods. J. Physiol. (Lond). 590, 3597–3609. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012. 232405
- Garlick, P. B., Brown, T. R., Sullivan, R. H., and Ugurbil, K. (1983). Observation of a second phosphate pool in the perfused heart by 31P NMR; is this the mitochondrial phosphate? J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 15, 855–858. doi: 10.1016/0022-2828(83)90347-4
- Gout, E., Rebeille, F., Douce, R., and Bligny, R. (2014). Interplay of Mg2+, ADP, and ATP in the cytosol and mitochondria: unravelling the role of Mg2+ in cell respiration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E4560–E4567. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1406251111
- Heikal, A. A. (2010). Intracellular coenzymes as natural biomarkers for metabolic activities and mitochondrial anomalies. *Biomark. Med.* 4, 241–263. doi: 10.2217/bmm.10.1
- Henriksson, J., Katz, A., and Sahlin, K. (1986). Redox state changes in human skeletal muscle after isometric contraction. J. Physiol. (Lond). 380, 441–451. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1986.sp016296

mimic the muscle cell *in vivo*. We also acknowledge the expert contributions of M. Elaine Cress, Elizabeth Egan, Peter Esselman, Barbara Inglin, Chris Mogadam, and Ib Odderson. Hans Hoppeler provided the micrograph in **Figure 5**.

- Hutson, S., Berkich, D., Williams, G., LaNoue, K., and Briggs, R. (1989). 31P NMR visibility and characterization of rat liver mitochondrial matrix adenine nucleotides. *Biochemistry* 28, 4323–4335. doi: 10.1021/bi00436a030
- Hutson, S. M., Williams, G. D., Berkich, D. A., LaNoue, K. F., and Briggs, R. W. (1992). A 31P NMR study of mitochondrial inorganic phosphate visibility: effects of Ca2+, Mn2+, and the pH gradient. *Biochemistry* 31, 1322–1330. doi: 10.1021/bi00120a007
- Imai, S. (2011). Dissecting systemic control of metabolism and aging in the NAD World: the importance of SIRT1 and NAMPT-mediated NAD biosynthesis. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 1657–1662. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011.04.060
- Jobsis, F. F., and Duffield, J. C. (1967). Oxidative and glycolytic recovery metabolism in muscle. J. Gen. Physiol. 50, 1009–1047. doi: 10.1085/jgp.50.4.1009
- Jubrias, S. A., Esselman, P. C., Price, L. B., Cress, M. E., and Conley, K. E. (2001). Large energetic adaptations of elderly muscle to resistance and endurance training. J. Appl. Physiol. 90, 1663–1670.
- Kan, H. E., Klomp, D. W., Wong, C. S., Boer, V. O., Webb, A. G., Luijten, P. R., et al. (2010). *In vivo* 31P MRS detection of an alkaline inorganic phosphate pool with short T1 in human resting skeletal muscle. *NMR Biomed.* 23, 995–1000. doi: 10.1002/nbm.1517
- Kirk, K., and Kuchel, P. W. (1988a). Characterization of transmembrane chemical shift differences in the 31P NMR spectra of various phosphoryl compounds added to erythrocyte suspensions. *Biochemistry* 27, 8795–8802. doi: 10.1021/bi00424a016
- Kirk, K., and Kuchel, P. W. (1988b). The contribution of magnetic susceptibility effects to transmembrane chemical shift differences in the 31P NMR spectra of oxygenated erythrocyte suspensions. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 130–134.
- Kirk, K., and Kuchel, P. W. (1988c). Physical basis of the effect of hemoglobin on the 31P NMR chemical shifts of various phosphoryl compounds. *Biochemistry* 27, 8803–8810. doi: 10.1021/bi00424a017
- Krebs, H. A., and Veech, R. L. (1969). Equilibrium relations between pyridine nucleotides and adenine nucleotides and their roles in the regulation of metabolic processes. *Adv. Enzyme Regul.* 7, 397–413. doi: 10.1016/0065-2571(69)90030-2
- Kushmerick, M. J. (1997). Multiple equilibria of cations with metabolites in muscle bioenergetics. Am. J. Physiol. 272, C1739–C1747.
- Kushmerick, M. J., Dillon, P. F., Meyer, R. A., Brown, T. R., Krisanda, J. M., and Sweeney, H. L. (1986). 31P NMR spectroscopy, chemical analysis, and free Mg2+ of rabbit bladder and uterine smooth muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 261, 14420–14429.
- Larkin, T. J., Bubb, W. A., and Kuchel, P. W. (2007). pH and cell volume effects on H2O and phosphoryl resonance splitting in rapid-spinning NMR of red cells. *Biophys. J.* 92, 1770–1776. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.106.096149
- Lu, M., Zhu, X. H., Zhang, Y., and Chen, W. (2014). Intracellular redox state revealed by *in vivo* (31) P MRS measurement of NAD(+) and NADH contents in brains. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 71, 1959–1972. doi: 10.1002/mrm.24859
- Mas, M. T., and Colman, R. F. (1984). Phosphorus-31 nuclear magnetic resonance studies of the binding of nucleotides to NADP+-specific isocitrate dehydrogenase. *Biochemistry* 23, 1675–1683. doi: 10.1021/bi003 03a015
- Massudi, H., Grant, R., Braidy, N., Guest, J., Farnsworth, B., and Guillemin, G. J. (2012a). Age-associated changes in oxidative stress and NAD+ metabolism in human tissue. *PLoS ONE* 7:e42357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 42357
- Massudi, H., Grant, R., Guillemin, G. J., and Braidy, N. (2012b). NAD+ metabolism and oxidative stress: the golden nucleotide on a crown of thorns. *Redox Rep.* 17, 28–46. doi: 10.1179/1351000212Y.0000000001
- Mayevsky, A., and Rogatsky, G. G. (2007). Mitochondrial function *in vivo* evaluated by NADH fluorescence: from animal models to human studies. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 292, C615–C640. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00249.2006

- Murias, J. M., Kowalchuk, J. M., and Paterson, D. H. (2010). Speeding of VO2 kinetics with endurance training in old and young men is associated with improved matching of local O2 delivery to muscle O2 utilization. J. Appl. Physiol. 108, 913–922. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01355. 2009
- Murphy, M. P. (2009). How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *Biochem. J.* 417, 1–13. doi: 10.1042/BJ20081386
- Nicholls, D., and Ferguson, S. (2002). Bioenergetics 3. London: Academic Press.
- Perneger, T. V. (1998). What's wrong with Bonferroni adjustments. *BMJ* 316, 1236–1238. doi: 10.1136/bmj.316.7139.1236
- Ren, J. M., Henriksson, J., Katz, A., and Sahlin, K. (1988). NADH content in type I and type II human muscle fibres after dynamic exercise. *Biochem. J.* 251, 183–187. doi: 10.1042/bj2510183
- Sahlin, K. (1983). NADH and NADPH in human skeletal muscle at rest and during ischaemia. *Clin. Physiol.* 3, 477–485. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-097X.1983.tb00856.x
- Scholz, T., Laughlin, M., Balaban, R., Kupriyanov, V., and Heineman, F. (1995). Effect of substrate on mitochondrial NADH, cytosolic redox state, and phosphorylated compounds in isolated hearts. Am. J. Physiol. 268, H82–H91.
- Stubbs, M., Veech, R. L., and Krebs, H. A. (1972). Control of the redox state of the nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide couple in rat liver cytoplasm. *Biochem.* J. 126, 59–65. doi: 10.1042/bj1260059
- Vinnakota, K. C., and Bassingthwaighte, J. B. (2004). Myocardial density and composition: a basis for calculating intracellular metabolite concentrations. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 286, H1742–H1749. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00478.2003
- Wendt, I. R., and Chapman, J. B. (1976). Fluorometric studies of recovery metabolism of rat fast- and slow-twitch muscles. Am. J. Physiol. 230, 1644–1649.

- White, A. T., and Schenk, S. (2012). NAD(+)/NADH and skeletal muscle mitochondrial adaptations to exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 303, E308–E321. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00054.2012
- Williamson, D. H., Lund, P., and Krebs, H. A. (1967). The redox state of free nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide in the cytoplasm and mitochondria of rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 103, 514–527. doi: 10.1042/bj1030514
- Ying, W. (2008). NAD+/NADH and NADP+/NADPH in cellular functions and cell death: regulation and biological consequences. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 10, 179–206. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007.1672
- Zhu, X. H., Lu, M., Lee, B. Y., Ugurbil, K., and Chen, W. (2015). *In vivo* NAD assay reveals the intracellular NAD contents and redox state in healthy human brain and their age dependences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 2876–2881. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1417921112
- Zoladz, J. A., Korzeniewski, B., and Grassi, B. (2006). Training-induced acceleration of oxygen uptake kinetics in skeletal muscle: the underlying mechanisms. *J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 57(Suppl. 10), 67–84.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Conley, Ali, Flores, Jubrias and Shankland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mitochondrial Bioenergetics and Fiber Type Assessments in Microbiopsy vs. Bergstrom Percutaneous Sampling of Human Skeletal Muscle

Meghan C. Hughes¹, Sofhia V. Ramos¹, Patrick C. Turnbull¹, Ali Nejatbakhsh¹, Brittany L. Baechler², Houman Tahmasebi¹, Robert Laham¹, Brendon J. Gurd³, Joe Quadrilatero², Daniel A. Kane⁴ and Christopher G. R. Perry^{1*}

¹ Muscle Health Research Centre, School of Kinesiology and Health Science, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Department of Kinesiology, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada, ³ School of Kinesiology and Health Studies, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada, ⁴ Department of Human Kinetics, St. Francis Xavier University, Antigonish, NS, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Gordon Fisher, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA Stuart D. R. Galloway, University of Stirling, UK

> *Correspondence: Christopher G. R. Perry cperry@yorku.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 11 September 2015 Accepted: 16 November 2015 Published: 18 December 2015

Citation:

Hughes MC, Ramos SV, Turnbull PC, Nejatbakhsh A, Baechler BL, Tahmasebi H, Laham R, Gurd BJ, Quadrilatero J, Kane DA and Perry CGR (2015) Mitochondrial Bioenergetics and Fiber Type Assessments in Microbiopsy vs. Bergstrom Percutaneous Sampling of Human Skeletal Muscle. Front. Physiol. 6:360. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00360

Microbiopsies of human skeletal muscle are increasingly adopted by physiologists for a variety of experimental assays given the reduced invasiveness of this procedure compared to the classic Bergstrom percutaneous biopsy technique. However, a recent report demonstrated lower mitochondrial respiration in saponin-permeabilized muscle fiber bundles (PmFB) prepared from microbiopsies vs. Bergstrom biopsies. We hypothesized that ADP-induced contraction (rigor) of smaller length microbiopsy PmFB causes a greater reduction in maximal respiration vs. Bergstrom, such that respiration could be increased by a myosin II ATPase-inhibitor (Blebbistatin; BLEB). Eleven males and females each received a 2 mm diameter percutaneous microbiopsy and a 5 mm diameter Bergstrom percutaneous biopsy in opposite legs. Glutamate/malate (5/0.5 mM)-supported respiration in microbiopsy PmFB was lower than Bergstrom at submaximal concentrations of ADP. 5 µM BLEB reduced this impairment such that there were no differences relative to Bergstrom \pm BLEB. Surprisingly, pyruvate (5 mM)-supported respiration was not different between either biopsy technique $\pm \text{BLEB}$, whereas BLEB increased succinate-supported respiration in Bergstrom only. H₂O₂ emission was lower in microbiopsy PmFB compared to Bergstrom PmFB in the presence of BLEB. Microbiopsies contained fewer type I fibers (37 vs. 47%) and more type IIX fibers (20 vs. 8%) compared to Bergstrom possibly due to sampling site depth and/or longitudinal location. These findings suggest that smaller diameter percutaneous biopsies yield lower glutamate-supported mitochondrial respiratory kinetics which is increased by preventing ADP-induced rigor with myosin inhibition. Microbiopsies of human skeletal muscle can be utilized for assessing mitochondrial respiratory kinetics in PmFB when assay conditions are supplemented with BLEB, but fiber type differences with this method should be considered.

Keywords: mitochondria, respiration, permeabilized fiber, muscle biopsy, blebbistatin

INTRODUCTION

The Bergstrom muscle biopsy technique has been an essential tool for the direct assessment of human skeletal muscle responses to a variety of physiological perturbations (Bergstrom, 1975). More recently, percutaneous microbiopsy needles have been adopted as an alternative approach to sample skeletal muscle in humans. Anecdotally, microbiopsies are often perceived as less invasive than Bergstrom given they obtain smaller samples and do not require an incision on the skin and fascia for the common procedure of sampling human vastus lateralis skeletal muscle. While these arguments have not been fully validated, interest in microbiopsies has increased nonetheless, particularly for the assessment of skeletal muscle metabolism (Hayot et al., 2005; Jorge et al., 2011; Krause et al., 2012; Votion et al., 2012). As such, validation of this methodology for metabolic assays in skeletal muscle is required given the potential influence of the sampling method on experimental results.

Permeabilized muscle fiber bundles (PmFB) are commonly used to assess mitochondrial bioenergetics in skeletal muscle. This technique requires careful separation of muscle fibers with fine forceps followed by chemical permeabilization with cholesterol-binding detergents (Kuznetsov et al., 2008; Pesta and Gnaiger, 2012; Perry et al., 2013). Surprisingly, it was recently reported that microbiopsies of pig skeletal muscle yielded lower mitochondrial respiration in PmFB which appeared to be positively correlated to needle diameter (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014). While the exact cause of this lower respiration was not identified, it is possible that the smaller fiber length of PmFB from microbiopsies pose a challenge to preparing intact PmFB that can withstand the magnetic stirring during respirometric assessments. Loss of PmFB integrity could impair respiratory assessments given it has previously been established that preservation of mitochondrial structure and morphology are critical for optimizing respiratory assessments in PmFB (Veksler et al., 1987; Kuznetsov et al., 2008; Picard et al., 2011).

A key factor influencing PmFB intactness is a phenomenon of ADP-induced rigor, such that the very nature of assessing ADP-stimulated respiratory kinetics also induces contraction and disintegration in vitro (Ventura-Clapier and Vassort, 1985; Perry et al., 2011, 2013). Such PmFB contraction influences respiratory kinetics but can be prevented by the addition of Blebbistatin (BLEB), a myosin II ATPase inhibitor, to the assay media (Perry et al., 2011, 2012, 2013). Blebbistatin binds to the active site of subfragment 1 ATPase when ADP and phosphate are bound which stabilizes the intermediate state (Kovacs et al., 2004) lowers force production (Fedorov et al., 2007; Farman et al., 2008; Minozzo et al., 2012) and prevents shortening of muscle cell length (Fedorov et al., 2007; Farman et al., 2008; Ebrahim et al., 2013) during contraction. In fact, unpublished observations within our laboratory revealed drastic differences in mitochondrial respiration rates of PmFB in the presence (+BLEB) and absence (-BLEB) of BLEB from samples obtained using the microbiopsy technique. Moreover, microbiopsy PmFB appeared to be more prone to fiber disintegration and impaired respiratory kinetics following ADP-induced contraction than Bergstrom PmFB. If true, these observations would not only further highlight the importance of PmFB conformation when measuring mitochondrial function, but also suggest BLEB may be an effective tool for rescuing impaired respiration in microbiopsies.

The purpose of this investigation was to compare mitochondrial bioenergetics in samples obtained with the Bergstrom and microbiopsy techniques using BLEB as a tool to control the contractile state of PmFB *in vitro*, and furthermore, to characterize the fiber type composition of the samples obtained using each biopsy technique. We hypothesized that BLEB would increase respiration in microbiopsy PmFB *in vitro* by normalizing respiratory kinetics to Bergstrom PmFB. Likewise, we hypothesized that BLEB would result in similar mitochondrial H_2O_2 emission rates between microbiopsy and Bergstrom PmFBs. Finally, we expected fiber type composition analyses would be similar despite differences in biopsy size between both techniques.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human Participants and Muscle Biopsies

Eleven healthy, recreationally active males (n = 5) and females (n = 6) were recruited to participate in this investigation. Their mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) age, height, weight and BMI were 25.3 ± 0.6 years, 171.7 ± 2.4 cm, 70.6 ± 4.8 kg, and 23.8 ± 1.3 kg·m⁻², respectively. All participants were non-smokers, free of disease and not taking prescription medications or supplements. Participants were given both oral and written information about experimental procedures before giving informed consent. All experimental procedures with human participants were approved by the Research Ethics Board at York University and conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki.

With the participant lying supine on a bed, a skeletal muscle sample was obtained from the lateral aspect of the right vastus lateralis by percutaneous needle biopsy technique using a spring-loaded 14 gauge (~1.5 mm) Medax Biofeather microbiopsy disposable needle (San Possidonio, MO, Italy) under local subcutaneous anesthesia (~2 ml of 2% xylocaine without norepinephrine). A 12 gauge (~2 mm) cannula was used to puncture the skin at $\sim 30^{\circ}$ from the surface to a depth of 2 cm and guide the needle to an additional depth of 2 cm longitudinally along the vastus lateralis. Four to five cuts (10-20 mg each) were sampled with the needle rotating \sim 30–40° between cuts over a period of \sim 1 min. Each piece was removed from the needle with sterile forceps or surgical blades before the subsequent cut was made. The first three samples were used for preparation of fiber bundles, and the remaining were used for fiber type analysis (described below). After applying a bandage to the \sim 2 mm diameter biopsy site, a second skeletal muscle sample was obtained from the left vastus lateralis using the Bergstrom needle biopsy technique (Bergstrom, 1975) with manual suction (Shanely et al., 2014). Three to four cuts (100-150 mg total) were sampled over a period of ~ 10 s. Approximately 40 mg of sample was used for preparation of PmFB, ~20 mg was used for fiber type analysis and the remaining sample was frozen for future work. The sequence of microbiopsy and Bergstrom sampling was randomized across participants.

Preparation of Permeabilized Muscle Fibers (PmFB)

This technique is partially adapted from previous methods (Kuznetsov et al., 1996; Tonkonogi et al., 1998) and has previously been described (Anderson et al., 2007; Perry et al., 2011, 2012). Briefly, small portions (~25 mg) of muscle were dissected from each biopsy and placed in ice-cold BIOPS, containing (in mM): 50 MES, 7.23 K₂EGTA, 2.77 CaK₂EGTA, 20 imidazole, 0.5 dithiothreitol (DTT), 20 taurine, 5.77 ATP, 15 PCr, and 6.56 MgCl₂·6 H₂O (pH 7.1). The muscle was trimmed of connective tissue and fat and divided into several small muscle bundles (\sim 2–7 mm, 2–5 mg wet weight). Each bundle was gently separated along the longitudinal axis with a pair of antimagnetic needle-tipped forceps under magnification (Zeiss 2000, Germany). Bundles were then treated with 30 µg/ml saponin in BIOPS and incubated on a rotor for 30 min at 4°C. Saponin at 30 µg/ml has previously been shown to optimize respiration in human skeletal muscle (Kane et al., 2011). Saponin is a mild, cholesterol-specific detergent that selectively permeabilizes the sarcolemmal membranes while keeping mitochondrial membranes, which contain little cholesterol, intact (Veksler et al., 1987; Kuznetsov et al., 2008). PmFB designated for pyruvate supported H₂O₂ emission (described below) were also treated with 1µM CDNB during the permeabilization process to remove endogenous glutathione and better isolate emission kinetics, as previously described (Treberg et al., 2010; Fisher-Wellman et al., 2013). Following permeabilization, the PmFB were washed in either MiR05 containing (in mM): 0.5 EGTA, 10 KH₂PO₄, 3 MgCl₂·6 H₂O, 60 K-lactobionate, 20 Hepes, 20 Taurine, 110 sucrose and 1 mg/ml fatty acid free BSA (pH 7.1) for respiration experiments, or Buffer Z containing (in mM): 105 K-MES, 30 KCl, 10 KH₂PO₄, 5 MgCl₂·6 H₂O, 1 mM EGTA, 5 mg/ml BSA, (pH 7.1) for H₂O₂ emission experiments at 4°C until measurements were initiated (<30 min).

Mitochondrial Respiration in Permeabilized Muscle Fiber Bundles

High-resolution O₂ consumption measurements were conducted in 2 ml of respiration medium (MiR05) using the Oroboros Oxygraph-2k (Oroboros Instruments, Corp., Innsbruck, Austria) with stirring at 750 rpm. Respiration medium contained 20 mM Cr to saturate mitochondrial creatine kinase (Saks et al., 1991, 1994, 1995; Walsh et al., 2001; Anmann et al., 2006). For ADP-stimulated respiratory kinetics, either 5 mM glutamate or 5 mM pyruvate, accompanied by 0.5 mM malate, were added as complex I substrates (via generation of NADH to saturate electron entry into complex I) followed by a titration of submaximal ADP (225 and 750 μ M) and maximal ADP (5 mM). Succinate (20 mM) was then added under state three conditions to saturate electron entry into complex II. Cytochrome *c* was added to test for mitochondrial membrane integrity, with all experiments demonstrating <10% increase in respiration. All experiments were conducted in either the presence (+) or absence (-) of $5 \mu M$ BLEB in the assay media which allowed for the comparison of respiratory kinetics in contracted or relaxed states for each biopsy technique. Each protocol was completed before the oxygraph chamber $[O_2]$ reached 150 μ M. Polarographic oxygen measurements were acquired in 2 s intervals, with the rate of respiration derived from 40 data points, and expressed as pmol/s/mg wet weight. PmFB were weighed in ~1.5 ml of tared BIOPS (ATP-containing relaxing media) to prevent rigor that occurs when weighing PmFB in open air (unpublished observations).

Mitochondrial H₂O₂ Emission in Permeabilized Muscle Fiber Bundles

Mitochondrial hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) emission was determined fluorometrically (QuantaMaster 40, HORIBA Scientific, Edison, New Jersey) in a quartz cuvette with continuous stirring at 37°C, in 1 mL of Buffer Z supplemented with 10 µM Amplex Ultra Red, 0.5 U/ml horseradish peroxidase, 1 mM EGTA, 20 mM creatine, and 40 U/ml Cu/Zn-SOD1. Either 10 mM succinate or 10 mM pyruvate were added to stimulate H₂O₂ emission followed by a titration of ADP in step wise increments to progressively attenuate emission. All measurements were made in the presence of 5 µM BLEB to allow for the comparison of H₂O₂ emission in the relaxed state between biopsy techniques. Due to tissue limitations with the microbiopsy, no H₂O₂ emission measurements were made in -BLEB. The rate of H2O2 emission was calculated from the slope (F/min), after subtracting the background, from a standard curve established with the same reaction conditions and normalized to fiber bundle wet weight as described above.

Microscopic Imaging of PmFB Conformation

Images of Bergstrom and microbiopsy PmFB conformation were captured prior to, and immediately following respiration experiments. Photographs were captured with a Samsung Galaxy S5 camera (South Korea) placed face-down on a transparent acrylic surface at 2.4-4X zoom focused on PmFB placed in a culture dish containing MiRO. Video recordings with the same device were made to document the change in conformation of both Bergstrom PmFB and microbiopsy PmFB +BLEB and -BLEB following the addition of 2 mM ADP (with 5 mM pyruvate and 2 mM malate) in MiRO5 buffer. The media temperature was maintained at 33–37°C by a pre-heated metal block.

Immunofluorescence Analysis of Fiber Type

Immediately after removal from the needles, muscles were embedded in O.C.T. compound (Tissue Tek), frozen in liquid nitrogen-cooled isopentane and stored at -80° C, until analysis. $10 \,\mu$ m thick cryosections were cut with a cryostat (Thermo Electronic), maintained at -20° C and transferred onto static-free microscope slides. Immunofluorescent detection of myosin heavy chain isoforms was performed as previously described (Bloemberg and Quadrilatero, 2012). In addition, fiber membranes were visualized by staining for dystrophin (DSHB, University of Iowa, Iowa City, USA). Fiber type composition analysis was performed on image composites by counting all fibers across the entire cross section. Slides were visualized with an Axio Observer Z1 fluorescent microscope equipped with an AxioCam HRm camera and associated AxioVision software (Carl Zeiss, Germany).

Statistics

Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. The level of significance was established at P < 0.05 for all statistics. The D'Agostino— Pearson omnibus normality test was first performed to determine whether data resembled a Gaussian distribution. Due to failed normality, Friedman's non-parametric One-way ANOVA test was performed for all respiration data. When a significant F-ratio was obtained, Dunn's multiple comparisons *post-hoc* analysis was performed. Paired *t*-tests were performed to assess differences amongst biopsy techniques with respect to H₂O₂ emission rates in presence of BLEB as well as fiber type proportions.

RESULTS

Comparison of ADP-Induced Contraction in Skeletal Muscle PmFB

We first compared qualitative appearances of PmFB conformation from Bergstrom vs. microbiopsy sample

in the relaxed state prior to ADP-stimulated respiration (**Figure 1A**). Bergstrom PmFB appeared to have longer and more connected individual fibers forming a more cohesive bundle while microbiopsy PmFB had much shorter individual fibers. Following titrations of ADP over a period of 45–60 min at 37° C in +BLEB or -BLEB, PmFB were retrieved from the respirometer chambers and imaged. The Bergstrom PmFB in -BLEB appeared less separated and more compact than those from +BLEB, suggesting greater ADP-induced rigor in the absence of BLEB (**Figure 1B**). However, 41% of microbiopsy PmFB from -BLEB disintegrated into multiple pieces, many of which were so small that they could not be removed from the oxygraph chamber for imaging (**Figure 1B**) whereas nearly all PmFB in +BLEB for either biopsy could be removed after the experiments.

Using video capture in separate PmFB, we observed a progressive contraction in response to ADP in -BLEB from Bergstrom (Supplementary Video Figure 1) as previously reported (Perry et al., 2011, 2012) that was also apparent in PmFB from microbiopsy (Supplementary Video Figure 3). ADP-stimulated contraction was not observed +BLEB from either biopsy type (Supplementary Video Figures 2, 4). All videos were 4 min in duration and may therefore underestimate the effect of ADP on contraction that occurs during typical respiratory protocols lasting >30 min.

While force production was not measured, these results suggest the change in PmFB conformation in response to ADP was contraction, given the response was prevented by BLEB.



BLEB Increases ADP-Stimulated Respiration in a Substrate Specific Manner

In the absence of BLEB, microbiopsy respiration was 51% lower than Bergstrom when supported by glutamate and malate at 225 μ M ADP (p = 0.06) and 51% lower at 750 μ M ADP (p < 0.05) with no differences at 5 mM ADP (Figure 2A). When 5µM BLEB was added to the assay media, the impaired glutamate/malate-supported respiration in microbiopsy PmFB was increased at all ADP concentrations compared to microbiopsy -BLEB (Figure 2A). Furthermore, there were no significant differences in respiration between microbiopsy +BLEB, Bergstrom +BLEB or -BLEB (Figure 2A) indicating BLEB normalized microbiopsy respiration to both Bergstrom conditions. Contrary to the findings with glutamate/malatesupported respiration, there were, surprisingly, no differences in any condition during pyruvate-supported respiration between microbiopsy and Bergstrom (Figure 2B). BLEB increased succinate-supported respiration in Bergstrom by 84-166% vs. both microbiopsy -BLEB and Bergstrom -BLEB, but did not significantly affect microbiopsy respiration (Figure 2C).

Lower Mitochondrial H₂O₂ Emission Rates in Microbiopsy PmFB

Due to tissue limitations, mitochondrial H_2O_2 emission was measured in both biopsies only in the presence of BLEB. Succinate-induced H_2O_2 emission was 37% greater in Bergstrom +BLEB vs. microbiopsy +BLEB at 500 μ M ADP (p < 0.05) and trended greater at 0 μ M ADP (p = 0.08), with no difference at 50 μ M ADP (**Figure 3A**). Similarly, pyruvate induced H_2O_2 emission rates were 51–66% greater in Bergstrom vs. microbiopsy at all ADP concentrations (p < 0.05, **Figure 3B**).

Fiber Type Analysis Reveals Differences in Myosin Expression Between Microbiopsy and Bergstrom Biopsies

Immunoflourescent analyses of fiber type composition revealed microbiopsy samples have a significantly lower proportion of type I fibers vs. Bergstrom (37.3 vs. 46.7%, p < 0.05, **Figure 4**) and a significantly higher proportion of type IIX fibers (20.1 vs. 7.6%, p < 0.05, **Figure 4**). However, no differences in relative proportion of type IIA fibers were observed (42.7 vs. 45.7%, **Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION

This investigation demonstrates that myosin inhibition in PmFB is a novel solution to resolving the reduction in respiratory kinetics observed in microbiopsy samples of human skeletal muscle. Specifically, in –BLEB, PmFB from Bergstrom biopsies appeared more compacted and less separated following ADP-stimulated respiration whereas PmFB from microbiopsies had a greater occurrence of disintegration into fragments. This *in vitro* change in morphology lowered glutamate-supported respiratory kinetics in PmFB from microbiopsies moreso than in Bergstrom. As hypothesized, the lower respiration in microbiopsy PmFB were increased with the myosin II ATPase inhibitor Blebbistatin,



suggesting ADP stimulated contraction of PmFB in -BLEB was responsible for the change in morphology in response to ADP and reduction in respiration vs. Bergstrom. Microbiopsies also contained fewer type I and greater type IIX fibers. However, this does not explain the lower glutamate-supported respiration given kinetics were similar with other substrates in all conditions. Mitochondrial H_2O_2 emission rates were detectable in samples obtained using the microbiopsy technique but absolute values were lower relative to Bergstrom, even in the presence of BLEB. Collectively, these results highlight the importance of considering needle sampling approaches when assessing mitochondrial bioenergetics in human skeletal muscle and clearly demonstrate that microbiopsies can be used to assess mitochondrial respiration in PmFB when apparent ADP-induced contraction is prevented by BLEB.



Preventing Microbiopsy ADP-Induced Contraction *in vitro* Improves Glutamate-Supported Respiration

Microbiopsy sampling is seen as an attractive alternative to Bergstrom biopsies in part, because of the smaller diameter of the needle. However, concerns about the length of fibers obtained from a smaller diameter needle have been raised (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014). Previous work demonstrating a positive correlation between needle diameter and maximal rates of respiration in PmFB suggested that this impairment in respiration is related to fiber length (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014). This notion is supported by differences in bundle morphology observed in the present study (Figure 1A), which demonstrates shorter myofiber length and a disorganized conformation in microbiopsy relative to Bergstrom. Previous work with Bergstrom PmFB revealed that spontaneous ADP-induced contraction results in drastic changes in conformation including rigor and fragmentation (Perry et al., 2011, 2012). This followed previous work showing ADP causes rigor in PmFB from rodent skinned cardiac fibers (Ventura-Clapier and Vassort, 1985). Given the small fibers in microbiopsies pose a challenge to preparing intact PmFB, it is not surprising that this same apparent contraction results in more consistent and complete disintegration of PmFB



(Figure 1B). However, similar to previous findings in Bergstrom PmFB (Perry et al., 2011, 2012), BLEB prevents this apparent ADP-induced contraction and partially retains microbiopsy PmFB conformation, myofiber length and structural integrity (Figure 1B). This result demonstrates that BLEB corrects the observed reductions in glutamate-supported respiration reported previously (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014) and therefore permits the use of microbiopsies for respiratory assessments in PmFB.

Surprisingly, these disintegration-related impairments in respiration were substrate-specific. While we generally observed similar degrees of contraction regardless of the substrate utilized (unpublished findings), this disintegration did not appear to have an impact on pyruvate-supported respiration rates given respiration was similar between both biopsy techniques with or without BLEB present (**Figure 2B**). However, succinatesupported respiration was increased by BLEB in Bergstrom PmFB which was greater than the rate obtained in microbiopsies PmFB. Speculating on the substrate-specific differences in respiration between biopsies is difficult but might suggest contraction exerts a regulatory influence on specific metabolic pathways through mechanisms that might be retained in PmFBs but are yet to be realized. While the reason for these substratespecific differences is unclear, this finding highlights the necessity of considering all experimental parameters when choosing a biopsy technique and the subsequent protocols that will be used. Given BLEB improved glutamate-supported respiration and did not impair kinetics with pyruvate, we suggest that BLEB should be supplemented in assay media during respiratory assessments supported by any of these substrates. In our hands, this approach allays concerns regarding the use of microbiopsies of PmFB as reported previously (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014).

It should be noted that previous work demonstrating impaired respiration in microbiopsy PmFB was performed at 22° C (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014) whereas the present study was conducted at 37° C. While we cannot conclude whether BLEB would normalize microbiopsy respiration to Bergstrom at 22° C, we have previously shown BLEB is more effective at influencing respiratory kinetics in human PmFBs at 37° C vs. lower temperatures (Perry et al., 2011). Nevertheless, it may be preferable to conduct PmFB respiration experiments at or near body temperature given that temperature is a critical regulator of metabolic control *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Mitochondrial H₂O₂ Emission is Lower in Microbiopsy vs. Bergstrom PmFB

It is tempting to speculate that the lower H₂O₂ emission in microbiopsies were a result of fewer mitochondria related to the greater proportion of type IIX fibers and reduced type I fibers. However, succinate- and pyruvate/malate-supported H₂O₂ emission has been shown to be higher in rat red gastrocnemius muscle [predominantly type IIA and IIX fibers (Bloemberg and Quadrilatero, 2012)] than soleus [predominantly type I fibers (Bloemberg and Quadrilatero, 2012)] when normalized to muscle mass (Anderson and Neufer, 2006). Surprisingly, this apparent inverse relationship between H₂O₂ emission and assumed mitochondrial content is opposite to our observations of lower H2O2 emission in microbiopsies with greater type IIX content. Thus, based on previous findings (Anderson and Neufer, 2006), it would appear that factors independent of mitochondrial content and fiber type might explain the lower H₂O₂ emission in microbiopsies.

Anecdotally, it is known that PmFB must be separated as much as possible without losing bundle integrity in order to optimize the detection of H_2O_2 emission. Specifically, we found Bergstrom fibers can be separated to a greater degree than microbiopsy PmFB without losing integrity (**Figure 1A**). This potentially allows for greater diffusion of substrates and ADP within the fiber, and may indicate that H_2O_2 emission measurements are more sensitive to the degree of separation than perhaps previously recognized. Hence, it is possible that the relatively lower degree of separation required to maintain integrity in microbiopsy PmFB may result in under-estimations of H_2O_2 emission.

These measurements were made in the presence of BLEB and suggest that preventing PmFB contraction does not normalize microbiopsy PmFB H_2O_2 emission to Bergstrom. Whether BLEB still improved this measurement in comparison to untreated PmFB is uncertain as we were not able to compare \pm BLEB due to tissue limitations in microbiopsies. Ultimately, H_2O_2 emission is detected quite clearly in microbiopsy +BLEB which

does not rule out the use of microbiopsies for this measurement. Nevertheless, potential underestimations relative to Bergstrom should be considered.

Fiber Type Differences in Microbiopsies vs. Bergstrom: Does This Influence Respiratory Assessments?

An intriguing difference in fiber type composition existed between samples obtained from the two needles. Specifically, 7/8 subjects demonstrated an increase in percentage of type I fibers and a decrease in percentage of type IIX fibers in the Bergstrom sample relative to microbiopsy. It is well-established that the human vastus lateralis has a heterogeneous composition (Johnson et al., 1973; Komi and Karlsson, 1978; Lexell et al., 1984; Taylor and Bachman, 1999; Staron et al., 2000). In fact, the distribution varies mainly as a function of depth in that the superficial vastus lateralis contains more type II fibers whereas a greater proportion of type I fibers are found in deeper portions of the muscle (Lexell et al., 1983; Lexell and Taylor, 1989). Given the microbiopsy technique was performed at a shallower depth in the present study ($\sim 30^{\circ}$ insertion angle relative to the skin), these differences in fiber type composition might be attributed to the difference in needle depth. However, we cannot rule out potential contributions of the longitudinal location between the two needles given the shallow insertion angle of the microbiopsy generally sampled at a location more proximal to the knee.

It is tempting to speculate that the lower glutamate-supported respiration with microbiopsies was due to the lower type I and higher type IIX content, as discussed above for H_2O_2 emission. However, there were no differences in pyruvate or succinate-supported respiration between either needle in \pm BLEB. This suggests the fiber type differences in human muscle were too small to influence the kinetics even though large differences in fiber type in rodents have been shown to influence respiration (Kuznetsov et al., 1996). Nonetheless, it would appear that the small differences in fiber type do not explain the lower glutamate-supported respiratory kinetics or H_2O_2 emission in microbiopsy PmFB -BLEB. We cannot rule out that such composition differences between needles could influence other metabolic assessments.

Ultimately, the differences in fiber type between sampling methods does not necessarily pose a problem for skeletal muscle metabolic assessments *per se.* Rather, the interpretation of results should be made in the context of sample fiber type composition inherent in each sampling method. Of course, fiber type composition could differ within a sampling approach due simply to variations in sampling depth or longitudinal consistency within trials, highlighting the need for consistency in sampling procedure regardless of needle type.

Selecting a Muscle Biopsy Approach: Important Considerations

Categorizing one procedure as superior to the other must be considered in the context of specific parameters. The obvious advantage of the Bergstrom method is a larger sample yield

with typical ranges of \sim 50–250+ mg depending, in part, on the diameter of the needle, the use of suction and the number of cuts. However, we obtained a typical yield of ${\sim}70{-}90\,\mathrm{mg}$ (and up to 120 mg) with microbiopsy by rotating the needle \sim 30 degrees to uncut areas of muscle between five separate cuts while applying light pressure on the skin prior to each cut. A fast procedure is required to minimize blood contamination of muscle (<60 s including removal of muscle after each cut). Additionally, participant comfort level must also be considered. While microbiopsies are smaller in diameter, these five separate cuts also require separate insertions into the same cannula guide and therefore take longer to obtain. Conversely, the Bergstrom procedure permits multiple cuts over several seconds with a single insertion. However, 8 out of 11 participants reported preferring the microbiopsy technique over the Bergstrom when questioned following both procedures. Furthermore, reduced risks of infection are sometimes marketed by commercial suppliers of microbiopsy needles due specifically to the fact that they are disposable, thereby eliminating the need for subsequent sterilization. However, proper sterilization of Bergstrom needles obviously ameliorates this concern. These claims must also be balanced with the fact that the single-stage cut with microbiopsies requires removal of skeletal muscle from the needle with sterile forceps prior to re-insertion of the needle into the muscle for additional cuts. This requires considerable care in preventing contamination of the needle in between samples from the same entry site.

It should also be noted that our conclusions are specific to a 14 gauge needle from a specific supplier. Other models of disposable microbiopsy needles could influence the results based on needle sharpness or length of time required to obtain a sample given some needles do not have a cannula "guide" that accelerates the procedure as in the present study. Likewise, we have not compared the influence of multiple gauges, although previous work suggests a positive correlation exists between PmFB respiration and needle diameter (Isner-Horobeti et al., 2014). Finally, experimental procedures requiring intact muscle fibers should carefully consider the requirement for specific fiber lengths independent of sample size. Overall, the advantages and disadvantages to both procedures must be considered within the context of specific study designs rather than focusing on needle diameter and sample yield as the sole criteria for selecting a needle.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, this investigation reveals that PmFB prepared from 14 gauge microbiopsies provide similar glutamate-supported respiratory kinetics to Bergstrom

REFERENCES

- Anderson, E. J., and Neufer, P. D. (2006). Type II skeletal myofibers possess unique properties that potentiate mitochondrial H2O2 generation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 290, C844–C851. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00402.2005
- Anderson, E. J., Yamazaki, H., and Neufer, P. D. (2007). Induction of endogenous uncoupling protein 3 suppresses mitochondrial oxidant emission during

samples when assay media are supplemented with $5 \mu M$ BLEB to prevent apparent ADP-induced contraction and maintain PmFB integrity. The similar pyruvate-supported respiration between biopsy approaches further suggests that microbiopsies can be used to measure respiratory kinetics in PmFB, although Bergstrom +BLEB provided the greatest rate of succinate-supported respiration. However, observed reductions in H₂O₂ emission and altered type I:type IIX fiber types should be considered when adopting microbiopsies. These findings highlight critical experimental parameters to consider when selecting biopsy needles and underscores the importance of preventing ADP-induced PmFB contraction by myosin inhibition with Blebbistatin *in vitro*.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MH, BG, JQ, DK, and CP. contributed to study design. MH, SR, PT, AN, HT, RL, and CP conducted clinical trials and/or experiments while MH, BB, JQ, DK, and CP analyzed and interpreted the data. MH and CP were the primary writers of the manuscript while all authors contributed to critical interpretation and manuscript preparation. All authors approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

Funding was provided to CP by National Science and Engineering Research Council (#436138-2013) with infrastructure supported by Canada Foundation for Innovation, the Ontario Research Fund and the James H. Cummings Foundation. DK was supported by NSHRF REDI (#2012-8799). MH was supported by a Canadian Institutes of Health Research CGS-M scholarship.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the study participants for their efforts and dedication. We also thank Dr. Angelo Belcastro, York University for access to his human clinical laboratory and Dr. Giuseppe DeVito, University College Dublin for expert advice in microbiopsy procedures.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys. 2015.00360

fatty acid-supported respiration. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 31257-31266. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M706129200

Anmann, T., Guzun, R., Beraud, N., Pelloux, S., Kuznetsov, A. V., Kogerman, L., et al. (2006). Different kinetics of the regulation of respiration in permeabilized cardiomyocytes and in HL-1 cardiac cells: importance of cell structure/organization for respiration regulation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1757, 1597–1606. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2006.09.008

- Bergstrom, J. (1975). Percutaneous needle biopsy of skeletal muscle in physiological and clinical research. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 35, 609–616. doi: 10.3109/00365517509095787
- Bloemberg, D., and Quadrilatero, J. (2012). Rapid determination of myosin heavy chain expression in rat, mouse, and human skeletal muscle using multicolor immunofluorescence analysis. *PLoS ONE* 7:e35273. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035273
- Ebrahim, S., Fujita, T., Millis, B. A., Kozin, E., Ma, X., Kawamoto, S., et al. (2013). NMII forms a contractile transcellular sarcomeric network to regulate apical cell junctions and tissue geometry. *Curr. Biol.* 23, 731–736. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.03.039
- Farman, G. P., Tachampa, K., Mateja, R., Cazorla, O., Lacampagne, A., and de Tombe, P. P. (2008). Blebbistatin: use as inhibitor of muscle contraction. *Pflugers Arch. Eur. J. Physiol.* 455, 995–1005. doi: 10.1007/s00424-007-0375-3
- Fedorov, V. V., Lozinsky, I. T., Sosunov, E. A., Anyukhovsky, E. P., Rosen, M. R., Balke, C. W., et al. (2007). Application of blebbistatin as an excitation-contraction uncoupler for electrophysiologic study of rat and rabbit hearts. *Heart Rhythm* 4, 619–626. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2006. 12.047
- Fisher-Wellman, K. H., Gilliam, L. A., Lin, C. T., Cathey, B. L., Lark, D. S., and Neufer, P. D. (2013). Mitochondrial glutathione depletion reveals a novel role for the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex as a key H2O2-emitting source under conditions of nutrient overload. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 65, 1201–1208. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.09.008
- Hayot, M., Michaud, A., Koechlin, C., Caron, M. A., Leblanc, P., Préfaut, C., et al. (2005). Skeletal muscle microbiopsy: a validation study of a minimally invasive technique. *Eur. Respir. J.* 25, 431–440. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.000 53404
- Isner-Horobeti, M. E., Charton, A., Daussin, F., Geny, B., Dufour, S. P., Richard, R., et al. (2014). Microbiopsies versus Bergstrom needle for skeletal muscle sampling: impact on maximal mitochondrial respiration rate. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 114, 885–889. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-2819-8
- Johnson, M. A., Polgar, J., Weightman, D., and Appleton, D. (1973). Data on the distribution of fibre types in thirty-six human muscles. An autopsy study. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 18, 111–129. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(73) 90023-3
- Jorge, M. L., de Oliveira, V. N., Resende, N. M., Paraiso, L. F., Calixto, A., Diniz, A. L., et al. (2011). The effects of aerobic, resistance, and combined exercise on metabolic control, inflammatory markers, adipocytokines, and muscle insulin signaling in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 60, 1244–1252. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011. 01.006
- Kane, D. A., Lin, C.-T., Anderson, E. J., Kwak, H.-B., Cox, J. H., Brophy, P. M., et al. (2011). Progesterone increases skeletal muscle mitochondrial H(2)O(2) emission in nonmenopausal women. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 300, E528–E535. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00389.2010
- Komi, P. V., and Karlsson, J. (1978). Skeletal muscle fibre types, enzyme activities and physical performance in young males and females. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 103, 210–218. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1978.tb06208.x
- Kovács, M., Tóth, J., Hetényi, C., Málnási-Csizmadia, A., and Sellers, J. R. (2004). Mechanism of blebbistatin inhibition of myosin II. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 35557–35563. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405319200
- Krause, M., Rodrigues-Krause, J., O'Hagan, C., De Vito, G., Boreham, C., Susta, D., et al. (2012). Differential nitric oxide levels in the blood and skeletal muscle of type 2 diabetic subjects may be consequence of adiposity: a preliminary study. *Metabolism* 61, 1528–1537. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2012. 05.003
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Tiivel, T., Sikk, P., Kaambre, T., Kay, L., Daneshrad, Z., et al. (1996). Striking differences between the kinetics of regulation of respiration by ADP in slow-twitch and fast-twitch muscles *in vivo*. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 241, 909–915. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1996.00909.x
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Veksler, V., Gellerich, F. N., Saks, V., Margreiter, R., and Kunz, W. S. (2008). Analysis of mitochondrial function *in situ* in permeabilized muscle fibers, tissues and cells. *Nat. Protoc.* 3, 965–976. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.61
- Lexell, J., Downham, D., and Sjöström, M. (1984). Distribution of different fibre types in human skeletal muscles. A statistical and computational

study of the fibre type arrangement in m. vastus lateralis of young, healthy males. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 65, 353–365. doi: 10.1016/0022-510x(84) 90098-4

- Lexell, J., Henriksson-Larsen, K., and Sjostrom, M. (1983). Distribution of different fibre types in human skeletal muscles. 2. A study of cross-sections of whole m. vastus lateralis. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 117, 115–122. doi: 10.1016/0022-510x(83)90164-8
- Lexell, J., and Taylor, C. C. (1989). Variability in muscle fibre areas in whole human quadriceps muscle. How much and why? *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 136, 561–568. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1989.tb08702.x
- Minozzo, F. C., Hilbert, L., and Rassier, D. E. (2012). Pre-power-stroke cross-bridges contribute to force transients during imposed shortening in isolated muscle fibers. *PLoS ONE* 7:e29356. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 29356
- Perry, C. G., Kane, D. A., Herbst, E. A., Mukai, K., Lark, D. S., Wright, D. C., et al. (2012). Mitochondrial creatine kinase activity and phosphate shuttling are acutely regulated by exercise in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 590, 5475–5486. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.234682
- Perry, C. G., Kane, D. A., Lanza, I. R., and Neufer, P. D. (2013). Methods for assessing mitochondrial function in diabetes. *Diabetes* 62, 1041–1053. doi: 10.2337/db12-1219
- Perry, C. G., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T., Kozy, R., Cathey, B. L., Lark, D. S., et al. (2011). Inhibiting myosin-ATPase reveals dynamic range of mitochondrial respiratory control in skeletal muscle. *Biochem. J.* 437, 215–222. doi: 10.1042/BJ201 10366
- Pesta, D., and Gnaiger, E. (2012). High-resolution respirometry: OXPHOS protocols for human cells and permeabilized fibers from small biopsies of human muscle. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 810, 25–58. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-382-0_3
- Picard, M., Taivassalo, T., Ritchie, D., Wright, K. J., Thomas, M. M., Romestaing, C., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial structure and function are disrupted by standard isolation methods. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18317. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018317
- Saks, V. A., Belikova, Y. O., and Kuznetsov, A. V. (1991). In vivo regulation of mitochondrial respiration in cardiomyocytes: specific restrictions for intracellular diffusion of ADP. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1074, 302–311. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(91)90168-G
- Saks, V. A., Kuznetsov, A. V., Khuchua, Z. A., Vasilyeva, E. V., Belikova, J. O., Kesvatera, T., et al. (1995). Control of cellular respiration *in vivo* by mitochondrial outer membrane and by creatine kinase. a new speculative hypothesis: possible involvement of mitochondrial-cytoskeleton interactions. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 27, 625–645. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2828(08) 80056-9
- Saks, V., Khuchua, Z., Vasilyeva, E., Belikova, O., and Kuznetsov, A. (1994). Metabolic compartmentation and substrate channelling in muscle cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 133–134, 155–192. doi: 10.1007/BF012 67954
- Shanely, R. A., Zwetsloot, K. A., Triplett, N. T., Meaney, M. P., Farris, G. E., and Nieman, D. C. (2014). Human skeletal muscle biopsy procedures using the modified bergstrom technique. J. Vis. Exp. 10:51812. doi: 10.3791/51812
- Staron, R. S., Hagerman, F. C., Hikida, R. S., Murray, T. F., Hostler, D. P., Crill, M. T., et al. (2000). Fiber type composition of the vastus lateralis muscle of young men and women. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 48, 623–629. doi: 10.1177/002215540004800506
- Taylor, A. W., and Bachman, L. (1999). The effects of endurance training on muscle fibre types and enzyme activities. *Can. J. Appl. Physiol.* 24, 41. doi: 10.1139/h99-005
- Tonkonogi, M., Harris, B., and Sahlin, K. (1998). Mitochondrial oxidative function in human saponin-skinned muscle fibres: effects of prolonged exercise. *J. Physiol.* 510, 279–286. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.279bz.x
- Treberg, J. R., Quinlan, C. L., and Brand, M. D. (2010). Hydrogen peroxide efflux from muscle mitochondria underestimates matrix superoxide production– a correction using glutathione depletion. *FEBS J.* 277, 2766–2778. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07693.x
- Veksler, V. I., Kuznetsov, A. V., Sharov, V. G., Kapelko, V. I., and Saks, V. A. (1987). Mitochondrial respiratory parameters in cardiac tissue: a novel method of assessment by using saponin-skinned fibers. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 892, 191–196. doi: 10.1016/0005-2728(87)90174-5

- Ventura-Clapier, R., and Vassort, G. (1985). Role of myofibrillar creatine kinase in the relaxation of rigor tension in skinned cardiac muscle. *Pflügers Arch.* 404, 157–161. doi: 10.1007/B. F.00585412
- Votion, D. M., Gnaiger, E., Lemieux, H., Mouithys-Mickalad, A., and Serteyn, D. (2012). Physical fitness and mitochondrial respiratory capacity in horse skeletal muscle. *PLoS ONE* 7:e34890. doi: 10.1371/annotation/e24ced68-9c2d-4303-9553-0661decb9a,51
- Walsh, B., Tonkonogi, M., Söderlund, K., Hultman, E., Saks, V., and Sahlin, K. (2001). The role of phosphorylcreatine and creatine in the regulation of mitochondrial respiration in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 537, 971–978. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2001.012858

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Hughes, Ramos, Turnbull, Nejatbakhsh, Baechler, Tahmasebi, Laham, Gurd, Quadrilatero, Kane and Perry. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Measurement of Reversible Redox Dependent Post-translational Modifications and Their Regulation of Mitochondrial and Skeletal Muscle Function

Philip A. Kramer¹, Jicheng Duan², Wei-Jun Qian² and David J. Marcinek^{1, 3*}

¹ Department of Radiology, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA, ² Biological Sciences Division, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, USA, ³ Department of Bioengineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Martina Krüger, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Germany Ranganath Mamidi, Case Western Reserve University, USA

> *Correspondence: David J. Marcinek dmarc@uw.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 30 September 2015 Accepted: 09 November 2015 Published: 25 November 2015

Citation:

Kramer PA, Duan J, Qian W-J and Marcinek DJ (2015) The Measurement of Reversible Redox Dependent Post-translational Modifications and Their Regulation of Mitochondrial and Skeletal Muscle Function. Front. Physiol. 6:347. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00347 Mitochondrial oxidative stress is a common feature of skeletal myopathies across multiple conditions; however, the mechanism by which it contributes to skeletal muscle dysfunction remains controversial. Oxidative damage to proteins, lipids, and DNA has received the most attention, yet an important role for reversible redox post-translational modifications (PTMs) in pathophysiology is emerging. The possibility that these PTMs can exert dynamic control of muscle function implicates them as a mechanism contributing to skeletal muscle dysfunction in chronic disease. Herein, we discuss the significance of thiol-based redox dependent modifications to mitochondrial, myofibrillar, and excitation-contraction (EC) coupling proteins with an emphasis on how these changes could alter skeletal muscle performance under chronically stressed conditions. A major barrier to a better mechanistic understanding of the role of reversible redox PTMs in muscle function is the technical challenges associated with accurately measuring the changes of site-specific redox PTMs. Here we will critically review current approaches with an emphasis on sample preparation artifacts, quantitation, and specificity. Despite these challenges, the ability to accurately quantify reversible redox PTMs is critical to understanding the mechanisms by which mitochondrial oxidative stress contributes to skeletal muscle dysfunction in chronic diseases.

Keywords: redox signaling, post-translational modification, skeletal muscle, mitochondria, myofibrils, glutathionylation

INTRODUCTION

Oxidative stress plays an important role in skeletal muscle health and disease. In the past, most attention has been focused on skeletal muscle dysfunction caused by oxidative damage to proteins, lipids, and DNA. This damage alters the structure of macromolecules in an irreversible manner and requires turnover and production of new macromolecules to reverse the effects. However, there is growing appreciation of the role of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) in reversible redox post-translational modifications (PTMs) in both muscle adaptation and the effects of chronic disease and aging on skeletal muscle (Sohal and Orr, 2012). Normal skeletal muscle physiology is characterized by transient periods of elevated ROS production due to contractile activity

Redox PTMs in Skeletal Muscle

(Powers et al., 2010). In response to repeated bouts of contraction these transient periods of elevated ROS production play an important role in mediating the adaptive benefits of exercise through activation of redox sensitive transcription factors (Powers and Jackson, 2008). On the opposite extreme, chronic elevation of oxidative stress underlies some of the pathological changes associated with disuse atrophy (Min et al., 2011; Powers et al., 2011).

In addition to these longer term adaptive changes in muscle, it is now clear that the intracellular redox environment of skeletal muscle also exerts dynamic control over skeletal muscle physiology on the time scale of seconds to hours. Mild elevation of oxidants increases skeletal muscle force production, while further increases in oxidative stress reduce force and play a role in skeletal muscle fatigue (Reid et al., 1993; Andrade et al., 1998; Matuszczak et al., 2005). Manipulation of muscle oxidative stress also induces rapid effects on mitochondrial energetics. Within 24h of treatment to induce a mild oxidative stress in mice, paraquat impairs in vivo mitochondrial energetics and induces an energy stress similar to that observed in aged skeletal muscle (Siegel et al., 2012). Reducing mitochondrial oxidative stress by treating with the mitochondrial targeted peptide SS-31 has the opposite effect. Within 1 h of treatment with SS-31 improved mitochondrial energetics and fatigue resistance were associated with a more reduced GSH/GSSG redox state in aged mouse skeletal muscle (Siegel et al., 2013). The rapid and reversible nature of the control of this activity indicates that these effects are not dependent on turnover of oxidatively damaged molecules or protein translation, but rather are the result of a more dynamic interaction between the redox environment and skeletal muscle physiology (Figure 1), most likely through reversible redox-dependent PTMs. In this review we will highlight key mitochondrial, myofibrillar, and excitationcontraction (EC) coupling proteins whose activities are modified in a redox dependent manner and discuss the challenges and recent developments in strategies to quantify redox PTMs.

SOURCES OF ROS IN SKELETAL MUSCLE

Skeletal muscle produces ROS from both mitochondrial and nonmitochondrial sources. During muscle contractile activity there is an increase in muscle oxidant production. Mitochondria are frequently cited as the primary source for oxidant production in skeletal muscle. However, growing evidence supports a primary role for non-mitochondrial oxidant by membrane bound NADPH oxidases and, to a lesser extent, extracellular xanthine oxidase production during muscle contraction (Gomez-Cabrera et al., 2005; Frasier et al., 2013; Wadley et al., 2013; Alleman et al., 2014; Sakellariou et al., 2014). In fact, recent work demonstrates that under conditions of increased mitochondrial respiration, as in working muscle, mitochondrial superoxide generation is decreased compared to resting conditions (Anderson and Neufer, 2006; Goncalves et al., 2015). NAD(P)H oxidase enzyme complexes are found in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), the transverse tubules, and plasma membrane. Superoxide produced by SR NAD(P)H oxidases has been implicated in regulation of SR Ca²⁺ dynamics, while plasma membrane NAD(P)H



FIGURE 1 | Theoretical graph of the transient and additive nature of reversible and irreversible redox PTMs in the context of skeletal muscle physiology and disease. (A) Acute oxidative insults (shaded area) can cause a swift and transient increase in reversible oxidative PTMs. Irreversible PTMs rely on protein degradation and turnover, while most reversible modifications can be cleared by the GSH/GSSG and Trx(red)/Trx(ox) redox couples. Subsequent acute oxidative insults can be deleterious if the modifications become irreversible, but this is not the case for reversible modifications, which, can cause transcriptional activation of the antioxidant response (adaptation, preconditioning, or hormesis) to suppress PTM formation. (B) Chronic oxidative insults can result in an oxidized redox status which persists throughout the duration of the stress. As with aging, many metabolic and functional skeletal muscle defects that result from this oxidized redox status can be rapidly reversed by restoring a more reduced redox environment. In contrast, irreversible oxidative modifications, however, can persist after the end of the oxidative insult.

oxidases, along with xanthine oxidase are the main contributors of contraction induced extracellular superoxide production as reviewed by Powers and Jackson (2008). This transient and cyclical contraction induced ROS plays an important role in regulating muscle contraction and inducing adaptive responses to exercise in skeletal (McArdle et al., 2004; Ristow et al., 2009; Powers et al., 2010) and cardiac muscle (Frasier et al., 2013).

In contrast, elevation of superoxide production associated with chronic degenerative disease appears to be primarily mitochondrial in origin. Mitochondrial superoxide or hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) production is elevated in aging skeletal muscle (Siegel et al., 2013), neurodegenerative disease (Manczak et al.,

2011), cardiac pathology (Adlam et al., 2005; Dai et al., 2011a), and following high fat diet. Reducing mitochondrial H2O2 production with either genetic or pharmacological interventions targeted to the mitochondria reverses or protects against mitochondrial deficits in these conditions (Dai et al., 2011b; Siegel et al., 2013). The mitochondria contain several sites of superoxide production associated with the electron transport system (ETS) and tricarboxylic acid cycle. Complex I of the ETS appears to be the dominant source of mitochondrial superoxide under most conditions with contributions from complex II and III increasing under conditions simulating more active muscle (Goncalves et al., 2015). Complex I and II produce superoxide in the matrix of the mitochondria, while complex III generates superoxide on both sides of the inner mitochondrial membrane (Goncalves et al., 2015). Multiple dehydrogenase enzymes, including pyruvate dehydrogenase and oxoglutarate dehydrogenase, also contribute to superoxide production in the matrix (Mailloux et al., 2014a). Superoxide produced by the mitochondria is rapidly converted to H₂O₂ by either MnSOD (matrix) or CuZnSOD (inner membrane space). H₂O₂ then interacts with the GSH-thioredoxin redox buffering system or is rapidly decomposed to water and oxygen by the enzyme catalase in the cytosol.

REDOX BUFFERING SYSTEM

Cellular redox status, as discussed in this review, is defined as the relationship of ROS producers and scavengers. A common method of determining the redox status of a cell is the reduced to oxidized glutathione ratio (GSH:GSSG). Increasing evidence suggests that redox regulation of cellular processes is the result of signaling rather than non-specific oxidation (Matés et al., 2008). H₂O₂, for example, interacts with the redox buffering system through the GSH/GSSG and thioredoxin (Trx_{red}/Trx_{ox}) redox couples that are present in both the cytosolic and mitochondrial matrix compartments. This redox system, for which NADPH/NADP⁺ provides reducing power, transduces information on the redox status to the cell by interacting

with the proteome through the thiol group on cysteine (Cys) residues. Of the greater than 200,000 Cys residues present in the proteome over 20,000 are thought to be redox sensitive, meaning that they can undergo reversible redox modification as described above (Jones and Go, 2011). The susceptibility of the thiol groups on Cys residues, referred to as redox switches, to oxidative modification varies according to their local biochemical environment. The deprotonated thiol, the thiolate anion, is much more susceptible to oxidation than the thiol group. The pKa of thiols is high (>8); however, its proximity to positively charged amino acids in proteins, arginine, and lysine, can function to decrease their pKa values and make them more reactive at physiological pH (Winterbourn and Hampton, 2008). Redox PTMs of thiols are classified as reversible or irreversible, largely depending on the degree of oxidation. The oxidation states of a low pKa thiol (-2), for example, can be readily oxidized to a reversible sulfenic acid (0) by a 2 electron oxidation with H_2O_2 , and subsequently to sulfinic (+2) and sulfonic acid (+4) which are considered irreversible (Figure 2). These redox PTMs can modify protein function by altering protein structure or modifying interactions with other proteins, ligands, or DNA (Forman et al., 2014).

THIOL-BASED REDOX PTMS

In addition to S-sulfenylation, S-nitrosylation (SNO) and Sglutathionylation (SSG) are two of the most studied reversible redox PTMs (**Figure 2**). These modifications have been wellrecognized as a fundamental mechanism of redox signaling by modulating enzyme activities and protein functions in a variety of cellular activities, such as signaling, metabolism, gene expression, and apoptosis (Janssen-Heininger et al., 2008; Winterbourn and Hampton, 2008; Brandes et al., 2009; Antelmann and Helmann, 2011). The types or levels of PTMs depend on the presence of ROS and RNS, and the redox buffering system, and the enzymatic reduction systems. Collectively, these modifications represent a continuum that relates the form of modification to the extent of ROS/RNS damage and functional consequence. However, our



current knowledge of redox PTMs and their significance is still relatively limited due to the technical challenges associated with the measurement of these labile modifications.

APPROACHES FOR MEASURING REVERSIBLE REDOX PTMS

To measure endogenous redox PTMs, one of the major challenges is how to preserve the modifications during sample storage and prevent artificial oxidation during sample preparation. There are two general processes of introducing artifacts: (1) thiol oxidation by air through sample processing; (2) reduction of PTMs by antioxidant enzymes during sample storage or processing (Held and Gibson, 2012). Therefore, special care and sample processing protocols are required in order to accurately measure in vivo redox PTMs. To minimize oxidation artifacts during cell or tissue processing, two techniques are commonly applied. These are trichloroacetic acid (TCA) quenching and cell lysis directly with a relative high concentration of alkylation reagents, such as N-ethylmaleimide (NEM) and iodoacetamide (IAA), to block free thiols (Leichert and Jakob, 2006). TCA quenching is a fast process, which can cause precipitation and denaturation of proteins, thus suppressing reactivity of thiolate anions by lowering the pH below their pKa. In contrast, alkylation with NEM and IAM is applied to covalently block free thiols quickly, thus preserve the redox PTMs for downstream processing and measurements. NEM reacts with thiols via a faster and more specific Michael addition reaction than the nucleophilic substitution reaction with IAM. NEM is also less pH dependent compared to IAM, which makes NEM often the preferred blocking reagents for measuring redox PTMs. For measuring redox PTMs in tissues such as muscle, a detailed optimization of tissue handling and processing is particularly important to make sure that the endogenous PTMs are well-preserved during this process.

Approaches for measuring redox PTMs include both indirect and direct detection methods. Given the lack of direct detection approaches of redox PTMs, the indirect approaches are still a popular choice. Figure 3 illustrates the general chemistry principles of most indirect and direct measurement approaches. Basically, the free thiols are initially blocked by alkylation with NEM in a denaturing buffer during tissue homogenization or cell lysis. For indirect methods (Figure 3A), the different types of redox PTMs are selectively reduced to free thiols by using individual sets of reagents where ascorbate is commonly used to reduce SNO (Derakhshan et al., 2007; Su et al., 2013); a glutaredoxin (Grx) reduction cocktail for SSG (Shelton et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2011), and DTT for total reversible oxidation (Leichert et al., 2008; Paulech et al., 2013). Then, the pre-processed protein samples containing free thiols can be subjected to different enrichment strategies and to either gelbased or mass spectrometry (MS)-based approaches for profiling redox PTM. It should be noted that the selective reduction strategies used in most indirect detection methods are not perfect in terms of specificity. For example, besides reducing SNO, ascorbate is also reported to reduce disulfides in a certain degree (Kuncewicz et al., 2003; Dahm et al., 2006). Similarly, even with the use of mutated form of Grx to reduce its chance for disulfide reduction, non-specific reduction of the Grx enzyme cocktail was still observed (Su et al., 2014). In this regard, the inclusion of proper negative or positive controls when applying these indirect methods is important for more confident identifications of endogenous redox modifications (Guo et al., 2014a).

The concept of indirect detection of redox PTMs was first reported as the biotin-switch technique (BST) for Snitrosylated proteins (Jaffrey and Snyder, 2001; Jaffrey et al., 2001). This approach was also modified to detect other redox PTMs including SSG (Lind et al., 2002; Reynaert et al., 2006) and total reversible thiol oxidation (Leichert and Jakob, 2004). In this approach, the reduced thiols were labeled with reagents containing a biotin tag and labeled proteins were enriched by avidin affinity purification for biochemical (e.g., Western blotting) analyses. For example, redox differential in gel electrophoresis (redox DIGE) allows the comparison of the levels of oxidation between two samples on the same gel by using iodoaceamido or maleimide-based cyanine fluorophores (Leichert and Jakob, 2004; Hurd et al., 2007).

With the advances of MS-based proteomics a number of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)-based proteomics approaches have been developed for identifying and quantifying redox PTMs at the proteome level. For example, in BST the biotinylated peptides (formerly SNO-modified) were enriched by avidin chromatography and the biotin tags were removed to allow the detection of SNO modified Cys sites (Hao et al., 2006). Similarly, the OxICAT approach was developed to measure the levels of total reversible thiol oxidation by labeling the reduced and oxidized thiols with two versions of alkylating ICAT (isotope-coded affinity tags) reagents (Leichert et al., 2008). The differentially labeled thiols with ICAT are purified by biotin-avidin purification and followed by LC-MS/MS to quantify the levels of thiol oxidation on Cys residues based on the light and heavy-labeled peptide intensity ratios. Although the BST or biotin-based approaches are still popular, these approaches generally suffer from the issue of nonspecific binding during enrichment. Alternatively, our laboratory developed a resin-assisted capture (RAC) approach (originally called quantitative cysteinyl-peptide enrichment technology, Liu et al., 2004, 2005) for high-efficiency enrichment of cysteinecontaining peptides using Thiopropyl Sepharose 6B thiol-affinity resin. More recently, we and others have demonstrated the effectiveness of enriching several types of redox PTMs including SNO, SSG, and total oxidation using this approach (Forrester et al., 2009, 2011; Liu et al., 2010; Paulech et al., 2013; Su et al., 2013, 2014; Guo et al., 2014a,b). Compared to the biotin-based approaches, the resin-assisted procedure provides a simpler workflow, a very high enrichment specificity (>95% of peptides as Cys-peptides), better sensitivity than biotin avidinbased enrichment as demonstrated by a side-by-side comparison (Forrester et al., 2009). The RAC also provides the flexibility for enabling multiplex quantification by allowing on-resin digestion and isobaric labeling. For example, 4-plex (iTRAQ, isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification), 6-plex and 10-plex TMT



(tandem mass tags) can be applied to enable MS-based sitespecific identification and quantification of redox PTMs across 4–10 biological conditions (Forrester et al., 2009; Su et al., 2013, 2014; Guo et al., 2014a,b). More recently, a new isobaric reagent iodoTMT that contains an iodoacetyl reactive group was developed to directly label free thiols to enable multiplex quantification of multiple redox PTMs (Pan et al., 2014; Qu et al., 2014). In this approach, the labeled peptides are enriched by an anti-TMT resin. Both the resin-assisted and iodoTMT approach offer the flexibility of multiplexed quantification; however, the resin-assisted approach should provide higher enrichment specificity due to the covalent capture process compared to the non-covalent immunoaffinity enrichment.

Besides the popular indirect methods, several direct measurement strategies (**Figure 3B**) have been developed for redox PTMs. For example, dimedone-based probes have been shown to specifically label SOH (Charles et al., 2007; Leonard et al., 2009). By incorporating a clickable dimedone probe with a UV-cleavable biotin, MS-based global profiling of SOH modified Cys sites was recently demonstrated (Yang et al., 2014, 2015). For SNO, organomercury resin has recently been applied for direct and site-specific identification of SNO-containing peptides by first blocking the free thiols with MMTS and capturing SNO directly by organomercury resin (Doulias et al., 2010, 2013; Raju et al., 2015). Compared to indirect methods, the direct measurement strategies are less prone to potential artifacts for redox PTMs; however, to date the indirect approaches such as

RAC or iodoTMT still provide the most flexibility in multiplexed quantification over many biological samples.

Besides these modifications shown on **Figure 3**, protein Ssulfhydration (SSH) has recently been reported as a novel thiolbased PTM similarly to SNO (Paul and Snyder, 2012). A modified version of the BST method was applied to detect proteins modified by S-sulfhydration (Mustafa et al., 2009); however, the blocking reagent MMTS (methyl methanethiosulfonate) was shown to react with both free thiols and persulfides (Pan and Carroll, 2013). More recently, a tag-switch assay was reported for more specific SSH detection (Zhang et al., 2014). Further, studies are necessary to validate the specificity and effectiveness of these approaches for SSH modification.

In the study of redox PTMs, it is also important to be able to be quantify the stoichiometry of redox PTMs (i.e., ratios oxidized vs. reduced thiols) in order to better identify functionally important Cys sites. To date, such measurements were only demonstrated by a few approaches such as OxICAT (Leichert et al., 2008; Knoefler et al., 2012) and the RAC approach coupled with TMT (Guo et al., 2014b) in different biological systems. This would be an important area of further development. Furthermore, targeted quantification of redox PTMs by MS is also an interesting development in its ability to perform precise multiplexed quantification of many site-specific PTMs. The proof-of-concept was demonstrated by coupling differential alkylation of free/oxidized thiols using NEM and d5-NEM and multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) to quantify site-specific Cys oxidation status of an endogenous protein p53 (Held et al., 2010). The targeted quantification strategy should have a good potential to complement Western blotting to verify redox PTMs in specific proteins.

CONTROL OF PROTEIN STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION BY REDOX PTMS

Changes in protein structure due to an oxidative environment, can affect the localization, proteasome clearance, and the function or activity of a protein depending on the site, type, and extent of the oxidative modification. The formation of a disulfide bond, for example, can affect the proteins tertiary structure, making it a target for proteases. Many proteases have evolved to target oxidatively modified proteins, thus turning over many of the dysfunctional or structurally abnormal proteins (Jung et al., 2013). Lon protease, for example, has been shown to preferentially target oxidized mitochondrial aconitase in skeletal muscle (Bota et al., 2002). However, heavily oxidized proteins, like aconitase, can form aggregates and become inaccessible to the proteasome (Bota and Davies, 2002). In muscle, creatine kinase has been shown to be oxidative modified in aged mice, resulting in protein aggregates and the loss of enzyme activity (Nuss et al., 2009). Oxidative and other PTMs can have a direct effect on protein function independent of structural changes. Actin, for example, has many reported PTMs that affect its polymerization, organization, and stability (Chung et al., 2013; Terman and Kashina, 2013). These PTMs can form in an enzyme active site with similar functional consequences as will be discussed in this review.

A less recognized role of oxidative PTMs is their ability to regulate the formation of other PTMs associated with normal physiological signaling. This occurs primarily by oxidative modification to a kinase or phosphatase, thus regulating its ability to change the phosphorylation status of a protein. Increasing evidence points to the significance of cross-talk between redox and phosphorylation based signaling systems (Duhé et al., 1998; Filomeni et al., 2005; Chiarugi and Buricchi, 2007; Kemble and Sun, 2009). Indeed, oxidative modifications to the cysteine of protein tyrosine phosphatases has been shown to suppress their activity and lead to the increase in total phosphorylation (Rhee et al., 2000). Intracellular redox circuitry is regarded as a master regulator of phosphorylation and de-phosphorylation because nearly all classes of protein phosphatases and many kinases contain redox sensitive Cys residues for regulating their activities (Chiarugi, 2005; Fisher-Wellman and Neufer, 2012). In general, a shift in cellular redox state such as in aging (Sohal and Orr, 2012) would impact the activities of many phosphatases and stress-sensitive Ser/Thr kinases (e.g., JNK/ASK1, IKKβ, NF-κB), many of which are implicated in insulin resistance (Boura-Halfon and Zick, 2009). Indeed, redox modulation of phosphatase activity and phosphorylation in intact skeletal muscle has been reported (Wright et al., 2009). Moreover, the redox regulation of JNK activation and inactivation of MAP kinase phosphatase (MKP-1) has been reported in cellular aging (Dasgupta et al., 2010).

The changes in protein function and their ability to interact with other proteins, macromolecules, and DNA, due to oxidative PTMs is broadly termed redox signaling. However, this is distinguishable from oxidative stress by the degree of oxidative insult, the irreversibility (damage) associated with the PTM, and the specificity of target (Schieber and Chandel, 2014). Aging is an example of a progressive increase in oxidative stress in which physiological redox signaling is disrupted. A redox proteomic analysis has recently demonstrated that the cysteine thiol proteome in aged mouse skeletal muscle is significantly more oxidized than in young adult mice (McDonagh et al., 2014). An important insight from this study was that the number of cysteines that were either reversibly oxidized or available for redox signaling, defined as being partially oxidized, decreased in the aged muscles suggesting reduced flexibility of the redox signaling system in aged muscle. Many mitochondrial and myofibrillar proteins were among the proteins with redox sensitive thiols detected in this study (McDonagh et al., 2014). Below we discuss evidence for the modulation of activity for many of these mitochondrial and myofibrillar proteins by redox PTMs with an emphasis on SSG modification (Figure 4).

REDOX PTMS AND MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTION

Mitochondria are attractive targets for redox control. As discussed above, the mitochondria are an important source of superoxide and H₂O₂ production in the cell. Therefore, modulation of cell energetics and function by direct control over mitochondrial function by redox PTMs would co-localize the source and targets of oxidant production and allow rapid cellular response to changes in redox status. Mitochondria also contain high concentrations of glutathione and an active thioredoxin (Trx)/GSH redox buffering system that would facilitate translation of oxidative stress to redox PTMs. Finally, many mitochondrial proteins, such as 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase, isocitrate dehydrogenase, Complex I, and glutaredoxin isoforms 1 and 2, have conserved cysteine residues associated with dehydrogenase or redox transfer reactions (Mailloux et al., 2014a). Dynamic interaction between mitochondrial respiration and redox biology has been demonstrated in isolated mitochondria, muscle cells, and in vivo. Electron flux through the ETS plays an important role in regulating mitochondrial redox status due to the important role of electron flux in controlling NADH/NAD and NADPH/NADP and thus reducing power. An oxidized GSH/GSSG ratio was observed in isolated brain mitochondria under low mitochondrial respiration (rotenone, antimycin A, or no ADP) compared to state 3 respiration (ADP and substrates), however, the GSH/GSSG ratio of freshly isolated mitochondria in the absence of respiratory substrates was more oxidized than either condition (Garcia et al., 2010). The more oxidized GSH/GSSG state was associated with increased protein SSG of several mitochondrial proteins. In a separate study, increases in SSG of mitochondrial proteins reduced basal mitochondrial ATP-linked oxygen consumption as well as mitochondrial




reserve capacity in a dose-dependent and reversible manner in smooth muscle cells (Hill et al., 2010). This dynamic interaction between redox status and mitochondrial function also translates to *in vivo* energetics in skeletal muscle. Treatment with paraquat inhibited *in vivo* resting mitochondrial ATPase rate and maximal ATP production within 24 h in aged mice in the absence of changes in mitochondrial protein expression or accumulation of 4-Hydroxynonenal as a marker of oxidative damage (Siegel et al., 2012). Support for an important role of redox regulation of energetics in skeletal muscle pathology also comes from the reversal of mitochondrial deficits in aging muscle following treatment with the mitochondrial targeted peptide SS-31 to reduce mitochondrial oxidant production. One hour after treatment SS-31 increased mitochondrial coupling ratio (P/O) and maximal ATP production (Siegel et al., 2013). This was associated with a more reduced GSH/GSSG ratio in the treated aged muscles. The absence of an observed effect of this treatment in the young muscles or in permeabilized muscle fibers from the treated aged mice suggests that the inhibition of function that was reversed by SS-31 was dependent the interaction between

the more oxidized cell environment in the aged muscle and the mitochondria.

Protein SSG of an oxidized cysteine (sulfenic acid), which can be reversed by glutaredoxin, prevents the irreversible oxidation to sulfinic (-SO₂H) or sulfonic (-SO₃H) acid. In the case of complex I, irreversible oxidation results in loss of enzyme activity (Hurd et al., 2008). Thus, reversible PTMs can serve as a protective modification during transient oxidative stress. The prevention of further oxidation by SSG was suggested as a mechanism to explain the protective effect of elevated Grx2 expression on doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity (Diotte et al., 2009). This study was unique in demonstrating increased SSG of mitochondrial proteins with overexpression of Grx2 under both normal and doxorubicin exposed conditions (Diotte et al., 2009). In contrast, other studies have demonstrated that reduced expression of Grx2 resulted in increased SSG of complex I in the human eye (Liu et al., 2015) and mouse heart (Mailloux et al., 2014b).

In addition to protecting against further oxidation, SSG can also modify protein function. Complex I is one of the most wellstudied mitochondrial proteins in terms of redox regulation of activity. The attention given to complex I is likely due in part to its position as the entry point for electrons into the ETS from NADH and its role as a major source of ETS derived superoxide. Therefore, it plays a key role in regulating mitochondrial function and is the complex most commonly implicated in mitochondrial diseases associated with genetic, idiopathic, and lifestyle. Of the 130 cysteine residues contained in the 45 subunits of complex I, 30 were sensitive to reversible oxidation following diamide treatment in mitochondria isolated from brain (Danielson et al., 2011). Six of these residues in brain mitochondria were sensitive to reversible oxidation in vivo following depletion of GSH with buthionine sulphoximine (BSO). Two of these residues, cys-531 and 704 on the Ndufs1 subunit were also found to be oxidized in oxidatively stressed bovine hearts (Hurd et al., 2008).

Increased SSG of complex I in heart mitochondria by diamide treatment (Hurd et al., 2008) or by knocking out Grx2 (Mailloux et al., 2014b) leads to reversible inhibition of complex I activity. However, other groups report that the inhibition of complex I activity by SSG was only partially reversible when oxidized under severe oxidizing conditions, suggesting that the SSG may have initiated structural modifications or protein interactions of complex I that were less reversible than the PTM itself (Taylor et al., 2003). Despite the inhibition of complex I NADH reducing activity, SSG of complex I results in elevated superoxide production which is converted to H₂O₂ in the intact mitochondria (Taylor et al., 2003). The elevation of superoxide production occurs much more rapidly than inhibition of NADH reducing activity and was acutely reversible with exposure to a reducing agent suggesting that these two effects of SSG on complex I function have different biochemical mechanisms. These functional effects suggest a model whereby an initial disturbance in redox balance could initiate SSG of complex I leading to further oxidation of the mitochondrial environment and inhibition of mitochondrial ATP production, as well as other targets discussed below.

In addition to complex I, the activities of several other proteins involved in oxidative phosphorylation are modified by reversible redox PTMs. F1FO ATPase is another target of redox PTM in the mitochondria. In heart mitochondria disulfide formation and SSG are elevated at Cys 294 on the alpha subunit of the F1 complex, while S-nitrosylation is reduced, in dyssynchronous heart failure (Wang et al., 2011). Cardiac resynchronization therapy that improves cardiac function also reverses the redox PTM at this site. Working with brain and liver mitochondria, Garcia et al demonstrated F1FO ATPase was S-glutathionylated in response to changing mitochondrial GSH/GSSG ratios induced by altering the respiratory state of the mitochondria (Garcia et al., 2010). The increased SSG associated with low respiratory flux reversibly inhibited ATPase activity (Garcia et al., 2010). The supply of reducing equivalents to the respiratory chain can also be modified by redox PTMs. Succinyl CoA transferase (Garcia et al., 2010) and alphaketoglutarate dehydrogenase (Applegate et al., 2008) are also reversibly inhibited by SSG in brain and heart mitochondria, respectively. Alpha ketoglutarate dehydrogenase is an NADH generating step in the Kreb's cycle thus inhibition of this enzyme and complex I would reduce mitochondrial capacity by both directly inhibiting the supply of NADH and the entry of NADH into the ETS.

SSG may also exert control over bioenergetics by controlling the coupling of electron transport to ATP generation through the membrane potential. A high potential across the inner mitochondrial membrane under low flux or reductive stress leads to elevated mitochondrial superoxide production (St-Pierre et al., 2002; Nicholls, 2004). Uncoupling proteins 2 and 3 (UCP2 and UCP3) serve as part of the antioxidant defense system by facilitating proton leak across the inner mitochondrial membrane and dissipating the membrane potential to reduce mitochondrial superoxide production (Echtay et al., 2002; Echtay and Brand, 2007). It has been known for several years that oxidative stress induces increased proton leak through UCP3 (Echtay et al., 2002; Echtay and Brand, 2007). Recently Harper and colleagues demonstrated that this proton leak is under the control of the SSG state of Cys 25 and Cys 259 (Mailloux et al., 2011). In contrast to other examples of redox PTM of mitochondrial proteins, where increased SSG is associated with an oxidized GSH/GSSG status, UCP3 appears to be deglutathionylated directly by GRx1 under high oxidative stress conditions (Mailloux et al., 2011). Deglutathionylation of UCP3 led to an increase in state 4 (non-phosphorylating respiration) in mitochondria isolated from skeletal muscle, while treatment with diamide to increase SSG had the opposite effect. Glutathionylation state had a similar effect on the control of UCP2-mediated proton leak in mitochondria from mouse kidney and thymocytes (Mailloux et al., 2011).

Other proton leak pathways may also be regulated by reversible PTMs. The adenine nucleotide transporter (ANT) also plays an important role in regulating mitochondrial ROS production through control of the membrane potential (Brand et al., 2005). There is some evidence that the ANT activity is also affected by SSG (Queiroga et al., 2010), although the evidence for this is not as strong as for other mitochondrial proteins.

Modulation of ANT function by redox PTM would provide another route by which the redox status could feedback and control both mitochondrial redox state and energy metabolism of the mitochondria. Thus, SSG of proteins involved in oxidative phosphorylation may represent a dynamic reversible response of the mitochondria to minimize the production of superoxide by the mitochondria or irreversible damage under periods of elevated oxidative stress, such as conditions of low respiratory flux, high reductive stress (high fat feeding), or intermittent exercise (Anderson et al., 2007, 2009). As noted above, SSG can provide a defense against excess mitochondrial superoxide production by modifying the supply of reducing equivalents to the ETS, electron flux through the ETS, and the membrane potential of the mitochondria. However, under conditions of sustained oxidative stress such as chronic disease or aging, these same responses may contribute to mitochondrial energetic deficits and contribute to tissue dysfunction. This suggests that directly altering the redox environment of the mitochondria may be an effective strategy to rapidly improve muscle mitochondrial energetics in the context of chronic disease (Marcinek and Siegel, 2013; Siegel et al., 2013).

It has also been suggested that mitochondrial dynamics, at the level of mitochondrial ultrastructure, are controlled by redox signaling within a cell, which has a direct impact on mitochondrial function (Willems et al., 2015). In C2C12 myocytes, the change in mitochondrial morphology associated with H₂O₂ and possibly exercise, is thought to be due to mitochondrial depolarization (Fan et al., 2010), however, increasing evidence of oxidative modifications of mitochondrial fission and fusion proteins (Drp1, Mfn1, Mfn2, and OPA1) suggests redox PTMs may be responsible for regulating mitochondrial dynamics in oxidative environments (Willems et al., 2015). In elderly subjects with a markedly low muscle function, OPA1 protein, mitochondrial respiration and cytochrome c oxidase activity, as well as PGC-1a and Sirt3 protein content were decreased compared to young subjects, suggesting that muscle dysfunction with aging is significantly correlated with changes in mitochondrial function, dynamics, and biogenesis (Joseph et al., 2012).

REDOX PTMS AND MUSCLE FORCE GENERATION

The important interaction between ROS, redox status, and muscle force production and fatigue is well-established. Depletion of basal levels of oxidants in resting muscle reduces maximal force, while small elevation of ROS can enhance muscle force production (Reid et al., 1993; Andrade et al., 1998). Several reports have also shown that ROS contribute to muscle fatigue, especially during repetitive submaximal contractions (Reid et al., 1994; Matuszczak et al., 2005). Experimental evidence suggests that ROS may exert their greatest effect on muscle contraction through altering E-C coupling or Ca²⁺ sensitivity of the myofibril (Moopanar and Allen, 2005, 2006), although recent evidence suggests a role for redox PTMs in muscle stiffness (Alegre-Cebollada et al., 2014). Despite the well-established

role for redox modulation of muscle contraction, the specific molecular targets for redox modification are less well-defined. Below we discuss recent evidence for effect of redox PTMs on activity of specific E-C coupling and myofibrillar proteins.

Redox modifications of some components of the myofibril appear to be dependent on the contractile state of the protein. This has been hypothesized to be due to structural changes in the proteins that either bury or expose cysteine residues to the cytosolic environment (Gross and Lehman, 2013; Alegre-Cebollada et al., 2014). When cardiac myofibrils were exposed to cysteine oxidizing reagents under rigor, basal myofibrillar ATPase rates were significantly higher than controls, but there was no effect on maximal ATPase activity (Gross and Lehman, 2013). In contrast, myofibrils exposed under relaxing conditions have a significantly lower maximal ATPase activity with no effect on the basal rate. The reduced ATPase rate in the resting condition was associated with increased cysteine oxidation of the myosin heavy chain compared to control and rigor. These effects were similar for different oxidative modifications induced by NEM, SNAP, and DTDP suggesting that the type of modification to the MHC thiols may not be critical for the effect on ATPase activity. Redox modifications of titin also appear to be determined by changes in protein structure (Alegre-Cebollada et al., 2014). Titin is an approximately 3000 kD protein that stretches between the M-line and Z-line and anchors the thick filament of the myofibril to the z-line. It has a highly coiled structure at rest that is stretched during lengthening of striated muscle sarcomeres (Tan et al., 1993). This stretching provides stability and elasticity. Titin has multiple cysteine residues that are buried on the interior of the protein under relaxed conditions, but are exposed during stretching. Alegre-Cebollada et al found that stretching the protein made these cysteines susceptible to SSG which prevented its refolding and modulated the elasticity of cardiac sarcomeres (Alegre-Cebollada et al., 2014). Similarly, increased mechanical stability of titin caused by disulfide bond formation within the cardiac-specific N2-Bus region of the protein is believed to result in the passive stiffness in human heart myofibrils under oxidizing conditions (Grützner et al., 2009). This reduced elasticity of titin by reversible PTM may contribute to impaired relaxation and diastolic dysfunction under conditions of chronic oxidative stress such as aging.

Redox PTMs may affect muscle force production by modulating both Ca^{2+} dynamics and Ca^{2+} sensitivity of the myofiber. Redox proteomic analysis indicates that both alpha and beta isoforms of tropomyosin can undergo reversible redox modification as well as Troponin I, Myosin light chain 1/3, Myosin regulatory light chain 2, and Myosin-4(McDonagh et al., 2014). Following myocardial infarction or ischemia reperfusion in pig, mice, and rats, Cys190, the only cardiac tropomyosin cysteine, showed significant oxidation and was at least partly implicated in the resulting contractile dysfunction by a H₂O₂ dependent mechanism (Canton et al., 2004, 2006; Avner et al., 2012).

The effects of redox modulation on Ca^{2+} release from the SR by RyR and reuptake by SERCA may be the most well studied effects of redox PTMs on muscle function. Ca^{2+} reuptake into the SR by the SERCA proteins determines the rate of relaxation

of muscle and the ability to sustain repeated muscle contractions. In the mouse heart, SERCA Cys 674 glutathionylation resulted in increased activity; however, irreversible sulfonation resulted in decreased Ca²⁺ reuptake and relaxation and was prevented by catalase overexpression (Tong et al., 2010; Qin et al., 2013). Similarly, treatment of rat ventricular myocytes with H₂O₂ resulted in SR Ca²⁺ depletion due to SERCA oxidative inhibition and the oxidative activation of Na+/Ca²⁺-Exchanger (Kuster et al., 2010).

Ca²⁺ release from the SR by RyR is also affected by the oxidation state of its cysteine residues. Stamler et al demonstrated that RyR has multiple cysteine residues that have different levels of susceptibility to oxidation (Sun et al., 2013). Under high pO2 conditions to induce an oxidative stress, cysteine residues in regions of the protein that interact with the L-Type Ca²⁺ channel form disulfide bonds, which may disrupt the interaction of the RvR with this protein. Interaction with the L-type Ca²⁺ channel is responsible for Ca²⁺ induced Ca²⁺ release and disruption of this interaction by thiol oxidation may inhibit full Ca²⁺ release from the SR. Marks and colleagues have also found disruption of the calstabin 1- RyR interaction by both reversible and irreversible PTMs in aged skeletal muscles (Umanskaya et al., 2014) and heart failure (Rullman et al., 2013). This oxidation was prevented by reducing mitochondrialderived oxidative stress with mitochondrial-targeted catalase expression. Destabilization of the calstabin-1-RyR interaction led to increased open probability of the RyR and greater Ca²⁺ leak from the SR. This chronic leak reduced the Ca²⁺ released from the SR and therefore muscle force production upon muscle stimulation in aging muscle. The chronic Ca²⁺ leak induced by RvR oxidation also induces a feedforward cycle by increasing mitochondrial oxidative stress and muscle atrophy due to increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake. Both of these effects in aging muscle were reduced in aged mice overexpressing mitochondrial targeted catalase to reduce oxidative stress (Umanskaya et al., 2014).

CONCLUSIONS

Skeletal muscle physiology is determined by EC coupling, myofibrillar force production, and bioenergetics. In this review we have highlighted how each of these processes can be acutely controlled by changes in redox homeostasis through reversible redox sensitive PTMs. These redox PTMs provide a mechanism for cells to rapidly respond to redox changes to prevent irreversible oxidative damage, modulate protein activity or signal adaptive responses to stress. The GSH/GSSG and thioredoxin systems provide the biochemical link between the cellular redox environment and protein thiol groups. Thus,

REFERENCES

Adlam, V. J., Harrison, J. C., Porteous, C. M., James, A. M., Smith, R. A., Murphy, M. P., et al. (2005). Targeting an antioxidant to mitochondria decreases cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. *FASEB J.* 19, 1088–1095. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-3718com

reversible thiol modifications provide a mechanism for cells to rapidly respond to redox changes, which during transient stress can serve important signaling or cell-protective roles by altering protein function. However, under conditions of chronic redox stress that create conditions, where these normally transient modifications persist, these same signaling or protective responses can inhibit cell function and lead to pathology. We have attempted to highlight some potential targets in the skeletal muscle mitochondria, E-C coupling and myofibrillar systems where persistent redox sensitive PTMs may contribute to muscle pathology in chronic diseases and aging. In the mitochondria it is becoming increasingly clear that redox PTMs exert control over both entries of electrons into the ETS as well as flux through the system, thereby dynamically influencing both mitochondrial energetics and oxidative stress. These changes to the mitochondria can then feedforward to influence redox PTMs on E-C coupling and myofibrillar proteins to influence Ca^{2+} sensitivity, relaxation, and force production (Figure 4). Thus, reversible redox PTMs provide a mechanism by which the mitochondria can influence muscle force production that is parallel to, and in some ways, independent of changes in ATP flux. Another important point is that because these changes rapidly respond to changes in the redox environment of the cell they may provide a mechanism to rapidly reverse functional deficits in muscle performance associated chronic disease. We are relatively early in our mechanistic understanding of the contribution of redox PTMs to skeletal muscle dysfunction in chronic disease. As interest continues to grow and technical challenges to the quantitative measurements of these changes in vivo are overcome we expect that this area will lead to new insights into the mechanisms of skeletal muscle dysfunction and identify exciting new directions for development of interventions to improve quality of life in this growing patient population.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the design, writing, and editing of this review, with PK and DM writing the sections on redox PTMs and skeletal muscle physiology and disease, and WQ and JD writing the sections on methods and technical challenges. PK created **Figures 1**, **4**, and JD and WQ created/modified **Figures 2**, **3**.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Glenn/AFAR Breakthroughs in Gerontology Award and the National Institutes of Health grants P01-AG001751 (DM), P41-GM103493 (WQ), and T32AG000057 (PK).

- Alegre-Cebollada, J., Kosuri, P., Giganti, D., Eckels, E., Rivas-Pardo, J. A., Hamdani, N., et al. (2014). S-glutathionylation of cryptic cysteines enhances titin elasticity by blocking protein folding. *Cell* 156, 1235–1246. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.056
- Alleman, R. J., Katunga, L. A., Nelson, M. A., Brown, D. A., and Anderson, E. J. (2014). The "Goldilocks Zone" from a redox perspective-Adaptive vs.

deleterious responses to oxidative stress in striated muscle. *Front. Physiol.* 5:358. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00358

- Anderson, E. J., Lustig, M. E., Boyle, K. E., Woodlief, T. L., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T., et al. (2009). Mitochondrial H2O2 emission and cellular redox state link excess fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 573–581. doi: 10.1172/JCI37048
- Anderson, E. J., and Neufer, P. D. (2006). Type II skeletal myofibers possess unique properties that potentiate mitochondrial H(2)O(2) generation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 290, C844–C851. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00402.2005
- Anderson, E. J., Yamazaki, H., and Neufer, P. D. (2007). Induction of endogenous uncoupling protein 3 suppresses mitochondrial oxidant emission during fatty acid-supported respiration. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 31257–31266. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M706129200
- Andrade, F. H., Reid, M. B., Allen, D. G., and Westerblad, H. (1998). Effect of hydrogen peroxide and dithiothreitol on contractile function of single skeletal muscle fibres from the mouse. J. Physiol. 509(Pt 2), 565–575. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.565bn.x
- Antelmann, H., and Helmann, J. D. (2011). Thiol-based redox switches and gene regulation. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 14, 1049–1063. doi: 10.1089/ars.2010.3400
- Applegate, M. A., Humphries, K. M., and Szweda, L. I. (2008). Reversible inhibition of alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase by hydrogen peroxide: glutathionylation and protection of lipoic acid. *Biochemistry* 47, 473–478. doi: 10.1021/bi7017464
- Avner, B. S., Shioura, K. M., Scruggs, S. B., Grachoff, M., Geenen, D. L., Helseth, D. L. Jr., et al. (2012). Myocardial infarction in mice alters sarcomeric function via post-translational protein modification. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 363, 203–215. doi: 10.1007/s11010-011-1172-z
- Bota, D. A., and Davies, K. J. (2002). Lon protease preferentially degrades oxidized mitochondrial aconitase by an ATP-stimulated mechanism. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 674–680. doi: 10.1038/ncb836
- Bota, D. A., Van Remmen, H., and Davies, K. J. (2002). Modulation of Lon protease activity and aconitase turnover during aging and oxidative stress. *FEBS Lett.* 532, 103–106. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03638-4
- Boura-Halfon, S., and Zick, Y. (2009). Phosphorylation of IRS proteins, insulin action, and insulin resistance. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metabol. 296, E581–E591. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90437.2008
- Brand, M. D., Pakay, J. L., Ocloo, A., Kokoszka, J., Wallace, D. C., Brookes, P. S., et al. (2005). The basal proton conductance of mitochondria depends on adenine nucleotide translocase content. *Biochem. J.* 392, 353–362. doi: 10.1042/BJ20050890
- Brandes, N., Schmitt, S., and Jakob, U. (2009). Thiol-based redox switches in eukaryotic proteins. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11, 997–1014. doi: 10.1089/ars.2008.2285
- Canton, M., Neverova, I., Menabò, R., Van Eyk, J., and Di Lisa, F. (2004). Evidence of myofibrillar protein oxidation induced by postischemic reperfusion in isolated rat hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 286, H870–H877. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00714.2003
- Canton, M., Skyschally, A., Menabò, R., Boengler, K., Gres, P., Schulz, R., et al. (2006). Oxidative modification of tropomyosin and myocardial dysfunction following coronary microembolization. *Eur. Heart J.* 27, 875–881. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi751
- Charles, R. L., Schröder, E., May, G., Free, P., Gaffney, P. R., Wait, R., et al. (2007). Protein sulfenation as a redox sensor: proteomics studies using a novel biotinylated dimedone analogue. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 6, 1473–1484. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M700065-MCP200
- Chiarugi, P. (2005). PTPs versus PTKs: the redox side of the coin. *Free Radic. Res.* 39, 353–364. doi: 10.1080/10715760400027987
- Chiarugi, P., and Buricchi, F. (2007). Protein tyrosine phosphorylation and reversible oxidation: two cross-talking posttranslation modifications. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 9, 1–24. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007.9.1
- Chung, H. S., Wang, S. B., Venkatraman, V., Murray, C. I., and Van Eyk, J. E. (2013). Cysteine oxidative posttranslational modifications: emerging regulation in the cardiovascular system. *Circ. Res.* 112, 382–392. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.112.268680
- Dahm, C. C., Moore, K., and Murphy, M. P. (2006). Persistent S-nitrosation of complex I and other mitochondrial membrane proteins by S-nitrosothiols but not nitric oxide or peroxynitrite: implications for the interaction of nitric oxide with mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 10056–10065. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512203200

- Dai, D. F., Chen, T., Szeto, H., Nieves-Cintrón, M., Kutyavin, V., Santana, L. F., et al. (2011b). Mitochondrial targeted antioxidant peptide ameliorates hypertensive cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 58, 73–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.12.044
- Dai, D. F., Johnson, S. C., Villarin, J. J., Chin, M. T., Nieves-Cintrón, M., Chen, T., et al. (2011a). Mitochondrial oxidative stress mediates angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and Galphaq overexpression-induced heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 108, 837–846. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.232306
- Danielson, S. R., Held, J. M., Oo, M., Riley, R., Gibson, B. W., and Andersen, J. K. (2011). Quantitative mapping of reversible mitochondrial Complex I cysteine oxidation in a Parkinson disease mouse model. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 7601–7608. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.190108
- Dasgupta, J., Kar, S., Liu, R., Joseph, J., Kalyanaraman, B., Remington, S. J., et al. (2010). Reactive oxygen species control senescence-associated matrix metalloproteinase-1 through c-Jun-N-terminal kinase. J. Cell. Physiol. 225, 52–62. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22193
- Derakhshan, B., Wille, P. C., and Gross, S. S. (2007). Unbiased identification of cysteine S-nitrosylation sites on proteins. *Nat. Protoc.* 2, 1685–1691. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.210
- Diotte, N. M., Xiong, Y., Gao, J., Chua, B. H., and Ho, Y. S. (2009). Attenuation of doxorubicin-induced cardiac injury by mitochondrial glutaredoxin 2. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1793, 427–438. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.10.014
- Doulias, P. T., Greene, J. L., Greco, T. M., Tenopoulou, M., Seeholzer, S. H., Dunbrack, R. L., et al. (2010). Structural profiling of endogenous Snitrosocysteine residues reveals unique features that accommodate diverse mechanisms for protein S-nitrosylation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 16958–16963. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008036107
- Doulias, P. T., Tenopoulou, M., Greene, J. L., Raju, K., and Ischiropoulos, H. (2013). Nitric oxide regulates mitochondrial fatty acid metabolism through reversible protein S-nitrosylation. *Sci. Signa.* 6:rs1. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2003252
- Duhé, R. J., Evans, G. A., Erwin, R. A., Kirken, R. A., Cox, G. W., and Farrar, W. L. (1998). Nitric oxide and thiol redox regulation of Janus kinase activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 126–131. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.1.126
- Echtay, K. S., and Brand, M. D. (2007). 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and uncoupling proteins: an approach for regulation of mitochondrial ROS production. *Redox Rep.* 12, 26–29. doi: 10.1179/135100007X162158
- Echtay, K. S., Roussel, D., St-Pierre, J., Jekabsons, M. B., Cadenas, S., Stuart, J. A., et al. (2002). Superoxide activates mitochondrial uncoupling proteins. *Nature* 415, 96–99. doi: 10.1038/415096a
- Fan, X., Hussien, R., and Brooks, G. A. (2010). H2O2-induced mitochondrial fragmentation in C2C12 myocytes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 49, 1646–1654. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.08.024
- Filomeni, G., Rotilio, G., and Ciriolo, M. R. (2005). Disulfide relays and phosphorylative cascades: partners in redox-mediated signaling pathways. *Cell Death Differ.* 12, 1555–1563. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401754
- Fisher-Wellman, K. H., and Neufer, P. D. (2012). Linking mitochondrial bioenergetics to insulin resistance via redox biology. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 23, 142–153. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2011.12.008
- Forman, H. J., Ursini, F., and Maiorino, M. (2014). An overview of mechanisms of redox signaling. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 73, 2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.01.018
- Forrester, M. T., Hess, D. T., Thompson, J. W., Hultman, R., Moseley, M. A., Stamler, J. S., et al. (2011). Site-specific analysis of protein S-acylation by resin-assisted capture. J. Lipid Res. 52, 393–398. doi: 10.1194/jlr.D011106
- Forrester, M. T., Thompson, J. W., Foster, M. W., Nogueira, L., Moseley, M. A., and Stamler, J. S. (2009). Proteomic analysis of S-nitrosylation and denitrosylation by resin-assisted capture. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 27, 557–559. doi: 10.1038/ nbt.1545
- Frasier, C. R., Moukdar, F., Patel, H. D., Sloan, R. C., Stewart, L. M., Alleman, R. J., et al. (2013). Redox-dependent increases in glutathione reductase and exercise preconditioning: role of NADPH oxidase and mitochondria. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 98, 47–55. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvt009
- Garcia, J., Han, D., Sancheti, H., Yap, L. P., Kaplowitz, N., and Cadenas, E. (2010). Regulation of mitochondrial glutathione redox status and protein glutathionylation by respiratory substrates. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 39646–39654. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.164160
- Gomez-Cabrera, M. C., Borrás, C., Pallardó, F. V., Sastre, J., Ji, L. L., and Viña, J. (2005). Decreasing xanthine oxidase-mediated oxidative stress prevents

useful cellular adaptations to exercise in rats. J. Physiol. 567, 113–120. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.080564

- Goncalves, R. L., Quinlan, C. L., Perevoshchikova, I. V., Hey-Mogensen, M., and Brand, M. D. (2015). Sites of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production by muscle mitochondria assessed *ex vivo* under conditions mimicking rest and exercise. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 209–227. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.619072
- Gross, S. M., and Lehman, S. L. (2013). Accessibility of myofilament cysteines and effects on ATPase depend on the activation state during exposure to oxidants. *PLoS ONE* 8:e69110. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069110
- Grützner, A., Garcia-Manyes, S., Kötter, S., Badilla, C. L., Fernandez, J. M., and Linke, W. A. (2009). Modulation of titin-based stiffness by disulfide bonding in the cardiac titin N2-B unique sequence. *Biophys*, J. 97, 825–834. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2009.05.037
- Guo, J., Gaffrey, M. J., Su, D., Liu, T., Camp, D. G. II, Smith, R. D., et al. (2014a). Resin-assisted enrichment of thiols as a general strategy for proteomic profiling of cysteine-based reversible modifications. *Nat. Protoc.* 9, 64–75. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2013.161
- Guo, J., Nguyen, A. Y., Dai, Z., Su, D., Gaffrey, M. J., Moore, R. J., et al. (2014b). Proteome-wide light/dark modulation of thiol oxidation in cyanobacteria revealed by quantitative site-specific redox proteomics. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 13, 3270–3285. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M114.041160
- Hao, G., Derakhshan, B., Shi, L., Campagne, F., and Gross, S. S. (2006). SNOSID, a proteomic method for identification of cysteine S-nitrosylation sites in complex protein mixtures. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 1012–1017. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508412103
- Held, J. M., Danielson, S. R., Behring, J. B., Atsriku, C., Britton, D. J., Puckett, R. L., et al. (2010). Targeted quantitation of site-specific cysteine oxidation in endogenous proteins using a differential alkylation and multiple reaction monitoring mass spectrometry approach. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 9, 1400–1410. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M900643-MCP200
- Held, J. M., and Gibson, B. W. (2012). Regulatory control or oxidative damage? Proteomic approaches to interrogate the role of cysteine oxidation status in biological processes. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics*. 11:R111.013037. doi: 10.1074/mcp.R111.013037
- Hill, B. G., Higdon, A. N., Dranka, B. P., and Darley-Usmar, V. M. (2010). Regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell bioenergetic function by protein glutathiolation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1797, 285–295. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.11.005
- Hurd, T. R., Prime, T. A., Harbour, M. E., Lilley, K. S., and Murphy, M. P. (2007). Detection of reactive oxygen species-sensitive thiol proteins by redox difference gel electrophoresis: implications for mitochondrial redox signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 22040–22051. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703591200
- Hurd, T. R., Requejo, R., Filipovska, A., Brown, S., Prime, T. A., Robinson, A. J., et al. (2008). Complex I within oxidatively stressed bovine heart mitochondria is glutathionylated on Cys-531 and Cys-704 of the 75-kDa subunit: potential role of CYS residues in decreasing oxidative damage. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 24801–24815. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M803432200
- Jaffrey, S. R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Ferris, C. D., Tempst, P., and Snyder, S. H. (2001). Protein S-nitrosylation: a physiological signal for neuronal nitric oxide. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 193–197. doi: 10.1038/35055104
- Jaffrey, S. R., and Snyder, S. H. (2001). The biotin switch method for the detection of S-nitrosylated proteins. *Sci. STKE*. 2001:pl1. doi: 10.1126/stke.2001.86.pl1
- Janssen-Heininger, Y. M., Mossman, B. T., Heintz, N. H., Forman, H. J., Kalyanaraman, B., Finkel, T., et al. (2008). Redox-based regulation of signal transduction: principles, pitfalls, and promises. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 45, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.03.011
- Jones, D. P., and Go, Y. M. (2011). Mapping the cysteine proteome: analysis of redox-sensing thiols. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 15, 103–112. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.12.014
- Joseph, A. M., Adhihetty, P. J., Buford, T. W., Wohlgemuth, S. E., Lees, H. A., Nguyen, L. M., et al. (2012). The impact of aging on mitochondrial function and biogenesis pathways in skeletal muscle of sedentary high- and lowfunctioning elderly individuals. *Aging Cell*. 11, 801–809. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00844.x
- Jung, T., Höhn, A., and Grune, T. (2013). The proteasome and the degradation of oxidized proteins: part II—protein oxidation and proteasomal degradation. *Redox Biol.* 2C, 99–104. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2013.12.008

- Kemble, D. J., and Sun, G. (2009). Direct and specific inactivation of protein tyrosine kinases in the Src and FGFR families by reversible cysteine oxidation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 5070–5075. doi: 10.1073/pnas.08061 17106
- Knoefler, D., Thamsen, M., Koniczek, M., Niemuth, N. J., Diederich, A. K., and Jakob, U. (2012). Quantitative *in vivo* redox sensors uncover oxidative stress as an early event in life. *Mol. Cell.* 47, 767–776. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.06.016
- Kuncewicz, T., Sheta, E. A., Goldknopf, I. L., and Kone, B. C. (2003). Proteomic analysis of S-nitrosylated proteins in mesangial cells. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2, 156–163. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M300003-MCP200
- Kuster, G. M., Lancel, S., Zhang, J., Communal, C., Trucillo, M. P., Lim, C. C., et al. (2010). Redox-mediated reciprocal regulation of SERCA and Na+-Ca²⁺ exchanger contributes to sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ depletion in cardiac myocytes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 48, 1182–1187. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.01.038
- Leichert, L. I., Gehrke, F., Gudiseva, H. V., Blackwell, T., Ilbert, M., Walker, A. K., et al. (2008). Quantifying changes in the thiol redox proteome upon oxidative stress *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 8197–8202. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707723105
- Leichert, L. I., and Jakob, U. (2004). Protein thiol modifications visualized *in vivo*. *PLoS Biol.* 2:e333. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020333
- Leichert, L. I., and Jakob, U. (2006). Global methods to monitor the thioldisulfide state of proteins *in vivo*. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 8, 763–772. doi: 10.1089/ars.2006.8.763
- Leonard, S. E., Reddie, K. G., and Carroll, K. S. (2009). Mining the thiol proteome for sulfenic acid modifications reveals new targets for oxidation in cells. ACS *Chem. Biol.* 4, 783–799. doi: 10.1021/cb900105q
- Lind, C., Gerdes, R., Hamnell, Y., Schuppe-Koistinen, I., von Löwenhielm, H. B., Holmgren, A., et al. (2002). Identification of S-glutathionylated cellular proteins during oxidative stress and constitutive metabolism by affinity purification and proteomic analysis. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 406, 229–240. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00468-X
- Liu, M., Hou, J., Huang, L., Huang, X., Heibeck, T. H., Zhao, R., et al. (2010). Sitespecific proteomics approach for study protein S-nitrosylation. *Anal. Chem.* 82, 7160–7168. doi: 10.1021/ac100569d
- Liu, T., Qian, W.-J., Chen, W.-N. U., Jacobs, J. M., Moore, R. J., Anderson, D. J., et al. (2005). Improved proteome coverage using high-efficiency cysteinyl peptide enrichment: the mammary epithelial cell proteome. *Proteomics* 5, 1263–1273. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200401055
- Liu, T., Qian, W. J., Strittmatter, E. F., Camp, D. G. II, Anderson, G. A., Thrall, B. D., et al. (2004). High-throughput comparative proteome analysis using a quantitative cysteinyl-peptide enrichment technology. *Anal. Chem.* 76, 5345–5353. doi: 10.1021/ac049485q
- Liu, X., Jann, J., Xavier, C., and Wu, H. (2015). Glutaredoxin 1 (Grx1) protects human retinal pigment epithelial cells from oxidative damage by preventing AKT glutathionylation. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 56, 2821–2832. doi: 10.1167/iovs.14-15876
- Mailloux, R. J., Jin, X., and Willmore, W. G. (2014a). Redox regulation of mitochondrial function with emphasis on cysteine oxidation reactions. *Redox Biol.* 2, 123–139. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2013.12.011
- Mailloux, R. J., Seifert, E. L., Bouillaud, F., Aguer, C., Collins, S., and Harper, M. E. (2011). Glutathionylation acts as a control switch for uncoupling proteins UCP2 and UCP3. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 21865–21875. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.240242
- Mailloux, R. J., Xuan, J. Y., McBride, S., Maharsy, W., Thorn, S., Holterman, C. E., et al. (2014b). Glutaredoxin-2 is required to control oxidative phosphorylation in cardiac muscle by mediating deglutathionylation reactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 14812–14828. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.550574
- Manczak, M., Mao, P., Calkins, M. J., Cornea, A., Reddy, A. P., Murphy, M. P., et al. (2011). Mitochondria-targeted antioxidants protect against amyloidbeta toxicity in Alzheimer's disease neurons. J. Alzheimers Dis. 20(Suppl. 2), S609–S631. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100564
- Marcinek, D. J., and Siegel, M. P. (2013). Targeting redox biology to reverse mitochondrial dysfunction. *Aging* 5, 588–589.
- Matés, J. M., Segura, J. A., Alonso, F. J., and Márquez, J. (2008). Intracellular redox status and oxidative stress: implications for cell proliferation, apoptosis, and carcinogenesis. Arch. Toxicol. 82, 273–299. doi: 10.1007/s00204-008-0304-z

- Matuszczak, Y., Farid, M., Jones, J., Lansdowne, S., Smith, M. A., Taylor, A. A., et al. (2005). Effects of N-acetylcysteine on glutathione oxidation and fatigue during handgrip exercise. *Muscle Nerve* 32, 633–638. doi: 10.1002/mus.20385
- McArdle, F., Spiers, S., Aldemir, H., Vasilaki, A., Beaver, A., Iwanejko, L., et al. (2004). Preconditioning of skeletal muscle against contraction-induced damage: the role of adaptations to oxidants in mice. *J. Physiol.* 561, 233–244. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.069914
- McDonagh, B., Sakellariou, G. K., Smith, N. T., Brownridge, P., and Jackson, M. J. (2014). Differential cysteine labeling and global label-free proteomics reveals an altered metabolic state in skeletal muscle aging. *J. Proteome Res.* 13, 5008–5021. doi: 10.1021/pr5006394
- Min, K., Smuder, A. J., Kwon, O. S., Kavazis, A. N., Szeto, H. H., and Powers, S. K. (2011). Mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants protect skeletal muscle against immobilization-induced muscle atrophy. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 111, 1459–1466. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00591.2011
- Moopanar, T. R., and Allen, D. G. (2005). Reactive oxygen species reduce myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity in fatiguing mouse skeletal muscle at 37 degrees C. J. Physiol. 564, 189–199. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.083519
- Moopanar, T. R., and Allen, D. G. (2006). The activity-induced reduction of myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity in mouse skeletal muscle is reversed by dithiothreitol. *J. Physiol.* 571, 191–200. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.101105
- Mustafa, A. K., Gadalla, M. M., Sen, N., Kim, S., Mu, W., Gazi, S. K., et al. (2009). H2S signals through protein S-sulfhydration. *Sci. Signal.* 2:ra72. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2000464
- Nicholls, D. G. (2004). Mitochondrial membrane potential and aging. *Aging Cell* 3, 35–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9728.2003.00079.x
- Nuss, J. E., Amaning, J. K., Bailey, C. E., DeFord, J. H., Dimayuga, V. L., Rabek, J. P., et al. (2009). Oxidative modification and aggregation of creatine kinase from aged mouse skeletal muscle. *Aging* 1, 557–572.
- Pan, J., and Carroll, K. S. (2013). Persulfide reactivity in the detection of protein S-sulfhydration. ACS Chem. Biol. 8, 1110–1116. doi: 10.1021/cb4001052
- Pan, K. T., Chen, Y. Y., Pu, T. H., Chao, Y. S., Yang, C. Y., Bomgarden, R. D., et al. (2014). Mass spectrometry-based quantitative proteomics for dissecting multiplexed redox cysteine modifications in nitric oxide-protected cardiomyocyte under hypoxia. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 20, 1365–1381. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5326
- Paul, B. D., and Snyder, S. H. (2012). H(2)S signalling through protein sulfhydration and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 13, 499–507. doi: 10.1038/nrm3391
- Paulech, J., Solis, N., Edwards, A. V., Puckeridge, M., White, M. Y., and Cordwell, S. J. (2013). Large-scale capture of peptides containing reversibly oxidized cysteines by thiol-disulfide exchange applied to the myocardial redox proteome. *Anal. Chem.* 85, 3774–3780. doi: 10.1021/ac400166e
- Powers, S. K., Duarte, J., Kavazis, A. N., and Talbert, E. E. (2010). Reactive oxygen species are signalling molecules for skeletal muscle adaptation. *Exp. Physiol.* 95, 1–9. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2009.050526
- Powers, S. K., Hudson, M. B., Nelson, W. B., Talbert, E. E., Min, K., Szeto, H. H., et al. (2011). Mitochondria-targeted antioxidants protect against mechanical ventilation-induced diaphragm weakness. *Crit. Care Med.* 39, 1749–1759. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182190b62
- Powers, S. K., and Jackson, M. J. (2008). Exercise-induced oxidative stress: cellular mechanisms and impact on muscle force production. *Physiol. Rev.* 88, 1243–1276. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2007
- Qin, F., Siwik, D. A., Lancel, S., Zhang, J., Kuster, G. M., Luptak, I., et al. (2013). Hydrogen peroxide-mediated SERCA cysteine 674 oxidation contributes to impaired cardiac myocyte relaxation in senescent mouse heart. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2:e000184. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.113.000184
- Qu, Z., Meng, F., Bomgarden, R. D., Viner, R. I., Li, J., Rogers, J. C., et al. (2014). Proteomic Quantification and Site-Mapping of S-Nitrosylated Proteins Using Isobaric iodoTMT Reagents. *J. Proteome Res.* 13, 3200–3211. doi: 10.1021/pr401179v
- Queiroga, C. S., Almeida, A. S., Martel, C., Brenner, C., Alves, P. M., and Vieira, H. L. (2010). Glutathionylation of adenine nucleotide translocase induced by carbon monoxide prevents mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 17077–17088. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.065052
- Raju, K., Doulias, P. T., Evans, P., Krizman, E. N., Jackson, J. G., Horyn, O., et al. (2015). Regulation of brain glutamate metabolism by nitric oxide and S-nitrosylation. *Sci. Signal.* 8:ra68. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaa4312

- Reid, M. B., Khawli, F. A., and Moody, M. R. (1993). Reactive oxygen in skeletal muscle. III. Contractility of unfatigued muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 75, 1081–1087.
- Reid, M. B., Stokic, D. S., Koch, S. M., Khawli, F. A., and Leis, A. A. (1994). Nacetylcysteine inhibits muscle fatigue in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 2468–2474. doi: 10.1172/JCI117615
- Reynaert, N. L., Ckless, K., Guala, A. S., Wouters, E. F., van der Vliet, A., and Janssen-Heininger, Y. M. (2006). *In situ* detection of S-glutathionylated proteins following glutaredoxin-1 catalyzed cysteine derivatization. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1760, 380–387. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2006.01.006
- Rhee, S. G., Bae, Y. S., Lee, S. R., and Kwon, J. (2000). Hydrogen peroxide: a key messenger that modulates protein phosphorylation through cysteine oxidation. *Sci. STKE*. 2000:pe1. doi: 10.1126/stke.2000.53.pe1
- Ristow, M., Zarse, K., Oberbach, A., Klöting, N., Birringer, M., Kiehntopf, M., et al. (2009). Antioxidants prevent health-promoting effects of physical exercise in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 8665–8670. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903485106
- Rullman, E., Andersson, D. C., Melin, M., Reiken, S., Mancini, D. M., Marks, A. R., et al. (2013). Modifications of skeletal muscle ryanodine receptor type 1 and exercise intolerance in heart failure. *J. Heart Lung Transplant.* 32, 925–929. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2013.06.026
- Sakellariou, G. K., Jackson, M. J., and Vasilaki, A. (2014). Redefining the major contributors to superoxide production in contracting skeletal muscle. The role of NAD(P)H oxidases. *Free Radic. Res.* 48, 12–29. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2013.830718
- Schieber, M., and Chandel, N. S. (2014). ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. *Curr. Biol.* 24, R453–R462. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.034
- Shelton, M. D., Chock, P. B., and Mieyal, J. J. (2005). Glutaredoxin: role in reversible protein s-glutathionylation and regulation of redox signal transduction and protein translocation. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 7, 348–366. doi: 10.1089/ars.2005.7.348
- Siegel, M. P., Kruse, S. E., Percival, J. M., Goh, J., White, C. C., Hopkins, H. C., et al. (2013). Mitochondrial-targeted peptide rapidly improves mitochondrial energetics and skeletal muscle performance in aged mice. *Aging Cell*. 12, 763–771. doi: 10.1111/acel.12102
- Siegel, M. P., Wilbur, T., Mathis, M., Shankland, E. G., Trieu, A., Harper, M. E., et al. (2012). Impaired adaptability of *in vivo* mitochondrial energetics to acute oxidative insult in aged skeletal muscle. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 133, 620–628. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2012.08.002
- Sohal, R. S., and Orr, W. C. (2012). The redox stress hypothesis of aging. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 52, 539–555. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.10.445
- St-Pierre, J., Buckingham, J. A., Roebuck, S. J., and Brand, M. D. (2002). Topology of superoxide production from different sites in the mitochondrial electron transport chain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 44784–44790. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M2072 17200
- Su, D., Gaffrey, M. J., Guo, J., Hatchell, K. E., Chu, R. K., Clauss, T. R. W., et al. (2014). Proteomic identification and quantification of S-glutathionylation in mouse macrophages using resin-assisted enrichment and isobaric labeling. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 67, 460–470. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013. 12.004
- Su, D., Shukla, A. K., Chen, B., Kim, J. S., Nakayasu, E., Qu, Y., et al. (2013). Quantitative site-specific reactivity profiling of S-nitrosylation in mouse skeletal muscle using cysteinyl peptide enrichment coupled with mass spectrometry. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 57, 68–78. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.12.010
- Sun, Q. A., Wang, B., Miyagi, M., Hess, D. T., and Stamler, J. S. (2013). Oxygencoupled redox regulation of the skeletal muscle ryanodine receptor/Ca²⁺ release channel (RyR1): sites and nature of oxidative modification. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 22961–22971. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.480228
- Tan, K. O., Sater, G. R., Myers, A. M., Robson, R. M., and Huiatt, T. W. (1993). Molecular characterization of avian muscle titin. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22900–22907.
- Taylor, E. R., Hurrell, F., Shannon, R. J., Lin, T. K., Hirst, J., and Murphy, M. P. (2003). Reversible glutathionylation of complex I increases mitochondrial superoxide formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 19603–19610. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209359200
- Terman, J. R., and Kashina, A. (2013). Post-translational modification and regulation of actin. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 25, 30–38. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2012.10.009

- Tong, X., Evangelista, A., and Cohen, R. A. (2010). Targeting the redox regulation of SERCA in vascular physiology and disease. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 10, 133–138. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2009.11.008
- Umanskaya, A., Santulli, G., Xie, W., Andersson, D. C., Reiken, S. R., and Marks, A. R. (2014). Genetically enhancing mitochondrial antioxidant activity improves muscle function in aging. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 15250–15255. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1412754111
- Wadley, G. D., Nicolas, M. A., Hiam, D. S., and McConell, G. K. (2013). Xanthine oxidase inhibition attenuates skeletal muscle signaling following acute exercise but does not impair mitochondrial adaptations to endurance training. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metabol. 304, E853–E862. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00568.2012
- Wang, S. B., Foster, D. B., Rucker, J., O'Rourke, B., Kass, D. A., and Van Eyk, J. E. (2011). Redox regulation of mitochondrial ATP synthase: implications for cardiac resynchronization therapy. *Circ. Res.* 109, 750–757. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.246124
- Willems, P. H., Rossignol, R., Dieteren, C. E., Murphy, M. P., and Koopman, W. J. (2015). Redox homeostasis and mitochondrial dynamics. *Cell Metab.* 22, 207–218. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.06.006
- Winterbourn, C. C., and Hampton, M. B. (2008). Thiol chemistry and specificity in redox signaling. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 45, 549–561. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.05.004
- Wright, V. P., Reiser, P. J., and Clanton, T. L. (2009). Redox modulation of global phosphatase activity and protein phosphorylation in intact skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 587, 5767–5781. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.178285

- Yang, J., Gupta, V., Carroll, K. S., and Liebler, D. C. (2014). Site-specific mapping and quantification of protein S-sulphenylation in cells. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 4776. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5776
- Yang, J., Gupta, V., Tallman, K. A., Porter, N. A., Carroll, K. S., and Liebler, D. C. (2015). Global, *in situ*, site-specific analysis of protein S-sulfenylation. *Nat. Protoc.* 10, 1022–1037. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2015.062
- Zhang, C., Rodriguez, C., Circu, M. L., Aw, T. Y., and Feng, J. (2011). S-Glutathionyl quantification in the attomole range using glutaredoxin-3-catalyzed cysteine derivatization and capillary gel electrophoresis with laser-induced fluorescence detection. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 401, 2165–2175. doi: 10.1007/s00216-011-5311-x
- Zhang, D., Macinkovic, I., Devarie-Baez, N. O., Pan, J., Park, C. M., Carroll, K. S., et al. (2014). Detection of protein S-sulfhydration by a tag-switch technique. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl.* 53, 575–581. doi: 10.1002/anie.201305876

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Kramer, Duan, Qian and Marcinek. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hypothesis on Skeletal Muscle Aging: Mitochondrial Adenine Nucleotide Translocator Decreases Reactive Oxygen Species Production While Preserving Coupling Efficiency

Philippe Diolez^{1*}, Isabelle Bourdel-Marchasson^{2,3}, Guillaume Calmettes⁴, Philippe Pasdois¹, Dominique Detaille¹, Richard Rouland³ and Gilles Gouspillou⁵

¹ INSERM U1045 - Centre de Recherche Cardio-Thoracique de Bordeaux and LIRYC, Institut de Rythmologie et Modélisation Cardiaque, Université de Bordeaux, CHU de Bordeaux, Pessac, France, ² CHU de Bordeaux, Pôle de Gérontologie Clinique, Bordeaux, France, ³ Résonance Magnétique des Systèmes Biologiques, UMR 5536 Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Université de Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France, ⁴ Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA, ⁵ Département des Sciences de l'activité Physique, Université du Québec À Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Li Zuo, Ohio State University, USA

Reviewed by: Plácido Navas.

Placido Navas, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Spain Lufang Zhou, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA

> *Correspondence: Philippe Diolez philippe.diolez@u-bordeaux.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 July 2015 Accepted: 19 November 2015 Published: 16 December 2015

Citation:

Diolez P, Bourdel-Marchasson I, Calmettes G, Pasdois P, Detaille D, Rouland R and Gouspillou G (2015) Hypothesis on Skeletal Muscle Aging: Mitochondrial Adenine Nucleotide Translocator Decreases Reactive Oxygen Species Production While Preserving Coupling Efficiency. Front. Physiol. 6:369. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00369

Mitochondrial membrane potential is the major regulator of mitochondrial functions, including coupling efficiency and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Both functions are crucial for cell bioenergetics. We previously presented evidences for a specific modulation of adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT) appearing during aging that results in a decrease in membrane potential - and therefore ROS production-but surprisingly increases coupling efficiency under conditions of low ATP turnover. Careful study of the bioenergetic parameters (oxidation and phosphorylation rates, membrane potential) of isolated mitochondria from skeletal muscles (gastrocnemius) of aged and young rats revealed a remodeling at the level of the phosphorylation system, in the absence of alteration of the inner mitochondrial membrane (uncoupling) or respiratory chain complexes regulation. We further observed a decrease in mitochondrial affinity for ADP in aged isolated mitochondria, and higher sensitivity of ANT to its specific inhibitor atractyloside. This age-induced modification of ANT results in an increase in the ADP concentration required to sustain the same ATP turnover as compared to young muscle, and therefore in a lower membrane potential under phosphorylating-in vivo-conditions. Thus, for equivalent ATP turnover (cellular ATP demand), coupling efficiency is even higher in aged muscle mitochondria, due to the down-regulation of inner membrane proton leak caused by the decrease in membrane potential. In the framework of the radical theory of aging, these modifications in ANT function may be the result of oxidative damage caused by intra mitochondrial ROS and may appear like a virtuous circle where ROS induce a mechanism that reduces their production, without causing uncoupling, and even leading in improved efficiency. Because of the importance of ROS as therapeutic targets, this new mechanism deserves further studies.

Keywords: adenosine nucleotide translocator, mitochondrial membrane potential, muscle energetics, oxygen free radicals, mitochondria, skeletal muscle aging

INTRODUCTION

Mitochondria, because of their central role in ATP supply through oxidative phosphorylation, but also in oxygen radical production and ion homeostasis, play a crucial role in skeletal muscle function. During last decades, a growing interest has been focused on the mechanisms linking dysfunctions of the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and the aging process. One of the current leading hypothesis to explain the decrease in muscle energetics with aging is the mitochondrial theory of aging. The now accepted view hypothesizes that the reactive oxygen species (ROS) production linked to the activity of respiratory chain is responsible for the damages accumulated with aging to several components of the oxidative phosphorylation machinery and mitochondrial DNA (Dirks et al., 2006; Gonzalez-Freire et al., 2015) and triggers atrophy of the muscles (Dirks et al., 2006). These damages are mainly thought to result in mitochondrial dysfunction which disables the capacity of mitochondria to fulfill cellular ATP demand during contraction (Dirks et al., 2006; Bratic and Trifunovic, 2010). Therefore ROS production and related damages are considered responsible for loss of muscle mass and function during aging.

Indeed, assessed by in vivo 13 C/31 P NMR spectroscopy at rest, a decrease of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation activity was found in skeletal muscle of elderly (Conley et al., 2000; Petersen et al., 2003), explained by a decrease of mitochondrial mass and activity (Conley et al., 2000). However, other authors studying the oxidative capacity in tibialis anterior did not find any modification during aging (Kent-Braun and Ng, 2000). In vivo in human skeletal muscle during contraction of high intensity, no dysfunction of oxidative phosphorylation was evidenced, but only a reduced participation of glycolysis (Lanza et al., 2005). Conflicting results have also been obtained on isolated mitochondria from aged muscles. The decrease in the activity of different respiratory chain complexes has been measured in skeletal muscle of aged mice (Kwong and Sohal, 2000). Maximal oxidation rate was also found to decrease during aging in skeletal muscle of mice (Mansouri et al., 2006), rats (Kumaran et al., 2005), and from biopsies of human skeletal muscle (Tonkonogi et al., 2003), as well as ATP synthesis in skeletal muscle of rats (Drew et al., 2003) and humans (Short et al., 2005). A contrario, other authors demonstrated the absence of alteration of oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria isolated from human muscles biopsies (Rasmussen et al., 2003), and several other studies did not evidence any alteration in the maximal oxygen consumption rate in rats with aging (Kerner et al., 2001; Chabi et al., 2008). The absence of consensus emerging from these results obtained at different levels of integration essentially demonstrate the complexity of the mechanisms involved in aging muscle, and of their consequences on mitochondrial functions and cell energetics (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013).

These considerations emphasize again the importance of integrative approaches for the understanding of pathologies in organ functions, a step forward from isolated enzymatic activities toward regulation of biological functions. We developed for

Abbreviations: GAS, gastrocnemius muscle; ANT, Adenine nucleotide translocator.

several years the top-down elasticity analysis (Brown et al., 1990; Hafner et al., 1990) of muscle and heart energetics (Diolez et al., 2007, 2015; Arsac et al., 2008), after having applied this approach on isolated mitochondria, to allow better understanding of the very mechanisms at the origin of dysfunction occurring during hypothermic to normothermic reperfusion in rat liver (Leducq et al., 1998) and the description of the effect of temperature on oxidative phosphorylation (Dufour et al., 1996).

We previously investigated mitochondrial bioenergetics *in vivo* in the gastrocnemius muscle of aged (21 months) and young adult (6 months) rats with modular control analysis and ³¹P magnetic resonance spectroscopy of energetic metabolites (Arsac et al., 2008). Because it gives real access to the integrated organ function, this approach brings out a new type of information—the "elasticities," referring to internal responses to metabolic changes—that may be a key to the understanding of the processes involved in pathologies. We revealed by this integrative approach that the *in vivo* "elasticity" (responsiveness) of oxidative phosphorylation to the increase in ATP demand induced by contraction is significantly reduced in skeletal muscle from aged rats, a dysfunction especially marked for low contractile activity (Gouspillou et al., 2014).

We further applied the Top-Down control analysis to isolated mitochondria (Brown et al., 1990; Hafner et al., 1990) to canvass the alterations in the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation that may occur during aging. Top-down control analysis is perfectly designed to evidence modification in regulation that have effective consequences on integrated organ function, since it is insensitive to any changes that have no significant functional outcome (Brand, 1998). We use this property to determine which module(s) may be responsible for the mitochondrial dysfunctions occurring during physiological (Dufour et al., 1996) or pathophysiological (Leducq et al., 1998) events. Therefore, this approach is useful to obtain a precise description of which of the changes occurring during aging have functional consequences for the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation.

In the present paper, we show how this integrative approach evidenced an alteration in the regulation of the mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT) with aging. The analysis of the flow-force relationships under variable phosphorylation rates (mimicking variable cellular ATP demand) revealed that for equivalent ATP demand the energetic intermediate of oxidative phosphorylation (mitochondrial membrane potential difference, $\Delta \psi$) is lower in aged mitochondria as compared to young ones. Decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential is known to reduce proton leak (Brand et al., 1994) and also ROS production (Echtay et al., 2003; Echtay and Brand, 2007; Toime and Brand, 2010). However, our results evidence that the decrease in $\Delta \psi$ is not due to uncoupling but interestingly to a decrease in sensitivity of ANT to ADP and appears therefore as a new mechanism for ROS production decrease induced by aging.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Experiments were conducted on male Wistar rats aged 6 and 21 months. Rats were housed in an environmentally controlled

facility (12-h/12-h light/dark cycle, 22°C) and received water and food *ad libitum* until *in vitro* experiments were performed. All experiments were conducted in agreement with the National and European Research Council Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals. P. Diolez has a permanent license to conduct experiments on animals by the "Service Vétérinaire de la Santé et de la Protection Animale du Ministère de l'agriculture et de la Forêt" (03/17/1999, license number 3308010).

Isolation of Skeletal Muscle Mitochondria

Male Wistar rats were anesthetized by isoflurane inhalation and killed by intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital (60 mg kg^{-1}). The GAS muscle of the right leg was then dissected and washed in the isolation medium containing 100 mM sucrose, 180 mM KCl, 50 mM Tris, 5 mM MgCl2, 10 mM EDTA, and 0.1% (w/v) BSA (pH 7.2). Before homogenization, muscles were minced and exposed for 5 min to protease (2 mg mL⁻¹ of isolation medium, Sigma P8038; Sigma-Aldrich, Saint- Quentin Fallavier, France). Mitochondria were extracted as previously described (Gouspillou et al., 2010). Mitochondrial protein concentration was determined by the Bradford method using BSA as standard (Bradford, 1976).

Experimental Determination of Mitochondrial Affinity for ADP

Oxidation rates were determined polarographically with a Clark electrode (Rank Brothers, Cambridge, UK). The use of a combined enzymatic system composed of glucose (5 mM), hexokinase (2.5 U mL⁻¹ Sigma H4502), glucose-6-phosphatase dehydrogenase (2.5 U mL⁻¹, Sigma G6378), NADP⁺ (1.6 mM) allowed the determination of phosphorylation rate since the NADPH production by this system is stoichiometrically linked to mitochondrial ATP synthesis rate. Changes in the rate of NADPH production were monitored at 340 nm by placing an optic fiber connected to a spectrophotometer in the oxygraphic vessel (Cary 50; Varian, Grenoble, France). Conversion of NADPH absorbance into NADPH concentration was performed using a molar extinction coefficient of 6.22 mM⁻¹ cm⁻¹. Bioluminescent assays were used to measure both ADP and ATP concentration during each experiment (Gouspillou et al., 2011). This method allowed the determination of the oxidation (KmVox) and phosphorylation (KmVp) rates affinities for ADP, as well as the determination of mitochondrial coupling efficiency as the ratio of phosphorylation over oxidation rates.

Simultaneous Monitoring of Oxidation Rate, Membrane Potential, and Phosphorylation Rate

Oxygen consumption, membrane potential, and ATP synthesis were monitored simultaneously (cf. **Figure 2**) in a glass vessel (final volume 3 ml) in a medium containing 140 mM sucrose, 100 mM KCl, 1 mM EGTA, 20 mM MgCl2, 10 mM KH2PO4, and 0.1% (wt./vol.) BSA (pH 7.2). Mitochondrial protein concentration used in the measurement vessel was approximately 0.3 mg ml^{-1} unless for the proton leak flux determination where

the protein concentration used was approximately 0.6 mg ml^{-1} . Succinate (5 mM+rotenone 2 μ g ml⁻¹) was used as a substrate for the monitoring of oxidative phosphorylation parameters (i.e., oxidation rate, membrane potential, and phosphorylation rate) and top-down control analysis experiments. To inhibit residual adenylate kinase activity, excess of P1,P5-Di(adenosine-5) pentaphosphate (AP5A, 20 µM) was added to the measurement medium in all experiments. State III oxidation rates were obtained by adding ADP (250 µM) and state IV oxidation rate was measured after complete ADP phosphorylation. Oxidation rates were determined polarographically with a Clark electrode (Rank Brothers) at 25°C. Concentration in air-equilibrated medium was taken as 240 µM (Dufour et al., 1996). Membrane potential was monitored using a homemade tetra-phenylphosphonium (TPP⁺) electrode coupled to an Ag/AgCl- saturated reference electrode (Tacussel Mi402; Goubern et al., 1990; Dufour et al., 1996; Gouspillou et al., 2010). The phosphorylation rate was experimentally determined by continuously monitoring the pH variations of the measurement medium (Valerio et al., 1993).

Top-down Elasticity Analysis

We previously applied top-down elasticity control analysis (Hafner et al., 1990) to study alterations in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria (Dufour et al., 1996; Leducq et al., 1998). Oxidative phosphorylation of mitochondria from skeletal muscle was described as three large modules linked by a common thermodynamic intermediate (Figure 1). In this system, the substrate oxidation module (substrate translocases, dehydrogenases, and respiratory chain complexes) generates the proton-motive force (Δp), the common thermodynamic intermediate, which is consumed by the phosphorylation module (Pi translocator, ANT, and ATP synthase) to produce ATP and by the proton leak module (passive permeability of the mitochondrial inner membrane to protons and any cation cycling reactions; see Gouspillou et al., 2010 for details). The top-down control analysis lies on the experimental determination of the "elasticity" coefficients over Δp (approximated by the measurement of the membrane potential $\Delta \psi$)—the response to changes in $\Delta \psi$ —of each module. As a consequence, the complete and accurate elasticity analysis of the regulation of skeletal muscle mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation requires the experimental determination of the flux through each of the three modules and the measurement of the intermediate concentration $(\Delta \psi)$ under defined conditions. Figure 2 presents a typical experiment of simultaneous determination of oxidation and phosphorylation rates with $\Delta \psi$ in isolated GAS muscle of an aged rat.

Elasticity coefficients of each module are calculated using modular kinetic analysis (Amo and Brand, 2007). This analysis consists in modifying the value of the intermediate $(\Delta \psi)$ by an adequate titration of a module that differs from the module under consideration. To cover the whole range of phosphorylation rates (from state IV to state III), these titrations were performed using succinate as a substrate at different concentrations of atractyloside in presence of an excess of ADP. The elasticity of a module toward the intermediate $\Delta \psi$ at a given phosphorylation rate is the relative slope of the relationship between the activity of the module and $\Delta \psi$ obtained with the adequate titration. The elasticity depends on oxidative phosphoryation activity and for each module we obtain an elasticity curve when expressed as a function of the intermediate (see **Figure 4**). Any change in the regulation of the module under consideration will be evidenced by a change in the elasticity curve of this very module. The complete description of the experimental protocol used to determine the kinetic response of each module to membrane potential and the calculation



of elasticity coefficients for each module has been described elsewhere (Dufour et al., 1996; Leducq et al., 1998; Gouspillou et al., 2010).

Statistics

Experimental between adult and aged rats were made using unpaired bilateral Student's *t*-tests. P values = 0.05 and 0.01 were considered significant.

RESULTS

The experiments performed on mitochondria isolated from aged and young rats did not evidence any difference in maximal membrane potential values (Gouspillou et al., 2010). Membrane potential values were not affected with aging, either under state III (maximal phosphorylation) or under state IV (no net phosphorylation) conditions. However, while the oxidation rate under non-phosphorylating conditions was identical between aged and young rats, the values of phosphorylating (State II) oxidation rate as well as the respiratory control ratio were significantly decreased in aged rats. Maximal phosphorylation rate was also decreased under state III conditions in aged rats (Gouspillou et al., 2010). Here, we only present the kinetic responses of the phosphorylation module to changes in membrane potential determined on mitochondria isolated from young and aged rat muscles (Figure 3). The main observation to be made here is represented by the dashed lines, which illustrate that for a given phosphorylation rate (equivalent to cellular ATP demand) the membrane potential value is always



FIGURE 2 | Typical experimental simultaneous determination of oxidation rate, membrane potential (TTP⁺-specific electrode), and phosphorylation rate (pH measurement). These recordings were performed using succinate as a substrate (5 mM). Membrane potential was monitored using a TPP+-sensitive electrode, allowing to follow the TPP+ concentration in the medium. This electrode was calibrated by two successive additions of 1.67μ M TPP+. At the end of each experiment, an uncoupler (1 μ M CCCP) was added to obtain the membrane potential baseline. Phosphorylation rate was monitored using a pH electrode, calibrated using successive additions of a titrated HCl solution (0.1 mM) (cf. Materials and Methods Section for details; figure from Gouspillou et al., 2010).



lower in mitochondria from aged rats. These data allows the determination of the elasticity coefficients of phosphorylation (**Figure 4**). The complete set of experiment for the determination of the elasticity of substrate oxidation has been detailed elsewhere (Gouspillou et al., 2010). We could observe that the elasticity of both modules changed with membrane potential value, but while the curves are superimposed for substrate oxidation, they appeared significatively different for phosphorylation, especially for high values of $\Delta \psi$, ranging from 160 to 180 mV, corresponding to low phosphorylation activity and higher proton leak, likely to be the most common situation *in vivo*.

Since a lower $\Delta \psi$ value is usually interpreted as uncoupling, i.e., increase in proton leak through inner mitochondrial membrane, we investigated phosphorylation coupling efficiency in mitochondria isolated from aged skeletal muscle (Gouspillou et al., 2014). This was possible thanks to our specific in vitro experimental setup, since we obtain simultaneous recording of oxidation and phosphorylation rates and therefore direct access to mitochondrial coupling efficiency (ATP to O ratio). ATP to O ratio was determined under conditions of constant ADP concentration across the whole range of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation activity (Gouspillou et al., 2014). Results are shown in Figure 5 for young and aged rat muscle mitochondria. The results demonstrate that maximal ATP to O ratio was not diminished in aged rat mitochondria. Same result was obtained concerning the dependence of coupling efficiency on the ADP concentration. Most interestingly, when the ADP to O ratio was plotted as a function of the phosphorylation rate, we found that for any given phosphorylation rate aged mitochondria displayed a (non-significative) trend for higher coupling efficiency (results not shown, Gouspillou et al., 2014).



FIGURE 4 | Influence of aging on the elasticity curves of (A) substrate oxidation and (B) phosphorylation modules toward membrane potential for young (squares) and aged (circles) rats. Data from experiments similar to those presented in Figure 3. **p < 0.01 between young (n = 7) and aged groups (n = 7). Art drawing has been added to emphasize the difference between young and aged rats (Data and figure from Gouspillou et al., 2010).

DISCUSSION

The purpose of the present paper is to describe a new mechanism of protection against ROS production appearing in skeletal muscle mitochondria during aging. This mechanism involves an alteration of oxidative phosphorylation due to mitochondrial ANT remodeling and results in a decreased ROS production in aged mitochondria for a given ATP synthesis rate. The role of mitochondrial ROS production in ANT remodeling remains to be elucidated.

Being partly composed of glycolytic fibers, well known to be affected during aging (Lexell, 1995) the gastrocnemius muscle is highly sensitive to sarcopenia (Martin et al., 2007), and therefore appeared physiologically relevant for this study of mitochondrial alteration induced by aging. The current theory to explain skeletal muscle aging relies on the accumulation of oxidative damages to mitochondrial DNA and proteins, due to mitochondrial ROS production (Dirks et al., 2006; Lesnefsky and Hoppel, 2006). Since phospholipids are also important targets of ROS, it has been proposed that an increased conductance to proton may occur during aging, and therefore a decrease in $\Delta \psi$. However, such decrease in $\Delta \psi$ would reduce mitochondrial ROS production (Brand, 2000). The increased proton leak found in aged mitochondria in some studies performed on rat (Kumaran et al., 2005) and human muscles (Tonkonogi et al., 2003) has been interpreted as a compensatory mechanism to decrease ROS production. A role for the uncoupling proteins has also been suggested (Brand and Esteves, 2005).



Thanks to integrative approaches applied at different integration levels-i.e., muscle in vivo and isolated muscle mitochondria-we could demonstrate that (i) the responsiveness (elasticity) of energy production is effectively reduced in the GAS of aged rats (Gouspillou et al., 2014) and (ii) that this alteration of muscle energetics is correlated with a modified regulation of phosphorylation module in mitochondria (Figure 4 and Gouspillou et al., 2014). In other words, in the aging muscle, a greater rise in ADP, concomitant with a greater drop in PCr level is required to induce equivalent activation of ATP/PCr synthesis in aged compared to young muscle. Since the elasticity coefficients are intrinsically linked to the kinetics of the modules (Brand and Curtis, 2002) and because we investigated only in vivo low contractile activities of the muscles-unlikely to require the maximal oxidative phosphorylation capacity, we could previously demonstrate that a decrease in maximal oxidative phosphorylation capacity (or in mitochondrial content) is unlikely to explain the decrease in the elasticity of the energy-supply module found in aged rats (Gouspillou et al., 2014). Therefore, the altered regulation of muscle energetics strongly suggest the existence of an alteration in mitochondrial function related to muscle aging and sarcopenia. This in vivo impairment of mitochondrial bioenergetics in aged muscle was further completed by the in vitro integrative study of mitochondrial bioenergetics for better understanding of the cellular basis. Indeed, while maximum oxidation and phosphorylation rates were both decreased in aged mitochondria, only phosphorylation did show modified elasticities (Figure 4).

We recently reported a significant decrease in mitochondrial affinity for ADP in mitochondria isolated from aged GAS muscle as compared to young ones (Gouspillou et al., 2014), which is perfectly in line with the age-related reduction in the *in vivo* activation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in

response to an increase in ATP demand (decrease in elasticity of energy supply). In fact, a decreased affinity for ADP indicates that for a given rate of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to match ATP demand, a higher increase in the ADP concentration is necessary. This lower ADP sensitivity of mitochondria in aged rats fits well the regulation of phosphorylation (elasticity) measured in vivo in aged rat muscles. We also showed that mitochondria from gastrocnemius muscle of aged rat manifest an interesting increase in atractyloside-sensitivity, as compared to young ones (Gouspillou et al., 2010). Even though the apparent mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation affinity for ADP involves several electrogenic-membrane potential sensitive-enzymatic complexes (ATPsynthase, ANT and phosphate transporter), this parameter greatly depends on ANT kinetic properties (Gouspillou et al., 2011). These results prompted us to propose that aging-related changes in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation implicate a modification of the functionning of ANT (Gouspillou et al., 2010, 2014). Since we also showed that ANT content was not modified in aged muscles (Gouspillou et al., 2014), we propose that a functional change in ANT characteristics may be at the origin of the aging-related change in atractyloside sensitivity and energetics remodeling in muscle. It has also been shown that ANT carbonylation, indicative of oxidative damage by ROS, was increased during aging in the flight muscle of the housefly (Yan and Sohal, 1998) and in rat skeletal muscle (Feng et al., 2008). Since the increase in the carbonyl content of ANT has been associated with impaired ANT function (Yan and Sohal, 1998), these results strongly suggest that oxidative damage to ANT with aging represents a possible mechanism that may trigger dysfunction of mitochondrial bioenergetics with aging (Figure 6).

By contrast with previous studies reporting either a decline (Tonkonogi et al., 2003; Kumaran et al., 2005; Marcinek et al., 2005) or increase (Kerner et al., 2001) in mitochondrial coupling efficiency, we did not observe any aging-related changes in proton leak, since membrane potential and state 4 oxidation rates were unchanged, as well as proton leak curve (Gouspillou et al., 2010). This absence of change in proton leak curve also clearly indicate that the age-related modification of ANT regulation described here do not affect the proton leak capacity of ANT, now considered as the primary route for proton leak in mammalian mitochondria (Parker et al., 2009; Jastroch et al., 2010). We recently added complementary data to confirm the absence of uncoupling by directly measuring the ATP/O ratio (phosphorylation efficiency) for a range of ADP concentrations driving increasing phosphorylation rates. The results confirmed in our hands the total absence of a decrease of coupling efficiency in aged mitochondria as compared to young ones (Figure 5 and Gouspillou et al., 2014). In this latter paper, we even showed that the decrease in membrane potential for a given ATP demand (phosphorylation rate) results in a tendency to increase coupling efficiency. This result is the consequence of down-regulation of proton leak by the decrease in membrane potential (Brand et al., 1994). We should however stress here that even though the decrease in $\Delta \psi$ by aged ANT has beneficial effect on mitochondrial ROS production,



it may also have harmful consequence for muscle cells since mitochondrial membrane potential is deeply involved in ion (calcium) homeostasis.

In the framework of the radical theory of aging, these important modifications in ANT function may be the result of oxidative damage caused by intra mitochondrial ROS and may appear like a protective remodeling where ROS induce a mechanism that reduces their production, without causing uncoupling. However, further work is now required to define the origin of the impairment of ANT function with aging and to better characterize the importance on mitochondrial bioenergetics defects in sarcopenia. Because of the impoirment in ANT function might be a central mechanism causing

REFERENCES

- Amo, T., and Brand, M. D. (2007). Were inefficient mitochondrial haplogroups selected during migrations of modern humans? A test using modular kinetic analysis of coupling in mitochondria from cybrid cell lines. *Biochem. J.* 404, 345–351. doi: 10.1042/BJ200 61609
- Arsac, L. M., Beuste, C., Miraux, S., Deschodt-Arsac, V., Thiaudiere, E., Franconi, J. M., et al. (2008). *In vivo* modular control analysis of energy metabolism in contracting skeletal muscle. *Biochem. J.* 414, 391–397. doi: 10.1042/BJ200 80280
- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of proteindye binding. *Anal. Biochem.* 72, 248–254. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(76)9 0527-3

aging-related defects in mitochondrial bioenergetics which deserves further studies.

FUNDING

Part of this work has been supported by the CNRS (PD) and IHU-LIRYC (Université de Bordeaux, CHU de Bordeaux) (ANR-10-IAHU-04), INSERM U1045 and the "Région Aquitaine." GG is funded by a NSERC discovery grant (RGPIN2014-04668).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge Yannick Chatenet for drawing (Figure 1).

- Brand, M. D. (1998). Top-down elasticity analysis and its application to energy metabolism in isolated mitochondria and intact cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 184, 13–20. doi: 10.1023/A:1006893619101
- Brand, M. D. (2000). Uncoupling to survive? The role of mitochondrial inefficiency in ageing. *Exp. Gerontol.* 35, 811–820. doi: 10.1016/S0531-5565(00) 00135-2
- Brand, M. D., Chien, L. F., and Diolez, P. (1994). Experimental discrimination between proton leak and redox slip during mitochondrial electron transport. *Biochem. J.* 297(Pt 1), 27–29. doi: 10.1042/bj29 70027
- Brand, M. D., and Curtis, R. K. (2002). Simplifying metabolic complexity. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 30, 25–30. doi: 10.1042/bst0300025
- Brand, M. D., and Esteves, T. C. (2005). Physiological functions of the mitochondrial uncoupling proteins UCP2 and UCP3. *Cell Metab.* 2, 85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.06.002

- Bratic, I., and Trifunovic, A. (2010). Mitochondrial energy metabolism and ageing. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1797, 961–967. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2010. 01.004
- Brown, G. C., Hafner, R. P., and Brand, M. D. (1990). A 'top-down' approach to the determination of control coefficients in metabolic control theory. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 188, 321–325. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1990.tb1 5406.x
- Chabi, B., Ljubicic, V., Menzies, K. J., Huang, J. H., Saleem, A., and Hood, D. A. (2008). Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 7, 2–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007. 00347.x
- Conley, K. E., Jubrias, S. A., and Esselman, P. C. (2000). Oxidative capacity and ageing in human muscle. *J. Physiol.* 526(Pt 1), 203–210. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00203.x
- Diolez, P., Deschodt-Arsac, V., Calmettes, G., Gouspillou, G., Arsac, L., Dos Santos, P., et al. (2015). Integrative methods for studying cardiac energetics. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1264, 289–303. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2257-4_26
- Diolez, P., Deschodt-Arsac, V., Raffard, G., Simon, C., Dos Santos, P., Thiaudière, E., et al. (2007). Modular regulation analysis of heart contraction: application to in situ demonstration of a direct mitochondrial activation by calcium in beating heart. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 293, R13–R19. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00189.2006
- Dirks, A. J., Hofer, T., Marzetti, E., Pahor, M., and Leeuwenburgh, C. (2006). Mitochondrial DNA mutations, energy metabolism and apoptosis in aging muscle. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 5, 179–195. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2006. 03.002
- Drew, B., Phaneuf, S., Dirks, A., Selman, C., Gredilla, R., Lezza, A., et al. (2003). Effects of aging and caloric restriction on mitochondrial energy production in gastrocnemius muscle and heart. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 284, R474–R480. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00455.2002
- Dufour, S., Rousse, N., Canioni, P., and Diolez, P. (1996). Top-down control analysis of temperature effect on oxidative phosphorylation. *Biochem. J.* 314(Pt 3), 743–751. doi: 10.1042/bj3140743
- Echtay, K. S., and Brand, M. D. (2007). 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and uncoupling proteins: an approach for regulation of mitochondrial ROS production. *Redox Rep.* 12, 26–29. doi: 10.1179/135100007X162158
- Echtay, K. S., Esteves, T. C., Pakay, J. L., Jekabsons, M. B., Lambert, A. J., Portero-Otin, M., et al. (2003). A signalling role for 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal in regulation of mitochondrial uncoupling. *EMBO J.* 22, 4103–4110. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg412
- Feng, J., Xie, H., Meany, D. L., Thompson, L. V., Arriaga, E. A., and Griffin, T. J. (2008). Quantitative proteomic profiling of muscle type-dependent and age-dependent protein carbonylation in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 63, 1137–1152. doi: 10.1093/gerona/63. 11.1137
- Gonzalez-Freire, M., de Cabo, R., Bernier, M., Sollott, S. J., Fabbri, E., Navas, P., et al. (2015). Reconsidering the Role of Mitochondria in Aging. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 70, 1334–1342. doi: 10.1093/gerona/ glv070
- Goubern, M., Yazbeck, J., Chapey, M. F., Diolez, P., and Moreau, F. (1990). Variations in energization parameters and proton conductance induced by cold adaptation and essential fatty acid deficiency in mitochondria of brown adipose tissue in the rat. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1015, 334–340. doi: 10.1016/0005-2728(90)90038-6
- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Biran, M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2014). Mitochondrial energetics is impaired *in vivo* in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 13, 39–48. doi: 10.1111/acel. 12147
- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Franconi, J. M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2010). Alteration of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in aged skeletal muscle involves modification of adenine nucleotide translocator. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1797, 143–151. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.09.004
- Gouspillou, G., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Deschodt-Arsac, V., Franconi, J. M., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., et al. (2011). Accurate determination of the oxidative phosphorylation affinity for ADP in isolated mitochondria. *PLoS ONE* 6:e20709. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020709

- Hafner, R. P., Brown, G. C., and Brand, M. D. (1990). Analysis of the control of respiration rate, phosphorylation rate, proton leak rate and protonmotive force in isolated mitochondria using the 'top-down' approach of metabolic control theory. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 188, 313–319. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1990.tb1 5405.x
- Jastroch, M., Divakaruni, A. S., Mookerjee, S., Treberg, J. R., and Brand, M. D. (2010). Mitochondrial proton and electron leaks. *Essays Biochem.* 47, 53–67. doi: 10.1042/bse0470053
- Kent-Braun, J. A., and Ng, A. V. (2000). Skeletal muscle oxidative capacity in young and older women and men. J. Appl. Physiol. 89, 1072–1078. Available online at: http://jap.physiology.org/content/89/3/1072
- Kerner, J., Turkaly, P. J., Minkler, P. E., and Hoppel, C. L. (2001). Aging skeletal muscle mitochondria in the rat: decreased uncoupling protein-3 content. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 281, E1054–E1062. Available online at: http:// ajpendo.physiology.org/content/281/5/E1054.long
- Kumaran, S., Panneerselvam, K. S., Shila, S., Sivarajan, K., and Panneerselvam, C. (2005). Age-associated deficit of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in skeletal muscle: role of carnitine and lipoic acid. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 280, 83–89. doi: 10.1007/s11010-005-8234-z
- Kwong, L. K., and Sohal, R. S. (2000). Age-related changes in activities of mitochondrial electron transport complexes in various tissues of the mouse. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 373, 16–22. doi: 10.1006/abbi. 1999.1495
- Lanza, I. R., Befroy, D. E., and Kent-Braun, J. A. (2005). Age-related changes in ATP-producing pathways in human skeletal muscle *in vivo. J. Appl. Physiol.* 99, 1736–1744. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00566.2005
- Leducq, N., Delmas-Beauvieux, M. C., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Dufour, S., Gallis, J. L., Canioni, P., et al. (1998). Mitochondrial permeability transition during hypothermic to normothermic reperfusion in rat liver demonstrated by the protective effect of cyclosporin A. *Biochem. J.* 336(Pt 2), 501–506. doi: 10.1042/bj3360501
- Lesnefsky, E. J., and Hoppel, C. L. (2006). Oxidative phosphorylation and aging. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 5, 402–433. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2006.04.001
- Lexell, J. (1995). Human aging, muscle mass, and fiber type composition. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 50, Spec No. 11–16.
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., and Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell* 153, 1194–1217. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013. 05.039
- Mansouri, A., Muller, F. L., Liu, Y., Ng, R., Faulkner, J., Hamilton, M., et al. (2006). Alterations in mitochondrial function, hydrogen peroxide release and oxidative damage in mouse hind-limb skeletal muscle during aging. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 127, 298–306. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2005.11.004
- Marcinek, D. J., Schenkman, K. A., Ciesielski, W. A., Lee, D., and Conley, K. E. (2005). Reduced mitochondrial coupling *in vivo* alters cellular energetics in aged mouse skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* 569, 467–473. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.097782
- Martin, C., Dubouchaud, H., Mosoni, L., Chardigny, J. M., Oudot, A., Fontaine, E., et al. (2007). Abnormalities of mitochondrial functioning can partly explain the metabolic disorders encountered in sarcopenic gastrocnemius. *Aging Cell* 6, 165–177. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007.00271.x
- Parker, N., Crichton, P. G., Vidal-Puig, A. J., and Brand, M. D. (2009). Uncoupling protein-1 (UCP1) contributes to the basal proton conductance of brown adipose tissue mitochondria. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 41, 335–342. doi: 10.1007/s10863-009-9232-8
- Petersen, K. F., Befroy, D., Dufour, S., Dziura, J., Ariyan, C., Rothman, D. L., et al. (2003). Mitochondrial dysfunction in the elderly: possible role in insulin resistance. *Science* 300, 1140–1142. doi: 10.1126/science.1082889
- Rasmussen, U. F., Krustrup, P., Kjaer, M., and Rasmussen, H. N. (2003). Experimental evidence against the mitochondrial theory of aging. A study of isolated human skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Exp. Gerontol.* 38, 877–886. doi: 10.1016/S0531-5565(03)00092-5
- Short, K. R., Bigelow, M. L., Kahl, J., Singh, R., Coenen-Schimke, J., Raghavakaimal, S., et al. (2005). Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial function with aging in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 5618–5623. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501559102
- Toime, L. J., and Brand, M. D. (2010). Uncoupling protein-3 lowers reactive oxygen species production in isolated mitochondria. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 49, 606–611. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.05.010

- Tonkonogi, M., Fernström, M., Walsh, B., Ji, L. L., Rooyackers, O., Hammarqvist, F., et al. (2003). Reduced oxidative power but unchanged antioxidative capacity in skeletal muscle from aged humans. *Pflugers Arch.* 446, 261–269. doi: 10.1007/s00424-003-1044-9
- Valerio, M., Diolez, P., and Haraux, F. (1993). The electrochemicalproton-gradient-activated states of F0F1 ATPase in plant mitochondria as revealed by detergents. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 216, 565–571. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1993.tb18175.x
- Yan, L. J., and Sohal, R. S. (1998). Mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocase is modified oxidatively during aging. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 12896–12901. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.22.12896

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Diolez, Bourdel-Marchasson, Calmettes, Pasdois, Detaille, Rouland and Gouspillou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Protein Kinase A Governs Oxidative Phosphorylation Kinetics and Oxidant Emitting Potential at Complex I

Daniel S. Lark^{1,2}, Lauren R. Reese^{1,3}, Terence E. Ryan^{1,3}, Maria J. Torres^{1,2}, Cody D. Smith^{1,3}, Chien-Te Lin^{1,3} and P. Darrell Neufer^{1,2,3*}

¹ East Carolina Diabetes and Obesity Institute, Greenville, NC, USA, ² Department of Kinesiology, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA, ³ Department of Physiology, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA

The mitochondrial electron transport system (ETS) is responsible for setting and maintaining both the energy and redox charges throughout the cell. Reversible phosphorylation of mitochondrial proteins, particularly via the soluble adenylyl cyclase (sAC)/cyclic AMP (cAMP)/Protein kinase A (PKA) axis, has recently been revealed as a potential mechanism regulating the ETS. However, the governance of cAMP/PKA signaling and its implications on ETS function are incompletely understood. In contrast to prior reports using exogenous bicarbonate, we provide evidence that endogenous CO₂ produced by increased tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle flux is insufficient to increase mitochondrial cAMP levels, and that exogenous addition of membrane permeant 8Br-cAMP does not enhance mitochondrial respiratory capacity. We also report important non-specific effects of commonly used inhibitors of sAC which preclude their use in studies of mitochondrial function. In isolated liver mitochondria, inhibition of PKA reduced complex I-, but not complex II-supported respiratory capacity. In permeabilized myofibers, inhibition of PKA lowered both the K_m and V_{max} for complex I-supported respiration as well as succinate-supported H_2O_2 emitting potential. In summary, the data provided here improve our understanding of how mitochondrial cAMP production is regulated, illustrate a need for better tools to examine the impact of sAC activity on mitochondrial biology, and suggest that cAMP/PKA signaling contributes to the governance of electron flow through complex I of the ETS.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Russell T. Hepple, McGill University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Martina Krüger, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Germany Leonardo F. Ferreira, University of Florida, USA

> *Correspondence: P. Darrell Neufer neuferp@ecu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 01 September 2015 Accepted: 02 November 2015 Published: 17 November 2015

Citation:

Lark DS, Reese LR, Ryan TE, Torres MJ, Smith CD, Lin C-T and Neufer PD (2015) Protein Kinase A Governs Oxidative Phosphorylation Kinetics and Oxidant Emitting Potential at Complex I. Front. Physiol. 6:332. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00332 Keywords: mitochondria, adenylyl cyclase, cAMP, protein kinase A, complex I, respiration, skeletal muscle, liver

INTRODUCTION

Mitochondrial function is a key determinant of skeletal muscle metabolic health since it governs both the energetic and redox environments of the myocyte. Under conditions of overnutrition and/or obesity, evidence suggests mitochondria from humans and rodents increase their rate of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) emission (Houstis et al., 2006; Fisher-Wellman et al., 2014), with the resulting increase in oxidative burden impairing skeletal muscle insulin action (Anderson et al., 2009; Hoehn et al., 2009; Lark et al., 2015). Key enzymes within the electron transport system and the matrix regulate the rate of H_2O_2 production and scavenging that ultimately determine the rate of H_2O_2 release. Therefore, a better understanding of how mitochondrial enzymes are regulated may lead to better treatments for diseases like diabetes that are linked to mitochondrial H_2O_2 emission.

Mounting evidence implicates post-translational proteins, modifications to mitochondrial particularly phosphorylation events mediated by the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)/Protein kinase A (PKA) axis, as a key regulator of cellular metabolism (Valsecchi et al., 2013; Di Benedetto et al., 2014). Mitochondrial cAMP/PKA signaling is thought to be initiated by soluble adenylyl cyclase (sAC) (Buck et al., 1999), a bicarbonate (HCO $_3^-$)- and Ca²⁺-activated (Chen et al., 2000) enzyme that generates cAMP in various intracellular compartments (e.g., mitochondrial matrix) (Zippin et al., 2003). The implication is that CO₂ generated during accelerated flux through the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle is converted to HCO_{2}^{-} via carbonic anhydrase (CA) and activates the mitochondrial cAMP/PKA axis. However, although it is well-established that exogenous HCO₃⁻ can activate mitochondrial sAC (Chen et al., 2000; Zippin et al., 2003), it is not known whether increased endogenous metabolic CO2 production increases mitochondrial cAMP.

Analysis of the MitoCarta mitochondrial proteome database (Pagliarini et al., 2008) has revealed approximately 75 different putative targets of PKA-mediated phosphorylation, some of which are altered by dietary manipulation (Grimsrud et al., 2012). Available evidence suggests cAMP/PKA signaling alters oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) by regulating cytochrome C oxidase (Acin-Perez et al., 2009a,b, 2010) or enhancing ATP production in the presence of Ca^{2+} (Di Benedetto et al., 2013). Additionally, several independent groups have identified Complex I of the electron transport system (ETS) as a target of PKA-dependent phosphorylation (Papa, 2002; De Rasmo et al., 2010) with a potential role in a number of human pathologies (Valenti et al., 2011; Papa et al., 2012). Despite the cummulative evidence implicating cAMP/PKA-mediated regulation of the ETS in human disease, the potential functional impact of cAMP/PKAmediated phosphorylation on mitochondrial bioenergetics is not well understood.

Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to determine: (1) if endogenous CO_2 production from the TCA cycle is sufficient to increase mitochondrial cAMP levels and (2) whether PKA acts on multiple ETS complexes (including Complex I) as a feed-forward mechanism to enhance OXPHOS in response to metabolic demand.

METHODS

Chemicals and Reagents

All chemicals and reagents were obtained from Sigma Aldrich except for Amplex Ultra Red reagent, which was purchased from Molecular Probes Inc.

Animal Use Procedures

All aspects of rodent studies were approved by the East Carolina University Animal Care and Use Committee. Male C57BL6/NJ mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories and were the only model used in these studies. Mice were housed in a temperature- $(22^{\circ}C)$ and light-controlled room and given free

Mitochondrial Isolation

For mitochondrial isolation, mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane following a 4 h fast and were euthanized via double pneumothorax. Under anesthesia, liver, or hind limb muscles (gastrocnemius, quadriceps, and biceps femoris) were immediately excised and rinsed in ice-cold mitochondrial isolation medium (MIM) containing: 300 mM Sucrose, 10 mM HEPES, and 1 mM EGTA. Tissues were then transferred to a dry dish and minced continuously for 5 min, then transferred to a 50 ml tube containing 10 ml of MIM. For skeletal muscle, trypsin (100 mg/ml) was added for exactly 2 min, then soybean trypsin inhibitor in 10 ml of MIM + 1 mg/ml BSA was added to halt the reaction. Tissue was then gently mixed by inversion and allowed to settle to the bottom of the tube. Supernatant was discarded and tissue re-suspended in MIM+BSA (20 ml/g tissue). Minced liver was not treated with trypsin. Tissues were then homogenized using a tight-fitting Teflon glass homogenizer (~ 10 passes) and centrifuged at 800 g for 10 min at 4°C. Supernatant was transferred to Oakridge tubes and centrifuged at 8000 g for 15 min at 4°C. Supernatant was discarded and pellet was washed and re-suspended in 10 ml of MIM+BSA and centrifuged again at 8000 g for 15 min at 4°C. The final pellet was re-suspended in 50 µl of MIM. Mitochondrial protein concentration was determined by spectrophotometry using the bicinchoninic acid method (Pierce). In some experiments, mitochondria were fractured by three freeze-thaw cycles and directly assayed for complex I specific activity (Barrientos et al., 2009).

Preparation of Mouse Permeabilized Myofiber Bundles (PmFBs)

The PmFB technique used was partially adapted from previous methods (Kuznetsov et al., 1996; Tonkonogi et al., 2003) and has been described previously (Anderson and Neufer, 2006). Mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane and the red (RG) and white (WG) portions of the gastrocnemius muscle were immediately excised. Muscle samples were placed in ice-cold (4°C) Buffer X containing (in mM): 7.23 K2EGTA, 2.77 CaK2EGTA, 20 Imidazole, 20 Taurine, 5.7 ATP, 14.3 Phosphocreatine, 6.56 MgCl₂-6H₂O, and 50 MES (pH 7.1, 295 mOsm). Under a dissecting microscope (Leica Optics), fat, and connective tissue were removed and muscle samples were separated into small bundles of fibers (<1 mg wet weight/fiber bundle). Fiber bundles were permeabilized in Buffer X supplemented with 40 µg/ml saponin, a mild, cholesterol-specific detergent for 30 min at 4°C as previously described (Anderson and Neufer, 2006). Since the sarcolemmal membrane contains a large amount of cholesterol relative to the mitochondrial membrane, this technique selectively permeabilizes the sarcolemma while leaving mitochondrial membranes and ultra-structure intact (Kuznetsov et al., 2008; Picard et al., 2011). PmFBs were then washed in ice-cold Buffer Z containing (in mM): 105 K-MES, 30 KCl, 5 KH₂PO₄, 5 MgCl₂-6H₂O, and 0.5 mg/ml Bovine serum albumin (pH 7.1,

295 mOsm) and remained in Buffer Z on a rotator at $4^\circ C$ until analysis (<4 h).

Mitochondrial Camp Production Assay

Two different sets of experiments were done to measure mitochondrial cAMP production in the current study. First, isolated liver mitochondria were incubated for 10 min at $37^{\circ}C$ in 300 µl of MAITE medium containing (in mM): 10 Tris-HCl, 25 sucrose, 75 sorbitol, 100 KCl, 0.5 EDTA, 5 MgCl₂, and 1 mg/ml BSA; pH 7.4. MAITE medium was also supplemented with 300 mM HEPES to maintain pH in the presence of HCO_{2}^{-} (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b) and 1 mM ATP as substrate for cAMP production. Experiments were performed under three conditions: no additions, 30 mM HCO_3^- and HCO_3^- plus 25 μM KH7, an inhibitor of sAC (Hess et al., 2005). Second, skeletal muscle mitochondria (250 μ g/ml) were incubated at 37°C in 300 µl of MAITE medium supplemented with 1 mM ATP, $10 \,\mu$ g/ml oligomycin and in the presence or absence of $25 \,\mu$ M KH7 or 5µM acetazolamide (AZA), a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor to prevent conversion of CO_2 to HCO_3^- (Maren, 1960). Following an initial 10 min acclimation period, mitochondria were incubated for 5 min in the presence of the following respiratory substrate combinations: 5 pyruvate/2 mM malate, 5 mM succinate, or 25 µM palmitoyl-L-carnitine/2 mM malate. A separate set of control samples did not receive respiratory substrates. In some experiments, 1µM FCCP was added to uncouple O₂ consumption from ATP synthesis and thereby accelerate TCA cycle flux. Reactions were halted by the addition of 0.1 M HCl, and then samples were flash frozen and stored in liquid N2 until analysis for cAMP (Complete cAMP ELISA Kit, Enzo Life Sciences).

Mitochondrial Bioenergetics Assays

Mitochondrial respiration experiments in both isolated mitochondria and PmFBs were performed using a high-resolution oxygraph (Oroboros O₂k, Innsbruck Austria). Respirometry experiments using isolated mitochondria were performed in Buffer Z at 25°C while substrate titration experiments in PmFBs were performed at 37°C in Buffer Z supplemented with 20 mM creatine monohydrate to maximize phosphate transfer in PmFBs (Kuznetsov et al., 1996). Blebbistatin (20 μ l) was also added during PmFB experiments to mitigate the effects of contraction on respiratory kinetics (Perry et al., 2011).

Mitochondrial H_2O_2 emitting potential, defined as the H_2O_2 that escapes the matrix, was measured via Amplex Ultra Red (Invitrogen) fluorescence detected at 565/600 ex/em at 37°C in a monochromatic spectrofluorometer (Horiba Jobin-Yvon) with Buffer Z as previously described (Anderson and Neufer, 2006). Assays were performed in the presence of 25 U/ml superoxide dismutase to ensure superoxide produced and released on the outer surface of the mitochondrial inner membrane was converted to H_2O_2 . Mitochondrial H_2O_2 emitting potential in PmFBs was measured during either reverse electron flow using 5 mM succinate or forward electron flow using 5 mM glutamate and 2 mM malate followed by the addition of rotenone (Lambert and Brand, 2004). Once steady-state rates of H_2O_2 emission

were established (< 10 min), 1 μ M auranofin, a thioredoxin reductase inhibitor, was added to remove oxidant scavenging as a potentially confounding factor (Fisher-Wellman et al., 2013). In addition to yielding a measure of H₂O₂ production, this allowed for the determination of oxidant scavenging capacity as the difference in H₂O₂ emission before and after the addition of auranofin.

In experiments utilizing 8Br-cAMP or H89, compounds were added to the oxygraph chamber or cuvette with isolated mitochondria or PmFBs for 10 min prior to any subsequent additions.

Statistical Analyses

Comparisons between control and treatment groups were made using One-way ANOVA with Student Newman-Keuls *post-hoc* test where appropriate using Prism statistical software (GraphPad Prism 6). Pair-wise comparisons were made using student's paired two-way *t*-test. In all experiments, data are reported as mean \pm SEM unless otherwise noted. Significance level was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

TCA Cycle Flux Does Not Increase [cAMP] in Isolated Mitochondria

The inner mitochondrial membrane is impermeable to cytosolic cAMP (Di Benedetto et al., 2013) and, therefore, matrix cAMP has been proposed to be generated locally by CO_2 -mediated activation of sAC. Evidence in support of this hypothesis comes from data showing that addition of exogenous HCO_3^- induces a small increase (~10%) in mitochondrial cAMP that is prevented by the sAC inhibitor KH7 (Chen et al., 2000; Litvin et al., 2003; Zippin et al., 2003; Acin-Perez et al., 2009b; Di Benedetto et al., 2013). In the present study, addition of HCO_3^- to isolated liver mitochondria generated a small but significant increase in cAMP that, in contrast to previous findings (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b), was not blunted by KH7 (**Figure 1A**).

The TCA cycle has been proposed as the source of CO_2 needed to activate sAC in mitochondria (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b), although this has yet to be demonstrated experimentally. Using isolated mitochondria from skeletal muscle in the presence of 1 mM ATP, we were unable to detect any increase in cAMP during respiration supported by CO₂-generating substrates (pyruvate/malate or palmitoyl-L-carnitine/malate) compared with mitochondria in the absence of substrate or those oxidizing non CO₂-generating substrates (succinate) (Figure 1B). Mitochondrial cAMP remained unchanged even when TCA cycle flux was accelerated by the mitochondrial uncoupler FCCP. Finally, consistent with the data from liver mitochondria (Figure 1A), cAMP levels were not decreased by the putative sAC inhibitor KH7 or acetazolamide (AZA), a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor. These findings suggest that, at least under the conditions tested, endogenous TCA cycle-derived CO2 production is not sufficient to increase mitochondrial cAMP in skeletal muscle mitochondria.



Regulation of OXPHOs Function by Mitochondrial cAMP/PKA Signaling

The functional consequence of mitochondrial cAMP/PKA signaling on OXPHOS function is unclear as exogenous activation of PKA has been reported to either increase (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b, 2011) or decrease (Di Benedetto et al., 2013) mitochondrial ATP production. Here, a series of experiments were performed to test the hypothesis that OXPHOS is regulated by mitochondrial cAMP/PKA signaling.

First, rates of oxygen consumption (*J*O₂) were measured in isolated liver mitochondria in the absence or presence of 1 mM 8Br-cAMP, a membrane-permeable cAMP mimetic (**Figure 2A**). Surprisingly, 8Br-cAMP did not alter basal or maximal ADP-stimulated glutamate/malate-supported respiration. Similar to previous findings (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b), KH7 nearly completely inhibited ADP-stimulated respiration. Curiously however, the effect was not reversed or attenuated by the addition of 8Br-cAMP, which should bypass the inhibition of sAC. Addition of cytochrome c or FCCP also failed to restore respiration in the presence of KH7. Together, these findings suggest that the inhibitory effect of KH7 occurs independent of sAC/cAMP/PKA signaling and is not associated with loss of mitochondrial membrane integrity.

To further define the mechanism by which KH7 acts independently of cAMP signaling (Tian et al., 2011; Di Benedetto et al., 2013), complex I activity was measured in freeze-fractured fragments of isolated skeletal muscle mitochondria in the absence or presence of KH7. Addition of KH7 led to an immediate ablation of complex I activity that was not recovered by the addition of 8Br-cAMP (**Figure 2B**). Dose-response curves for complex I activity as a function of KH7 concentration in PKA-depleted mitochondrial fragments revealed an IC₅₀ value of $3.7 \,\mu$ M (**Figure 2C**), comparable to previously reported IC₅₀ values of KH7 for sAC (Hess et al., 2005; Bitterman et al., 2013). These findings suggest that the effects of KH7 on mitochondrial respiration are mediated by direct inhibition of complex I.

Besides KH7, the only other known sAC inhibitor with an IC₅₀ below $10 \,\mu$ M is the naturally occurring estrogen metabolite 2-hydroxyestradiol (2-HE) (Steegborn et al., 2005). Anecdotal reports have suggested that 2-HE is also capable of generating oxidant species via redox cycling (Fussell et al., 2011), although this has not been demonstrated experimentally. Using a cell/organelle-free based H2O2 detection system, we found that 2-HE, but not its metabolite 2-methoxyestradiol (2-ME), generates H₂O₂ spontaneously (Figure 3A) in a dose-dependent (Figure 3B) and catalase-sensitive (Figure 3C) manner. H₂O₂ production was detected with as little as 200 nM 2-HE, a concentration more than 50-fold lower than has been previously used to inhibit sAC in cell-based assays (Tian et al., 2011; Di Benedetto et al., 2013). These findings raise significant concerns regarding the specificity and use of both KH7 and 2-HE as tools to study cAMP-related signaling events.

Inhibition of PKA Decreases Complex I-supported Respiratory Capacity

To further explore the potential impact of kinase activity on mitochondrial function, we focused our attention on PKA. Incubation of HeLa cells for 30 min with 1μ M H89, a PKA inhibitor (Chijiwa et al., 1990), has been shown to decrease mitochondrial respiratory capacity (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b), but the specific site(s) of regulation remains unknown. Using mitochondria isolated from liver, H89 dose-dependently decreased ADP-stimulated respiration supported by complex I (**Figure 4A**), but not complex II (**Figure 4B**) substrates. These findings prompted us to specifically focus on the role of PKA in the regulation of complex I activity.

H89-mediated PKA Inhibition Alters ADP-supported Respiratory Kinetics

To further define the impact of PKA inhibition on complex I-supported respiration, ADP titration experiments were performed on H89-treated PmFBs during respiration supported



by pyruvate/malate. Both slow-twitch (RG) and fast-twitch (WG) PmFBs were used for these studies because the metabolic phenotype (e.g., oxidative vs. glycolytic) of the muscle governs both respiratory kinetics (Kuznetsov et al., 1996) and H_2O_2 emitting potential (Anderson and Neufer, 2006). Initial examinations revealed a decrease in respiration at and above an ADP concentration of 75 μ M in RG (Figure 5A) and 200 μ M in WG (Figure 5B). Applying Michaelis Menten-like kinetic analyses, these data were further dissected to yield maximal respiratory capacity (V_{max}) and sensitivity to ADP (apparent K_m—the ADP concentration required to elicit 50% of V_{max}) (Kuznetsov et al., 1996). H89 treatment decreased both the apparent K_m and V_{max} in RG (Figure 5C) and WG (Figure 5D), indicating an increased sensitivity to ADP



but decreased maximal respiratory capacity. H89 treatment decreased non-ADP stimulated respiration in RG with a similar, but non-significant (p = 0.08), trend in WG (**Figure 5E**). Finally, H89 treatment decreased respiratory control ratio (RCR), an index of mitochondrial coupling, in both RG and WG (**Figure 5F**). Altogether, these data suggest that inhibition of PKA decreases respiration supported by complex I, but not complex II, and does so during both proton leak- and ADP-dependent respiration.

H89-mediated PKA Inhibition Alters Complex I Substrate Kinetics

To further explore the possibility that PKA regulates complex I, pyruvate and glutamate titrations were performed under ADP-stimulated conditions in RG and WG PmFBs in the absence or presence of H89. In both RG (**Figure 6A**) and WG (**Figure 6B**), inhibition of PKA decreased respiration at or above







were performed in RG (A) and WG (B) PmFBs with pyruvate and malate in the absence (open symbol) or presence (closed symbol) of 10 μ M H89 in the assay media Michaelis Menten-like kinetics generated from ADP titration experiments in RG (C) and WG (D). (E) Non-ADP stimulated JO_2 was compared from ADP titration experiments in the absence (white bars) or presence (gray bars) of 10 μ M H89 in RG (left) and WG (right). (F) Respiratory control ratio (ADP-stimulated JO_2 /non-ADP stimulated JO_2) was calculated from ADP titration experiments in the absence (white bars) or presence (gray bars) of 10 μ M H89 in RG (left) and WG (right). N =4–6/condition. * denotes p < 0.05 compared to Control.

a pyruvate concentration of $100 \,\mu$ M. This was accompanied by an increase in sensitivity to pyruvate and a decrease in respiratory capacity in both tissues (**Figures 6C,D**). Glutamate titration experiments yielded similar data (**Figures 6E–H**). These findings using two distinct NADH-linked substrates provide evidence that PKA-mediated phosphorylation influences complex I-supported respiratory kinetics.

H89-mediated PKA Inhibition Decreases H₂O₂ Production during Reverse Electron Flow

With evidence suggesting a role for PKA in the regulation of respiratory kinetics, particularly at complex I, we next sought to examine whether PKA affects the susceptibility of complex I to electron leak and H_2O_2 production/emission during reverse



kinetics in RG (G) and WG (H). N = 4-8/condition. * denotes p < 0.05 compared to Control.

(i.e., succinate) or forward (glutamate/malate/rotenone) electron flow. In PmFBs from both RG (**Figure 7A**) and WG (**Figure 7B**), inhibition of PKA decreased H_2O_2 emission during reverse, but not forward, electron flow. Addition of auranofin to inhibit mitochondrial H_2O_2 scavenging elicited similar increases in H_2O_2 emission in the absence or presence of H89. Total mitochondrial oxidant scavenging was also not affected by H89. Together these data indicate that PKA inhibition affects H_2O_2 production, not scavenging, and that PKA may mediate its effects on mitochondrial energetics, at least in part, via regulation of electron flow at or near the interface between complex I and the Q-pool.

DISCUSSION

In recent years, starting with the discovery of sAC (Buck et al., 1999), a potential role for cAMP signaling in the mitochondrial matrix has emerged (Valsecchi et al., 2013). Several reports have described a role for sAC within mitochondria (Zippin et al., 2003; Acin-Perez et al., 2009b; Di Benedetto et al., 2013), the existence of mitochondrial cAMP/PKA signaling microenvironments (Papa et al., 1999; Livigni et al., 2006; Di Benedetto et al., 2008; Acin-Perez et al., 2011), and a wide variety of reversibly phosphorylated mitochondrial proteins (Zhao et al., 2011; Grimsrud et al., 2012). In contrast with plasma membranebound G-protein-linked forms of AC, sAC is activated by bicarbonate and calcium (Litvin et al., 2003). CO2 produced by the TCA cycle, and subsequent conversion to HCO_3^- by carbonic anhydrase, has been suggested as a mechanism by which sAC/PKA signaling is activated in mitochondria (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b). In the present study however, evidence is provided that mitochondrial cAMP/PKA signaling is not activated by increased flux through the TCA cycle. In addition, two widely used inhibitors of sAC were found to have distinct non-specific effects that limit their utility in studies of mitochondrial function. Notably however, pharmacological inhibition of PKA was found to alter OXPHOS kinetics during respiration supported by NADH-linked substrates and H_2O_2 emission during reverse electron flow through complex I, providing additional evidence that complex I may be regulated by reversible phosphorylation.

The discovery and subsequent characterization of sAC within specific cellular organelles has led to the concept of compartmentalized cAMP signaling. A seminal finding in this field was that exogenous HCO₃⁻ can increase cAMP levels via activation of sAC (Chen et al., 2000), a discovery that has been confirmed in multiple subsequent studies (Litvin et al., 2003; Zippin et al., 2003; Di Benedetto et al., 2013), including this report (Figure 1A). A central premise of the sAC-cAMP-PKA axis is that endogenous HCO₃⁻ generated during increased flux through the TCA cycle is responsible for activating sAC. Here we directly tested this hypothesis and found that even during maximal uncoupled respiration, and in the presence of multiple substrate combinations that feed into the TCA cycle, mitochondrial cAMP levels did not change (Figure 1B). ATP was included in the assay at a concentration (1 mM) sufficient to provide substrate for sAC without inducing substrate inhibition (>5 mM) (Litvin et al., 2003). These findings therefore suggest that endogenous production of CO₂ from the TCA cycle does not activate sAC in skeletal muscle mitochondria. More recent findings have provided evidence that an increase in the frequency and amplitude of matrix Ca2+ oscillations, as would occur during muscle contractions, is likely the more physiologically important regulator of sAC in mitochondria (Di Benedetto et al., 2013).

Defining the role of sAC in the regulation of mitochondrial bioenergetics has also hinged greatly on the use of two



compounds marketed as sAC inhibitors: KH7 (Hess et al., 2005; Acin-Perez et al., 2009a,b, 2010) and 2-HE (Steegborn et al., 2005; Tian et al., 2011; Di Benedetto et al., 2013). In this report, we provide evidence demonstrating that both KH7 and 2-HE have distinct non-specific effects that preclude their use for studying mitochondrial energetics. First, KH7 directly inhibits mitochondrial respiration independent of cAMP/PKA signaling (Figure 2A) (Di Benedetto et al., 2013), and it appears to do so via direct inhibition of complex I (Figures 2B,C). Second, 2-HE, a naturally occurring estrogen metabolite, spontaneously generates high rates of H_2O_2 (Figures 3A–C), potentially affecting redox buffering systems and thus the oxidation state of mitochondrial proteins. Previous studies (Hess et al., 2005; Steegborn et al., 2005; Acin-Perez et al., 2009a,b, 2010; Tian et al., 2011; Di Benedetto et al., 2013) using one or both of these compounds to examine the link between cAMP/PKA signaling and mitochondrial function should therefore be interpreted with caution. The recently elucidated crystal structure of human sAC during catalysis and activation via HCO₃ (Kleinboelting et al., 2014) will hopefully facilitate the development of sAC inhibitors with greater specificity.

The impact of membrane permeable cAMP analogs on mitochondrial bioenergetics has also produced conflicting data. In both intact cells and isolated mitochondria, Acin-Perez et al. (2009b) found that 8Br-cAMP induced a slight but statistically significant increase in respiration under both basal and maximally-stimulated respiration conditions. ATP synthesis rate and mitochondrial membrane potential under non-phosphorylating conditions were also increased by 8Br-cAMP (Acin-Perez et al., 2009b). Di Benedetto et al. (2013) however failed to observe any impact of 8Br-cAMP, or several other more permeable analogs, on mitochondrial ATP concentration in intact cells. In the present study, 8Br-cAMP also failed to increase either basal or ADP-stimulated respiration in isolated liver mitochondria (**Figure 2A**).

However, the notion that a mitochondrial matrix sACcAMP-PKA axis regulates OXPHOS is supported by multiple lines of direct and indirect evidence (Raha et al., 2002; Acin-Perez et al., 2009b; Valenti et al., 2011; Di Benedetto et al., 2013), including the recent finding that numerous electron transport proteins in mouse liver and skeletal muscle originally identified in the MitoCarta (Pagliarini et al., 2008) have PKA consensus phosphorylation sites (Zhao et al., 2011; Grimsrud et al., 2012). Using cAMP-specific FRET sensors, two groups (Di Benedetto et al., 2013; Lefkimmiatis et al., 2013) have recently provided the most direct evidence that cAMP is produced inside mitochondria by sAC in response to increased matrix Ca^{2+} and, to a lesser extent, HCO₃⁻. Additionally, literature spanning over 20 years implicates complex I as a target of PKA-dependent phosphorylation (Technikova-Dobrova et al., 1993; Sardanelli et al., 1995; Papa et al., 1999). In the current study, PKA inhibition was found to dose-dependently decrease complex I, but not complex II, supported respiration (Figures 4A,B), thus providing further direct evidence that PKA-mediated phosphorylation plays an important role in the regulation of complex I activity.

In PmFBs, H89-mediated inhibition of PKA elicited effects on mitochondrial respiratory kinetics, respiratory capacity, and oxidant emission that converged on complex I. Increased sensitivity of OXPHOS to both ADP (Figures 5C,D) and complex I-supported respiratory substrates (Figures 6C,D,G,H), combined with decreased maximal respiratory capacity, suggest a "bottleneck" in the ETS established by PKA inhibition. The effects of PKA inhibition were qualitatively similar in PmFBs from predominantly red oxidative and white glycolytic muscles, suggesting the mitochondrial phospho-regulatory mechanisms are similar in the two fiber types. To elucidate how PKA may regulate complex I-mediated electron flow, two substrate/inhibitor combinations were used to examine forward or reverse electron flow. The flavin (F) site of complex I is responsible for NADH reduction and the majority of electron leak from forward electron flow (Treberg et al., 2011).

H₂O₂ emitting potential at this site was not affected by H89 (Figures 7A,B). The quinone (Q) site of complex I is responsible for donating electrons to the Q pool and accounts for the majority of electron leak that can occur from reverse electron flow during respiration supported by the complex II substrate succinate. Inhibition of PKA decreased electron leak from the Q-site during reverse electron flow but not from the F-site during forward electron flow (Figures 7A,B), suggesting that PKA regulates complex I activity somewhere between these two sites of electron transfer. This is of particular interest because the nuclear-encoded 18 kDa subunit of complex I physically lies in between these two sites of electron transfer, is exposed to the mitochondrial matrix (Baradaran et al., 2013), and is a physiologically relevant site of PKA-mediated phosphorylation (Sardanelli et al., 1995; Papa et al., 1999; Papa, 2002). Loss of the gene that encodes this subunit (NDUFS4) in mice replicates Leigh syndrome (Quintana et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2013), a devastating human neurological, mitochondrial-linked disease. Although the NDUFS4 subunit is not thought to be directly involved in electron transfer, it is possible that PKA-mediated phosphorylation within this subunit alters electron transfer and/or (Lochner and Moolman, 2006) complex I function in a currently undefined manner.

The finding that PKA inhibition lowered mitochondrial JH_2O_2 emission in PmFBs is intriguing, as it suggests that activation of PKA signaling may accelerate mitochondrial JH_2O_2 emission. However, in the present studies, addition of 8Br-cAMP to activate PKA signaling failed to alter ADP-stimulated respiratory capacity, and accelerating TCA cycle flux failed to enhance cAMP levels. Along these same lines, calcium has recently been shown to enhance the driving forces of the oxidative phosphorylation system, although the effect is seen only when calcium is depleted from mitochodria prior to calcium stimulation (Glancy et al., 2013). Together, these findings were interpreted to suggest that calcium, and potentially PKA signaling, may be already relatively high/active in isolated mitochondria, and thus experiments to further activate PKA signaling were not pursued.

A caveat to experiments using H89 is that this drug is not entirely specific for PKA (Davies et al., 2000; Lochner and Moolman, 2006). However, the data provided are in agreement with previous reports demonstrating a role for PKA in the regulation of complex I in other tissues (Sardanelli et al., 1995;

REFERENCES

- Acin-Perez, R., Gatti, D. L., Bai, Y., and Manfredi, G. (2010). Protein phosphorylation and prevention of cytochrome oxidase inhibition by ATP: coupled mechanisms of energy metabolism regulation. *Cell Metab.* 13, 712–719. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011. 03.024
- Acin-Perez, R., Russwurm, M., Günnewig, K., Gertz, M., Zoidl, G., Ramos, L., et al. (2011). A phosphodiesterase 2A isoform localized to mitochondria regulates respiration. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 30423–30432. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.2 66379
- Acin-Perez, R., Salazar, E., Brosel, S., Yang, H., Schon, E. A., and Manfredi, G. (2009a). Modulation of mitochondrial protein phosphorylation by soluble

Papa et al., 1999; Papa, 2002). In the present study, H89 was chosen because a primary objective of this project was to compare findings in muscle PmFBs to previous findings in isolated liver mitochondria (Acin-Perez et al., 2009a,b; 2010; 2011). Interestingly, a recent report in isolated rat liver mitochondria suggests that hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) is capable of regulating mitochondrial respiration (Módis et al., 2013), possibly via inhibition of phosphodiesterase 2A (PDE2A), a mitochondrial PDE isoform (Acin-Perez et al., 2011). Furthermore, in this report (Módis et al., 2013), the authors found that the inhibitory cAMP analog Rp-cAMP decreased complex II-supported respiration, although complex I-supported respiration was not reported. It remains to be seen whether PKA-mediated regulation of skeletal muscle complex I activity occurs with alternative PKA inhibitors like Rp-cAMP.

In conclusion, this report provides a novel collection of studies that: (1) challenge the notion that mitochondrial cAMP is regulated by TCA cycle flux, (2) reveal significant non-specific effects of widely used sAC inhibitors, and (3) provide the first functional evidence of PKA regulation of complex I in mouse muscle and liver mitochondria. These findings are of physiological significance particularly because they suggest that cAMP/PKA signaling not only regulates mitochondrial respiration, but also oxidant production. There is promise in the possibility that the mitochondrial cAMP/PKA axis can be manipulated to improve skeletal muscle metabolic health. Future studies await the development of targeted genetic approaches to more mechanistically examine the physiological role of mitochondrial cAMP-PKA signaling in health and disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DL and DN designed the experiments with input from LR, TR, MT, CS, and CL. DL, LR, and TR performed experiments. DL, CL, and DN analyzed data and prepared figures. DL and DN drafted the manuscript. DL, TR, MT, CS, CL, and DN edited the paper to the final version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by U.S. Public Health Services grant NIH R01 DK096907 (PDN).

adenylyl cyclase ameliorates cytochrome oxidase defects. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 1, 392–406. doi: 10.1002/emmm.200900046

- Acin-Perez, R., Salazar, E., Kamenetsky, M., Buck, J., Levin, L. R., and Manfredi, G. (2009b). Cyclic AMP produced inside mitochondria regulates oxidative phosphorylation. *Cell Metab.* 9, 265–276. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2009. s01.012
- Anderson, E. J., Lustig, M. E., Boyle, K. E., Woodlief, T. L., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T., et al. (2009). Mitochondrial H₂O₂ emission and cellular redox state link excess fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 573–581. doi: 10.1172/JCI37048
- Anderson, E. J., and Neufer, P. D. (2006). Type II skeletal myofibers possess unique properties that potentiate mitochondrial H₂O₂ generation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 290, C844–C851. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00402.2005

- Baradaran, R., Berrisford, J. M., Minhas, G. S., and Sazanov, L. A. (2013). Crystal structure of the entire respiratory complex I. *Nature* 494, 443–448. doi: 10.1038/nature11871
- Barrientos, A., Fontanesi, F., and Díaz, F. (2009). Evaluation of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and oxidative phosphorylation system using polarography and spectrophotometric enzyme assays. *Curr. Protoc. Hum. Genet. Chapter* 19:Unit19.3. doi: 10.1002/0471142905.hg1903s63
- Bitterman, J. L., Ramos-Espiritu, L., Diaz, A., Levin, L. R., and Buck, J. (2013). Pharmacological distinction between soluble and transmembrane adenylyl cyclases. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 347, 589–598. doi: 10.1124/jpet.113.208496
- Buck, J., Sinclair, M. L., Schapal, L., Cann, M. J., and Levin, L. R. (1999). Cytosolic adenylyl cyclase defines a unique signaling molecule in mammals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 79–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.1.79
- Chen, Y., Cann, M. J., Litvin, T. N., Iourgenko, V., Sinclair, M. L., Levin, L. R., et al. (2000). Soluble adenylyl cyclase as an evolutionarily conserved bicarbonate sensor. *Science* 289, 625–628. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5479.625
- Chijiwa, T., Mishima, A., Hagiwara, M., Sano, M., Hayashi, K., Inoue, T., et al. (1990). Inhibition of forskolin-induced neurite outgrowth and protein phosphorylation by a newly synthesized selective inhibitor of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase, N-[2-(p-bromocinnamylamino)ethyl]-5-isoquinolinesulfonamide (H-89), of PC12D pheochromocytoma cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 5267–5272.
- Davies, S. P., Reddy, H., Caivano, M., and Cohen, P. (2000). Specificity and mechanism of action of some commonly used protein kinase inhibitors. *Biochem. J.* 351, 95–105. doi: 10.1042/bj3510095
- De Rasmo, D., Palmisano, G., Scacco, S., Technikova-Dobrova, Z., Panelli, D., Cocco, T., et al. (2010). Phosphorylation pattern of the NDUFS4 subunit of complex I of the mammalian respiratory chain. *Mitochondrion* 10, 464–471. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2010.04.005
- Di Benedetto, G., Pendin, D., Greotti, E., Pizzo, P., and Pozzan, T. (2014). Ca²⁺ and cAMP cross-talk in mitochondria. *J. Physiol.* 592, 305–312. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.259135
- Di Benedetto, G., Scalzotto, E., Mongillo, M., and Pozzan, T. (2013). Mitochondrial Ca⁽²⁾⁽⁺⁾ uptake induces cyclic AMP generation in the matrix and modulates organelle ATP levels. *Cell Metab.* 17, 965–975. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.05.003
- Di Benedetto, G., Zoccarato, A., Lissandron, V., Terrin, A., Li, X., Houslay, M. D., et al. (2008). Protein kinase A type I and type II define distinct intracellular signaling compartments. *Circ. Res.* 103, 836–844. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.174813
- Fisher-Wellman, K. H., Gilliam, L. A., Lin, C. T., Cathey, B. L., Lark, D. S., and Darrell Neufer, P. (2013). Mitochondrial glutathione depletion reveals a novel role for the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex as a key HO-emitting source under conditions of nutrient overload. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 65C, 1201–1208. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.09.008
- Fisher-Wellman, K. H., Weber, T. M., Cathey, B. L., Brophy, P. M., Gilliam, L. A., Kane, C. L., et al. (2014). Mitochondrial respiratory capacity and content are normal in young insulin-resistant obese humans. *Diabetes* 63, 132–141. doi: 10.2337/db13-0940
- Fussell, K. C., Udasin, R. G., Smith, P. J., Gallo, M. A., and Laskin, J. D. (2011). Catechol metabolites of endogenous estrogens induce redox cycling and generate reactive oxygen species in breast epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis* 32, 1285–1293. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgr109
- Glancy, B., Willis, W. T., Chess, D. J., and Balaban, R. S. (2013). Effect of calcium on the oxidative phosphorylation cascade in skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Biochemistry* 52, 2793–2809. doi: 10.1021/bi30 15983
- Grimsrud, P. A., Carson, J. J., Hebert, A. S., Hubler, S. L., Niemi, N. M., Bailey, D. J., et al. (2012). A quantitative map of the liver mitochondrial phosphoproteome reveals posttranslational control of ketogenesis. *Cell Metab.* 16, 672–683. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.004
- Hess, K. C., Jones, B. H., Marquez, B., Chen, Y., Ord, T. S., Kamenetsky, M., et al. (2005). The "soluble" adenylyl cyclase in sperm mediates multiple signaling events required for fertilization. *Dev. Cell* 9, 249–259. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2005.06.007
- Hoehn, K. L., Salmon, A. B., Hohnen-Behrens, C., Turner, N., Hoy, A. J., Maghzal, G. J., et al. (2009). Insulin resistance is a cellular antioxidant defense mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 17787–17792. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902380106

- Houstis, N., Rosen, E. D., and Lander, E. S. (2006). Reactive oxygen species have a causal role in multiple forms of insulin resistance. *Nature* 440, 944–948. doi: 10.1038/nature04634
- Johnson, S. C., Yanos, M. E., Kayser, E. B., Quintana, A., Sangesland, M., Castanza, A., et al. (2013). mTOR inhibition alleviates mitochondrial disease in a mouse model of Leigh syndrome. *Science* 342, 1524–1528. doi: 10.1126/science.1244360
- Kleinboelting, S., Diaz, A., Moniot, S., van den Heuvel, J., Weyand, M., Levin, L. R., et al. (2014). Crystal structures of human soluble adenylyl cyclase reveal mechanisms of catalysis and of its activation through bicarbonate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3727–3732. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1322778111
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Toomas, T., Peeter, S., Tuuli, K., Laurence, K., Zoya, D., et al. (1996). Striking differences between the kinetics of regulation of respiration by adp in slow-twitch and fast-twitch muscles *in vivo. Europ. J. Biochem.* 241, 909–915. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1996.00909.x
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Veksler, V., Gellerich, F. N., Saks, V., Margreiter, R., and Kunz, W. S. (2008). Analysis of mitochondrial function *in situ* in permeabilized muscle fibers, tissues and cells. *Nat. Protoc.* 3, 965–976. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.61
- Lambert, A. J., and Brand, M. D. (2004). Inhibitors of the quinone-binding site allow rapid superoxide production from mitochondrial NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I). J. Biol. Chem. 279, 39414–39420. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406576200
- Lark, D. S., Kang, L., Lustig, M. E., Bonner, J. S., James, F. D., Neufer, P. D., et al. (2015). Enhanced mitochondrial superoxide scavenging does not improve muscle insulin action in the high fat-fed mouse. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0126732. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126732
- Lefkimmiatis, K., Leronni, D., and Hofer, A. M. (2013). The inner and outer compartments of mitochondria are sites of distinct cAMP/PKA signaling dynamics. J. Cell Biol. 202, 453–462. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201303159
- Litvin, T. N., Kamenetsky, M., Zarifyan, A., Buck, J., and Levin, L. R. (2003). Kinetic properties of "soluble" adenylyl cyclase. Synergism between calcium and bicarbonate. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 15922–15926. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M212475200
- Livigni, A., Scorziello, A., Agnese, S., Adornetto, A., Carlucci, A., Garbi, C., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial AKAP121 links cAMP and src signaling to oxidative metabolism. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 263–271. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E05-09-0827
- Lochner, A., and Moolman, J. A. (2006). The many faces of H89: a review. *Cardiovasc. Drug Rev.* 24, 261–274. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-3466.2006.0 0261.x
- Maren, T. H. (1960). A simplified micromethod for the determination of carbonic anhydrase and its inhibitors. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 130, 26–29.
- Módis, K., Panopoulos, P., Coletta, C., Papapetropoulos, A., and Szabo, C. (2013). Hydrogen sulfide-mediated stimulation of mitochondrial electron transport involves inhibition of the mitochondrial phosphodiesterase 2A, elevation of cAMP and activation of protein kinase A. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 86, 1311–1319. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2013.08.064
- Pagliarini, D. J., Calvo, S. E., Chang, B., Sheth, S. A., Vafai, S. B., Ong, S. E., et al. (2008). A mitochondrial protein compendium elucidates complex I disease biology. *Cell* 134, 112–123. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.06.016
- Papa, S. (2002). The NDUFS4 nuclear gene of complex I of mitochondria and the cAMP cascade. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1555, 147–153. doi: 10.1016/S0005-2728(02)00270-0
- Papa, S., Rasmo, D. D., Technikova-Dobrova, Z., Panelli, D., Signorile, A., Scacco, S., et al. (2012). Respiratory chain complex I, a main regulatory target of the cAMP/PKA pathway is defective in different human diseases. *FEBS Lett.* 586, 568–577. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011.09.019
- Papa, S., Sardanelli, A. M., Scacco, S., and Technikova-Dobrova, Z. (1999). cAMPdependent protein kinase and phosphoproteins in mammalian mitochondria. An extension of the cAMP-mediated intracellular signal transduction. FEBS Lett. 444, 245–249. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00070-8
- Perry, C. G., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T., Kozy, R., Cathey, B. L., Lark, D. S., et al. (2011). Inhibiting myosin-ATPase reveals a dynamic range of mitochondrial respiratory control in skeletal muscle. *Biochem. J.* 437, 215–222. doi: 10.1042/BJ20110366
- Picard, M., Taivassalo, T., Ritchie, D., Wright, K. J., Thomas, M. M., Romestaing, C., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial structure and function are disrupted by standard isolation methods. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18317. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018317

- Quintana, A., Kruse, S. E., Kapur, R. P., Sanz, E., and Palmiter, R. D. (2010). Complex I deficiency due to loss of Ndufs4 in the brain results in progressive encephalopathy resembling Leigh syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 10996–11001. doi: 10.1073/pnas.10062 14107
- Raha, S., Myint, A. T., Johnstone, L., and Robinson, B. H. (2002). Control of oxygen free radical formation from mitochondrial complex I: roles for protein kinase A and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 32, 421–430. doi: 10.1016/S0891-5849(01)00816-4
- Sardanelli, A. M., Technikova-Dobrova, Z., Scacco, S. C., Speranza, F., and Papa, S. (1995). Characterization of proteins phosphorylated by the cAMP-dependent protein kinase of bovine heart mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* 377, 470–474. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(95)01407-1
- Steegborn, C., Litvin, T. N., Hess, K. C., Capper, A. B., Taussig, R., Buck, J., et al. (2005). A novel mechanism for adenylyl cyclase inhibition from the crystal structure of its complex with catechol estrogen. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 31754–31759. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M507144200
- Technikova-Dobrova, Z., Sardanelli, A. M., and Papa, S. (1993). Phosphorylation of mitochondrial proteins in bovine heart. Characterization of kinases and substrates. *FEBS Lett.* 322, 51–55. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(93) 81109-D
- Tian, G., Sandler, S., Gylfe, E., and Tengholm, A. (2011). Glucose- and hormoneinduced cAMP oscillations in alpha- and beta-cells within intact pancreatic islets. *Diabetes* 60, 1535–1543. doi: 10.2337/db10-1087
- Tonkonogi, M., Fernström, M., Walsh, B., Ji, L. L., Rooyackers, O., Hammarqvist, F., et al. (2003). Reduced oxidative power but unchanged antioxidative capacity in skeletal muscle from aged humans. *Pflugers Arch.* 446, 261–269. doi: 10.1007/s00424-003-1044-9
- Treberg, J. R., Quinlan, C. L., and Brand, M. D. (2011). Evidence for two sites of superoxide production by mitochondrial NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase

(complex I). J. Biol. Chem. 286, 27103-27110. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 252502

- Valenti, D., Manente, G. A., Moro, L., Marra, E., and Vacca, R. A. (2011). Deficit of complex I activity in human skin fibroblasts with chromosome 21 trisomy and overproduction of reactive oxygen species by mitochondria: involvement of the cAMP/PKA signalling pathway. *Biochem. J.* 435, 679–688. doi: 10.1042/BJ20101908
- Valsecchi, F., Ramos-Espiritu, L. S., Buck, J., Levin, L. R., and Manfredi, G. (2013). cAMP and mitochondria. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 28, 199–209. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00004.2013
- Zhao, X., León, I. R., Bak, S., Mogensen, M., Wrzesinski, K., Højlund, K., et al. (2011). Phosphoproteome analysis of functional mitochondria isolated from resting human muscle reveals extensive phosphorylation of inner membrane protein complexes and enzymes. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 10:M110.000299. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M110.000299
- Zippin, J. H., Chen, Y., Nahirney, P., Kamenetsky, M., Wuttke, M. S., Fischman, D. A., et al. (2003). Compartmentalization of bicarbonate-sensitive adenylyl cyclase in distinct signaling microdomains. *FASEB J.* 17, 82–84. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0598fje

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Lark, Reese, Ryan, Torres, Smith, Lin and Neufer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Bioenergetics and Morphology in High Fat Diet Induced Obesity and Insulin Resistance: Focus on Dietary Fat Source

Rosalba Putti, Vincenzo Migliaccio, Raffaella Sica and Lillà Lionetti*

Department of Biology, University of Naples "Federico II," Naples, Italy

It has been suggested that skeletal muscle mitochondria play a key role in high fat (HF) diet induced insulin resistance (IR). Two opposite views are debated on mechanisms by which mitochondrial function could be involved in skeletal muscle IR. In one theory, mitochondrial dysfunction is suggested to cause intramyocellular lipid accumulation leading to IR. In the second theory, excess fuel within mitochondria in the absence of increased energy demand stimulates mitochondrial oxidant production and emission, ultimately leading to the development of IR. Noteworthy, mitochondrial bioenergetics is strictly associated with the maintenance of normal mitochondrial morphology by maintaining the balance between the fusion and fission processes. A shift toward mitochondrial fission with reduction of fusion protein, mainly mitofusin 2, has been associated with reduced insulin sensitivity and inflammation in obesity and IR development. However, dietary fat source during chronic overfeeding differently affects mitochondrial morphology. Saturated fatty acids induce skeletal muscle IR and inflammation associated with fission phenotype, whereas ω -3 polyunsaturated fatty acids improve skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity and inflammation, associated with a shift toward mitochondrial fusion phenotype. The present minireview focuses on mitochondrial bioenergetics and morphology in skeletal muscle IR, with particular attention to the effect of different dietary fat sources on skeletal muscle mitochondria morphology and fusion/fission balance.

Keywords: mitochondrial fusion, mitochondrial fission, lard, fish oil, omega-3 fatty acids

INTRODUCTION

Skeletal muscle seems to play a central role in whole body insulin resistance (IR) and metabolic syndrome associated with high fat (HF) feeding, obesity and aging (see Corpeleijn et al., 2009; DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009; Lark et al., 2012).

Some evidence suggested that cytosolic ectopic accumulation of fatty acids (FA) metabolites, such as diacylglycerols (DAG) and/or Ceramides, (Yu et al., 2002; Adams et al., 2004), underlies IR development in skeletal muscle (lipotoxicity theory) (reviewed in Lark et al., 2012). Numerous evidence has also suggested a link between elevated systemic and tissue inflammation with IR

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Giovanni Solinas, University of Gothenburg, Sweden Brennan Smith, McMaster University, Canada

> *Correspondence: Lillà Lionetti lilla.lionetti@unina.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 July 2015 Accepted: 27 December 2015 Published: 20 January 2016

Citation:

Putti R, Migliaccio V, Sica R and Lionetti L (2016) Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Bioenergetics and Morphology in High Fat Diet Induced Obesity and Insulin Resistance: Focus on Dietary Fat Source. Front. Physiol. 6:426. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00426 (inflammatory theory) (see Shenk et al., 2008; Lark et al., 2012). The effectors of IR in HF diet-induced inflammation are suggested to involve hyperactivation of stress-sensitive Ser/Thr kinases, such as JNK and IKK β , which in turn inhibits insulin receptor/IRS1 axis. Several mechanisms were proposed to explain the link between inflammation and IR: endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Ozcan et al., 2004; Lionetti et al., 2009; Mollica et al., 2011), oxidative stress (Lark et al., 2012), signaling through inflammation-associated receptors, such as TLR4 signaling (Uysal et al., 1997; Shi et al., 2006), and partitioning/activation of c-SRC (a key mediator of JNK activation) by saturated FA (Holzer et al., 2011; Figure 1A).

In recent years, different reviews focused on mechanism(s) by which mitochondrial bioenergetics (Fisher-Wellman and Neufer, 2012; Lark et al., 2012; Muoio and Neufer, 2012; Holloszy, 2013) and morphology (Liesa and Shirihai, 2013; Montgomery and Turner, 2015) may be linked to the etiology of IR in skeletal muscle. In the present review, the challenging debate on the involvement of mitochondrial dysfunction in IR will be briefly reviewed. Then, the main aim of the review will be to underline the importance of including mitochondrial morphology/dynamics and dietary fat source in the debate on skeletal muscle mitochondria involvement in IR etiology and to highlight the need of further research studies to clarify the involved mechanism(s).

SKELETAL MUSCLE MITOCHONDRIAL BIOENERGETICS AND IR

Two leading theories on mechanisms underlying skeletal muscle IR onset focus on mitochondria, although with opposite views (**Figure 1B**). In one theory, mitochondrial dysfunction is suggested to cause intramyocellular lipid accumulation leading to IR (Kelley et al., 1999; Lowell and Shulman, 2005; reviewed in Civitarese and Ravussin, 2008; Montgomery and Turner, 2015). In this case, the strategies to accelerate flux through β -oxidation should improve insulin sensitivity. In the second theory, excess fuel within mitochondria in the absence of increased energy demand stimulates mitochondrial oxidant production and emission, ultimately leading to the development of IR (Fisher-Wellman and Neufer, 2012; **Figure 1B**). In this case, elevated flux through β -oxidation without added energy demand is viewed as an underlying cause of IR disease (Muoio and Neufer, 2012).

Several studies have revealed a reduction in skeletal mitochondrial mass in obesity and type 2 diabetes (Kelley et al., 2002; Morino et al., 2005; Ritov et al., 2005), decreased ATP synthesis in insulin resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes (Petersen et al., 2004, 2005) and decreased maximal respiration rates in skeletal muscle isolated mitochondria from type 2 diabetics (Mogensen et al., 2007). Moreover, with the limitation that gene expression is not a direct assessment of function itself, HF diet has been shown to coordinately down-regulate genes required for mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in human and rodents skeletal muscle (Sparks et al., 2005). Interestingly, in skeletal muscle from obese or

diabetic patients, decreased activity of electron transport chain and reduced number of mitochondria have been mainly reported in skeletal muscle mitochondria located beneath the sarcolemmal membrane (SS mitochondria) (Ritov et al., 2005). SS mitochondria also displayed lower respiratory capacities in presence of succinate as substrates in adult rats exhibiting HF diet-induced IR (Lionetti et al., 2007). The two mitochondrial subpopulations (SS and intermyiofibrillar, IMF) are differentiated not only by the different localization but also by the different functions (Cogswell et al., 1993; Mollica et al., 2006): SS mitochondria could be more affected by the impairing effect of saturated FA due to their localization beneath the sarcolemmal membrane.

However, although correlative studies seem to implicate mitochondrial dysfunction and impaired β-oxidation as predisposing risk factors for IR, still uncertain is whether diminished fat oxidation reflects a cause or a late stage consequence of the disease process (reviewed in Muoio, 2010). In fact, obese/diabetic humans never use their mitochondrial capacity for lipid oxidation; therefore, a marginal decline in oxidative potential has little relevance in causing lipotoxicity and IR in sedentary individuals. Moreover, it has been suggested that early stages of obesity and IR are accompanied by increased, rather than reduced β -oxidation (Muoio, 2010). These findings question the concept that mitochondrial dysfunction is a primary cause of IR (Hoeks et al., 2010, 2011), as also underscored by the study of Bonnard et al. (2008), showing mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscle after 16 weeks, but not after 4 weeks HF feeding, while muscle IR was observed after both 4 and 16 weeks of HF feeding. In addition, mitochondrial deficiency, severe enough to impair fat oxidation in resting muscle, cause an increase, not a decrease, in insulin action (reviewed in Holloszy, 2013). Altogether, these studies suggest that deficiency of mitochondria in muscle does not cause IR (reviewed in Holloszy, 2013).

An alternative mechanism to explain the connection between mitochondria and IR focused on reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (reviewed in Muoio and Neufer, 2012; Holloszy, 2013). Lefort et al. (2010) showed normal oxidative capacity, decreased mitochondrial mass and high rates of ROS production in mitochondria isolated from skeletal muscle of obese insulin resistant individuals. Moreover, FA overload within the mitochondria results in the accumulation of partially oxidized acyl-carnitines, increased mitochondrial hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) emission and a shift to a more oxidized intracellular redox environment (Anderson et al., 2009; reviewed in Lark et al., 2012). H2O2 emission may induce IR by directly targeting protein involved in the glucose uptake process. On the other hand, given the sensitivity of cellular phosphatase to redox state, it has been suggested that elevated mitochondrial H₂O₂ production may decrease phosphatase tone in cells, increasing the inhibition state of insulin signaling proteins by stress-sensitive kinases (reviewed in Lark et al., 2012).

Although the primary role of skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of IR and type 2 diabetes is under debate (Hoeks et al., 2010, 2011; Holloszy,



metabolites (pAcds, obrainides) that act as signaling molecules and may interfere with normal central signaling. DActs are associated with memorate that sociation and activation of Protein kinase C theta (PKC-θ), increased IRS1 serine/threonine phosphorylation and decreased insulin-stimulated IRS1 tyrosine phosphorylation, whereas Ceramides impair insulin action by inhibiting protein kinase PKB/AKT (dark blue). In the oxidative pathway, AcylCoAs are imported into the mitochondria by carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT-1) shuttle and degraded via β-oxidation (in purple). (2) Insulin signaling pathway impaired by excess FFA (in green). Among FFAs, saturated FAs (SFAs) stimulate the activation of several inflammatory pathways. (3) Receptor-mediated mechanisms, as those of Toll like receptors 2/4 (TLR 2/4), activate serine kinases inhibitor kappaB kinase (IKK) and c-JUN NH₂-terminal kinase (JNK). The activation of PKCθ also contributes to IKK and JNK activation. Altogether, these kinases catalyze IRS1 serine phosphorylation and lead to a reduction of insulin-induced IRS1 tyrosine phosphorylation, impairing insulin action. Moreover, IKK/NFkB axis (4) triggers expression of inflammatory genes with cytokines production (e.g., Tumor necrosis factor, TNF α), which in turn activate intracellular pathways promoting insulin resistance development (in light blue). (5) SFAs enter the cellular membranes and incorporate into them reducing membrane fluidity and *(Continued)*

FIGURE 1 | Continued

creating or expanding subdomains rich in cholesterol and sphingolipids (lipid raft). They induce clustering and activation of cytosolic cSRC. cSRC activity is required for JNK1 activation and inhibition of insulin signaling (in grey). (6) Endoplasmic reticulum stress (ER stress), induced by lipotoxicity, contributes to activate inflammatory pathways and impair insulin signaling. (**B**): Putative role of mitochondria in development of IR. Mitochondrial dysfunction in presence of excess FFAs leads to intramyocellular lipid accumulation due to impaired β -oxidation. Decreased mitochondrial mass, respiratory capacities and ATP synthesis have been found in obesity and diabetes. Alternatively, excess FFA within mitochondria in the absence of increased energy demand stimulates oxidative stress with high rates of ROS production and H₂O₂ emission and a shift to a more oxidized intracellular redox environment, ultimately leading to the development of IR.

2013), it is generally accepted that in this disease a mitochondrial defect occurs, possibly secondary to a fat intake increase.

MITOCHONDRIAL MORPHOLOGY AND SKELETAL MUSCLE IR

It is well known that mitochondrial morphology is highly variable, ranging between long tubular mitochondria and short circular ones and it is maintained through a dynamic balance between fusion and fission processes (Westermann, 2010, 2012), which allow mitochondria to redistribute in a cell, exchange contents and repair damaged mitochondria. These two opposing processes are finely regulated by mitochondrial fusion proteins mitofusins 1 and 2 (Mfn1 and Mfn2), and optic atrophy gene 1 (OPA1) (Cipolat et al., 2004; Palmer et al., 2011) and by mitochondrial fission protein dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1) and fission protein 1 (Fis1) (Nunnari et al., 2002; Liesa et al., 2009).

Several pieces of evidence suggested that mitochondrial dynamic behavior play a key role in mitochondrial health, bioenergetics function, quality control, and cell viability. Notably, disruption of mitochondrial dynamics has been found in IR and type 2 diabetes (Bach et al., 2003, 2005; Yu et al., 2006; Liesa and Shirihai, 2013).

The group of Zorzano showed that decreased expression of Mfn2 and altered expression of OPA1 participated in obesity and type 2 diabetes development in both patients and rodent models (Bach et al., 2003; Zorzano et al., 2009a,b, 2010; Hernández-Alvarez et al., 2010; Quirós et al., 2012). In obese Zucker rats, skeletal muscle mitochondrial network was reduced by 25% associated with a repression of Mfn2 (Bach et al., 2003). In addition, skeletal muscle of obese subjects and type 2 diabetic patients also showed a reduced expression of Mfn2 mRNA and Mfn2 protein compared to lean subjects (Bach et al., 2003, 2005). Mfn2 repression was detected in the skeletal muscles of both obese and non-obese type 2 diabetic patients (Bach et al., 2005). Notably, the expression of one of the mitochondrial proteases involved in OPA1 processing, presenilin-associated rhomboid-like (PARL), was also reduced in diabetic animals. In humans, a positive linear correlation between PARL mRNA levels and insulin sensitivity has been reported (Walder et al., 2005). These data suggest multiple alterations in mitochondrial fusion in IR. However, reduction of Mfn2 expression together with decreased mitochondrial size in skeletal muscle in obesity and type 2 diabetes states allow proposing a relevant role for Mfn2 in IR (Civitarese and Ravussin, 2008;

Zorzano et al., 2009a,b). In agreement with this suggestion, a positive correlation between Mfn2 expression in skeletal muscle and insulin sensitivity has been reported (Bach et al., 2005). It is of interest that the involvement of Mfns in diet-induced obesity via the regulation of leptin resistance and systemic energy metabolism was also revealed (Dietrich et al., 2013; Schneeberger et al., 2013; reviewed in Putti et al., 2015). Moreover, it has been suggested that there is an association between increased mitochondrial fission, mitochondrial bioenergetics and fat induced-IR in skeletal muscle (Jheng et al., 2012). Indeed, in differentiated C2C12 muscle cells mitochondrial fragmentation and increased mitochondrion associated-DRP1 and Fis1 was induced by excess palmitate and this fission phenotype was associated with increased oxidative stress, loss of ATP production and reduced insulin-stimulated glucose uptake. These authors also found smaller and shorter mitochondria and increased mitochondrial fission machinery in the skeletal muscle of mice with genetic or diet-induced obesity. Furthermore, inhibition of mitochondrial fission improved muscle insulin signaling and systemic insulin sensitivity in obese mice (Jheng et al., 2012).

A shift toward fission was also found in skeletal muscle of HF diet (HFD)-induced obese mice by Liu et al. (2014). Notably, these authors also faced the question of whether mitochondrial dynamics exists in skeletal muscle in vivo. It should be considered that mitochondria in skeletal muscle are rigidly located between bundles of myofilaments in a highly regular "crystal like" pattern (Vendelin et al., 2005) and therefore, their motility and dynamics may be very restricted. Liu et al. (2014) confirmed that mitochondria are dynamic organelles in skeletal muscle in vivo, by demonstrating that they exchange contents within the whole mitochondrial population through nanotunneling-mediated mitochondrial fusion. In this way, mitochondria can bypass the restriction of myofilament and exchange mitochondrial matrix contents even if they are distant. This dynamic communication among mitochondria in skeletal muscle may protect from injury by preventing the accumulation of detrimental metabolites. Liu et al. (2014) also showed that this dynamic behavior was inhibited in skeletal muscle of HFD-induced obese mice associated with decreased Mfn2 and increased Fis1 and DRP1 expression compared to normal diet fed mice. This impaired mitochondrial fusion in skeletal muscle of HFD-induced obese mice was accompanied with damaged mitochondrial respiratory function and decreased ATP content. Therefore, the authors suggest that mitochondrial dynamics play an important role in regulating mitochondrial function, including respiration rate and ATP production (Liu et al., 2014).

DIETARY FAT SOURCE DIFFERENTLY AFFECT SKELETAL MUSCLE IR AND MITOCHONDRIAL MORPHOLOGY

It has been suggested that diverse dietary fat sources have different effects on obesity and associated diseases development. Saturated FA are well known to induce both obesity and related disease, whereas omega 3 polyunsaturated FA (ω -3 PUFA) from fish oil have been shown in many studies to protect against these metabolic diseases (Xin et al., 2008; Gonzalez-Periz et al., 2009; Abete et al., 2011). The effect of ω -3 PUFA on metabolic disease has been extensively studied during the past three decades since the first studies such as the one by Storlien et al. (1987) showing that fish oil prevents IR induced by high-fat feeding in rats. Further studies confirmed that ω -3 PUFA had an anti-obesity effect and enhanced insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis in rodent models of IR: the replacement of a small proportion of the diet with ω -3 PUFAs from fish oil completely prevents the development of skeletal muscle IR (Storlien et al., 1991; Fryer et al., 1995). Recent studies hypothesized that ω -3 PUFAs protect glucose tolerance, in part by preventing the accumulation of bioactive lipid mediators that interfere with the insulin signaling pathway (Lanza et al., 2013). Lanza et al. (2013) evaluated the influence of dietary ω-3 PUFAs on mitochondrial physiology and muscle lipid metabolites in the context of 10 weeks highfat feeding in mice. They found a lower content of long-chain Acyl-CoAs and Ceramides in the presence of fish oil, whereas mitochondrial oxidative capacity was similarly increased with or without fish oil. Several studies have also indicated that ω -3 PUFAs possess anti-inflammatory properties that prevent and reverse the development of IR in mice which are fed a highfat diet in an adiponectin-dependent manner (Kalupahana et al., 2010, 2011). On the other hand, unsaturated FA prevent c-Src membrane partitioning and activation and block JNK activation with consequent beneficial effects on insulin sensitivity (Holzer et al., 2011). Considering the anti-inflammatory properties of ω -3 PUFAs, in a recent study, we compared the effects of chronic high-fish oil and high-lard diets on obesity-related inflammation by evaluating serum and tissue adipokine levels and histological features in insulin-sensitive tissues (white adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle) (Lionetti et al., 2014b). We showed that the replacement of lard (saturated FA) with fish oil (ω -3 PUFAs) in chronic high-fat feeding attenuated the development of systemic and tissue inflammation. Indeed, compared with a high-lard diet, a high-fish oil diet resulted in a lower degree of systemic inflammation and IR that were associated with a lower ectopic lipid depot, inflammation degree and IR in the skeletal muscle (Lionetti et al., 2014b). In a further study on the same experimental design, we confirmed that the replacement of lard with fish oil in HF diet had preventive effects on obesity and systemic inflammation and IR development as well as we showed a fusion mitochondrial phenotype in association with the improvement of IR in skeletal muscle (Lionetti et al., 2013). As for preventive effects on obesity, body weight gain after 6 weeks of HF diet was lower in fish oil fed rats compared to lard fed rats. As for skeletal muscle IR, we showed that

high-lard diet induced a defect in the skeletal muscle insulin signaling pathway with a lower immune-reactivity to IRS1 and pIRS (Tyr632), in agreement with other authors (Yaspelkis et al., 2009; Yuzefovych et al., 2013). On the other hand, a high fish oil diet elicited IRS1 and pIRS (Tyr632) immune-reactivity similar to a control diet, in agreement with ameliorated systemic insulin sensitivity (Lionetti et al., 2013). We cannot exclude the possibility that the fish oil protective effect was due to indirect effects of differences on adiposity. We also showed that the beneficial effects of fish oil feeding on skeletal muscle IR development was associated with changes in protein involved in mitochondrial dynamic behavior, with a greater number of immunoreactive fibers for Mfn2 and OPA1 proteins, as well as a weaker immunostaining for DRP1 and Fis1 compared to high lard feeding. Skeletal muscle electron microscopy observations also suggested a prominent presence of fission events in highlard diet fed rats, and fusion events in high-fish oil diet fed rats (Lionetti et al., 2013).

The finding on the effects of different dietary FA on skeletal muscle mitochondrial fusion/fission proteins may be associated with effects on inflammatory processes involved in IR development. Indeed, Bach et al. (2005) suggested that TNF- α inhibits Mfn2 gene expression in cells in culture, suggesting that inflammatory parameters may play a regulatory role on Mfn2. In agreement, we showed that pro-inflammatory dietary saturated FA reduced Mfn2 expression and induced fission phenotype in skeletal muscle (Lionetti et al., 2013). On the other hand, the anti-inflammatory effect of dietary ω-3 PUFAs was associated with no reduction in skeletal muscle Mfn2 content and a tendency to mitochondrial fusion. This shift toward fusion may be an adaptive mechanism to counteract cellular stress induced by chronic HF diet, by allowing functional mitochondria to complement dysfunctional mitochondria. In accordance, myocytes cultured with docosahexaenoic acid exhibited a higher mitochondrial mass with a higher proportion of large and elongated mitochondria with downregulation of fission genes DRP1 and Fis1 (Casanova et al., 2014).

The pro-fusion effect of ω -3 PUFAs dietary fat on skeletal muscle mitochondria is in agreement with the results found in liver mitochondria, where a shift toward mitochondrial fusion phenotype was also suggested (Zhang et al., 2011; Lionetti et al., 2014a).

The mechanism underlying fish oil/ ω -3 PUFAs mitochondrial fusion stimulation may involve receptor-mediated signaling and/or lipid membrane composition, among other factors. Indeed, ω -3 PUFAs are incorporated into cellular membranes and may affect lipid-protein interactions as well as membrane fluidity, and therefore the function of embedded proteins. Recently, it has been suggested a role for ω -3 PUFAs in reorganizing the composition of the mitochondrial membrane, while promoting improvements in ADP sensitivity, determined as mitochondrial responses during ADP titration (Herbst et al., 2014). Moreover, it is well known that saturated FA incorporation reduces membrane fluidity, whereas PUFA do not have such effect (Clamp et al., 1997; Stulnig et al., 2001; Holzer et al., 2011). Further studies are needed to elucidate these mechanisms.

an

mitochondrial morphology and IR development in skeletal

muscle. Few works on different dietary fat source started to

underline the different effect of saturated and ω -3 PUFAs

on skeletal muscle IR and mitochondrial protein involved in

dynamics behavior, suggesting an association between beneficial

Abete, I., Goyenechea, E., Zulet, M. A., and Martínez, J. A. (2011). Obesity and

metabolic syndrome: potential benefit from specific nutritional components.

Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 21, B1-B15. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2011.05.001

M. C., et al. (2004). Ceramide content is increased in skeletal muscle from obese insulin-resistant humans. *Diabetes* 53, 25–31. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.1.25

et al. (2009). Mitochondrial H2O2 emission and cellular redox state link excess

fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans. J. Clin. Invest. 119,

Adams, J. M. II, Pratipanawatr, T., Berria, R., Wang, E., DeFronzo, R. A., Sullards,

Anderson, E. J., Lustig, M. E., Boyle, K. E., Woodlief, T. L., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T.,

association

dynamin-related protein 1; Fis1, fission protein 1.

evidence highlighted

CONCLUSIONS

REFERENCES

Recent

protective effect of ω -3 PUFAs toward IR development and mitochondrial fusion phenotype (**Figure 2**). However, it is important to underline that most of the data present in literature on skeletal muscle mitochondrial morphology and IR are from associational studies. Therefore, there is an urgent requirement for *in vivo* mechanistic studies to confirm the associational relationship between mitochondrial morphology/dynamics and IR development.

regulatory role of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6. *Diabetes* 54, 2685–2693. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.9.2685

- Bach, D., Pich, S., Soriano, F. X., Vega, N., Baumgartner, B., Oriola, J., et al. (2003). Mitofusin-2 determines mitochondrial network architecture and mitochondrial metabolism. A novel regulatory mechanism altered in obesity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 17190–17197. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M2127 54200
- Bonnard, C., Durand, A., Peyrol, S., Chanseaume, E., Chauvin, M. A., Morio, B., et al. (2008). Mitochondrial dysfunction results from oxidative stress in the skeletal muscle of diet-induced insulin-resistant mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118, 789–800. doi: 10.1172/jci32601
- Casanova, E., Baselga-Escudero, L., Ribas-Latre, A., Arola-Arnal, A., Bladé, C., Arola, L., et al. (2014). Epigallocatechin gallate counteracts oxidative stress in docosahexaenoxic acid-treated myocytes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1837, 783–791. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2014.01.014



acids (PUFAs) induce Mfn2 expression and fusion processes associated with less lipid accumulation and improved IR. IR, insulin resistance; Mfn2, mitofusin 2; DRP1,

between

- Cipolat, S., Martins de Brito, O., Dal Zilio, B., and Scorrano, L. (2004). OPA1 requires mitofusin 1 to promote mitochondrial fusion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 101, 15927–15932. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407043101
- Civitarese, A. E., and Ravussin, E. (2008). Mitochondrial energetics and insulin resistance. *Endocrinology* 149, 950–954. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-1444
- Clamp, A. G., Ladha, S., Clark, D. C., Grimble, R. F., and Lund, E. K. (1997). The influence of dietary lipids on the composition and membrane fluidity of rat hepatocyte plasma membrane. *Lipids* 32, 179–184. doi: 10.1007/s11745-997-0022-3
- Cogswell, A. M., Stevens, R. J., and Hood, D. A. (1993). Properties of skeletal muscle mitochondria isolated from subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar regions. Am. J. Physiol. 264, C383–C389.
- Corpeleijn, E., Saris, W. H., and Blaak, E. E. (2009). Metabolic flexibility in the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes: effects of lifestyle. *Obes. Rev.* 10, 178–193. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2008.00544.x
- DeFronzo, R. A., and Tripathy, D. (2009). Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is the primary defect in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 32, S157–S163. doi: 10.2337/dc09-S302
- Dietrich, M. O., Liu, Z. W., and Horvath, T. L. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics controlled by mitofusins regulate Agrp neuronal activity and diet-induced obesity. *Cell* 155, 188–199. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.004
- Fisher-Wellman, K. H., and Neufer, P. D. (2012). Linking mitochondrial bioenergetics to insulin resistance via redox biology. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 23, 142–153. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2011.12.008
- Fryer, L. G. D., Orfali, K. A., Holness, M. J., Saggerson, E. D., and Sugden, M. C. (1995). The long-term regulation of skeletal muscle pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase by dietary lipid is dependent on fatty acid composition. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 229, 741–748. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1995.tb20522.x
- Gonzalez-Periz, A., Horrillo, R., Ferre, N., Gronert, K., Dong, B., Morán-Salvador, E., et al. (2009). Obesity-induced insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis are alleviated by omega-3 fatty acids: a role for resolvins and protectins. *FASEB J.* 23, 1946–1957. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-125674
- Herbst, E. A. F., Paglialunga, S., Gerling, C., Whitfield, J., Mukai, K., Chabowski, A., et al. (2014). Omega-3 supplementation alters mitochondrial membrane composition and respiration kinetics in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 592, 1341–1352. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.267336
- Hernández-Alvarez, M. I., Thabit, H., Burns, N., Shah, S., Brema, I., Hatunic, M., et al. (2010). Subjects with early-onset type 2 diabetes show defective activation of the skeletal muscle PGC-1{alpha}/Mitofusin-2 regulatory pathway in response to physical activity. *Diabetes Care* 33, 645–651. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1305
- Hoeks, J., van Herpen, N. A., Mensink, M., Moonen-Kornips, E., van Beurden, D., Hesselink, M. K., et al. (2010). Prolonged fasting identifies skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction as consequence rather than cause of human insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 59, 2117–2125. doi: 10.2337/db10-0519
- Hoeks, J., Wilde, J. D., Hulshof, M. F., Berg, S. A., Schaart, G., Dijk, K. W., et al. (2011). High fat diet-induced changes in mouse muscle mitochondrial phospholipids do not impair mitochondrial respiration despite insulin resistance. *PLoS ONE* 6:e27274. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027274
- Holloszy, J. O. (2013). "Deficiency" of mitochondria in muscle does not cause insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 62, 1036–1040. doi: 10.2337/db12-1107
- Holzer, R. G., Park, E. J., Li, N., Tran, H., Chen, M., Choi, C., et al. (2011). Saturated fatty acids induce c-Src clustering within membrane subdomains, leading to JNK activation. *Cell* 147, 173–184. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.034
- Jheng, H. F., Tsai, P. J., Guo, S. M., Kuo, L. H., Chang, C. S., Su, I. J., et al. (2012). Mitochondrial fission contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 309–319. doi: 10.1128/MCB.05603-11
- Kalupahana, N. S., Claycombe, K. J., and Moustaid-Moussa, N. (2011). (n-3) Fatty acids alleviate adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance: mechanistic insights. Adv. Nutr. 2, 304–316. doi: 10.3945/an.111.000505
- Kalupahana, N. S., Claycombe, K., Newman, S., Stewart, T., Siriwardhana, N., Matthan, N., et al. (2010). Eicosapentaenoic acid prevents and reverses insulin resistance in high-fat diet-induced obese mice via modulation of adipose tissue inflammation. J. Nutr. 140, 1915–1922. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.125732
- Kelley, D. E., Goodpaster, B., Wing, R. R., and Simoneau, J. A. (1999). Skeletal muscle fatty acid metabolism in association with insulin resistance, obesity and weight loss. Am. J. Physiol. 277, E1130–E1141.

- Kelley, D. E., He, J., Menshikova, E. V., and Ritov, V. B. (2002). Dysfunction of mitochondria in human skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 51, 2944–2950. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.10.2944
- Lanza, I. R., Blachnio-Zabielska, A., Johson, M. L., Schimke, J. M., Jakaitis, D. R., Lebrasseur, N. K., et al. (2013). Influence of fish oil on skeletal muscle mitochondrial energetics and lipid metabolites during highfat diet. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 304, E1391–E1403. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00584.2012
- Lark, D. S., Fisher-Wellman, K. H., and Neufer, P. D. (2012). High-fat load: mechanism(s) of insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. *Int. J. Obes.* 2, S31–S36. doi: 10.1038/ijosup.2012.20
- Lefort, N., Glancy, B., Bowen, B., Willis, W. T., Bailowitz, Z., De Filippis, E. A., et al. (2010). Increased reactive oxygen species production and lower abundance of complex I subunits and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1B protein despite normal mitochondrial respiration in insulin-resistant human skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 59, 2444–2452. doi: 10.2337/db10-0174
- Liesa, M., Palacín, M., and Zorzano, A. (2009). Mitochondrial dynamics in mammalian health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 89, 799–845. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00030.2008
- Liesa, M., and Shirihai, O. S. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure. *Cell Metab.* 17, 491–506. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.002
- Lionetti, L., Mollica, M. P., Crescenzo, R., D'Andrea, E., Ferraro, M., Bianco, F., et al. (2007). Skeletal muscle subsarcolemmal mitochondrial dysfunction in high-fat fed rats exhibiting impaired glucose homeostasis. *Int. J. Obes.* 31, 1596–1604. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803636
- Lionetti, L., Mollica, M. P., Donizzetti, I., Gifuni, G., Sica, R., Pignalosa, A., et al. (2014a). High-lard and high-fish-oil diets differ in their effects on function and dynamic behavior of rat hepatic mitochondria. *PLoS ONE* 9:e92753. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092753
- Lionetti, L., Mollica, M. P., Lombardi, A., Cavaliere, G., Gifuni, G., and Barletta, A. (2009). From chronic overnutrition to insulin resistance: the role of fatstoring capacity and inflammation. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 19, 146–152. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2008.10.010
- Lionetti, L., Mollica, M. P., Sica, R., Donizzetti, I., Gifuni, G., and Pignalosa, A. (2014b). Differential effects of high-fish oil and high-lard diets on cells and cytokines involved in the inflammatory process in rat insulin-sensitive tissues. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 15, 3040–3063. doi: 10.3390/ijms15023040
- Lionetti, L., Sica, R., Mollica, M. P., and Putti, R. (2013). High-lard and high-fish oil diets differ in their effects on insulin resistance development, mitochondrial morphology and dynamic behavior in rat skeletal muscle. *Food Nutr. Sci.* 4, 105–112. doi: 10.4236/fns.2013.49A1017
- Liu, R., Jin, P., Yu, L., Wang, Y., Han, L., Shi, T., et al. (2014). Impaired mitochondrial dynamics and bioenergetics in diabetic skeletal muscle. *PLoS ONE* 9:e92810. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092810
- Lowell, B. B., and Shulman, G. I. (2005). Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. *Science* 307, 384–387. doi: 10.1126/science.1104343
- Mogensen, M., Sahlin, K., Fernström, M., Glintborg, D., Vind, B. F., Beck-Nielsen, H., et al. (2007). Mitochondrial respiration is decreased in skeletal muscle of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 56, 1592–1599. doi: 10.2337/db06-0981
- Mollica, M. P., Lionetti, L., Crescenzo, R., D'Andrea, E., Ferraro, M., Liverini, G., et al. (2006). Heterogeneous bioenergetic behavior of subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar mitochondria in fed and fasted rats. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 63, 358–366. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-5443-2
- Mollica, M. P., Lionetti, L., Putti, R., Cavaliere, G., Gaita, M., and Barletta, A. (2011). From chronic overfeeding to hepatic injury: role of endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 21, 222–230. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2010.10.012
- Montgomery, M. K., and Turner, N. (2015). Mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance: an update. *Endocr. Connect.* 4, R1–R15. doi: 10.1530/EC-14-0092
- Morino, K., Petersen, K. F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Frattini, J., Shatzkes, N., et al. (2005). Reduced mitochondrial density and increased IRS-1 serine phosphorylation in muscle of insulin-resistant offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 3587–3593. doi: 10.1172/JCI25151
- Muoio, D. M. (2010). Intramuscolar triacylglycerol and insulin resistance: guilty as charged or wrongly accused? *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1801, 281–288. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.11.007

- Muoio, D. M., and Neufer, P. D. (2012). Lipid-induced mitochondrial stress and insulin resistance. *Cell Met.* 15, 595–605. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.04.010
- Nunnari, J., Wong, E. D., Meeusen, S., and Wagner, J. A. (2002). Studying the behavior of mitochondria. *Methods Enzymol.* 351, 381–393. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(02)51859-0
- Ozcan, U., Cao, Q., Yilmaz, E., Lee, A. H., Iwakoshi, N. N., Ozdelen, E., et al. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. *Science* 306, 457–456. doi: 10.1126/science.1103160
- Palmer, C. S., Osellame, L. D., Stojanovski, D., and Ryan, M. T. (2011). The regulation of mitochondrial morphology: intricate mechanisms and dynamic machinery. *Cell Sign*. 23, 1534–1545. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2011.05.021
- Petersen, K. F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Garcia, R., and Shulman, G. I. (2004). Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 350, 664–671. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa031314
- Petersen, K. F., Dufour, S., and Shulman, G. I. (2005). Decreased insulinstimulated ATP synthesis and phosphate transport in muscle of insulinresistant offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. *PLoS Med.* 2:e233. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020233
- Putti, R., Sica, R., Migliaccio, V., and Lionetti, L. (2015). Diet impact on mitochondrial bioenergetics and dynamics. *Front Physiol.* 6:109. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00109
- Quirós, P. M., Ramsay, A. J., Sala, D., Fernández-Vizarra, E., Rodríguez, F., Peinado, J. R., et al. (2012). Loss of mitochondrial protease OMA1 alters processing of the GTPase OPA1 and causes obesity and defective thermogenesis in mice. *EMBO J.* 31, 2117–2133. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.70
- Ritov, V. B., Menshikova, E. V., He, J., Ferrell, R. E., Goodpaster, B. H., and Kelley, D. E. (2005). Deficiency of subsarcolemmal mitochondria in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 54, 8–14. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.1.8
- Schneeberger, M., Dietrich, M. O., Sebástian, D., Imbernón, M., Castaño, C., Garcia, A., et al. (2013). Mitofusin 2 in POMC neurons connects ER stress with leptin resistance and energy imbalance. *Cell* 155, 172–187. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.003
- Shenk, S., Saberi, M., and Olefsky, J. M. (2008). Insulin sensitiivyt: modulation by nutrients and inflammation. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 2992–3002. doi: 10.1172/JCI34260
- Shi, H., Kokoeva, M. V., Inouye, K., Tzameli, I., Yin, H., and Flier, J. S. (2006). TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 3015–3025. doi: 10.1172/JCI28898
- Sparks, L. M., Xie, H., Koza, R. A., Mynatt, R., Hulver, M. W., Bray, G. A., et al. (2005). A high-fat diet coordinately downregulates genes required for mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 54, 1926–1933. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.7.1926
- Storlien, L. H., Jenkins, A. B., Chisholm, D. J., Pascoe, W. S., Khouri, S., and Kraegen, E. W. (1991). Influence of dietary fat composition on development of insulin resistance in rats: relationship to muscle triglyceride and ω -3 fatty acids in muscle phospholipid. *Diabetes* 40, 280–289. doi: 10.2337/diab.40. 2.280
- Storlien, L. H., Kraegen, E. W., Chisholm, D. J., Ford, G. L., Bruce, D. G., and Pascoe, W. S. (1987).Fish oil prevents insulin resistance induced by high-fat feeding in rats. *Science* 237, 885–888. doi: 10.1126/science.33 03333
- Stulnig, T. M., Huber, J., Leitinger, N., Imre, E. M., Angelisova, P., Nowotny, P., et al. (2001). Polyunsaturated eicosapentaenoic acid displaces proteins from membrane rafts by altering raft lipid composition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 37335–37340. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M106193200
- Uysal, K. T., Wiesbrock, S. M., Marino, M. W., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (1997). Protection from obesity-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking TNF-alpha function. *Nature* 389, 610–614. doi: 10.1038/39335

- Vendelin, M., Beraud, N., Guerrero, K., Andrienko, T., Kuznetsov, A. V., Olivares, J., et al. (2005). Mitochondrial regular arrangement in muscle cells: a "crystal-like" pattern. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 288, C757–C767. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00281.2004
- Walder, K., Kerr-Bayles, L., Civitarese, A., Jowett, J., Curran, J., Elliott, K., et al. (2005). The mitochondrial rhomboid protease PSARL is a new candidate gene for type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 48, 459–468. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-1675-9
- Westermann, B. (2010). Mitochondrial fusion and fission in cell life and death. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 872–884. doi: 10.1038/nrm3013
- Westermann, B. (2012). Bioenergetic role of mitochondrial fusion and fission. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1817, 1833–1838. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.02.033
- Xin, Y. N., Xuan, S. Y., Zhang, J. H., Zheng, M. H., and Guan, H. S. (2008). Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: a specific liver drug for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Med. Hypotheses*. 71, 820–821. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2008.07.008
- Yaspelkis, B. B. III, Kvasha, I. A., and Figuero, T. Y. (2009). High-fat feeding increases insulin receptor and IRS-1 coimmunoprecipitation with SOCS-3, Ikkα/B phos- phorylation and decreases PI-3 kinase activity in muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 296, R1709–R1715. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00117.2009
- Yu, C., Chen, Y., Cline, G. W., Zhang, D., Zong, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2002). Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 50230–50236. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M200958200
- Yu, T., Robotham, J. L., and Yoon, Y. (2006). Increased production of reactive oxygen species in hyperglycemic conditions requires dynamic change of mitochondrial morphology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 2653–2658. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0511154103
- Yuzefovych, L. V., Musiyenko, S. I., Wilson, G. L., and Rachek, L. I. (2013). Mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction, and oxidative stress are associated with endoplasmic reticulum stress, protein degradation and apoptosis in high fat diet-induced insulin resistance mice. *PLoS ONE* 8:e54059. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054059
- Zhang, Y., Jiang, L., Hu, W., Zheng, Q., and Xiang, W. (2011). Mitochondrial dysfunction during *in vitro* hepatocyte steatosis is reversed by omega-3 fatty acid-induced up-regulation of mitofusin 2. *Metabolism* 60, 767–775. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2010.07.026
- Zorzano, A., Hernández-Alvarez, M. I., Palacín, M., and Mingrone, G. (2010). Alterations in the mitochondrial regulatory pathways constituted by the nuclear co-factors PGC-1alpha or PGC-1beta and mitofusin 2 in skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1797, 1028–1033. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.02.017
- Zorzano, A., Liesa, M., and Palacín, M. (2009a). Mitochondrial dynamics as a bridge between mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance. *Arch. Physiol. Biochem.* 115, 1–12. doi: 10.1080/13813450802676335
- Zorzano, A., Liesa, M., and Palacin, M. (2009b). Role of mitochondrial dynamics proteins in the pathophysiology of obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell. Biol.* 41, 1846–1854. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2009.02.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Putti, Migliaccio, Sica and Lionetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Utilizing small nutrient compounds as enhancers of exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis

Daniel M. Craig^{1†}, Stephen P. Ashcroft^{1†}, Micah Y. Belew^{2†}, Ben Stocks¹, Kevin Currell³, Keith Baar⁴ and Andrew Philp^{1*}

¹ MRC Arthritis Research UK Centre for Musculoskeletal Ageing Research, School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK, ² Molecular, Cell and Cancer Biology, University of Massachusetts Medical School, Worcester, MA, USA, ³ ElS Performance Centre, English Institute of Sport, Loughborough University, Loughborough, UK, ⁴ Neurobiology, Physiology and Behavior, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

John Joseph McCarthy, University of Kentucky, USA Kunihiro Sakuma, Toyohashi University of Technology, Japan

*Correspondence:

Andrew Philp a.philp@bham.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 01 September 2015 Accepted: 06 October 2015 Published: 27 October 2015

Citation:

Craig DM, Ashcroft SP, Belew MY, Stocks B, Currell K, Baar K and Philp A (2015) Utilizing small nutrient compounds as enhancers of exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis. Front. Physiol. 6:296. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00296

Endurance exercise, when performed regularly as part of a training program, leads to increases in whole-body and skeletal muscle-specific oxidative capacity. At the cellular level, this adaptive response is manifested by an increased number of oxidative fibers (Type I and IIA myosin heavy chain), an increase in capillarity and an increase in mitochondrial biogenesis. The increase in mitochondrial biogenesis (increased volume and functional capacity) is fundamentally important as it leads to greater rates of oxidative phosphorylation and an improved capacity to utilize fatty acids during submaximal exercise. Given the importance of mitochondrial biogenesis for skeletal muscle performance, considerable attention has been given to understanding the molecular cues stimulated by endurance exercise that culminate in this adaptive response. In turn, this research has led to the identification of pharmaceutical compounds and small nutritional bioactive ingredients that appear able to amplify exercise-responsive signaling pathways in skeletal muscle. The aim of this review is to discuss these purported exercise mimetics and bioactive ingredients in the context of mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle. We will examine proposed modes of action, discuss evidence of application in skeletal muscle in vivo and finally comment on the feasibility of such approaches to support endurance-training applications in humans.

Keywords: mitochondrial biogenesis, skeletal muscle, bioactives, nutraceuticals, exercise mimetics

INTRODUCTION

Endurance training leads to increased rates of fat oxidation and glycogen synthesis in skeletal muscle, which in turn contributes to enhanced endurance performance (Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004). As such, nutritional and training strategies aimed to maximize these adaptive responses have been an area of intense investigation. Even though traditional nutritional supplementation strategies were primarily aimed at prolonging endurance performance (Maughan, 2002), increased understanding of the molecular regulation of skeletal muscle adaptation during, and in response to exercise, have led to contemporary approaches utilizing pharmacological compounds, functional foods, or small naturally occurring bioactive ingredients to substitute for, or augment the training response. The aim of this review is to (1) discuss the benefits of regular exercise training on whole body and skeletal muscle-specific adaptation, (2) introduce the concept of exercise mimetics and

discuss their feasibility in skeletal muscle *in vivo*, (3) critique the literature detailing the use of small nutritional bioactive ingredients as modulators of mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and finally (4) discuss the efficacy of each approach for use in humans.

ENDURANCE EXERCISE AND AEROBIC ADAPTATIONS

Regular physical activity in the form of endurance training can substantially improve endurance capacity in a range of populations (Ferketich et al., 1998; Gibala et al., 2006; Alemo Munters et al., 2013). This is achieved both by an increased maximal oxygen uptake (VO2 max) and the ability to work at a given submaximal intensity with a smaller homeostatic disturbance (Bassett and Howley, 2000). Maximal oxygen uptake is principally governed by the delivery of oxygen to the musculature by the cardiovascular system and, to a lesser degree, the removal of oxygen from the blood at the exercising muscles (Saltin and Strange, 1992; Montero et al., 2015). Following regular bouts of aerobic exercise, left-ventricular hypertrophy, increased myocardial contractility, and increased end-diastolic volume increases stroke volume (Baggish et al., 2008; Bonne et al., 2014), with little to no difference in heart rate at maximal exercise intensities (Baggish et al., 2008; Murias et al., 2010; Bonne et al., 2014). Thus, maximal cardiac output increases as a result of greater stroke volume and is strongly related to the increase in $\dot{V}O_2$ max (Jones and Carter, 2000).

At submaximal exercise intensities and at rest, the required cardiac output remains similar, however the elevated stroke volume results in a compensatory reduction in heart rate, known as bradycardia (Spina, 1999). Additionally, systemic resistance is decreased following aerobic exercise training (Klausen et al., 1982). This has the additional health benefit of decreasing blood pressure (Klausen et al., 1982), thereby reducing the risk of coronary heart disease and stroke (Morris et al., 1980; MacMahon et al., 1990; Lee et al., 2003).

Arterial oxygen carrying capacity is primarily determined by red blood cell and hemoglobin concentration. During aerobic training, initial decreases in hematocrit and hemoglobin concentration have been identified, which can be attributed to the rapid increase in plasma volume and does not reflect a decrease in red blood cell count (Sawka et al., 2000). In fact after several weeks of endurance training hematocrit returns to pre-training levels, despite greater plasma volume, indicating an increased hemoglobin and red blood cell volume and, therefore, oxygen carrying capacity of the blood (Sawka et al., 2000; Bonne et al., 2014). Aerobic training also results in an increased number and density of capillaries per muscle fiber (Ingjer, 1979; Murias et al., 2011), allowing for a more efficient and homogenous distribution of the increased cardiac output with little to no change in transit time through the musculature (Saltin, 1985; Kalliokoski et al., 2001). Increased capillary density results in shorter diffusion distances (Saltin and Rowell, 1980) and together with possible increases in myoglobin concentration within working muscles (Harms and Hickson, 1983) increases the oxygen extraction capacity of the musculature. This results in a greater arteriovenous oxygen difference across the working muscles (Beere et al., 1999; Murias et al., 2010) and therefore increases oxygen delivery for oxidative phosphorylation in skeletal muscle mitochondria at a given blood flow. Together, increased cardiac output and greater oxygen delivery and extraction in the exercising muscles increases \dot{VO}_2 max (Spina, 1999).

While the cardiovascular system may limit maximal aerobic capacity, oxygen uptake at a given submaximal intensity is the same in the trained and untrained state (Hagberg et al., 1980). Exercise capacity at submaximal workloads is more closely related to adaptations in skeletal muscle (Bassett and Howley, 2000), which demonstrates considerable plasticity when exposed to different functional demands. Following endurance training, the shift in whole-body substrate oxidation toward greater lipid oxidation (Koivisto et al., 1982) and reduced glycolysis (Green et al., 1995) allows for a greater absolute exercise intensity to be supported predominantly by aerobic energy production. This results in reduced lactate accumulation in blood and muscle (Karlsson et al., 1972; Saltin et al., 1976; Bonen et al., 1998; Philp et al., 2008) and sparing of muscle glycogen stores at a given workload (Green et al., 1995), which play a pivotal role in the increased exercise capacity and performance following endurance training.

Endurance exercise training results in a shift toward a more oxidative, fatigue-resistant, phenotype of the trained muscle. An increased proportion of slow-twitch type I, fast oxidative type IIa, and hybrid fibers is apparent, with a reduction in rapidly fatiguing fast glycolytic type IIx and IIb fibers (Andersen and Henriksson, 1977; Simoneau et al., 1985; Fitts et al., 1989; Coggan et al., 1992). This is caused by hypertrophy of type I and type IIa fibers (Coggan et al., 1992) and a transformation of fibers to a slower phenotype, by an altered expression of myosin heavy chain isoforms (Putman et al., 2004). The shift toward a slower muscular phenotype is of physiological importance to endurance performance given the close relationship between muscle fiber composition and both the oxygen cost of locomotion and lactate threshold (Ivy et al., 1980).

Aerobic exercise promotes a large increase in mitochondrial mass, mitochondrial enzyme activity, and oxidation efficiency (Holloszy, 1967; Molé et al., 1971; Oscai and Holloszy, 1971; Hoppeler et al., 1973; Spina et al., 1996). Holloszy first demonstrated an increased mitochondrial enzyme activity in rats following progressive endurance training (Holloszy, 1967), a finding that has subsequently been replicated in numerous human studies (Gollnick et al., 1973; Hoppeler et al., 1973; Spina et al., 1996; Gibala et al., 2006; Little et al., 2010). The activity of enzymes in the electron transport chain, such as succinate dehydrogenase, NADH dehydrogenase, NADHcytochrome-c reductase and cytochrome-c oxidase, can increase up to two-fold in response to training (Coggan et al., 1992). Concentrations of cytochrome-c also increase by approximately two-fold, suggesting the increased enzyme activity is due to an increase in mitochondrial enzyme protein content (Holloszy, 1967). Crucially, oxidative phosphorylation was tightly coupled, suggesting that the increase in electron transport capacity was

associated with a proportional increase in the capacity for ATP production by oxidative phosphorylation (Holloszy, 1967). Enzymes involved in the citric acid cycle (Holloszy et al., 1970), fatty acid oxidation (Molé et al., 1971), and ketone oxidation (Winder et al., 1974) also increase. However, mitochondrial enzymes do not respond in a uniform manner to endurance training. In response to the same exercise stimulus in rats, enzymes involved in the oxidation of fatty acids increase by approximately two-fold (Molé et al., 1971), whereas enzymes of the citric acid cycle only increase by up to 50% (Holloszy et al., 1970). Glycolytic enzymes such as creatine phosphokinase, adenylate kinase, and α -glycerophosphate dehydrogenase remain unchanged, or even decrease in activity when expressed per milligram of mitochondrial protein content (Holloszy and Oscai, 1969; Oscai and Holloszy, 1971). Therefore, regular endurance exercise results in an adaptive response to increase the capacity for ATP resynthesis by oxidative phosphorylation, especially from the oxidation of fatty acids, and in doing so reduces the reliance upon glycolysis.

MOLECULAR REGULATION OF SKELETAL MUSCLE MITOCHONDRIAL BIOGENESIS

The driving stimulus by which exercise initiates mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle has been an area of intense investigation in the past decade. Current opinion is that alterations in the cellular environment, as a consequence of skeletal muscle contraction, are a principal signal driving the adaptive response (Figure 1). One of the most defined energy sensors in skeletal muscle is the adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK), an enzyme complex that is allosterically activated through increased AMP:adenosine triphosphate (ATP) ratios and phosphorylated via calcium dependent signaling pathways (Steinberg and Kemp, 2009). The activation of AMPK following exercise is intensity dependent with intensities of 60% VO2 peak reported to consistently induce activation (Chen et al., 2003). AMPK activity is amplified during exercise in a fasted or glycogen depleted state, following which it acutely stimulates increased rates of fat oxidation (Steinberg and Kemp, 2009). Once activated AMPK increases ATP production via an increase in lipid oxidation, by enhancing fatty acid uptake into skeletal muscle and increasing the transport of fatty acids into the mitochondria. The phosphorylation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) by AMPK reduces the concentration of malonyl-CoA, which in turn reduces the allosteric inhibition of carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT-1), allowing increased fatty acid transport into the mitochondria (Steinberg and Kemp, 2009).

In addition to the activation of AMPK, exercise also activates a number of other signaling intermediaries including, but not limited to, the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide $(NAD)^+$ dependent protein deacetylases Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) and 3 (SIRT3) (White and Schenk, 2012), the tumor suppressor p53 (Bartlett et al., 2014), (p38 MAPK) (Lluis et al., 2006), and calcium calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) (Wright, 2007). Briefly, exercise alters the cellular redox state in skeletal muscle leading to an increase in the NAD⁺:NADH ratio (White and Schenk, 2012). This subsequently results in an increase in the activation of SIRT1. SIRT1-mediated deacetylation of metabolic targets has been linked to transcriptional and posttranslational regulation of intermediatory metabolism (White and Schenk, 2012). The tumor suppressor p53 has also been recently implicated in the regulation of mitochondrial function (Bartlett et al., 2014) given that following contraction, p53 has been reported to exhibit post-translational modification and alter its subcellular location (Saleem and Hood, 2013). Increases in the phosphorylation of p53, which is typically associated with an increase in activity and stability, have been reported in both rodent (Saleem and Hood, 2013) and human skeletal muscle (Bartlett et al., 2012) following exercise. The reported changes also act in a time course that could be related to the upstream signaling of either AMPK or p38MAPK (Bartlett et al., 2012). Following exercise, p38MAPK through a proposed calcium sensitive mechanism (Wright et al., 2007), is also activated and this regulates transcriptional events via phosphorylation (Bartlett et al., 2012). Numerous transcription factors and co-activators located in the cytosol and the nucleus are phosphorylated by p38MAPK, and loss of the gamma subunit of p38 blocks endurance training increases in mitochondrial biogenesis in mice (Pogozelski et al., 2009).

These signaling cascades ultimately converge on a host of coactivators and nuclear receptors that mediate the initiation of mitochondrial biogenesis (Perez-Schindler and Philp, 2015). Of note, the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator (PGC- 1α), a transcriptional co-activator that interacts with transcription factors at target gene promoters to increase transcriptional activity and promote mitochondrial remodeling (Puigserver et al., 1998) has received considerable attention in skeletal muscle. Transgenic activation of PCG-1a has been shown to mimic endurance training-induced adaptations including increased oxidative fiber content, mitochondrial biogenesis and angiogenesis (Yan et al., 2011), suggesting that activation of PGC-1a is a key driver of mitochondrial biogenesis is skeletal muscle. Further, following exercise the expression of PGC-1a shifts to an alternate promoter producing a smaller but more active form of the protein (Martínez-Redondo et al., 2015). The phosphorylation of PGC-1a by both AMPK and p38MAPK and deacetylation by SIRT1 are thought to increase its activity and translocation to the nucleus (Cantó and Auwerx, 2009; Dominy et al., 2010) (Figure 1). It is here that PGC-1α activates a number of transcription factors associated with mitochondrial biogenesis. These include nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF-1) and 2 (NRF-2), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR\delta), estrogen-related receptor (EERa), and myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) (Figure 1). In addition, PGC-1a translocation to the nucleus enhances the transcription of mitochondrial-encoded proteins via increased expression of mitochondrial transcription factor A (Yan et al., 2011) (Figure 1). It is the cumulative effect of these signaling cascades that result in long term adaptations in skeletal muscle including the increased abundance of proteins involved in mitochondrial ATP production, the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and the transport and oxidation of fatty acids.



protein kinase kinase; CPT-1, carnitine palmitoyltransferase I; ERRα, estrogen-related receptor alpha; FADH, flavin adenine dinucleotide; FAO, fatty acid oxidation; mRNA, messenger ribonucleic acid; mtDNA, mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid; mtTFA, mitochondrial transcription factor A; NRF1, nuclear respiratory factor-1; NRF2, nuclear respiratory factor-2; PGC-1α, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha; PPARδ, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta; RS, RS domain; RXR, retinoid X receptor; SIRT1, sirtuin-1; Sp1, specificity protein 1 transcription factor; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

THE SCIENTIFIC BASIS OF EXERCISE MIMETICS

Based on the premise that energy-sensing proteins such as AMPK and PPAR-8 are key signaling proteins modulating mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle, Narkar and coworkers examined the effect of administrating the PPAR- δ agonist GW501516 and the AMPK agonist 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) to mice (Narkar et al., 2008). The authors reported that GW501516 administration resulted in an increase in the mRNA expression of oxidative related genes such as Uncoupling Protein 3, CPT1, and Pyruvate Dehydrogenase Kinase 4, which was similar to the metabolic remodeling previously reported in PPAR-8 transgenic mice (Wang et al., 2004). However, despite the potent effects of GW501516 on oxidative gene expression, GW501516 treatment did not increase endurance capacity in supplemented mice (as was observed following exercise training), suggesting incomplete metabolic remodeling. Interestingly, GW501516 in combination with exercise training had synergistic effects on gene expression and endurance performance. In light of this observation, Narkar and colleagues substituted the AMPK agonist AICAR for exercise and reported a synergistic effect of the dual treatment strategy compared to either of the compounds in isolation. Unfortunately the authors did not compare this combined approach to endurance exercise, or the synergistic effect of the treatment with exercise. Based on this data, the authors proposed that AICAR and GW501516 are exercise mimetics and could be used as a strategy to increases skeletal muscle metabolism in the absence of an exercise stimulus. This concept received widespread attention and led to a boom in "exercise mimetic" therapy research (Matsakas and Narkar, 2010; Fan et al., 2013).

It should be noted that the use of AICAR to modulate skeletal muscle metabolism was not novel, in fact Will Winder's group had demonstrated the metabolic remodeling capacity of AICAR in vivo 11 years earlier (Merrill et al., 1997). It should also be highlighted that GW501516 was only effective in increasing endurance capacity when combined with exercise, and so cannot be regarded as an exercise mimetic, rather at best an exercise enhancer. To date, the work from Narkar and colleagues has failed to translate into human studies, mainly due the poor bioavailability of AICAR in vivo (Cuthbertson et al., 2007; Boon et al., 2008; Bosselaar et al., 2011). In addition, given that AICAR inhibits oxygen consumption in isolated muscle fibers (Spangenburg et al., 2013), the suitability of using of this compound in vivo is questionable. The efficacy of long-term GW501516 treatment has also been questioned due to links to cancer progression in number of tissues following chronic PPAR-8 activation (Sahebkar et al., 2014). The feasibility of an exercise mimetic has also raised considerable opposition in the literature (Goodyear, 2008; Richter et al., 2008; Carey and Kingwell, 2009), mainly due to the widespread, multi-organ health benefits of exercise (Hawley and Holloszy, 2009) that cannot be recapitulated with single-protein targeted therapeutics (Goodyear, 2008; Richter et al., 2008; Carey and Kingwell, 2009).

BEYOND EXERCISE MIMETICS, CAN SMALL BIOACTIVE INGREDIENTS ENHANCE EXERCISE-INDUCED MITOCHONDRIAL BIOGENESIS?

Whilst the concept of an exercise mimetic, as proposed by Narkar and colleagues would appear to have a number of inherent flaws when it comes to in vivo application in humans (Goodyear, 2008; Richter et al., 2008), the use of functional foods or small bioactive ingredients to target exercise-responsive signaling networks does appear to hold promise (Crowe et al., 2013). Typically, bioactive ingredients are viewed as both essential and non-essential compounds (e.g., vitamins or polyphenols) that occur in nature and can be shown to have an effect on human health. Whilst bioactive ingredients are already known to have far-reaching health benefits (Crowe et al., 2015), there is limited information with specific regard to skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. In the following sections we will briefly highlight a selection of bioactives and when appropriate discuss their proposed mode of action and efficacy/feasibility for translating this research into human-based investigation.

Green Tea Extracts (GTEs)

GTEs are a class of polyphenolic flavonoids which are suggested to play a role in fatty acids (FA) mobilization and oxidation (Shimotoyodome et al., 2005). The polyphenolic compounds in GTEs are epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), epicatechin gallate (ECG), and gallocatechin gallate (GCG). EGCG is suggested to be the most pharmacologically active; between 210 and 760 times potent as the others (Zhu et al., 2008). GTEs have been suggested to modulate fat oxidation via altered catecholamine release, with Dulloo et al. (1999) demonstrating greater 24-h basal energy expenditure (EE) following GTE supplementation compared to caffeine or a placebo. In addition, they observed a higher percentage of fat-derived 24-h EE compared to the other groups (Dulloo et al., 1999). In support, Venables et al. (2008) demonstrated an increased FA oxidation rate in GTE treated participants vs. a placebo group during exercise, indicated by increased circulating free fatty acids (FFAs) and glycerol (Venables et al., 2008). In this study plasma glucose and insulin concentrations were concurrently lower in the GTE group, indicating a significant metabolic shift toward lipid oxidation (Venables et al., 2008). More recently, Hodgson et al. (2013) and Randell et al. (2013) demonstrated that 7 days GTE supplementation altered global metabolite profiles and increased lipolysis (Randell et al., 2013).

In contrast, (Randell et al., 2013) recently failed to fully reproduce the data from Venables et al. (2008), demonstrating no effect of GTE supplementation on fat oxidation during exercise. A follow up study by the same group (Randell et al., 2014) also demonstrated that de-caffeinated GTE supplementation over 1, 7, and 28 days had no effect on whole-body fat oxidation or fat metabolism-related metabolites during exercise (Randell et al., 2014). Thus, it is currently unclear whether GTE supplementation alone is enough to alter fat oxidation. A small number of studies have been performed to investigate the chronic effects of GTE supplementation on fat oxidation. Based on acute study data, it could be suggested that longerterm GTE supplementation may result in greater increases in fat oxidation. In mice, GTE ingestion during 15 weeks of regular exercise significantly lowered respiratory exchange ratio (RER) and also increased fat utilization compared to an exercise-only group (Shimotoyodome et al., 2005). In humans, Ota et al. (2005) demonstrated that combined GTE supplementation and endurance exercise elicited 24% higher FA oxidation compared to a placebo supplement (Ota et al., 2005). Combined with findings of acute studies, these data lend support to the argument that GTE supplementation with exercise may be efficacious in improving fat oxidation. However, an optimal supplementation strategy is yet to be defined.

Regarding mechanisms of action, Murase et al. (2006) observed that GTE supplementation led to increased activation of PGC-1 α mRNA in skeletal muscle and parallel increases in treadmill running time in mice (Murase et al., 2006). As such, it is hypothesized that GTEs may increase mitochondrial biogenesis and skeletal muscle FA oxidation through a PGC-1 α -dependent pathway however this has yet to be directly tested.

Caffeine

Caffeine has been shown to stimulate sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activity (Graham et al., 2000) and increase norepinephrine (NE) at the synaptic junction (Dulloo et al., 1992). Caffeine also harnesses the potential to inhibit phosphodiesterase, a cyclic AMP (cAMP) degrading enzyme (Dulloo et al., 1999). Thus, intracellular cAMP may increase with caffeine ingestion promoting subsequent rises in catecholamine concentrations (Dulloo et al., 1999). In addition, caffeine has been reported to stimulate intracellular calcium release (Youn et al., 1991) to a similar extent to contracted skeletal muscle (Baar, 2006). This increased calcium flux activates an upstream kinase to AMPK, calmodulin kinase kinase (Egawa et al., 2011). The caffeine-induced activation of AMPK has also been shown to increase insulin-dependent uptake of glucose similarly to exercise-induced activation (Egawa et al., 2009). It is therefore suggested that caffeine may promote fat oxidation through increased thermogenesis (via AMPK) possibly via increased SNS activity.

Graham et al. (2000) demonstrated that following steadystate exercise at 70% \dot{VO}_2 max and caffeine supplementation, serum FA and glycerol concentration was increased compared to a placebo, but that no differences in RER or FA uptake were found (Graham et al., 2000). Acheson et al. (2004) showed that caffeine supplementation increased FA disposal and EE during steady-state cycling exercise. They demonstrated that lipid turnover was markedly increased, but only small increments in FA oxidation were observed (Acheson et al., 2004). In both cases, the results suggest that caffeine supplementation stimulated the SNS, but had minimal "downstream" effects on FA oxidation; despite increased FA utilization. To our knowledge, there have been no studies directly examining the intra-muscular signaling related to caffeine supplementation, or whether caffeine can alter mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle.

Epicatechins

Cocoa-derived epicatechins, specifically (-)-epicatechin, have been shown to activate mitochondrial biogenesis and capillary proliferation in murine skeletal muscle, in addition to having multiple health benefits in humans (Buijsse et al., 2010). Nogueira et al. (2011) were the first to demonstrate that 15 days (-)-epicatechin supplementation in mice increased treadmill running performance, fatigue resistance, mitochondrial volume, and muscle capillarity in mice compared to activitymatched control groups (Nogueira et al., 2011). These results suggest that (-)-epicatechin supplementation independently resulted in a response similar to endurance exercise as well as augmented the endurance exercise training response, therefore epicatechin has the potential to promote metabolic changes within skeletal muscle resulting in mitochondrial biogenesis. A second study by the same group (Huttemann et al., 2012) investigated the influence of (-)-epicatechin supplementation in mice undergoing 5 weeks of endurance training and then 2 weeks of de-training. Of interest, the epicatechin treated group maintained capillary-fiber ratio and cytochromec oxidase activity after the de-training period suggesting that (-)-epicatechin may maintain the endurance-training effect through specific up regulation of angiogenesis and mitochondrial biogenesis pathways (Huttemann et al., 2012).

The first translation of these rodent studies into human investigation was recently performed by Gutiérrez-Salmeán et al. (2014), who investigated the effects of epicatechin supplementation on post-prandial fat metabolism in normal and overweight adults (Gutiérrez-Salmeán et al., 2014). Following supplementation of (-)-epicatechin (1 mg/kg), participants displayed a lower RER, indicative of increased lipid oxidation. In addition, lower plasma glucose concentrations were observed following the supplementation (Gutiérrez-Salmeán et al., 2014). From the available data, it is suggested the cocoa-derived epicatechin is a promising ergogenic aid for increasing mitochondrial biogenesis and lipid oxidation, with the nitric-oxide (NO)/vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway suggested to be the primary molecular mechanisms linking (-)-epicatechin supplementation to enhanced muscle adaptation. It will be interesting to see whether the work from Nogueira et al. (2011) can be recapitulated in humans and enhance mitochondrial adaptation to endurance exercise training.

Polyphenols

Polyphenol compounds are found in a variety of herbal medicines commonly used as ethnopharmaceutical agents. These compounds have attracted the attention of researchers owing to their cardio-protective qualities (Chong et al., 2010). Two compounds in particular (resveratrol and quercetin) have been recently studied, and their relevance to fat oxidation during endurance exercise and mitochondrial adaptation to training is discussed here:

Resveratrol

Resveratrol is a stilbenoid polyphenol, a molecule belonging to the phenylpropanoid family commonly found in red wine. During the past decade, resveratrol has emerged as a potent cardio-protective compound. It is also associated with reduction in ischemic injuries and incidence of cancer. In 1992, resveratrol was first isolated from red wine (Siemann and Creasy, 1992) and subsequently attracted significant attention from researchers. It has since been demonstrated that it targets various signaling molecules that work to promote fat metabolism (Lopez-Lluch et al., 2008), and thus could be considered as a potential ergogenic aid.

Howitz et al. (2003) suggested that resveratrol may mimic the effect of caloric restriction by stimulating SIRT1 (Howitz et al., 2003). The mechanism by which resveratrol is able to increase fat oxidation is considered to be via SIRT1-dependent activation of AMPK (Lin et al., 2010), although SIRT1/AMPK independent pathways of resveratrol action have also been reported (Park et al., 2012). Smith et al. (2009) demonstrated that formulated resveratrol (SIRT501 and SRT1720) induced a signaling profile mirroring a reduction in type 2 diabetes pathology, which includes mitochondrial biogenesis and an improved metabolic signaling pathway (Smith et al., 2009).

Resveratrol has been shown to promote fat oxidation and enhance endurance performance in mice (Murase et al., 2009). However, Scribbans et al. (2014) recently reported that resveratrol supplementation during exercise training in healthy individuals led to a maladaptive response in exercisestimulated gene expression (Scribbans et al., 2014). In agreement with this observation, Gliemann et al. (2013) showed that resveratrol supplementation in combination with high-intensity training in older men not only blunted the increase in maximal oxygen uptake observed in the placebo group, but also eradicated the effects of the exercise on low-density lipoprotein, total cholesterol, and triglyceride concentrations in the blood (Gliemann et al., 2013). Using a similar protocol, Olesen et al. (2014) recently showed that resveratrol supplementation also blunted training-induced decreases in protein carbonylation and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) mRNA within older individuals' skeletal muscle (Olesen et al., 2014). Thus, there are clear discrepancies between cell, rodent, and human studies investigating resveratrol supplementation. Given these discrepancies further studies are clearly warranted to understand the interaction between resveratrol and exercise in skeletal muscle, and begin to develop optimal supplementation strategies for improving mitochondrial biogenesis and fat oxidation during endurance exercise.

Quercetin

Quercetin is the most ubiquitous class of flavonoids; found in apples, onions, berries, leafy green vegetables, hot peppers, red grapes, and black tea. It has a similar structure and function to resveratrol, and numerous positive effects on skeletal muscle have been reported (Davis et al., 2009a). Though quercetin has a similar structure and function to resveratrol, it is classified as a different polyphenol owing to its ketone-containing structure (Bravo, 1998).

Quercetin supplementation has been reported to increase mitochondrial biogenesis and exercise tolerance in mice, through

a proposed SIRT1/AMPK/PGC-1 α mode of action (Davis et al., 2009b). Quercetin is suggested to act as an ergogenic aid by mimicking the effects of caffeine and its ability to activate Adenosine (A1) receptor (Alexander, 2006), by increasing AMPK activation (Hawley et al., 2010) and also by increasing SIRT1 gene expression and activation (Howitz et al., 2003). By decreasing ATP concentration, quercetin may activate AMPK by increasing the AMP:ATP ratio. This has been observed in isolated mitochondria (Dorta et al., 2005), and is thought to induce this in a manner similar to resveratrol (Hawley et al., 2010).

Quercetin increases β -oxidation in hepatocytes (Suchankova et al., 2009), C2C12 muscle cells (Eid et al., 2010), and Hela cells (Jung et al., 2010). However, short-term quercetin supplementation (1000 mg/d) in humans does not affect $\dot{V}O_2$ max (Ganio et al., 2010), whereas prolonged oral supplementation (3 weeks of 1000 mg/d) elicited no change in RER or fat oxidation (Dumke et al., 2009). Similarly, Cureton et al. (2009) observed no difference in exercise performance or substrate shifts in recreationally active participants (Cureton et al., 2009). In contrast, Nieman et al. (2010) reported small improvements in endurance performance and PGC-1 α , SIRT1, citrate synthase and cytochrome-c oxidase mRNA in untrained participants supplemented with quercetin (Nieman et al., 2010).

From the available evidence, it is suggested that quercetin supplementation has little or no effect on mitochondrial biogenesis/fat oxidation in human skeletal muscle performing endurance exercise. However, similar to resveratrol, there are only a paucity of studies that have investigated this and the apparent discrepancies between the rodent and human studies have yet to be fully elucidated.

Amino Acids

A substantial body of evidence now supports the use of protein and amino acids for skeletal muscle training adaptation to resistance training programs aimed at increasing muscle mass (Atherton and Smith, 2012). However, in comparison, the role of amino acids in mitochondrial biogenesis/fat oxidation is underrepresented in the literature.

Branch chain amino acid (BCAA) supplementation (particularly leucine) has become popular amongst athletes and recreational exercisers owing to its established role in promoting muscle protein synthesis and positive changes in body composition. A high-protein diet elicits greater levels of resting fat oxidation compared with an iso-energetic high-carbohydrate or high-fat meal (Raben et al., 2003). In addition, Labayen et al. (2004) showed that a single highprotein meal could induce an increase in post-prandial fat over 6 h compared to a standard mixed meal in both lean and obese women. Furthermore, post-prandial fat oxidation, protein and leucine oxidation were greater following the high-protein meal (Labayen et al., 2004). This increased fat oxidation rate may be explained by BCAA (specifically, leucine) oxidation.

BCAA transaminase activation has been shown to occur concurrently with exercise-induced glycogen depletion (Gualano et al., 2011), suggesting a possible role for BCAA in lipid oxidation. Accordingly, a study performed by Gualano et al. (2011) investigated the influence of BCAAs on fat oxidation and exercise capacity during endurance exercise. They demonstrated that BCAA supplementation induced a lower RER during the exhaustive exercise test, and promoted a greater resistance to fatigue (Gualano et al., 2011). These results lend further support to the argument that BCAA supplementation may promote increased fat oxidation during exercise.

Regarding BCAA action at the cellular level, Sun and Zemel (2009) reported that leucine administration to C2C12 cells exhibited increased mitochondrial mass, stimulated PGC-1a and SIRT1 gene expression and increased cell respiration (Sun and Zemel, 2009). These data suggest that leucine modulation of muscle energy metabolism may be mediated by mitochondrial biogenesis. Similarly, muscle cells treated with serum from overweight subjects fed a high-dairy diet for 28 days resulted in increased SIRT1 and PGC-1a expression in vitro (Bruckbauer and Zemel, 2011). These data suggest that high dairy consumption (thus, high leucine and BCAA consumption) may promote mitochondrial biogenesis within skeletal muscle. In mice, it has been shown that BCAA ingestion increased mitochondrial biogenesis and SIRT1 expression in skeletal muscle, which consequently increased lifespan in middleaged mice (D'Antona et al., 2010). It was since hypothesized that leucine-induced activation of SIRT1 was a central event that linked the mitochondrial biogenesis and fat oxidation within skeletal muscle (Liang et al., 2014). To test this, Liang et al. (2014) treated C2C12 myotubes with leucine, and observed significantly increased mitochondrial content, fat oxidation and SIRT1 activity following this treatment compared to control treatments. In addition, time-dependent increases in NAD+ and SIRT1 activity were observed after 24-h leucine treatment (Liang et al., 2014). Beyond in vitro approaches, there are few studies examining the direct effect of amino acids on mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle. Given the efficacy of AAs for human supplementation (Moore et al., 2014), and the known benefits of AAs in recovery from endurance exercise (Moore et al., 2014), extending this research into the regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis seems the next logical progression in this research area (Moore and Stellingwerff, 2012).

CONCLUSIONS

Endurance exercise is a potent stimulus to induce mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle (Holloszy, 1967; Molé et al., 1971; Oscai and Holloszy, 1971; Hoppeler et al., 1973; Spina et al., 1996). The nutritional approaches described herein could provide a framework to support endurance training via enhancing mitochondrial biogenesis. In this context, we propose that these small molecules should be viewed as exercise enhancers, not mimetics, as they have minimal effect in basal conditions. In the future, it will be interesting to explore the efficacy of using these nutrients in human studies *in vivo*, to identify the exercise setting in which they may have the most benefit as well as developing optimal supplementation strategies. In this regard, future studies could examine the effect of bioactives during and in recovery from exercise across

a variety of intensities, and also examine supplementation during periods of tapering or detraining to shed light on the practical implications of bioactives as regulators of mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle. In order to achieve this, researchers should perform randomized, placebo-controlled, intervention trials in human subjects (Hasler, 2002), and examine the extent to which the bioactive ingredient in question is absorbed and bioavailable in skeletal muscle (Crowe et al., 2013). Once achieved, it is hoped that bioactives such as those discussed, and derivatives/associated bioactive ingredients yet to be identified

REFERENCES

- Acheson, K. J., Gremaud, G., Meirim, I., Montigon, F., Krebs, Y., Fay, L. B., et al. (2004). Metabolic effects of caffeine in humans: lipid oxidation or futile cycling? *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 79, 40–46.
- Achten, J., and Jeukendrup, A. E. (2004). Optimizing fat oxidation through exercise and diet. Nutrition 20, 716–727. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2004.04.005
- Alemo Munters, L., Dastmalchi, M., Katz, A., Esbjörnsson, M., Loell, I., Hanna, B., et al. (2013). Improved exercise performance and increased aerobic capacity after endurance training of patients with stable polymyositis and dermatomyositis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 15, R83. doi: 10.1186/ar4263
- Alexander, S. P. (2006). Flavonoids as antagonists at A1 adenosine receptors. *Phytother. Res.* 20, 1009–1012. doi: 10.1002/ptr.1975
- Andersen, P., and Henriksson, J. (1977). Training induced changes in the subgroups of human type II skeletal muscle fibres. Acta Physiol. Scand. 99, 123–125. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1977.tb10361.x
- Atherton, P. J., and Smith, K. (2012). Muscle protein synthesis in response to nutrition and exercise. J. Physiol. 590, 1049–1057. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.2011.225003
- Baar, K. (2006). Training for endurance and strength: lessons from cell signaling. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 38, 1939–1944. doi: 10.1249/ 01.mss.0000233799.62153.19
- Baggish, A. L., Wang, F., Weiner, R. B., Elinoff, J. M., Tournoux, F., Boland, A., et al. (2008). Training-specific changes in cardiac structure and function: a prospective and longitudinal assessment of competitive athletes. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 104, 1121–1128. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01170.2007
- Bartlett, J. D., Close, G. L., Drust, B., and Morton, J. P. (2014). The emerging role of p53 in exercise metabolism. *Sports Med.* 44, 303–309. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0127-9
- Bartlett, J. D., Hwa Joo, C., Jeong, T. S., Louhelainen, J., Cochran, A. J., Gibala, M. J., et al. (2012). Matched work high-intensity interval and continuous running induce similar increases in PGC-1alpha mRNA, AMPK, p38, and p53 phosphorylation in human skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 112, 1135–1143. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01040.2011
- Bassett, D. R. Jr., and Howley, E. T. (2000). Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 32, 70–84. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200001000-00012
- Beere, P. A., Russell, S. D., Morey, M. C., Kitzman, D. W., and Higginbotham, M. B. (1999). Aerobic exercise training can reverse age-related peripheral circulatory changes in healthy older men. *Circulation* 100, 1085–1094. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.100.10.1085
- Bonen, A., Mccullagh, K. J., Putman, C. T., Hultman, E., Jones, N. L., and Heigenhauser, G. J. (1998). Short-term training increases human muscle MCT1 and femoral venous lactate in relation to muscle lactate. *Am. J. Physiol.* 274, E102–E107.
- Bonne, T. C., Doucende, G., Flück, D., Jacobs, R. A., Nordsborg, N. B., Robach, P., et al. (2014). Phlebotomy eliminates the maximal cardiac output response to six weeks of exercise training. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 306, R752–R760. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00028.2014
- Boon, H., Bosselaar, M., Praet, S. F., Blaak, E. E., Saris, W. H., Wagenmakers, A. J., et al. (2008). Intravenous AICAR administration reduces hepatic glucose output and inhibits whole body lipolysis in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 51, 1893–1900. doi: 10.1007/s00125-008-1108-7

may lead to the next-generation of nutritional supplements to specifically enhance mitochondrial adaptations to endurance training.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This publication was supported by a studentship from the Medical Research Council (MRC) to DC, a U.S. National Institutes of Health 1R01AG045375-01 (KB), and a BBSRC New Investigator Award BB/L023547/1 to AP.

- Bosselaar, M., Smits, P., van Loon, L. J., and Tack, C. J. (2011). Intravenous AICAR during hyperinsulinemia induces systemic hemodynamic changes but has no local metabolic effect. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 51, 1449–1458. doi: 10.1177/0091270010382912
- Bravo, L. (1998). Polyphenols: chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr. Rev. 56, 317–333. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.1998.tb01670.x
- Bruckbauer, A., and Zemel, M. B. (2011). Effects of dairy consumption on SIRT1 and mitochondrial biogenesis in adipocytes and muscle cells. *Nutr. Metab.* (*Lond*). 8:91. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-8-91
- Buijsse, B., Weikert, C., Drogan, D., Bergmann, M., and Boeing, H. (2010). Chocolate consumption in relation to blood pressure and risk of cardiovascular disease in German adults. *Eur. Heart J.* 31, 1616–1623. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq068
- Cantó, C., and Auwerx, J. (2009). PGC-1alpha, SIRT1 and AMPK, an energy sensing network that controls energy expenditure. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 20, 98–105. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e328328d0a4
- Carey, A. L., and Kingwell, B. A. (2009). Novel pharmacological approaches to combat obesity and insulin resistance: targeting skeletal muscle with 'exercise mimetics.' *Diabetologia* 52, 2015–2026. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1420-x
- Chen, Z. P., Stephens, T. J., Murthy, S., Canny, B. J., Hargreaves, M., Witters, L. A., et al. (2003). Effect of exercise intensity on skeletal muscle AMPK signaling in humans. *Diabetes* 52, 2205–2212. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.9.2205
- Chong, M. F., Macdonald, R., and Lovegrove, J. A. (2010). Fruit polyphenols and CVD risk: a review of human intervention studies. *Br. J. Nutr.* 104(Suppl. 3), S28–S39. doi: 10.1017/s0007114510003922
- Coggan, A. R., Spina, R. J., King, D. S., Rogers, M. A., Brown, M., Nemeth, P. M., et al. (1992). Skeletal muscle adaptations to endurance training in 60- to 70-yr-old men and women. J. Appl. Physiol. 72, 1780–1786.
- Crowe, K. M., Allison, D., and Bioactive Food Components Conference Speakers. (2015). Evaluating bioactive food components in obesity and cancer prevention. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 55, 732–734. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2013.878305
- Crowe, K. M., Francis, C., Academy Of, N., and Dietetics (2013). Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: functional foods. *J. Acad. Nutr. Diet.* 113, 1096–1103. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.06.002
- Cureton, K. J., Tomporowski, P. D., Singhal, A., Pasley, J. D., Bigelman, K. A., Lambourne, K., et al. (2009). Dietary quercetin supplementation is not ergogenic in untrained men. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 107, 1095–1104. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00234.2009
- Cuthbertson, D. J., Babraj, J. A., Mustard, K. J., Towler, M. C., Green, K. A., Wackerhage, H., et al. (2007). 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide 1-beta-Dribofuranoside acutely stimulates skeletal muscle 2-deoxyglucose uptake in healthy men. *Diabetes* 56, 2078–2084. doi: 10.2337/db06-1716
- D'Antona, G., Ragni, M., Cardile, A., Tedesco, L., Dossena, M., Bruttini, F., et al. (2010). Branched-chain amino acid supplementation promotes survival and supports cardiac and skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in middle-aged mice. *Cell Metab.* 12, 362–372. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.08.016
- Davis, J. M., Murphy, E. A., and Carmichael, M. D. (2009a). Effects of the dietary flavonoid quercetin upon performance and health. *Curr. Sports Med. Rep.* 8, 206–213. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e3181ae8959
- Davis, J. M., Murphy, E. A., Carmichael, M. D., and Davis, B. (2009b). Quercetin increases brain and muscle mitochondrial biogenesis and exercise

tolerance. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 296, R1071-R1077. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90925.2008

- Dominy, J. E. Jr., Lee, Y., Gerhart-Hines, Z., and Puigserver, P. (2010). Nutrientdependent regulation of PGC-1alpha's acetylation state and metabolic function through the enzymatic activities of Sirt1/GCN5. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1804, 1676–1683. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2009.11.023
- Dorta, D. J., Pigoso, A. A., Mingatto, F. E., Rodrigues, T., Prado, I. M., Helena, A. F., et al. (2005). The interaction of flavonoids with mitochondria: effects on energetic processes. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 152, 67–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2005.02.004
- Dulloo, A. G., Duret, C., Rohrer, D., Girardier, L., Mensi, N., Fathi, M., et al. (1999). Efficacy of a green tea extract rich in catechin polyphenols and caffeine in increasing 24-h energy expenditure and fat oxidation in humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 70, 1040–1045.
- Dulloo, A. G., Seydoux, J., and Girardier, L. (1992). Potentiation of the thermogenic antiobesity effects of ephedrine by dietary methylxanthines: adenosine antagonism or phosphodiesterase inhibition? *Metabolism* 41, 1233–1241. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(92)90015-3
- Dumke, C. L., Nieman, D. C., Utter, A. C., Rigby, M. D., Quindry, J. C., Triplett, N. T., et al. (2009). Quercetin's effect on cycling efficiency and substrate utilization. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 34, 993–1000. doi: 10.1139/H09-099
- Egawa, T., Hamada, T., Kameda, N., Karaike, K., Ma, X., Masuda, S., et al. (2009). Caffeine acutely activates 5'adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase and increases insulin-independent glucose transport in rat skeletal muscles. *Metabolism* 58, 1609–1617. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2009.05.013
- Egawa, T., Hamada, T., Ma, X., Karaike, K., Kameda, N., Masuda, S., et al. (2011). Caffeine activates preferentially alpha1-isoform of 5'AMP-activated protein kinase in rat skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol. (Oxf.)* 201, 227–238. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2010.02169.x
- Eid, H. M., Martineau, L. C., Saleem, A., Muhammad, A., Vallerand, D., Benhaddou-Andaloussi, A., et al. (2010). Stimulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and enhancement of basal glucose uptake in muscle cells by quercetin and quercetin glycosides, active principles of the antidiabetic medicinal plant Vaccinium vitis-idaea. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 54, 991–1003. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200900218
- Fan, W., Atkins, A. R., Yu, R. T., Downes, M., and Evans, R. M. (2013). Road to exercise mimetics: targeting nuclear receptors in skeletal muscle. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 51, T87–T100. doi: 10.1530/JME-13-0258
- Ferketich, A. K., Kirby, T. E., and Alway, S. E. (1998). Cardiovascular and muscular adaptations to combined endurance and strength training in elderly women. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 164, 259–267. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201X.1998.00428.x
- Fitts, R. H., Costill, D. L., and Gardetto, P. R. (1989). Effect of swim exercise training on human muscle fiber function. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 66, 465-475.
- Ganio, M. S., Armstrong, L. E., Johnson, E. C., Klau, J. F., Ballard, K. D., Michniak-Kohn, B., et al. (2010). Effect of quercetin supplementation on maximal oxygen uptake in men and women. J. Sports Sci. 28, 201–208. doi: 10.1080/02640410903428558
- Gibala, M. J., Little, J. P., van Essen, M., Wilkin, G. P., Burgomaster, K. A., Safdar, A., et al. (2006). Short-term sprint interval versus traditional endurance training: similar initial adaptations in human skeletal muscle and exercise performance. *J. Physiol.* 575, 901–911. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006. 112094
- Gliemann, L., Schmidt, J. F., Olesen, J., Biensø, R. S., Peronard, S. L., Grandjean, S. U., et al. (2013). Resveratrol blunts the positive effects of exercise training on cardiovascular health in aged men. *J. Physiol.* 591, 5047–5059. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.258061
- Gollnick, P. D., Armstrong, R. B., Saltin, B., Saubert, C. W. IV., Sembrowich, W. L., and Shepherd, R. E. (1973). Effect of training on enzyme activity and fiber composition of human skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 34, 107–111.
- Goodyear, L. J. (2008). The exercise pill-too good to be true? N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 1842–1844. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcibr0806723
- Graham, T. E., Helge, J. W., Maclean, D. A., Kiens, B., and Richter, E. A. (2000). Caffeine ingestion does not alter carbohydrate or fat metabolism in human skeletal muscle during exercise. *J. Physiol.* 529(Pt 3), 837–847. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.00837.x
- Green, H. J., Jones, S., Ball-Burnett, M., Farrance, B., and Ranney, D. (1995). Adaptations in muscle metabolism to prolonged voluntary exercise and training. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 78, 138–145.

- Gualano, A. B., Bozza, T., Lopes De Campos, P., Roschel, H., Dos Santos Costa, A., Luiz Marquezi, M., et al. (2011). Branched-chain amino acids supplementation enhances exercise capacity and lipid oxidation during endurance exercise after muscle glycogen depletion. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 51, 82–88.
- Gutiérrez-Salmeán, G., Ortiz-Vilchis, P., Vacaseydel, C. M., Rubio-Gayosso, I., Meaney, E., Villarreal, F., et al. (2014). Acute effects of an oral supplement of (–)-epicatechin on postprandial fat and carbohydrate metabolism in normal and overweight subjects. *Food Funct.* 5, 521–527. doi: 10.1039/c3fo60416k
- Hagberg, J. M., Hickson, R. C., Ehsani, A. A., and Holloszy, J. O. (1980). Faster adjustment to and recovery from submaximal exercise in the trained state. J. Appl. Physiol. 48, 218–224.
- Harms, S. J., and Hickson, R. C. (1983). Skeletal muscle mitochondria and myoglobin, endurance, and intensity of training. J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. 54, 798–802.
- Hasler, C. M. (2002). Functional foods: benefits, concerns and challenges-a position paper from the american council on science and health. J. Nutr. 132, 3772–3781.
- Hawley, J. A., and Holloszy, J. O. (2009). Exercise: it's the real thing! *Nutr. Rev.* 67, 172–178. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00185.x
- Hawley, S. A., Ross, F. A., Chevtzoff, C., Green, K. A., Evans, A., Fogarty, S., et al. (2010). Use of cells expressing gamma subunit variants to identify diverse mechanisms of AMPK activation. *Cell Metab.* 11, 554–565. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.04.001
- Hodgson, A. B., Randell, R. K., Boon, N., Garczarek, U., Mela, D. J., Jeukendrup, A. E., et al. (2013). Metabolic response to green tea extract during rest and moderate-intensity exercise. J. Nutr. Biochem. 24, 325–334. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2012.06.017
- Holloszy, J. O. (1967). Biochemical adaptations in muscle. Effects of exercise on mitochondrial oxygen uptake and respiratory enzyme activity in skeletal muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 242, 2278–2282.
- Holloszy, J. O., and Oscai, L. B. (1969). Effect of exercise on alphaglycerophosphate dehydrogenase activity in skeletal muscle. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 130, 653–656. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(69)90083-6
- Holloszy, J. O., Oscai, L. B., Don, I. J., and Molé, P. A. (1970). Mitochondrial citric acid cycle and related enzymes: adaptive response to exercise. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 40, 1368–1373. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(70)90017-3
- Hoppeler, H., Lüthi, P., Claassen, H., Weibel, E. R., and Howald, H. (1973). The ultrastructure of the normal human skeletal muscle. A morphometric analysis on untrained men, women and well-trained orienteers. *Pflugers Arch.* 344, 217–232. doi: 10.1007/BF00588462
- Howitz, K. T., Bitterman, K. J., Cohen, H. Y., Lamming, D. W., Lavu, S., Wood, J. G., et al. (2003). Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan. Nature 425, 191–196. doi: 10.1038/nature01960
- Hüttemann, M., Lee, I., and Malek, M. H. (2012). (-)-Epicatechin maintains endurance training adaptation in mice after 14 days of detraining. *FASEB J.* 26, 1413–1422. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-196154
- Ingjer, F. (1979). Effects of endurance training on muscle fibre ATP-ase activity, capillary supply and mitochondrial content in man. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 294, 419–432. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1979.sp012938
- Ivy, J. L., Withers, R. T., Van Handel, P. J., Elger, D. H., and Costill, D. L. (1980). Muscle respiratory capacity and fiber type as determinants of the lactate threshold. J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. 48, 523–527.
- Jones, A. M., and Carter, H. (2000). The effect of endurance training on parameters of aerobic fitness. Sports Med. 29, 373–386. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200029060-00001
- Jung, J. H., Lee, J. O., Kim, J. H., Lee, S. K., You, G. Y., Park, S. H., et al. (2010). Quercetin suppresses HeLa cell viability via AMPK-induced HSP70 and EGFR down-regulation. J. Cell. Physiol. 223, 408–414. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22049
- Kalliokoski, K. K., Oikonen, V., Takala, T. O., Sipilä, H., Knuuti, J., and Nuutila, P. (2001). Enhanced oxygen extraction and reduced flow heterogeneity in exercising muscle in endurance-trained men. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 280, E1015–E1021.
- Karlsson, J., Nordesjö, L. O., Jorfeldt, L., and Saltin, B. (1972). Muscle lactate, ATP, and CP levels during exercise after physical training in man. J. Appl. Physiol. 33, 199–203.
- Klausen, K., Secher, N. H., Clausen, J. P., Hartling, O., and Trap-Jensen, J. (1982). Central and regional circulatory adaptations to one-leg training. J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. 52, 976–983.

- Koivisto, V., Hendler, R., Nadel, E., and Felig, P. (1982). Influence of physical training on the fuel-hormone response to prolonged low intensity exercise. *Metabolism* 31, 192–197. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(82)90135-4
- Labayen, I., Díez, N., Parra, D., González, A., and Martínez, J. A. (2004). Basal and postprandial substrate oxidation rates in obese women receiving two test meals with different protein content. *Clin. Nutr.* 23, 571–578. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2003.10.004
- Lee, C. D., Folsom, A. R., and Blair, S. N. (2003). Physical activity and stroke risk: a meta-analysis. *Stroke* 34, 2475–2481. doi: 10.1161/01. STR.0000091843.02517.9D
- Liang, C., Curry, B. J., Brown, P. L., and Zemel, M. B. (2014). Leucine Modulates Mitochondrial Biogenesis and SIRT1-AMPK Signaling in C2C12 Myotubes. J. Nutr. Metab. 2014:239750. doi: 10.1155/2014/239750
- Lin, J. N., Lin, V. C., Rau, K. M., Shieh, P. C., Kuo, D. H., Shieh, J. C., et al. (2010). Resveratrol modulates tumor cell proliferation and protein translation via SIRT1-dependent AMPK activation. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 58, 1584–1592. doi: 10.1021/jf9035782
- Little, J. P., Safdar, A., Wilkin, G. P., Tarnopolsky, M. A., and Gibala, M. J. (2010). A practical model of low-volume high-intensity interval training induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human skeletal muscle: potential mechanisms. *J. Physiol.* 588, 1011–1022. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.181743
- Lluís, F., Perdiguero, E., Nebreda, A. R., and Muñoz-Cánoves, P. (2006). Regulation of skeletal muscle gene expression by p38 MAP kinases. *Trends Cell Biol.* 16, 36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2005.11.002
- López-Lluch, G., Irusta, P. M., Navas, P., and de Cabo, R. (2008). Mitochondrial biogenesis and healthy aging. *Exp. Gerontol.* 43, 813–819. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2008.06.014
- MacMahon, S., Peto, R., Cutler, J., Collins, R., Sorlie, P., Neaton, J., et al. (1990). Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. *Lancet* 335, 765–774. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)90878-9
- Martínez-Redondo, V., Pettersson, A. T., and Ruas, J. L. (2015). The hitchhiker's guide to PGC-1alpha isoform structure and biological functions. *Diabetologia* 58, 1969–1977. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3671-z
- Matsakas, A., and Narkar, V. A. (2010). Endurance exercise mimetics in skeletal muscle. *Curr. Sports Med. Rep.* 9, 227–232. doi: 10.1249/JSR.0b013e3181 e93938
- Maughan, R. (2002). The athlete's diet: nutritional goals and dietary strategies. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 61, 87–96. doi: 10.1079/PNS2001132
- Merrill, G. F., Kurth, E. J., Hardie, D. G., and Winder, W. W. (1997). AICA riboside increases AMP-activated protein kinase, fatty acid oxidation, and glucose uptake in rat muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* 273, E1107–E1112.
- Molé, P. A., Oscai, L. B., and Holloszy, J. O. (1971). Adaptation of muscle to exercise. Increase in levels of palmityl Coa synthetase, carnitine palmityltransferase, and palmityl Coa dehydrogenase, and in the capacity to oxidize fatty acids. J. Clin. Invest. 50, 2323–2330.
- Montero, D., Diaz-Cañestro, C., and Lundby, C. (2015). Endurance training and $\dot{V}O_2$ max: role of maximal cardiac output and oxygen extraction. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 2024–2033. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0000000000640
- Moore, D. R., Camera, D. M., Areta, J. L., and Hawley, J. A. (2014). Beyond muscle hypertrophy: why dietary protein is important for endurance athletes. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 987–997. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0591
- Moore, D. R., and Stellingwerff, T. (2012). Protein ingestion after endurance exercise: the 'evolving' needs of the mitochondria? *J. Physiol.* 590, 1785–1786. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.224188
- Morris, J. N., Everitt, M. G., Pollard, R., Chave, S. P., and Semmence, A. M. (1980). Vigorous exercise in leisure-time: protection against coronary heart disease. *Lancet* 2, 1207–1210. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(80)92476-9
- Murase, T., Haramizu, S., Ota, N., and Hase, T. (2009). Suppression of the agingassociated decline in physical performance by a combination of resveratrol intake and habitual exercise in senescence-accelerated mice. *Biogerontology* 10, 423–434. doi: 10.1007/s10522-008-9177-z
- Murase, T., Haramizu, S., Shimotoyodome, A., Tokimitsu, I., and Hase, T. (2006). Green tea extract improves running endurance in mice by stimulating lipid utilization during exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 290, R1550–R1556. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00752.2005

- Murias, J. M., Kowalchuk, J. M., and Paterson, D. H. (2010). Time course and mechanisms of adaptations in cardiorespiratory fitness with endurance training in older and young men. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 108, 621–627. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01152.2009
- Murias, J. M., Kowalchuk, J. M., Ritchie, D., Hepple, R. T., Doherty, T. J., and Paterson, D. H. (2011). Adaptations in capillarization and citrate synthase activity in response to endurance training in older and young men. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 66, 957–964. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr096
- Narkar, V. A., Downes, M., Yu, R. T., Embler, E., Wang, Y. X., Banayo, E., et al. (2008). AMPK and PPARdelta agonists are exercise mimetics. *Cell* 134, 405–415. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.06.051
- Nieman, D. C., Williams, A. S., Shanely, R. A., Jin, F., McAnulty, S. R., Triplett, N. T., et al. (2010). Quercetin's influence on exercise performance and muscle mitochondrial biogenesis. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 42, 338–345. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181b18fa3
- Nogueira, L., Ramirez-Sanchez, I., Perkins, G. A., Murphy, A., Taub, P. R., Ceballos, G., et al. (2011). (-)-Epicatechin enhances fatigue resistance and oxidative capacity in mouse muscle. *J. Physiol.* 589, 4615–4631. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.209924
- Olesen, J., Gliemann, L., Bienso, R., Schmidt, J., Hellsten, Y., and Pilegaard, H. (2014). Exercise training, but not resveratrol, improves metabolic and inflammatory status in skeletal muscle of aged men. *J. Physiol.* 592, 1873–1886. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.270256
- Oscai, L. B., and Holloszy, J. O. (1971). Biochemical adaptations in muscle. II. Response of mitochondrial adenosine triphosphatase, creatine phosphokinase, and adenylate kinase activities in skeletal muscle to exercise. J. Biol. Chem. 246, 6968–6972.
- Ota, N., Soga, S., Shimotoyodome, A., Haramizu, S., Inaba, M., Murase, T., et al. (2005). Effects of combination of regular exercise and tea catechins intake on energy expenditure in humans. *J. Health Sci.* 51, 233–236. doi: 10.1248/jhs.51.233
- Park, S. J., Ahmad, F., Philp, A., Baar, K., Williams, T., Luo, H., et al. (2012). Resveratrol ameliorates aging-related metabolic phenotypes by inhibiting cAMP phosphodiesterases. *Cell* 148, 421–433. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.017
- Perez-Schindler, J., and Philp, A. (2015). Regulation of skeletal muscle mitochondrial function by nuclear receptors: implications for health and disease. *Clin. Sci. (Lond.)* 129, 589–599. doi: 10.1042/CS20150246
- Philp, A., Macdonald, A. L., Carter, H., Watt, P. W., and Pringle, J. S. (2008). Maximal lactate steady state as a training stimulus. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 29, 475–479. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-965320
- Pogozelski, A. R., Geng, T., Li, P., Yin, X., Lira, V. A., Zhang, M., et al. (2009). p38gamma mitogen-activated protein kinase is a key regulator in skeletal muscle metabolic adaptation in mice. *PLoS ONE* 4:e7934. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007934
- Puigserver, P., Wu, Z., Park, C. W., Graves, R., Wright, M., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1998). A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. *Cell* 92, 829–839. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00) 81410-5
- Putman, C. T., Xu, X., Gillies, E., MacLean, I. M., and Bell, G. J. (2004). Effects of strength, endurance and combined training on myosin heavy chain content and fibre-type distribution in humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 92, 376–384. doi: 10.1007/s00421-004-1104-7
- Raben, A., Agerholm-Larsen, L., Flint, A., Holst, J. J., and Astrup, A. (2003). Meals with similar energy densities but rich in protein, fat, carbohydrate, or alcohol have different effects on energy expenditure and substrate metabolism but not on appetite and energy intake. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 77, 91–100.
- Randell, R. K., Hodgson, A. B., Lotito, S. B., Jacobs, D. M., Boon, N., Mela, D. J., et al. (2013). No effect of 1 or 7 d of green tea extract ingestion on fat oxidation during exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 45, 883–891. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31827dd9d4
- Randell, R. K., Hodgson, A. B., Lotito, S. B., Jacobs, D. M., Rowson, M., Mela, D. J., et al. (2014). Variable duration of decaffeinated green tea extract ingestion on exercise metabolism. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 46, 1185–1193. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000205
- Richter, E. A., Kiens, B., and Wojtaszewski, J. F. (2008). Can exercise mimetics substitute for exercise? *Cell Metab.* 8, 96–98. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008. 07.004

- Sahebkar, A., Chew, G. T., and Watts, G. F. (2014). New peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor agonists: potential treatments for atherogenic dyslipidemia and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother.* 15, 493–503. doi: 10.1517/14656566.2014.876992
- Saleem, A., and Hood, D. A. (2013). Acute exercise induces tumour suppressor protein p53 translocation to the mitochondria and promotes a p53-Tfammitochondrial DNA complex in skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 591, 3625–3636. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.252791
- Saltin, B. (1985). Hemodynamic adaptations to exercise. Am. J. Cardiol. 55, 42D-47D. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(85)91054-9
- Saltin, B., Nazar, K., Costill, D. L., Stein, E., Jansson, E., Essen, B., et al. (1976). The nature of the training response; peripheral and central adaptations of one-legged exercise. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 96, 289–305. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1976.tb10200.x
- Saltin, B., and Rowell, L. B. (1980). Functional adaptations to physical activity and inactivity. *Fed. Proc.* 39, 1506–1513.
- Saltin, B., and Strange, S. (1992). Maximal oxygen uptake: "old" and "new" arguments for a cardiovascular limitation. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 24, 30–37. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199201000-00007
- Sawka, M. N., Convertino, V. A., Eichner, E. R., Schnieder, S. M., and Young, A. J. (2000). Blood volume: importance and adaptations to exercise training, environmental stresses, and trauma/sickness. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 32, 332–348. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200002000-00012
- Scribbans, T. D., Ma, J. K., Edgett, B. A., Vorobej, K. A., Mitchell, A. S., Zelt, J. G., et al. (2014). Resveratrol supplementation does not augment performance adaptations or fibre-type-specific responses to high-intensity interval training in humans. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 1305–1313. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2014-0070
- Shimotoyodome, A., Haramizu, S., Inaba, M., Murase, T., and Tokimitsu, I. (2005). Exercise and green tea extract stimulate fat oxidation and prevent obesity in mice. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, 1884–1892. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000178062.66981.a8
- Siemann, E. H., and Creasy, L. L. (1992). Concentration of the Phytoalexin Resveratrol in Wine. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. 43, 49–52.
- Simoneau, J. A., Lortie, G., Boulay, M. R., Marcotte, M., Thibault, M. C., and Bouchard, C. (1985). Human skeletal muscle fiber type alteration with high-intensity intermittent training. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 54, 250–253. doi: 10.1007/BF00426141
- Smith, J. J., Kenney, R. D., Gagne, D. J., Frushour, B. P., Ladd, W., Galonek, H. L., et al. (2009). Small molecule activators of SIRT1 replicate signaling pathways triggered by calorie restriction *in vivo. BMC Syst. Biol.* 3:31. doi: 10.1186/1752-0509-3-31
- Spangenburg, E. E., Jackson, K. C., and Schuh, R. A. (2013). AICAR inhibits oxygen consumption by intact skeletal muscle cells in culture. *J. Physiol. Biochem.* 69, 909–917. doi: 10.1007/s13105-013-0269-0
- Spina, R. J. (1999). Cardiovascular adaptations to endurance exercise training in older men and women. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 27, 317–332. doi: 10.1249/00003677-199900270-00012
- Spina, R. J., Chi, M. M., Hopkins, M. G., Nemeth, P. M., Lowry, O. H., and Holloszy, J. O. (1996). Mitochondrial enzymes increase in muscle in response to 7–10 days of cycle exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 80, 2250–2254.
- Steinberg, G. R., and Kemp, B. E. (2009). AMPK in Health and Disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 89, 1025–1078. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00011.2008

- Suchankova, G., Nelson, L. E., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Kelly, M., Gauthier, M. S., Saha, A. K., et al. (2009). Concurrent regulation of AMP-activated protein kinase and SIRT1 in mammalian cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 378, 836–841. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.11.130
- Sun, X., and Zemel, M. B. (2009). Leucine modulation of mitochondrial mass and oxygen consumption in skeletal muscle cells and adipocytes. *Nutr. Metab.* (*Lond.*) 6:26. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-6-26
- Venables, M. C., Hulston, C. J., Cox, H. R., and Jeukendrup, A. E. (2008). Green tea extract ingestion, fat oxidation, and glucose tolerance in healthy humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 87, 778–784.
- Wang, Y. X., Zhang, C. L., Yu, R. T., Cho, H. K., Nelson, M. C., Bayuga-Ocampo, C. R., et al. (2004). Regulation of muscle fiber type and running endurance by PPARdelta. *PLoS Biol.* 2:e294. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020294
- White, A. T., and Schenk, S. (2012). NAD(+)/NADH and skeletal muscle mitochondrial adaptations to exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 303, E308–E321. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00054.2012
- Winder, W. W., Baldwin, K. M., and Holloszy, J. O. (1974). Enzymes involved in ketone utilization in different types of muscle: adaptation to exercise. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 47, 461–467. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1974.tb03713.x
- Wright, D. C. (2007). Mechanisms of calcium-induced mitochondrial biogenesis and GLUT4 synthesis. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 32, 840–845. doi: 10.1139/H07-062
- Wright, D. C., Geiger, P. C., Han, D. H., Jones, T. E., and Holloszy, J. O. (2007). Calcium induces increases in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1alpha and mitochondrial biogenesis by a pathway leading to p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 18793–18799. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M611252200
- Yan, Z., Okutsu, M., Akhtar, Y. N., and Lira, V. A. (2011). Regulation of exercise-induced fiber type transformation, mitochondrial biogenesis, and angiogenesis in skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 110, 264–274. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00993.2010
- Youn, J. H., Gulve, E. A., and Holloszy, J. O. (1991). Calcium stimulates glucose transport in skeletal muscle by a pathway independent of contraction. Am. J. Physiol. 260, C555–C561.
- Zhu, B. T., Shim, J. Y., Nagai, M., and Bai, H. W. (2008). Molecular modelling study of the mechanism of high-potency inhibition of human catechol-O-methyltransferase by (-)-epigallocatechin-3-O-gallate. *Xenobiotica* 38, 130–146. doi: 10.1080/00498250701744641

Conflict of Interest Statement: Keith Baar has received research support from Sirtris pharmaceuticals and PepsiCo. Andrew Philp has received research support from Lucozade Ribena Suntory and Rank prize funds nutrition. Keith Baar and Andrew Philp are shareholders of Advanced Muscle Technologies. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Craig, Ashcroft, Belew, Stocks, Currell, Baar and Philp. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



On the mechanism by which dietary nitrate improves human skeletal muscle function

Charles Affourtit^{1*}, Stephen J. Bailey², Andrew M. Jones², Miranda J. Smallwood³ and Paul G. Winyard³

¹ School of Biomedical and Healthcare Sciences, Plymouth University Peninsula Schools of Medicine and Dentistry, Plymouth University, Plymouth, UK, ² Department of Sport and Health Sciences, College of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Exeter, Exeter, UK, ³ Institute of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences, University of Exeter Medical School, University of Exeter, Exeter, UK

Inorganic nitrate is present at high levels in beetroot and celery, and in green leafy vegetables such as spinach and lettuce. Though long believed inert, nitrate can be reduced to nitrite in the human mouth and, further, under hypoxia and/or low pH, to nitric oxide. Dietary nitrate has thus been associated favorably with nitric-oxide-regulated processes including blood flow and energy metabolism. Indeed, the therapeutic potential of dietary nitrate in cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome—both aging-related medical disorders—has attracted considerable recent research interest. We and others have shown that dietary nitrate supplementation lowers the oxygen cost of human exercise, as less respiratory activity appears to be required for a set rate of skeletal muscle work. This striking observation predicts that nitrate benefits the energy metabolism of human muscle, increasing the efficiency of either mitochondrial ATP synthesis and/or of cellular ATP-consuming processes. In this mini-review, we evaluate experimental support for the dietary nitrate effects on muscle bioenergetics and we critically discuss the likelihood of nitric oxide as the molecular mediator of such effects.

Keywords: dietary nitrate, nitrite, nitric oxide, oxygen cost of human exercise, cellular bioenergetics, skeletal muscle mitochondria, coupling efficiency of oxidative phosphorylation, ATP turnover

Introduction

Inorganic nitrate (NO_3^-) has long been considered an undesirable food component and pollutant of drinking water as nitrosation of secondary amines may produce carcinogenic *N*-nitrosamines (Magee and Barnes, 1956). However, the evidence that NO_3^- causes human cancers is weak and dietary NO_3^- , as e.g. found in beetroot and spinach, has instead been linked to many physiological benefits (Gilchrist et al., 2010). Humans do not only get $NO_3^$ from their diet as it is also generated endogenously (Tannenbaum et al., 1978) by oxidation of nitric oxide (NO) formed canonically via the L-arginine/NO synthase pathway (Moncada and Higgs, 1993). Importantly, inorganic NO_3^- can be reduced to nitrite (NO_2^-) and then NO, which offers an additional path of mammalian NO production that, unlike the canonical route, is independent of oxygen (O_2) (Lundberg et al., 2008). NO is widely believed to mediate the benefits of NO_3^- (Lundberg et al., 2009) including protection against cardiovascular

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Sruti Shiva, University of Pittsburgh, USA Emanuele Marzetti, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Italy

*Correspondence:

Charles Affourtit, School of Biomedical and Healthcare Sciences, Plymouth University, Portland Square Building, Drake Circus, PL4 8AA, Plymouth, UK charles.affourtit@plymouth.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 23 June 2015 **Accepted:** 14 July 2015 **Published:** 29 July 2015

Citation:

Affourtit C, Bailey SJ, Jones AM, Smallwood MJ and Winyard PG (2015) On the mechanism by which dietary nitrate improves human skeletal muscle function. Front. Physiol. 6:211. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00211

Abbreviations: AMPK, AMP-activated kinase; PCr, phosphocreatine; PKA, protein kinase A; P_{O2} , partial oxygen tension; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; $\dot{V}O_2$, pulmonary oxygen uptake.

disease (Omar and Webb, 2014) and the metabolic syndrome (Carlström et al., 2010). It has recently been found that dietary NO_3^- lowers the O_2 cost of human exercise as less respiratory activity is required for a set rate of skeletal muscle work (Larsen et al., 2007, 2010; Bailey et al., 2009, 2010). This finding is interesting as it challenges exercise physiology dogma that the steady-state O_2 consumption for any individual is immutable at a given sub-maximal workload irrespective of age, fitness, diet, or pharmacological intervention (Poole and Richardson, 1997). This mini-review aims to evaluate the mechanistic understanding of NO_3^- effects on skeletal muscle function.

O₂ Cost of Human Exercise

In a seminal publication, Larsen and colleagues reported that a 3-day supplementation with 0.1 mmol·kg⁻¹ NaNO₃· day⁻¹ lowered pulmonary O_2 uptake ($\dot{V}O_2$) by ~3-5% in humans completing sub-maximal cycling exercise (Larsen et al., 2007). Bailey and co-workers subsequently observed a 5% lower $\dot{V}O_2$ during low-intensity cycling exercise and a 16% improvement in the tolerable duration of high-intensity exercise over days 3-6 of a 6-day supplementation period with 5.6 mmol NO₃⁻ · day⁻¹, administered as 500 mL NO_3^- -rich beetroot juice day⁻¹ (Bailey et al., 2009). Importantly, NO₃-depleted beetroot juice does not improve exercise economy and performance (Lansley et al., 2011) eliminating antioxidants and polyphenols (Wootton-Beard and Ryan, 2011) as exclusive "active ingredients". NO₃⁻-induced improvements have been observed in humans completing walking, running, cycling, rowing and kayaking exercise, and positive responses arise both acutely, i.e., 1-3h after NO₃⁻ ingestion, and after prolonged NO₃⁻ supplementation over 3-15 days (Table 1). Acute (2.5 h post-ingestion) lowering of

TABLE 1 | Dietary nitrate improves the economy and/or performance of human locomotion.

Exercise	References ^a	Exposure period	
		1–3 h	3–15 d
Cycling	Larsen et al., 2007–1st study		\checkmark
	reporting dietary NO_3^- benefit		
	Larsen et al., 2010	\checkmark	
	Larsen et al., 2011		\checkmark
	Bailey et al., 2009-1st study using		\checkmark
	beetroot juice as NO_3^- source		
	Vanhatalo et al., 2010	\checkmark	\checkmark
	Cermak et al., 2012		\checkmark
	Wylie et al., 2013-Study reports	\checkmark	
	dose-dependency of NO ₃		
Running	Lansley et al., 2011 – 1st study using		\checkmark
	NO_3^- -depleted beetroot juice as placebo		
	Porcelli et al., 2014		\checkmark
Kayaking	Muggeridge et al., 2013	\checkmark	
	Peeling et al., 2014	\checkmark	
Walking	Lansley et al., 2011		\checkmark
Rowing	Bond et al., 2012		\checkmark

^a These studies are cited as examples—the list is not a comprehensive account of all available literature.

 $\dot{V}O_2$ during low-intensity exercise is progressively greater at 4.2, 8.4, and 16.8 mmol NO₃⁻, whereas high-intensity exercise tolerance is unaffected by 4.2 mmol NO₃⁻, but acutely improved to a similar extent by 8.4 and 16.8 mmol (Wylie et al., 2013). Therefore, short-term supplementation (≥3 days) with at least 5 mmol NO₃⁻ · day⁻¹, or acute ingestion of at least 8.4 mmol NO₃⁻, might represent an effective dietary intervention to improve the economy and performance of human locomotion, at least in healthy, moderately fit adults (Porcelli et al., 2014). Since effects on resting $\dot{V}O_2$ are equivocal (Bailey et al., 2010; Kelly et al., 2013b; Larsen et al., 2014), NO₃⁻ benefits may be exclusive to contracting skeletal muscles.

Physiological NO₃⁻ effects appear muscle-fiber-type-specific as evidenced by improved perfusion (Ferguson et al., 2014) and calcium handling (Hernández et al., 2012) of murine fasttwitch type II but not slow-twitch type I muscle. Consistent with this, NO_3^- benefit on $\dot{V}O_2$ adjustment following the onset of exercise and on tolerance to high-intensity exercise is relatively large when the contribution of type II muscle fibers to force production is increased in human skeletal muscle (Breese et al., 2013; Bailey et al., 2015). These preferential physiological effects may relate to the comparably low microvascular P_{O2} in resting and contracting type II muscle (McDonough et al., 2005). Indeed, NO₃⁻ improves exercise economy and performance in hypoxia (Masschelein et al., 2012; Muggeridge et al., 2014) more markedly than in normoxia (Kelly et al., 2014). Importantly, NO₃⁻ attenuates the degree of exercise intolerance and the slowing of PCr recovery kinetics in hypoxia to the levels seen in normoxia (Vanhatalo et al., 2011). It thus appears that exercise economy and performance benefit most from NO₃⁻ when muscle O₂ availability is low.

Although the majority of studies in healthy adults observe NO_3^- -improved exercise economy and/or performance, the effects are attenuated in well-trained endurance athletes (Bescós et al., 2012; Peacock et al., 2012; Christensen et al., 2013; Boorsma et al., 2014; Hoon et al., 2014; Lane et al., 2014), inconsistent in diseased populations (Berry et al., 2014; Kerley et al., 2015; Leong et al., 2015; Shepherd et al., 2015; Zamani et al., 2015), and possibly different in aging humans (Kelly et al., 2013b). More generally, there is evidence of distinct NO_3^- responders and non-responders in many studies. The relative efficacy of dietary NO_3^- effects on skeletal muscle thus appears variable, which underscores the need for detailed mechanistic understanding. To aid such understanding, it is important to ascertain how the human body processes dietary NO_3^- .

Molecular Fate of Dietary NO₃

When humans eat NO_3^- -rich food, NO_3^- is converted to NO_2^- by nitrate reductases in commensal bacteria that reside in the posterior part of the tongue (Duncan et al., 1995). Salivary NO_2^- is rapidly protonated in the acidic environment of the stomach resulting in the formation of NO and other reactive nitrogen species (RNS) including nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), nitrous acid (HNO₂), and dinitrogen trioxide (N₂O₃) (Benjamin et al., 1994; Lundberg et al., 1994; Lundberg and Weitzberg, 2013). NO_3^-

ingestion increases plasma NO₂⁻ levels in human subjects (e.g., Lundberg and Govoni, 2004; Webb et al., 2008; Bailey et al., 2009; Vanhatalo et al., 2010; Kelly et al., 2013a). Possibly catalyzed by xanthine oxidase (Zhang et al., 1998; Li et al., 2003) and/or deoxyhaemoglobin (Cosby et al., 2003; Gladwin et al., 2004; Gladwin and Kim-Shapiro, 2008), NO₂ is reduced to NO under conditions of low oxygen tension (Figure 1). Other sites of $NO_2^$ reductase activity include cytochrome c (Basu et al., 2008) and mitochondrial respiratory complexes III (Kozlov et al., 1999) and IV (Castello et al., 2006). However, mammalian NO₂ reductase activity has only been shown in vitro and in animal models (Feelisch et al., 2008; Jansson et al., 2008), and under low PO2 (Li et al., 2001; Feelisch et al., 2008) and low pH (Modin et al., 2001). Generally, the low pKa of NO_2^- (3.34, Oxtoby and Nachtrieb, 1996) limits its physiological reduction, which is an inefficient process per se (Li et al., 2008) and thus requires high NO₂⁻ concentrations. Indeed, at physiological NO₂⁻ levels (see below), even hypoxic red blood cells do not liberate significant NO (Bryan et al., 2004). O2 competitively inhibits NO_2^- reduction by xanthine oxidase (Li et al., 2004) and oxygenated haem effectively scavenges free NO (Feelisch et al., 2008). NO may be converted to N2O3 that in turn may react with free thiols to generate S-nitrosothiols (Hess et al., 2005) via an S-nitrosation reaction (Figure 1). NO is also able to modify proteins through nitrosylation, e.g., via reaction with the haem of myoglobin (Ignarro, 1991). NO furthermore binds, in a reversible and O₂-competitive manner, to the haem of cytochrome c oxidase, and in an O₂-independent way, to the enzyme's active site copper (Giulivi et al., 2006; Brown and Borutaite, 2007; Cooper and Giulivi, 2007). Peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) arising from the reaction of NO with the superoxide anion radical may undergo a nitration reaction with tyrosine residues to form 3-nitrotyrosine (**Figure 1**—Radi, 2004). Importantly, tyrosine containing proteins are also nitrated in a myeloperoxidase-catalyzed reaction using NO₂⁻ and hydrogen peroxide (Marquez and Dunford, 1995).

Physiological NO₂⁻ levels range from 50 to 500 nM in human plasma (Bryan et al., 2004; Dejam et al., 2005; Feelisch et al., 2008) and a mean concentration of 12 µM has been measured in human skin (Mowbray et al., 2009). In rodents, NO₂ concentration varies substantially between tissues, from below quantifiable limit in the liver, heart and lung to as high as 2 µM in kidney and $3.7 \,\mu\text{M}$ in lymph nodes; NO₃⁻ varies from $1 \,\mu\text{M}$ in the kidney to 50 µM in the aorta (Garcia-Saura et al., 2010). In humans, the ingestion of $10 \text{ mg NaNO}_3 \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$ has been shown to increase mean plasma NO₃⁻ within 90 min from 30 to $432 \,\mu\text{M}$ and mean plasma NO₂⁻ from 123 to 392 nM (Lundberg and Govoni, 2004). Similarly, 500 mL beetroot juice containing 45 mM $NO_3^$ on average raises mean plasma NO_3^- to $380 \,\mu\text{M}$ and NO_2^- to 600 nM within 30 min and 3 h of ingestion, respectively (Webb et al., 2008). Plasma NO₃⁻ and NO₂⁻ reach peak concentrations, respectively, 1-2 and 2-3 h post-ingestion, and NO₃ gradually returns to its base level after about 24 h (Ender et al., 1964; McKnight et al., 1997; Webb et al., 2008; Wylie et al., 2013).



Dietary nitrate and muscle function

Mammalian tissue NO_2^- and NO_3^- both have *in vivo* half-lives of tens of minutes (Bryan et al., 2005). The half-life of NO_2^- in whole human blood is only about 110 sec (Kelm, 1999) as it is rapidly oxidized to NO_3^- ; the half-life of NO_3^- in blood is 5–8 h (Wagner et al., 1983; McKnight et al., 1997). About 60% of ingested NO_3^- is excreted by the kidneys (Green et al., 1981; Wagner et al., 1983).

The reliability of commonly reported NO₃⁻ and NO₂⁻ values very much depends on the assays used to measure these inorganic anions. The modified Griess reaction using sulfanilamide and N-1-napthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride is a frequently used assay for measuring NO_2^- (Tsikas, 2007). Plasma NO₃⁻ concentrations are readily determined using this spectrophotometric assay following NO_3^- reduction to NO_2^- by cadmium (Green et al., 1982) or vanadium salts (Miranda et al., 2001). However, the Griess test lacks the sensitivity to probe the nanomolar NO₂⁻ levels present in human plasma. Ozone-based chemiluminescence is a preferred method of detection, which often involves deproteinisation of plasma samples by zinc sulfate precipitation before analysis (Higuchi and Motomizu, 1999). NO₂⁻ measurement by chemiluminescence usually involves acetic acid/sodium iodide-mediated reduction to NO, which then reacts with ozone to produce a chemiluminescence signal (Bateman et al., 2002). NO_3^- can also be measured this way by reduction to NO via reflux of the sample in vanadium chloride at 95°C. Confounding the NO_3^-/NO_2^- literature, in some assays NO_3^- is reduced to NO_2^- by bacterial nitrate reductases (Sun et al., 2003) whose activity varies from batch to batch. Confusing matters further, mere "NO_x" values are reported to denote the sum of NO_2^- and NO_3^- levels. A last analytical note concerns the use of NO₃⁻-depleted beetroot juice as placebo control in *in vivo* studies (see Section O₂ Cost of Human Exercise). It is important for experiments involving human participants to use a placebo juice that looks, tastes, and smells the same as the "real thing". A placebo that meets these criteria can be prepared by passing beetroot juice through a Purolite a520e anion exchange column, which effectively and selectively removes NO₃⁻ (Gilchrist et al., 2013).

Skeletal Muscle Bioenergetics

Dietary NO_3^- benefits on the O_2 cost of exercise likely arise from increased efficiency of ATP synthesis and/or of skeletal muscle work (Figure 1). Indeed, NO_3^- increases the rate of human skeletal muscle PCr recovery after exercise in hypoxia suggesting an augmented maximum rate of oxidative ATP synthesis (Vanhatalo et al., 2011), and lowers the ATP cost of contractile force production (Bailey et al., 2010). These in vivo studies confirm that NO₃⁻ indeed affects skeletal muscle bioenergetics, but they do not disclose the underlying molecular mechanism. In vitro experiments with C2C12 myocytes show that beetroot juice provokes mitochondrial biogenesis and modestly increases basal cellular respiration without affecting respiratory capacity and proton leak (Vaughan et al., 2014). These observations indicate improved mitochondrial coupling efficiency as beetroot juice has increased the proportion of total O₂ consumption coupled to ATP synthesis. Although the C2C12 experiments lack an appropriate NO3-depleted beetroot juice

control (see above), increased coupling efficiency of oxidative phosphorylation agrees with data reported by Larsen et al. (2011), who show that skeletal muscle mitochondria isolated from NO₃-supplemented subjects exhibit higher respiratory control and P/O ratios (defined in Brand and Nicholls, 2011) than mitochondria from non-supplemented controls, and that increases in P/O ratio correlate with NO3-induced decreases in whole-body O₂ uptake during exercise. This increased efficiency of ATP synthesis in isolated mitochondria, however, emerges from decreased respiration linked to mitochondrial proton leak, not from stimulated O2 uptake coupled to phosphorylation (Larsen et al., 2011). NO₃⁻-lowered proton leak coincides with decreases in adenine nucleotide translocase protein and, to a lesser extent, uncoupling protein-3 (Larsen et al., 2011). It should be emphasized that these mitochondrial carriers do not necessarily contribute to proton leak (Nedergaard and Cannon, 2003; Vozza et al., 2014) and that leak is expected to account for little skeletal muscle respiration at low protonmotive force (Affourtit and Brand, 2006), i.e., the bioenergetic state attained during exercise. Dietary NO₃⁻ also lowers the apparent affinity of mitochondrial respiration for O₂, an effect that is reproduced in vitro-acutely and pH-dependently-by NO₂ (Larsen et al., 2011). Lowered affinity is attributed to an NOinduced rise in the apparent K_m of cytochrome c oxidase for O_2 (Larsen et al., 2011) but, inconsistently, NO_2^- does not affect mitochondrial respiration or efficiency (Larsen et al., 2011) like NO is expected to (Brown and Borutaite, 2007). Apparent mitochondrial respiratory affinity for O₂ depends strongly on the extent to which respiration is controlled by the enzyme reacting with O2 (Affourtit et al., 2001)-control of cytochrome c oxidase over O₂ consumption may well have been affected by NO₂⁻ and pH, and also by dietary NO₃⁻-induced mitochondrial changes.

It remains to be demonstrated convincingly whether or not dietary NO₃⁻ effects in skeletal muscle are mediated by NO. Nitrite reductase activity requires high NO₂⁻ levels and exceptionally low PO2 and pH (see Section Molecular Fate of Dietary NO_3^-) that may indeed manifest in the ischaemic heart (Brown and Borutaite, 2007; Hendgen-Cotta et al., 2010), but are unlikely in healthy muscle. In contracting muscle, myoglobin O2 saturation remains as high as 50% (Takakura et al., 2015) and although globins indeed exhibit nitrite reductase activity at this saturation (Huang et al., 2005), cytoplasmic NO will likely be scavenged by oxymyoglobin (Hendgen-Cotta et al., 2010). Even if O_2 were sufficiently low for NO_2^- reduction in exercising muscle, we stress that dietary NO₃⁻ intake remodels skeletal muscle bioenergetics in the hours to days before exercise (see Section O₂ Cost of Human Exercise), i.e., when the muscles are at rest. Importantly, NO₂⁻ also modulates cell signaling independently of NO in hypoxia and normoxia (Bryan et al., 2005). NO_2^- activates AMPK in rat aortic smooth muscle cells thus stimulating mitochondrial biogenesis, and increasing coupling efficiency and cellular respiratory control (Mo et al., 2012). NO₂⁻ activates PKA in cultured cardiomyocytes, stimulating mitochondrial fusion and again increasing cellular respiratory control (Pride et al., 2013). In both systems, NO_2^- improves efficiency of oxidative ATP synthesis without apparent effect on proton leak, which agrees with the beetroot juice effects on C2C12 respiration

(Vaughan et al., 2014). NO_2^- also activates PKA in cultured adipocytes, increasing mitochondrial fusion, and stimulating glucose uptake (Khoo et al., 2014). Moreover, NO_2^- increases proliferation of muscle (Totzeck et al., 2014) and epithelial cells (Wang et al., 2012).

RNS can modify proteins (see Section Molecular fate of dietary NO_3^-) and may thus improve mitochondrial coupling efficiency in various ways, e.g., by increasing proton translocation to electron transfer stoichiometries of respiratory complexes (*cf.* Clerc et al., 2007). By definition (Brand and Nicholls, 2011), coupling efficiency benefits from decreased proton leak and increased phosphorylation-linked respiration, as indeed reported by (Larsen et al., 2011) and (Vaughan et al., 2014), respectively. System-kinetic modeling furthermore suggests that substrate oxidation capacity, which is dependent on fuel and O₂ availability, correlates positively with coupling efficiency (Affourtit and Brand, 2009). Dietary NO_3^- may thus improve efficiency of muscle ATP synthesis, at least in part, by increasing expression of glucose transporters (Jiang et al., 2014), and/or by raising insulin availability (Nyström et al., 2012).

Dietary NO_3^- increases the contractile force of fast-twitch mouse muscle by improving calcium handling (Hernández et al., 2012) suggesting the efficiency of ATP-demanding contraction may have increased. To our knowledge, no other data are available on the mechanism by which dietary NO_3^- affects ATP turnover. However, NO_3^- supplementation may also alter efficiency of other ATP-consumers and, importantly, the relative importance of dietary NO_3^- effects on skeletal muscle ATP supply and ATP turnover remains unclear. A systems-level functional analysis of cellular energy metabolism (cf. Brand, 1998) may shed light on these issues. Using myocytes isolated from human muscle biopsies (Nisr and Affourtit, 2014) the relative effects of RNS on ATP-generating and ATP-consuming fluxes-linked through the cell's phosphorylation potential (Figure 1)-may be identified and quantified in an unbiased manner. A challenge of such in vitro analysis will be the approximation of physiologically meaningful conditions, in particular the O₂ tensions and energy

References

- Affourtit, C., and Brand, M. D. (2006). Stronger control of ATP/ADP by proton leak in pancreatic beta-cells than skeletal muscle mitochondria. *Biochem. J.* 393, 151–159. doi: 10.1042/BJ20051280
- Affourtit, C., and Brand, M. D. (2009). Measuring mitochondrial bioenergetics in INS-1E insulinoma cells. *Meth. Enzymol.* 457, 405–424. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(09)05023-X
- Affourtit, C., Krab, K., and Moore, A. L. (2001). Control of plant mitochondrial respiration. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1504, 58–69. doi: 10.1016/S0005-2728(00)00239-5
- Bailey, S. J., Fulford, J., Vanhatalo, A., Winyard, P. G., Blackwell, J. R., DiMenna, F. J., et al. (2010). Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances muscle contractile efficiency during knee-extensor exercise in humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 135–148. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00046.2010
- Bailey, S. J., Varnham, R. L., Dimenna, F. J., Breese, B. C., Wylie, L. J., and Jones, A. M. (2015). Inorganic nitrate supplementation improves muscle oxygenation, O₂ uptake kinetics, and exercise tolerance at high but not low pedal rates. J. Appl. Physiol. 118, 1396–1405. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.0114 1.2014

demands that prevail during the development of dietary NO_3^- benefits.

Conclusion

The striking benefit of dietary NO_3^- on the O_2 cost of exercise is of obvious interest to athletes (Jones, 2014), but may also well impact on the quality of life of aging people suffering from muscle weakness and exercise intolerance. To rationally evaluate translational potential, our mechanistic understanding of dietary NO_3^- benefits on human skeletal muscle needs to be improved. By integrating biochemistry and physiology, and studying subjects at different age, it will be important to demonstrate which reactive nitrogen species mediate dietary NO_3^- effects at the cellular level, disclose all effects of nitrogen species on myocellular bioenergetics, confirm if they are direct or indirect via action on other tissues, and quantify the relative importance of these effects.

Author Contributions

CA wrote Sections Introduction, Skeletal Muscle Bioenergetics, and Conclusion, and produced the table and figure; SB and AJ wrote Section O_2 Cost of Human Exercise; MS and PW wrote Section Molecular Fate of Dietary NO_3^- . All authors edited and approved the entire manuscript.

Acknowledgments

Research in the authors' laboratories is currently supported by the Medical Research Council (New Investigator Research Grant G1100165/1 to CA), Gatorade Sports Science Institute (Grants PEP-1330 and PEP-1420 to AJ), the Exeter Leukaemia Fund (Grant ST-06354 to AJ), the Dunhill Medical Trust (Grant R269/1112 to AJ) and the NIHR Exeter Clinical Research Facility (PW and MS). The views and opinions shown within this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health.

- Bailey, S. J., Winyard, P., Vanhatalo, A., Blackwell, J. R., Dimenna, F. J., Wilkerson, D. P., et al. (2009). Dietary nitrate supplementation reduces the O₂ cost of low-intensity exercise and enhances tolerance to high-intensity exercise in humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 107, 1144–1155. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00722.2009
- Basu, S., Azarova, N. A., Font, M. D., King, S. B., Hogg, N., Gladwin, M. T., et al. (2008). Nitrite reductase activity of cytochrome c. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 32590–32597. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806934200
- Bateman, R. M., Ellis, C. G., and Freeman, D. J. (2002). Optimization of nitric oxide chemiluminescence operating conditions for measurement of plasma nitrite and nitrate. *Clin. Chem.* 48, 570–573.
- Benjamin, N., O'Driscoll, F., Dougall, H., Duncan, C., Smith, L., Golden, M., et al. (1994). Stomach NO synthesis. *Nature* 368, 502. doi: 10.1038/368502a0
- Berry, M. J., Justus, N. W., Hauser, J. I., Case, A. H., Helms, C. C., Basu, S., et al. (2014). Dietary nitrate supplementation improves exercise performance and decreases blood pressure in COPD patients. *Nitric Oxide*. 48, 22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014.10.007
- Bescós, R., Ferrer-Roca, V., Galilea, P. A., Roig, A., Drobnic, F., Sureda, A., et al. (2012). Sodium nitrate supplementation does not enhance performance of endurance athletes. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 44, 2400–2409. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182687e5c

- Bond, H., Morton, L., and Braakhuis, A. J. (2012). Dietary nitrate supplementation improves rowing performance in well-trained rowers. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 22, 251–256.
- Boorsma, R. K., Whitfield, J., and Spriet, L. L. (2014). Beetroot juice supplementation does not improve performance of elite 1500-m runners. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 46, 2326–2334. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000364
- Brand, M. D. (1998). Top-down elasticity analysis and its application to energy metabolism in isolated mitochondria and intact cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 184, 13–20. doi: 10.1023/A:1006893619101
- Brand, M. D., and Nicholls, D. G. (2011). Assessing mitochondrial dysfunction in cells. *Biochem. J.* 435, 297–312. doi: 10.1042/BJ20110162
- Breese, B. C., McNarry, M. A., Marwood, S., Blackwell, J. R., Bailey, S. J., and Jones, A. M. (2013). Beetroot juice supplementation speeds O2 uptake kinetics and improves exercise tolerance during severe-intensity exercise initiated from an elevated metabolic rate. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 305, R1441–R1450. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00295.2013
- Brown, G., and Borutaite, V. (2007). Nitric oxide and mitochondrial respiration in the heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 75, 283–290. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2007.03.022
- Bryan, N. S., Fernandez, B. O., Bauer, S. M., Garcia-Saura, M. F., Milsom, A. B., Rassaf, T., et al. (2005). Nitrite is a signaling molecule and regulator of gene expression in mammalian tissues. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 1, 290–297. doi: 10.1038/nchembio734
- Bryan, N. S., Rassaf, T., Maloney, R. E., Rodriguez, C. M., Saijo, F., Rodriguez, J. R., et al. (2004). Cellular targets and mechanisms of nitros(yl)ation: an insight into their nature and kinetics *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 4308–4313. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0306706101
- Carlström, M., Larsen, F. J., Nyström, T., Hezel, M., Borniquel, S., Weitzberg, E., et al. (2010). Dietary inorganic nitrate reverses features of metabolic syndrome in endothelial nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 17716–17720. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008872107
- Castello, P. R., David, P. S., McClure, T., Crook, Z., and Poyton, R. O. (2006). Mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase produces nitric oxide under hypoxic conditions: implications for oxygen sensing and hypoxic signaling in eukaryotes. *Cell Metab.* 3, 277–287. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.02.011
- Cermak, N. M., Gibala, M. J., and van Loon, L. J. C. (2012). Nitrate supplementation's improvement of 10-km time-trial performance in trained cyclists. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 22, 64–71.
- Christensen, P. M., Nyberg, M., and Bangsbo, J. (2013). Influence of nitrate supplementation on VO2 kinetics and endurance of elite cyclists. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 23, e21–e31. doi: 10.1111/sms.12005
- Clerc, P., Rigoulet, M., Leverve, X., and Fontaine, E. (2007). Nitric oxide increases oxidative phosphorylation efficiency. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 39, 158–166. doi: 10.1007/s10863-007-9074-1
- Cooper, C. E., and Giulivi, C. (2007). Nitric oxide regulation of mitochondrial oxygen consumption II: molecular mechanism and tissue physiology. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292, C1993–C2003. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00310.2006
- Cosby, K., Partovi, K. S., Crawford, J. H., Patel, R. P., Reiter, C. D., Martyr, S., et al. (2003). Nitrite reduction to nitric oxide by deoxyhemoglobin vasodilates the human circulation. *Nat. Med.* 9, 1498–1505. doi: 10.1038/nm954
- Dejam, A., Hunter, C. J., Pelletier, M. M., Hsu, L. L., Machado, R. F., Shiva, S., et al. (2005). Erythrocytes are the major intravascular storage sites of nitrite in human blood. *Blood* 106, 734–739. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-02-0567
- Duncan, C., Dougall, H., Johnston, P., Green, S., Brogan, R., Leifert, C., et al. (1995). Chemical generation of nitric oxide in the mouth from the enterosalivary circulation of dietary nitrate. *Nat. Med.* 1, 546–551. doi: 10.1038/nm0695-546
- Ender, F., Havre, G., Helgebostad, A., Koppang, N., Madsen, R., and Ceh, L. (1964). Isolation and identification of a hepatotoxic factor in herring meal produced from sodium nitrite preserved herring. *Naturwissenschaften* 51, 637–638. doi: 10.1007/BF00623677
- Feelisch, M., Fernandez, B. O., Bryan, N. S., Garcia-Saura, M. F., Bauer, S., Whitlock, D. R., et al. (2008). Tissue processing of nitrite in hypoxia: an intricate interplay of nitric oxide-generating and -scavenging systems. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 33927–33934. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806654200
- Ferguson, S. K., Holdsworth, C. T., Wright, J. L., Fees, A. J., Allen, J. D., Jones, A. M., et al. (2014). Microvascular oxygen pressures in muscles comprised of different fiber types: impact of dietary nitrate supplementation. *Nitric Oxide*. 48, 38–43. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014.09.157

- Garcia-Saura, M. F., Fernandez, B. O., McAllister, B. P., Whitlock, D. R., Cruikshank, W. W., and Feelisch, M. (2010). Dermal nitrite application enhances global nitric oxide availability: new therapeutic potential for immunomodulation? *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 130, 608–611. doi: 10.1038/jid.2009.303
- Gilchrist, M., Winyard, P. G., Aizawa, K., Anning, C., Shore, A., and Benjamin, N. (2013). Effect of dietary nitrate on blood pressure, endothelial function, and insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 60, 89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.01.024
- Gilchrist, M., Winyard, P. G., and Benjamin, N. (2010). Dietary nitrate good or bad? *Nitric Oxide* 22, 104–109. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2009.10.005
- Giulivi, C., Kato, K., and Cooper, C. E. (2006). Nitric oxide regulation of mitochondrial oxygen consumption I: cellular physiology. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 291, C1225–C1231. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00307.2006
- Gladwin, M. T., Crawford, J. H., and Patel, R. P. (2004). The biochemistry of nitric oxide, nitrite, and hemoglobin: role in blood flow regulation. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 36, 707–717. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003. 11.032
- Gladwin, M. T., and Kim-Shapiro, D. B. (2008). The functional nitrite reductase activity of the heme-globins. *Blood* 112, 2636–2647. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-01-115261
- Green, L. C., Ruiz de Luzuriaga, K., Wagner, D. A., Rand, W., Istfan, N., Young, V. R., et al. (1981). Nitrate biosynthesis in man. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 78, 7764–7768. doi: 10.1073/pnas.78.12.7764
- Green, L. C., Wagner, D. A., Glogowski, J., Skipper, P. L., Wishnok, J. S., and Tannenbaum, S. R. (1982). Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [¹⁵N]nitrate in biological fluids. *Anal. Biochem.* 126, 131–138. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(82)90118-X
- Hendgen-Cotta, U. B., Flogel, U., Kelm, M., and Rassaf, T. (2010). Unmasking the Janus face of myoglobin in health and disease. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 2734–2740. doi: 10.1242/jeb.041178
- Hernández, A., Schiffer, T. A., Ivarsson, N., Cheng, A. J., Bruton, J. D., Lundberg, J. O., et al. (2012). Dietary nitrate increases tetanic [Ca 2+] iand contractile force in mouse fast-twitch muscle. J. Physiol. 590, 3575–3583. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.232777
- Hess, D. T., Matsumoto, A., Kim, S.-O., Marshall, H. E., and Stamler, J. S. (2005). Protein S-nitrosylation: purview and parameters. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 6, 150–166. doi: 10.1038/nrm1569
- Higuchi, K., and Motomizu, S. (1999). Flow-injection spectrophotometric determination of nitrite and nitrate in biological samples. *Anal. Sci.* 15, 129–134. doi: 10.2116/analsci.15.129
- Hoon, M. W., Hopkins, W. G., Jones, A. M., Martin, D. T., Halson, S. L., West, N. P., et al. (2014). Nitrate supplementation and high-intensity performance in competitive cyclists. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 1043–1049. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0574
- Huang, Z., Shiva, S., Kim-Shapiro, D. B., Patel, R. P., Ringwood, L. A., Irby, C. E., et al. (2005). Enzymatic function of hemoglobin as a nitrite reductase that produces NO under allosteric control. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 2099–2107. doi: 10.1172/JCI24650
- Ignarro, L. J. (1991). Signal transduction mechanisms involving nitric oxide. Biochem. Pharmacol. 41, 485–490. doi: 10.1016/0006-2952(91)90618-F
- Jansson, E. A., Huang, L., Malkey, R., Govoni, M., Nihlén, C., Olsson, A., et al. (2008). A mammalian functional nitrate reductase that regulates nitrite and nitric oxide homeostasis. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 4, 411–417. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.92
- Jiang, H., Torregrossa, A. C., Potts, A., Pierini, D., Aranke, M., Garg, H. K., et al. (2014). Dietary nitrite improves insulin signaling through GLUT4 translocation. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 67, 51–57. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.10.809
- Jones, A. M. (2014). Dietary nitrate supplementation and exercise performance. Sports Med. 44, S35–S45. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0149-y
- Kelly, J., Fulford, J., Vanhatalo, A., Blackwell, J. R., French, O., Bailey, S. J., et al. (2013a). Effects of short-term dietary nitrate supplementation on blood pressure, O2 uptake kinetics, and muscle and cognitive function in older adults. Am. J. Physiol. Reg. Int. Comp. Physiol. 304, R73–R83. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00406.2012
- Kelly, J., Vanhatalo, A., Bailey, S. J., Wylie, L. J., Tucker, C., List, S., et al. (2014). Dietary nitrate supplementation: effects on plasma nitrite and pulmonary O2

uptake dynamics during exercise in hypoxia and normoxia. Am. J. Physiol. Reg. Int. Comp. Physiol. 307, R920–R930. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00068.2014

- Kelly, J., Vanhatalo, A., Wilkerson, D. P., Wylie, L. J., and Jones, A. M. (2013b). Effects of nitrate on the power-duration relationship for severe-intensity exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 45, 1798–1806. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31828e885c
- Kelm, M. (1999). Nitric oxide metabolism and breakdown. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1411, 273–289. doi: 10.1016/S0005-2728(99)00020-1
- Kerley, C. P., Cahill, K., Bolger, K., McGowan, A., Burke, C., Faul, J., et al. (2015). Dietary nitrate supplementation in COPD: an acute, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. *Nitric Oxide* 44, 105–111. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014.12.010
- Khoo, N. K. H., Mo, L., Zharikov, S., Kamga-Pride, C., Quesnelle, K., Golin-Bisello, F., et al. (2014). Nitrite augments glucose uptake in adipocytes through the protein kinase A-dependent stimulation of mitochondrial fusion. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 70, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.02.009
- Kozlov, A. V., Staniek, K., and Nohl, H. (1999). Nitrite reductase activity is a novel function of mammalian mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* 454, 127–130. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00788-7
- Lane, S. C., Hawley, J. A., Desbrow, B., Jones, A. M., Blackwell, J. R., Ross, M. L., et al. (2014). Single and combined effects of beetroot juice and caffeine supplementation on cycling time trial performance. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 1050–1057. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0336
- Lansley, K. E., Winyard, P. G., Bailey, S. J., Vanhatalo, A., Wilkerson, D. P., Blackwell, J. R., et al. (2011). Acute dietary nitrate supplementation improves cycling time trial performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1125–1131. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821597b4
- Larsen, F. J., Schiffer, T. A., Borniquel, S., Sahlin, K., Ekblom, B., Lundberg, J. O., et al. (2011). Dietary inorganic nitrate improves mitochondrial efficiency in humans. *Cell Metab.* 13, 149–159. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011. 01.004
- Larsen, F. J., Schiffer, T. A., Ekblom, B., Mattsson, M. P., Checa, A., Wheelock, C. E., et al. (2014). Dietary nitrate reduces resting metabolic rate: a randomized, crossover study in humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 99, 843–850. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.079491
- Larsen, F. J., Weitzberg, E., Lundberg, J. O., and Ekblom, B. (2007). Effects of dietary nitrate on oxygen cost during exercise. Acta Physiol. 191, 59–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2007.01713.x
- Larsen, F. J., Weitzberg, E., Lundberg, J. O., and Ekblom, B. (2010). Dietary nitrate reduces maximal oxygen consumption while maintaining work performance in maximal exercise. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 48, 342–347. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.11.006
- Leong, P., Basham, J. E., Yong, T., Chazan, A., Finlay, P., Barnes, S., et al. (2015). A double blind randomized placebo control crossover trial on the effect of dietary nitrate supplementation on exercise tolerance in stable moderate chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *BMC Pulm. Med.* 15:52. doi: 10.1186/s12890-015-0057-4
- Li, H., Cui, H., Kundu, T. K., Alzawahra, W., and Zweier, J. L. (2008). Nitric oxide production from nitrite occurs primarily in tissues not in the blood: critical role of xanthine oxidase and aldehyde oxidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 17855–17863. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M801785200
- Li, H., Samouilov, A., Liu, X., and Zweier, J. L. (2001). Characterization of the magnitude and kinetics of xanthine oxidase-catalyzed nitrite reduction. Evaluation of its role in nitric oxide generation in anoxic tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24482–24489. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M011648200
- Li, H., Samouilov, A., Liu, X., and Zweier, J. L. (2003). Characterization of the magnitude and kinetics of xanthine oxidase-catalyzed nitrate reduction: evaluation of its role in nitrite and nitric oxide generation in anoxic tissues. *Biochemistry* 42, 1150–1159. doi: 10.1021/bi026385a
- Li, H., Samouilov, A., Liu, X., and Zweier, J. L. (2004). Characterization of the effects of oxygen on xanthine oxidase-mediated nitric oxide formation. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 16939–16946. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M314336200
- Lundberg, J. O., Gladwin, M. T., Ahluwalia, A., Benjamin, N., Bryan, N. S., Butler, A., et al. (2009). Nitrate and nitrite in biology, nutrition and therapeutics. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 5, 865–869. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.260
- Lundberg, J. O., and Govoni, M. (2004). Inorganic nitrate is a possible source for systemic generation of nitric oxide. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 37, 395–400. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.04.027

- Lundberg, J. O., and Weitzberg, E. (2013). Biology of nitrogen oxides in the gastrointestinal tract. Gut 62, 616–629. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301649
- Lundberg, J. O., Weitzberg, E., and Gladwin, M. T. (2008). The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nat. Rev. Drug Disc.* 7, 156–167. doi: 10.1038/nrd2466
- Lundberg, J. O., Weitzberg, E., Lundberg, J. M., and Alving, K. (1994). Intragastric nitric oxide production in humans: measurements in expelled air. *Gut* 35, 1543–1546. doi: 10.1136/gut.35.11.1543
- Magee, P. N., and Barnes, J. M. (1956). The production of malignant primary hepatic tumours in the rat by feeding dimethylnitrosamine. *Br. J. Cancer* 10, 114–122. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1956.15
- Marquez, L. A., and Dunford, H. B. (1995). Kinetics of oxidation of tyrosine and dityrosine by myeloperoxidase compounds I and II. Implications for lipoprotein peroxidation studies. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 30434–30440. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.51.30434
- Masschelein, E., Van Thienen, R., Wang, X., Van Schepdael, A., Thomis, M., and Hespel, P. (2012). Dietary nitrate improves muscle but not cerebral oxygenation status during exercise in hypoxia. J. Appl. Physiol. 113, 736–745. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01253.2011
- McDonough, P., Behnke, B. J., Padilla, D. J., Musch, T. I., and Poole, D. C. (2005). Control of microvascular oxygen pressures in rat muscles comprised of different fibre types. J. Physiol. 563, 903–913. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.079533
- McKnight, G. M., Smith, L. M., Drummond, R. S., Duncan, C. W., Golden, M., and Benjamin, N. (1997). Chemical synthesis of nitric oxide in the stomach from dietary nitrate in humans. *Gut* 40, 211–214. doi: 10.1136/gut.40.2.211
- Miranda, K. M., Espey, M. G., and Wink, D. A. (2001). A rapid, simple spectrophotometric method for simultaneous detection of nitrate and nitrite. *Nitric Oxide* 5, 62–71. doi: 10.1006/niox.2000.0319
- Mo, L., Wang, Y., Geary, L., Corey, C., Alef, M. J., Beer-Stolz, D., et al. (2012). Free Radical Biology and Medicine. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 53, 1440–1450. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.07.080
- Modin, A., Björne, H., Herulf, M., Alving, K., Weitzberg, E., and Lundberg, J. O. (2001). Nitrite-derived nitric oxide: a possible mediator of "acidicmetabolic" vasodilation. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 171, 9–16. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201x.2001.171001009.x
- Moncada, S., and Higgs, A. (1993). The L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway. N. Engl. J. Med. 329, 2002–2012. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199312303292706
- Mowbray, M., McLintock, S., Weerakoon, R., Lomatschinsky, N., Jones, S., Rossi, A. G., et al. (2009). Enzyme-independent NO stores in human skin: quantification and influence of UV radiation. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 129, 834–842. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.296
- Muggeridge, D. J., Howe, C, C. F., Spendiff, O., Pedlar, C., James, P. E., and Easton, C. (2013). The effects of a single dose of concentrated beetroot juice on performance in trained flatwater kayakers. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 23, 498–506.
- Muggeridge, D. J., Howe, C. C. F., Spendiff, O., Pedlar, C., James, P. E., and Easton, C. (2014). A single dose of beetroot juice enhances cycling performance in simulated altitude. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 46, 143–150. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182a1dc51
- Nedergaard, J., and Cannon, B. (2003). The 'novel' 'uncoupling'proteins UCP2 and UCP3: what do they really do? Pros and cons for suggested functions. *Exp. Physiol.* 88, 65–84. doi: 10.1113/eph8802502
- Nisr, R. B., and Affourtit, C. (2014). Insulin acutely improves mitochondrial function of rat and human skeletal muscle by increasing coupling efficiency of oxidative phosphorylation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1837, 270–276. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2013.10.012
- Nyström, T., Ortsäter, H., Huang, Z., Zhang, F., Larsen, F. J., Weitzberg, E., et al. (2012). Inorganic nitrite stimulates pancreatic islet blood flow and insulin secretion. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 53, 1017–1023. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.06.031
- Omar, S. A., and Webb, A. J. (2014). Nitrite reduction and cardiovascular protection. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 73, 57–69. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.01.012
- Oxtoby, D. W., and Nachtrieb, N. H., eds. (1996). *Principles of Modern Chemistry, 3rd Edn.* Fort Worth, TX: Hartcourt; Fort Worth Brace.
- Peacock, O., Tjønna, A. E., James, P., Wisløff, U., Welde, B., Böhlke, N., et al. (2012). Dietary nitrate does not enhance running performance in elite cross-country skiers. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 44, 2213–2219. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182640f48

- Peeling, P., Cox, G. R., Bullock, N., and Burke, L. M. (2014). Beetroot juice improves on-water 500 m time-trial performance, and laboratory-based paddling economy in national and international-level Kayak athletes. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 25, 278–284. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2014-0110
- Poole, D. C., and Richardson, R. S. (1997). Determinants of oxygen uptake. Implications for exercise testing. Sports Med. 24, 308–320. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199724050-00003
- Porcelli, S., Ramaglia, M., Bellistri, G., Pavei, G., Pugliese, L., Montorsi, M., et al. (2014). Aerobic fitness affects the exercise performance responses to nitrate supplementation. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 1643–1651. doi: 10.1249/mss.00000000000577
- Pride, C. K., Mo, L., Quesnelle, K., Dagda, R. K., Murillo, D., Geary, L., et al. (2013). Nitrite activates protein kinase A in normoxia to mediate mitochondrial fusion and tolerance to ischaemia/reperfusion. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 101, 57–68. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvt224
- Radi, R. (2004). Nitric oxide, oxidants, and protein tyrosine nitration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 4003–4008. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0307446101
- Shepherd, A. I., Gilchrist, M., Winyard, P. G., Jones, A. M., Hallmann, E., Kazimierczak, R., et al. (2015). Effects of dietary nitrate supplementation on the oxygen cost of exercise and walking performance in individuals with type 2 diabetes: a randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled cross-over trial. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 86, 200–208. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2015.05.014
- Sun, J., Zhang, X., Broderick, M., and Fein, H. (2003). Measurement of nitric oxide production in biological systems by using griess reaction assay. *Sensors* 3, 276–284. doi: 10.3390/s30800276
- Takakura, H., Furuichi, Y., Yamada, T., Jue, T., Ojino, M., Hashimoto, T., et al. (2015). Endurance training facilitates myoglobin desaturation during muscle contraction in rat skeletal muscle. *Sci. Rep.* 5:9403. doi: 10.1038/srep09403
- Tannenbaum, S. R., Fett, D., Young, V. R., Land, P. D., and Bruce, W. R. (1978). Nitrite and nitrate are formed by endogenous synthesis in the human intestine. *Science* 200, 1487–1489. doi: 10.1126/science.663630
- Totzeck, M., Schicho, A., Stock, P., Kelm, M., Rassaf, T., and Hendgen-Cotta, U. B. (2014). Nitrite circumvents canonical cGMP signaling to enhance proliferation of myocyte precursor cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 401, 175–183. doi: 10.1007/s11010-014-2305-y
- Tsikas, D. (2007). Analysis of nitrite and nitrate in biological fluids by assays based on the Griess reaction: appraisal of the Griess reaction in the L-arginine/nitric oxide area of research. *J. Chrom. B* 851, 51–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jchromb.2006.07.054
- Vanhatalo, A., Bailey, S. J., Blackwell, J. R., DiMenna, F. J., Pavey, T. G., Wilkerson, D. P., et al. (2010). Acute and chronic effects of dietary nitrate supplementation on blood pressure and the physiological responses to moderate-intensity and incremental exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Reg. Int. Comp. Physiol. 299, R1121–R1131. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00206.2010
- Vanhatalo, A., Fulford, J., Bailey, S. J., Blackwell, J. R., Winyard, P. G., and Jones, A. M. (2011). Dietary nitrate reduces muscle metabolic perturbation and improves exercise tolerance in hypoxia. *J. Physiol.* 589, 5517–5528. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.216341

- Vaughan, R. A., Gannon, N. P., and Carriker, C. R. (2014). Nitrate-containing beetroot enhances myocyte metabolism and mitochondrial content. J. Tradit. Complement Med. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcme.2014.11.033. [Epub ahead of print].
- Vozza, A., Parisi, G., De Leonardis, F., Lasorsa, F. M., Castegna, A., Amorese, D., et al. (2014). UCP2 transports C4 metabolites out of mitochondria, regulating glucose and glutamine oxidation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 960–965. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1317400111
- Wagner, D. A., Schultz, D. S., Deen, W. M., Young, V. R., and Tannenbaum, S. R. (1983). Metabolic fate of an oral dose of 15N-labeled nitrate in humans: effect of diet supplementation with ascorbic acid. *Cancer Res.* 43, 1921–1925.
- Wang, L., Frizzell, S. A., Zhao, X., and Gladwin, M. T. (2012). Normoxic cyclic GMP-independent oxidative signaling by nitrite enhances airway epithelial cell proliferation and wound healing. *Nitric Oxide* 26, 203–210. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2012.03.002
- Webb, A. J., Patel, N., Loukogeorgakis, S., Okorie, M., Aboud, Z., Misra, S., et al. (2008). Acute blood pressure lowering, vasoprotective, and antiplatelet properties of dietary nitrate via bioconversion to nitrite. *Hypertension* 51, 784–790. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.103523
- Wootton-Beard, P. C., and Ryan, L. (2011). A beetroot juice shot is a significant and convenient source of bioaccessible antioxidants. J. Funct. Foods 3, 329–334. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2011.05.007
- Wylie, L. J., Kelly, J., Bailey, S. J., Blackwell, J. R., Skiba, P. F., Winyard, P. G., et al. (2013). Beetroot juice and exercise: pharmacodynamic and dose-response relationships. J. Appl. Physiol. 115, 325–336. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00372.2013
- Zamani, P., Rawat, D., Shiva-Kumar, P., Geraci, S., Bhuva, R., Konda, P., et al. (2015). Effect of inorganic nitrate on exercise capacity in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Circulation* 131, 371–380. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.012957
- Zhang, Z., Naughton, D., Winyard, P. G., and Benjamin, N. (1998). Generation of nitric oxide by a nitrite reductase activity of xanthine oxidase: a potential pathway for nitric oxide formation in the absence of nitric oxide synthase activity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 249, 767–772. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1998.9226

Conflict of Interest Statement: The development of a placebo beetroot juice preparation in PGW's laboratory was supported by James White Drinks Ltd. Otherwise, we confirm that this mini-review was written in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Affourtit, Bailey, Jones, Smallwood and Winyard. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





In utero Undernutrition Programs Skeletal and Cardiac Muscle Metabolism

Brittany Beauchamp and Mary-Ellen Harper*

Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology, and Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

In utero undernutrition is associated with increased risk for insulin resistance, obesity, and cardiovascular disease during adult life. A common phenotype associated with low birth weight is reduced skeletal muscle mass. Given the central role of skeletal muscle in whole body metabolism, alterations in its mass as well as its metabolic characteristics may contribute to disease risk. This review highlights the metabolic alterations in cardiac and skeletal muscle associated with *in utero* undernutrition and low birth weight. These tissues have high metabolic demands and are known to be sites of major metabolic dysfunction in obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. Recent research demonstrates that mitochondrial energetics are decreased in skeletal and cardiac muscles of adult offspring from undernourished mothers. These effects apparently lead to the development of a thrifty phenotype, which may represent overall a compensatory mechanism programmed *in utero* to handle times of limited nutrient availability. However, in an environment characterized by food abundance, the effects are maladaptive and increase adulthood risks of metabolic disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Robert W. Wiseman, Michigan State University, USA Stephen T. Kinsey, University of North Carolina Wilmington, USA

*Correspondence:

Mary-Ellen Harper mharper@uottawa.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 06 October 2015 Accepted: 07 December 2015 Published: 06 January 2016

Citation:

Beauchamp B and Harper M-E (2016) In utero Undernutrition Programs Skeletal and Cardiac Muscle Metabolism. Front. Physiol. 6:401. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00401 Keywords: intrauterine growth restriction, metabolic programming, mitochondria, oxidative phosphorylation, uncoupling, epigenetics

Early life environmental factors, such as maternal food restriction, contribute to the development of metabolic diseases in offspring (Gluckman et al., 2008). Intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) is one environmental perturbation that has been linked to the development of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). The idea that prenatal events may be important in determining risk for adult disease was first reported by David Barker who made a landmark observation that birth weight is inversely correlated with the risk of coronary heart disease in adulthood (Barker et al., 1989). The birth records of 16,000 men and women who were born in Hertfordshire between 1911 and 1930 were examined. Death from coronary heart disease was associated with low birth weight, with the rates falling progressively between individuals with a birth weight less than 2500 g and individuals with a birth weight of 4310 g.

Low birth weight is defined by the World Health Organization as weight at birth <2500 g (World Health Organization United Nations Children's Fund, 2004). 15.5% of all babies are born with low birth weight, representing over 20 million infants worldwide (World Health Organization United Nations Children's Fund, 2004). While the incidence of low birth weight is greater in developing countries, it remains a significant problem in developed countries as well. In North America, 7.7% of infants are low birth weight (World Health Organization United Nations Children's Fund, 2004). Low birth weight may be a result of preterm birth or poor fetal growth. Poor fetal substrate supply can be due to poor maternal energy intake (insufficient intake of a specific micro- or macronutrient,

or reduced total calories), placental insufficiency, maternal smoking, pregnancy at high altitude, or high maternal levels of stress hormones (e.g., cortisol). Interestingly, infants who are born with a high birth weight are also susceptible to metabolic disease (Boney et al., 2005). Studies have shown that there is a U-shaped correlation between birth weight and obesity with a higher prevalence of obesity for low birth weight and high birth weight (McCance et al., 1994; Wei et al., 2003). Here the focus will be on low birth weight as a result of poor fetal substrate supply and its impact on skeletal and cardiac muscle. These tissues have high metabolic demands and are known to be sites of major metabolic dysfunction in chronic diseases such as T2DM and cardiovascular disease.

After Barker's initial observation, subsequent epidemiological studies showed a strong correlation between in utero undernutrition, low birth weight, and risk of adult cardiovascular disease, impaired glucose tolerance, T2DM, and obesity (Figure 1) (Hales et al., 1991; Barker et al., 1993; Ravelli et al., 1999; Roseboom et al., 2000; Painter et al., 2005). The wellstudied epidemiological data from the Dutch Hunger Winter show the importance of adequate fetal nutrition. During this short-term famine in 1944-1945, the daily nutritional intake was reduced to \sim 400–1000 kcal. Adults whose mothers were exposed to the famine during pregnancy had low birth weight and had impaired glucose tolerance and predisposition to T2DM (Hales et al., 1991). These studies gave rise to the "developmental origins of adult disease" hypothesis, which states that adverse influences early in development result in physiological adaptations that increase susceptibility to adult disease. The increased risk of obesity, insulin resistance, and T2DM has been suggested to be due to a thrifty phenotype programmed in utero that endows offspring with an increased capacity to store fuels rather than burning them (Hales and Barker, 1992). This apparent adaptive response by the fetus involves metabolic alterations that could altogether conserve energy expenditure to allow growth of key organs such as the brain, at the expense of other tissues such as muscle. Thus, when the nutrients provided to a fetus are limited, the fetus adapts to this environment through physiological changes that enhance its survival under these conditions. However, if the fetus is born into an environment in which nutrients are abundant, the adaptations made in utero may become a disadvantage (Gluckman and Hanson, 2004). Thus, disparities between the predicted environment and the actual environment into which the child is born may result in an increased disease risk.

Research based on animal models of IUGR has provided extensive support for the findings from human epidemiological studies and has substantially advanced our understanding of the negative impact of a suboptimal *in utero* environment. The most commonly used animal models of IUGR are maternal caloric or protein restriction and induction of uteroplacental insufficiency. These models have shown that a suboptimal *in utero* environment has deleterious consequences for adult health, with effects in many organs and tissues including skeletal muscle, heart, pancreas, liver, blood, and the brain (Snoeck et al., 1990; Woodall et al., 1996a,b; Park et al., 2003, 2004; Peterside et al., 2003; Qiu et al., 2004; Jimenez-Chillaron et al., 2005, 2009; Bubb et al., 2007; Schober et al., 2009; Woo et al., 2011; Fung et al., 2012; Thorn et al., 2013; Tare et al., 2014; Beauchamp et al., 2015a,b). We are only just beginning to understand the profound impact of suboptimal *in utero* nutrition on adult metabolic health.

A common phenotype in IUGR humans and animals is reduced lean mass (Hediger et al., 1998; Jimenez-Chillaron et al., 2005; Kensara et al., 2005; Wells et al., 2007). Lean body mass, primarily skeletal muscle, is known to be the best predictor of basal metabolic rate (Zurlo et al., 1990; Rolfe and Brown, 1997). Skeletal muscle comprises $\sim 40\%$ of the body mass in an adult human and although its metabolic rate per gram of tissue is relatively low, it greatly contributes to metabolic rate due to its high fractional contribution to body mass (Zurlo et al., 1990; Rolfe and Brown, 1997). Therefore, differences in muscle metabolism have potentially substantial implications in determining one's susceptibility to obesity and related metabolic disease, such as T2DM. Indeed, skeletal muscle is the largest insulin-sensitive tissue in the body and is the primary site for insulin-stimulated glucose utilization (Defronzo et al., 1985). Thus, blood glucose homeostasis, particularly in the postprandial state is greatly impacted by insulin resistance in muscle. As muscle is a key determinant of whole body metabolism and insulin sensitivity, reductions in muscle mass and/or function may be especially important to the increased metabolic disease risk (Defronzo et al., 1985; Zurlo et al., 1990; Rolfe and Brown, 1997).

In addition to reduced lean mass, low birth weight is associated with altered skeletal muscle fiber composition, and oxidative capacity (Figure 2). Human studies have documented a shift toward more type II glycolytic fibers, which accompanied skeletal muscle insulin resistance (Jensen et al., 2007). When challenged with a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp, a measure of tissue insulin sensitivity, those who had a low birth weight had decreased glucose uptake, consistent with impaired insulin sensitivity (Jaquet et al., 2000). People with low birth weight have also been shown to have reduced muscle glucose uptake after local insulin infusions and decreased expression of insulin signaling proteins and glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) in skeletal muscle (Hermann et al., 2003; Ozanne et al., 2005; Jensen et al., 2008). In more rigorously controlled animal models of low birth weight, many of these same skeletal muscle alterations have also been observed. In IUGR animal models, skeletal muscle has reduced mass, decreased GLUT4 expression, decreased glycogen content, decreased insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, decreased oxidative capacity, and increased lipid accumulation (Selak et al., 2003; Jimenez-Chillaron et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 2006; Raychaudhuri et al., 2008; Huber et al., 2009; Dai et al., 2012; Beauchamp et al., 2015a).

Recently, we have used a mouse model system of maternal undernutrition during late pregnancy to examine offspring from undernourished dams. Consistent with previous studies, these low birth weight offspring had increased adiposity and decreased glucose tolerance in adulthood compared to controls (Beauchamp et al., 2015a). Our studies focused on female offspring, as our pilot studies indicated a more pronounced metabolic phenotype than in male offspring. In permeabilized



the person's susceptibility to metabolic diseases in adulthood.

Studies in adult humans with low birth weight:				
Skeletal Muscle	Heart			
Muscle mass	Cardiac function			
Oxidative capacity	1 Blood pressure			
1 Glycolytic capacity	Stiffening of carotid arteries			
Proportion of type I fibers	1 Risk of cardiovascular disease			
FIGURE 2 Numerous studies have demonstrated that adult humans who were born with low birth weight have abnormalities in characteristics of skeletal muscle and heart, two tissues that have high metabolic demands. These abnormalities increase the risk for				

mign metabolic demands. These abnormalities increase the risk for metabolic diseases including obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. Please refer to text for specific references.

fiber preparations from mixed fiber type muscle of adult females, *in utero* undernourished mice had decreased mitochondrial content and decreased mitochondrial proton leak respiration, fatty acid oxidative capacity, and state three respiratory capacity through complex I (Beauchamp et al., 2015a). The findings have implications for obesity risk. Obesity is a result of an energy imbalance, in which energy intake exceeds energy expenditure

over a sustained period of time. In the long-term this results in energy storage in the form of triglycerides in adipose tissue. Therefore, our findings of decreased mitochondrial content and decreased capacity for fuel oxidation in muscle, an indicator of tissue energy expenditure, may in part explain the increased susceptibility to obesity in IUGR offspring. Furthermore, we have shown that IUGR offspring lose less weight after a 4 week 40% calorie restriction diet (Beauchamp et al., 2015a). We have suggested that this resistance to weight loss may be due to the thrifty metabolic mechanisms programmed in skeletal muscle *in utero*, and may have implications for diet-resistant obesity, which we investigate in human clinical populations (Harper et al., 2002; Gerrits et al., 2010; Thrush et al., 2014). Thus, it seems that *in utero* undernutrition not only increases susceptibility to obesity but may also make weight loss more difficult.

It has been hypothesized that mitochondrial programming may be a key adaptation made by an IUGR fetus to promote survival in a nutrient-restricted environment (Lee et al., 2005). Mitochondria play a key metabolic role and are responsible for oxidizing energy substrates to support ATP synthesis, which can then be used to drive a very wide range of energy demanding reactions in cells. Mitochondrial dysfunction is implicated in many disease states, including obesity and T2DM and thus, mitochondrial dysfunction may be a link between *in utero* nutrition and health and disease in adult life. IUGR has been

associated with decreased skeletal muscle mitochondria DNA content and decreased expression levels of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis and function (Lane et al., 1998; Park et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2012). Consistent with these findings, we have shown that in utero undernourished offspring have decreased skeletal muscle mitochondrial content and impaired mitochondrial function (Beauchamp et al., 2015a). Moreover, we assessed energetics in isolated mitochondria and found that mitochondria from in utero undernourished offspring have decreased coupled and uncoupled respiration compared to mitochondria from control mice (Beauchamp et al., 2015a). Therefore, we have shown that not only do IUGR offspring have decreased skeletal muscle mitochondrial content but respiration per mitochondrion is also decreased. These skeletal muscle adaptations are consistent with a programmed thrifty phenotype, which would set the stage for the development of adult metabolic disease in an environment with abundant nutrition.

Given the high energy requirements of the heart, IUGR may be associated with cardiac metabolic alterations that have negative effects in adulthood. Many cardiac diseases and heart failure are associated with altered metabolism in the heart, including a general decrease in oxidative capacity and the downregulation of enzymes of fatty acid oxidation (Sack et al., 1996; Sharov et al., 2000; Razeghi et al., 2001; Stanley et al., 2005; Boudina et al., 2007; Anderson et al., 2009). In humans, IUGR is associated with changes in cardiac morphology, premature stiffening of carotid arteries, impaired cardiac function, and elevated blood pressure (Martin et al., 2000; Bahtiyar and Copel, 2008; Crispi et al., 2010). In animal models, IUGR is associated with the development of adult hypertension, vascular dysfunction, and increased myocardial lipid content (Battista et al., 2002; Cheema et al., 2005; Zohdi et al., 2012). IUGR rats have an increased susceptibility to ischemia/reperfusion injury that is associated with a mismatch between myocardial glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates (Rueda-Clausen et al., 2011). In this study, IUGR offspring during reperfusion had decreased cardiac performance and significant increased amount of glucose that underwent glycolysis relative to the amount that was oxidized (Rueda-Clausen et al., 2011). Recently, we assessed energetics in a cardiac muscle homogenate and found that in utero undernourished mice in adulthood have decreased mitochondrial proton leak respiration (adenylate-free, and oligomycin-induced rates), fatty acid oxidative capacity, and maximum oxidative phosphorylation capacity (Beauchamp et al., 2015b). These findings are consistent with the decreased respiration in cardiac tissue reported in adults with obesity and T2DM and the decreased cardiac energy transduction associated with heart failure (Sharov et al., 1998, 2000; Boudina et al., 2007; Anderson et al., 2009; Doenst et al., 2010). Therefore, our results demonstrated that maternal undernutrition alters mitochondrial metabolism in the heart, which may contribute to the increased risk of cardiovascular and other metabolic diseases in the offspring. However, studies examining the metabolic effects of IUGR on cardiac muscle are very limited.

Skeletal muscle has a remarkable ability to adapt and respond to its environment and physiological challenges by changing its phenotype in terms of size, composition, and aerobic capacity, outcomes that are brought about by changes in gene expression, biochemical, and metabolic properties (Flück and Hoppeler, 2003; Luquet et al., 2003; Hénique et al., 2015). As such, skeletal muscle can modify its functional characteristics to adapt to metabolic need. The fetal adaptations to undernutrition that produce the long-term outcomes of IUGR are not fully understood. Intriguingly, some of these effects are transmissible across generations, suggesting that heritable changes in gene expression occur with in utero undernutrition. Experimental studies have shown intergenerational transmission of obesity and altered glucose metabolism associated with low birth weight (Benyshek et al., 2006; Harrison and Langley-Evans, 2009; Jimenez-Chillaron et al., 2009). The increased susceptibility to metabolic disease in adulthood may arise, at least in part, from epigenetic mediated alterations in gene expression. Epigenetic modification refers to modifications of DNA and chromatin that result in differential gene expression without altering the DNA sequence itself. These modifications include DNA methylation, genomic imprinting, and chromatin modifications such as post-translational modification of histones. These epigenetic modifications alter the binding of transcription factors to specific promoters and/or alter chromatin conformation, which in turn modulate gene expression. Thus, epigenetic modifications of the fetal genome based on maternal environmental cues may reset the metabolic state of the fetus to produce phenotypes in the offspring that are best suited for the predicted environment and that are maintained into adulthood. Evidence indicates that environmental factors acting during critical developmental periods can alter the epigenome. For example, in the mouse, the level of methyl donors, such as methionine, folate, and choline in the maternal diet has been shown to alter DNA methylation in the offspring (Wolff et al., 1998).

Human data that link maternal undernutrition to epigenetic changes are limited. In one study, whole blood genomic DNA was analyzed in adults who were *in utero* during the Dutch Hunger Winter, a period of famine, compared to their unexposed same-sex sibling. Adults who were *in utero* during the famine, and thus were undernourished, showed hypomethylation of the insulin-like growth factor II gene, a maternally imprinted gene that is a key factor in mammalian growth (Heijmans et al., 2008). Modifications to the methylation status of genes produce stable alterations in gene expression and represent a potential mechanism by which early life nutrition may influence susceptibility to metabolic disease in adulthood (Waterland and Jirtle, 2004). However, to date, epigenetic modification of muscle in IUGR offspring has not been described in humans.

Animal models are increasing our understanding of the mechanisms that cause the deleterious effects of IUGR. Epigenetic modifications that affect glucose metabolism have been described in IUGR pancreas, liver, and muscle. Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (Pdx-1) is a transcription factor that plays an important role in β -cell development and function. Expression of the *Pdx-1* promoter is decreased in IUGR and promotes the development of T2DM in adulthood. It has been shown that islets isolated from IUGR fetuses have decreased histone acetylation at the proximal promoter of *Pdx-1*, which is associated with decreased *Pdx-1* expression and defective

glucose homeostasis (Pinney et al., 2011). In another study, maternal protein restriction in rats led to decreased methylation of genes for the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR α) in the liver of the offspring after weaning (Jing-Bo et al., 2013). This was associated with greater mRNA expression of GR and PPARa, both of which are involved in glucose and lipid metabolism (Jing-Bo et al., 2013). In IUGR, skeletal muscle becomes insulin resistant and glucose uptake is reduced. It has been shown that IUGR is associated with alterations in transcription factor binding to the GLUT4 promoter, and this was associated with silencing histone modifications and reduced glut4 gene expression (Raychaudhuri et al., 2008). In skeletal muscle, it has been shown that IUGR rats have increased methylation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α), a master regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis (Xie et al., 2015). Accordingly, this was associated with a reduction in PGC-1α transcription activity, mitochondrial content, and protein level of components of the insulin signaling pathway (Xie et al., 2015). Taken together, these results support the idea that alterations in the maternal diet can induce epigenetic changes in muscle that are associated with altered gene expression.

While there is growing evidence for the role of epigenetics in metabolic programming in the development of chronic diseases, the detailed molecular mechanisms mediating the effects of *in utero* undernutrition remain unknown. In the future, epigenetic markers such as DNA methylation in blood and tissue samples

REFERENCES

- Anderson, E. J., Kypson, A. P., Rodriguez, E., Anderson, C. A., Lehr, E. J., and Neufer, P. D. (2009). Substrate-specific derangements in mitochondrial metabolism and redox balance in the atrium of the type 2 diabetic human heart. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, 1891–1898. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009. 07.031
- Bahtiyar, M. O., and Copel, J. A. (2008). Cardiac changes in the intrauterine growth-restricted fetus. *Semin. Perinatol.* 32, 190–193. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2008.02.010
- Barker, D. J., Gluckman, P. D., Godfrey, K. M., Harding, J. E., Owens, J. A., and Robinson, J. S. (1993). Fetal nutrition and cardiovascular disease in adult life. *Lancet* 341, 938–941. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(93)91224-A
- Barker, D. J., Winter, P. D., Osmond, C., Margetts, B., and Simmonds, S. J. (1989). Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. *Lancet* 2, 577–580. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(89)90710-1
- Battista, M. C., Oligny, L. L., St-Louis, J., and Brochu, M. (2002). Intrauterine growth restriction in rats is associated with hypertension and renal dysfunction in adulthood. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 283, E124–E131. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00004.2001
- Beauchamp, B., Ghosh, S., Dysart, M. W., Kanaan, G. N., Chu, A., Blais, A., et al. (2015a). Low birth weight is associated with adiposity, impaired skeletal muscle energetics and weight loss resistance in mice. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond).* 39, 702–711. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.120
- Beauchamp, B., Thrush, A. B., Quizi, J., Antoun, G., McIntosh, N., Al-Dirbashi, O. Y., et al. (2015b). Undernutrition during pregnancy in mice leads to dysfunctional cardiac muscle respiration in adult offspring. *Biosci. Rep.* 35:e00200. doi: 10.1042/bsr20150007
- Benyshek, D. C., Johnston, C. S., and Martin, J. F. (2006). Glucose metabolism is altered in the adequately-nourished grand-offspring (f3 generation) of rats malnourished during gestation and perinatal life. *Diabetologia* 49, 1117–1119. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0196-5

may be able to serve as biomarkers to identify individuals at increased risk. Ultimately, this may allow prevention of disease by nutritional or pharmacological interventions.

In conclusion, *in utero* undernutrition is associated with skeletal and cardiac muscle alterations such as decreased mass, mitochondrial content, and metabolism. The adaptations in skeletal muscle are consistent with the idea that low birth weight offspring may develop a protective mechanism *in utero* for species survival in times when energy supply is restricted. However, in an environment characterized by the abundant availability of highly palatable food and a decreased need for physical activity, such adaptive mechanisms become detrimental, increasing the risk for metabolic diseases including obesity and T2DM.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BB and MH wrote the manuscript, approved the final version, and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

The authors' research in this area is funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Institute of Nutrition, Diabetes and Metabolism (Grant MOP57810; to MEH), and BB was supported by an Alexander Graham Bell Canada Graduate Scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council.

- Boney, C. M., Verma, A., Tucker, R., and Vohr, B. R. (2005). Metabolic syndrome in childhood: association with birth weight, maternal obesity, and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Pediatrics* 115, E290–E296. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2004-1808
- Boudina, S., Sena, S., Theobald, H., Sheng, X., Wright, J. J., Hu, X. X., et al. (2007). Mitochondrial energetics in the heart in obesity-related diabetes: direct evidence for increased uncoupled respiration and activation of uncoupling proteins. *Diabetes* 56, 2457–2466. doi: 10.2337/db07-0481
- Bubb, K. J., Cock, M. L., Black, M. J., Dodic, M., Boon, W. M., Parkington, H. C., et al. (2007). Intrauterine growth restriction delays cardiomyocyte maturation and alters coronary artery function in the fetal sheep. *J. Physiol.* 578, 871–881. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.121160
- Cheema, K. K., Dent, M. R., Saini, H. K., Aroutiounova, N., and Tappia, P. S. (2005). Prenatal exposure to maternal undernutrition induces adult cardiac dysfunction. *Br. J. Nutr.* 93, 471–477. doi: 10.1079/BJN200 41392
- Crispi, F., Bijnens, B., Figueras, F., Bartrons, J., Eixarch, E., Le Noble, F., et al. (2010). Fetal growth restriction results in remodeled and less efficient hearts in children. *Circulation* 121, 2427–2436. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.937995
- Dai, Y., Thamotharan, S., Garg, M., Shin, B. C., and Devaskar, S. U. (2012). Superimposition of postnatal calorie restriction protects the aging male intrauterine growth- restricted offspring from metabolic maladaptations. *Endocrinology* 153, 4216–4226. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1206
- Defronzo, R. A., Gunnarsson, R., Björkman, O., Olsson, M., and Wahren, J. (1985). Effects of insulin on peripheral and splanchnic glucose metabolism in noninsulin-dependent (type II) diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Invest. 76, 149–155. doi: 10.1172/JCI111938
- Doenst, T., Pytel, G., Schrepper, A., Amorim, P., Färber, G., Shingu, Y., et al. (2010). Decreased rates of substrate oxidation *ex vivo* predict the onset of heart failure and contractile dysfunction in rats with pressure overload. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 86, 461–470. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp414

- Flück, M., and Hoppeler, H. (2003). Molecular basis of skeletal muscle plasticity– from gene to form and function. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 146, 159–216. doi: 10.1007/s10254-002-0004-7
- Fung, C., Ke, X., Brown, A. S., Yu, X., McKnight, R. A., and Lane, R. H. (2012). Uteroplacental insufficiency alters rat hippocampal cellular phenotype in conjunction with erbb receptor expression. *Pediatr. Res.* 72, 2–9. doi: 10.1038/pr.2012.32
- Gerrits, M. F., Ghosh, S., Kavaslar, N., Hill, B., Tour, A., Seifert, E. L., et al. (2010). Distinct skeletal muscle fiber characteristics and gene expression in diet-sensitive versus diet-resistant obesity. J. Lipid Res. 51, 2394–2404. doi: 10.1194/jlr.P005298
- Gluckman, P. D., and Hanson, M. A. (2004). Developmental origins of disease paradigm: a mechanistic and evolutionary perspective. *Pediatr. Res.* 56, 311–317. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000135998.08025.FB
- Gluckman, P. D., Hanson, M. A., Cooper, C., and Thornburg, K. L. (2008). Effect of *in utero* and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 61–73. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0708473
- Hales, C. N., and Barker, D. J. (1992). Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *Diabetologia* 35, 595–601. doi: 10.1007/BF00400248
- Hales, C. N., Barker, D. J., Clark, P. M., Cox, L. J., Fall, C., Osmond, C., et al. (1991). Fetal and infant growth and impaired glucose tolerance at age 64. *BMJ* 303, 1019–1022. doi: 10.1136/bmj.303.6809.1019
- Harper, M. E., Dent, R., Monemdjou, S., Bézaire, V., Van Wyck, L., Wells, G., et al. (2002). Decreased mitochondrial proton leak and reduced expression of uncoupling protein 3 in skeletal muscle of obese diet-resistant women. *Diabetes* 51, 2459–2466. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.8.2459
- Harrison, M., and Langley-Evans, S. C. (2009). Intergenerational programming of impaired nephrogenesis and hypertension in rats following maternal protein restriction during pregnancy. *Br. J. Nutr.* 101, 1020–1030. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508057607
- Hediger, M. L., Overpeck, M. D., Kuczmarski, R. J., McGlynn, A., Maurer, K. R., and Davis, W. W. (1998). Muscularity and fatness of infants and young children born small- or large-for-gestational-age. *Pediatrics* 102, E60. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.5.e60
- Heijmans, B. T., Tobi, E. W., Stein, A. D., Putter, H., Blauw, G. J., Susser, E. S., et al. (2008). Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 17046–17049. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806560105
- Hénique, C., Mansouri, A., Vavrova, E., Lenoir, V., Ferry, A., Esnous, C., et al. (2015). Increasing mitochondrial muscle fatty acid oxidation induces skeletal muscle remodeling toward an oxidative phenotype. *FASEB J.* 29, 2473–2483. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-257717
- Hermann, T. S., Rask-Madsen, C., Ihlemann, N., Domínguez, H., Jensen, C. B., Storgaard, H., et al. (2003). Normal insulin-stimulated endothelial function and impaired insulin-stimulated muscle glucose uptake in young adults with low birth weight. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 1252–1257. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021550
- Huber, K., Miles, J. L., Norman, A. M., Thompson, N. M., Davison, M., and Breier,
 B. H. (2009). Prenatally induced changes in muscle structure and metabolic function facilitate exercise-induced obesity prevention. *Endocrinology* 150, 4135–4144. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0125
- Jaquet, D., Gaboriau, A., Czernichow, P., and Levy-Marchal, C. (2000). Insulin resistance early in adulthood in subjects born with intrauterine growth retardation. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 85, 1401–1406. doi: 10.1210/jc.85. 4.1401
- Jensen, C. B., Martin-Gronert, M. S., Storgaard, H., Madsbad, S., Vaag, A., and Ozanne, S. E. (2008). Altered pi3-kinase/akt signalling in skeletal muscle of young men with low birth weight. *PLoS ONE* 3:E3738. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003738
- Jensen, C. B., Storgaard, H., Madsbad, S., Richter, E. A., and Vaag, A. A. (2007). Altered skeletal muscle fiber composition and size precede whole-body insulin resistance in young men with low birth weight. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 1530–1534. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2360
- Jimenez-Chillaron, J. C., Hernandez-Valencia, M., Reamer, C., Fisher, S., Joszi, A., Hirshman, M., et al. (2005). Beta-cell secretory dysfunction in the pathogenesis of low birth weight-associated diabetes: a murine model. *Diabetes* 54, 702–711. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.3.702

- Jimenez-Chillaron, J. C., Isganaitis, E., Charalambous, M., Gesta, S., Pentinat-Pelegrin, T., Faucette, R. R., et al. (2009). Intergenerational transmission of glucose intolerance and obesity by *in utero* undernutrition in mice. *Diabetes* 58, 460–468. doi: 10.2337/db08-0490
- Jing-Bo, L., Ying, Y., Bing, Y., Xiang-Bing, M., Zhi-Qing, H., Guo-Quan, H., et al. (2013). Folic acid supplementation prevents the changes in hepatic promoter methylation status and gene expression in intrauterine growth-retarded piglets during early weaning period. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 97, 878–886. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0396.2012.01333.x
- Kensara, O. A., Wootton, S. A., Phillips, D. I., Patel, M., Jackson, A. A., and Elia, M. (2005). Fetal programming of body composition: relation between birth weight and body composition measured with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry and anthropometric methods in older englishmen. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 82, 980–987.
- Lane, R. H., Chandorkar, A. K., Flozak, A. S., and Simmons, R. A. (1998). Intrauterine growth retardation alters mitochondrial gene expression and function in fetal and juvenile rat skeletal muscle. *Pediatr. Res.* 43, 563–570. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199805000-00001
- Lee, H. K., Park, K. S., Cho, Y. M., Lee, Y. Y., and Pak, Y. K. (2005). Mitochondriabased model for fetal origin of adult disease and insulin resistance. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1042, 1–18. doi: 10.1196/annals.1338.001
- Liu, J., Chen, D., Yao, Y., Yu, B., Mao, X., He, J., et al. (2012). Intrauterine growth retardation increases the susceptibility of pigs to high-fat diet-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscle. *PLoS ONE* 7:E34835. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034835
- Luquet, S., Lopez-Soriano, J., Holst, D., Fredenrich, A., Melki, J., Rassoulzadegan, M., et al. (2003). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta controls muscle development and oxidative capability. *FASEB J.* 17, 2299–2301. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0269fje
- Martin, H., Hu, J., Gennser, G., and Norman, M. (2000). Impaired endothelial function and increased carotid stiffness in 9-year-old children with low birthweight. *Circulation* 102, 2739–2744. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.22.2739
- McCance, D. R., Pettitt, D. J., Hanson, R. L., Jacobsson, L. T., Knowler, W. C., and Bennett, P. H. (1994). Birth weight and non-insulin dependent diabetes: thrifty genotype, thrifty phenotype, or surviving small baby genotype? *BMJ* 308, 942–945. doi: 10.1136/bmj.308.6934.942
- Ozanne, S. E., Jensen, C. B., Tingey, K. J., Storgaard, H., Madsbad, S., and Vaag, A. A. (2005). Low birthweight is associated with specific changes in muscle insulin-signalling protein expression. *Diabetologia* 48, 547–552. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-1669-7
- Painter, R. C., Roseboom, T. J., and Bleker, O. P. (2005). Prenatal exposure to the dutch famine and disease in later life: an overview. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 20, 345–352. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2005.04.005
- Park, H. K., Jin, C. J., Cho, Y. M., Park, D. J., Shin, C. S., Park, K. S., et al. (2004). Changes of mitochondrial dna content in the male offspring of protein-malnourished rats. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1011, 205–216. doi: 10.1196/annals.1293.021
- Park, K. S., Kim, S. K., Kim, M. S., Cho, E. Y., Lee, J. H., Lee, K. U., et al. (2003). Fetal and early postnatal protein malnutrition cause long-term changes in rat liver and muscle mitochondria. J. Nutr. 133, 3085–3090.
- Peterside, I. E., Selak, M. A., and Simmons, R. A. (2003). Impaired oxidative phosphorylation in hepatic mitochondria in growth-retarded rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 285, E1258–E1266. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00437.2002
- Pinney, S. E., Jaeckle Santos, L. J., Han, Y., Stoffers, D. A., and Simmons, R. A. (2011). Exendin-4 increases histone acetylase activity and reverses epigenetic modifications that silence pdx1 in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. *Diabetologia* 54, 2606–2614. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2250-1
- Qiu, X. S., Huang, T. T., Deng, H. Y., Shen, Z. Y., Ke, Z. Y., Mei, K. Y., et al. (2004). Effects of early nutrition intervention on IGF1, IGFBP3, intestinal development, and catch-up growth of intrauterine growth retardation rats. *Chin. Med. Sci. J.* 19, 189–192.
- Ravelli, A. C., Van Der Meulen, J. H., Osmond, C., Barker, D. J., and Bleker, O. P. (1999). Obesity at the age of 50 y in men and women exposed to famine prenatally. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 70, 811–816.
- Raychaudhuri, N., Raychaudhuri, S., Thamotharan, M., and Devaskar, S. U. (2008). Histone code modifications repress glucose transporter 4 expression in the intrauterine growth-restricted offspring. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 13611–13626. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800128200

- Razeghi, P., Young, M. E., Alcorn, J. L., Moravec, C. S., Frazier, O. H., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2001). Metabolic gene expression in fetal and failing human heart. *Circulation* 104, 2923–2931. doi: 10.1161/hc4901.100526
- Rolfe, D. F., and Brown, G. C. (1997). Cellular energy utilization and molecular origin of standard metabolic rate in mammals. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 731–758.
- Roseboom, T. J., Van Der Meulen, J. H., Osmond, C., Barker, D. J., Ravelli, A. C., Schroeder-Tanka, J. M., et al. (2000). Coronary heart disease after prenatal exposure to the dutch famine, 1944-45. *Heart* 84, 595–598. doi: 10.1136/heart.84.6.595
- Rueda-Clausen, C. F., Morton, J. S., Lopaschuk, G. D., and Davidge, S. T. (2011). Long-term effects of intrauterine growth restriction on cardiac metabolism and susceptibility to ischaemia/reperfusion. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 285–294. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq363
- Sack, M. N., Rader, T. A., Park, S., Bastin, J., McCune, S. A., and Kelly, D. P. (1996). Fatty acid oxidation enzyme gene expression is downregulated in the failing heart. *Circulation* 94, 2837–2842. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.94.11.2837
- Schober, M. E., McKnight, R. A., Yu, X., Callaway, C. W., Ke, X., and Lane, R. H. (2009). Intrauterine Growth Restriction Due To Uteroplacental Insufficiency Decreased White Matter And Altered Nmdar Subunit Composition In Juvenile Rat Hippocampi. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 296, R681–R692. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90396.2008
- Selak, M. A., Storey, B. T., Peterside, I., and Simmons, R. A. (2003). Impaired oxidative phosphorylation in skeletal muscle of intrauterine growthretarded rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 285, E130–E137. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00322.2002
- Sharov, V. G., Goussev, A., Lesch, M., Goldstein, S., and Sabbah, H. N. (1998). Abnormal mitochondrial function in myocardium of dogs with chronic heart failure. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 30, 1757–1762. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1998.0739
- Sharov, V. G., Todor, A. V., Silverman, N., Goldstein, S., and Sabbah, H. N. (2000). Abnormal mitochondrial respiration in failed human myocardium. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 32, 2361–2367. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.2000.1266
- Snoeck, A., Remacle, C., Reusens, B., and Hoet, J. J. (1990). Effect of a low protein diet during pregnancy on the fetal rat endocrine pancreas. *Biol. Neonate* 57, 107–118. doi: 10.1159/000243170
- Stanley, W. C., Recchia, F. A., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2005). Myocardial substrate metabolism in the normal and failing heart. *Physiol. Rev.* 85, 1093–1129. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00006.2004
- Tare, M., Parkington, H. C., Wallace, E. M., Sutherland, A. E., Lim, R., Yawno, T., et al. (2014). Maternal melatonin administration mitigates coronary stiffness and endothelial dysfunction, and improves heart resilience to insult in growth restricted lambs. J. Physiol. 592, 2695–2709. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.270934
- Thorn, S. R., Brown, L. D., Rozance, P. J., Hay, W. W. Jr., and Friedman, J. E. (2013). Increased hepatic glucose production in fetal sheep with intrauterine growth restriction is not suppressed by insulin. *Diabetes* 62, 65–73. doi: 10.2337/db11-1727
- Thrush, A. B., Zhang, R., Chen, W., Seifert, E. L., Quizi, J. K., McPherson, R., et al. (2014). Lower mitochondrial proton leak and decreased glutathione redox in primary muscle cells of obese diet-resistant versus diet-sensitive humans. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 99, 4223–4230. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1726
- Waterland, R. A., and Jirtle, R. L. (2004). Early nutrition, epigenetic changes at transposons and imprinted genes, and enhanced susceptibility

to adult chronic diseases. *Nutrition* 20, 63-68. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2003. 09.011

- Wei, J. N., Sung, F. C., Li, C. Y., Chang, C. H., Lin, R. S., Lin, C. C., et al. (2003). Low birth weight and high birth weight infants are both at an increased risk to have type 2 diabetes among schoolchildren in taiwan. *Diabetes Care* 26, 343–348. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.2.343
- Wells, J. C., Chomtho, S., and Fewtrell, M. S. (2007). Programming of body composition by early growth and nutrition. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 66, 423–434. doi: 10.1017/S0029665107005691
- Wolff, G. L., Kodell, R. L., Moore, S. R., and Cooney, C. A. (1998). Maternal epigenetics and methyl supplements affect agouti gene expression in avy/a mice. *FASEB J.* 12, 949–957.
- Woo, M., Isganaitis, E., Cerletti, M., Fitzpatrick, C., Wagers, A. J., Jimenez-Chillaron, J., et al. (2011). Early life nutrition modulates muscle stem cell number: implications for muscle mass and repair. *Stem Cells Dev.* 20, 1763–1769. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010.0349
- Woodall, S. M., Breier, B. H., Johnston, B. M., and Gluckman, P. D. (1996a). A model of intrauterine growth retardation caused by chronic maternal undernutrition in the rat: effects on the somatotrophic axis and postnatal growth. J. Endocrinol. 150, 231–242. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1500231
- Woodall, S. M., Johnston, B. M., Breier, B. H., and Gluckman, P. D. (1996b). Chronic maternal undernutrition in the rat leads to delayed postnatal growth and elevated blood pressure of offspring. *Pediatr. Res.* 40, 438–443. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199609000-00012
- World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund (2004). Low Birthweight: Country, Regional And Global Estimates. New York, NY.
- Xie, X., Lin, T., Zhang, M., Liao, L., Yuan, G., Gao, H., et al. (2015). IUGR with infantile overnutrition programs an insulin-resistant phenotype through DNA methylation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1 alpha in rats. *Pediatr. Res.* 77, 625–632. doi: 10.1038/pr.2015.32
- Zhu, M. J., Ford, S. P., Means, W. J., Hess, B. W., Nathanielsz, P. W., and Du, M. (2006). Maternal nutrient restriction affects properties of skeletal muscle in offspring. *J. Physiol.* 575, 241–250. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.112110
- Zohdi, V., Wood, B. R., Pearson, J. T., Bambery, K. R., and Black, M. J. (2012). Evidence of altered biochemical composition in the hearts of adult intrauterine growth-restricted rats. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 52, 749–758. doi: 10.1007/s00394-012-0381-x
- Zurlo, F., Larson, K., Bogardus, C., and Ravussin, E. (1990). Skeletal muscle metabolism is a major determinant of resting energy expenditure. *J. Clin. Invest.* 86, 1423–1427. doi: 10.1172/JCI114857

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Beauchamp and Harper. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mitochondrial Quality Control and Muscle Mass Maintenance

Vanina Romanello^{1*} and Marco Sandri^{1, 2, 3, 4*}

¹ Venetian Institute of Molecular Medicine, Padova, Italy, ² Department of Biomedical Science, University of Padova, Padova, Italy, ³ Institute of Neuroscience, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Padova, Italy, ⁴ Department of Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Loss of muscle mass and force occurs in many diseases such as disuse/inactivity, diabetes, cancer, renal, and cardiac failure and in aging-sarcopenia. In these catabolic conditions the mitochondrial content, morphology and function are greatly affected. The changes of mitochondrial network influence the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that play an important role in muscle function. Moreover, dysfunctional mitochondria trigger catabolic signaling pathways which feed-forward to the nucleus to promote the activation of muscle atrophy. Exercise, on the other hand, improves mitochondrial function by activating mitochondrial biogenesis and mitophagy, possibly playing an important part in the beneficial effects of physical activity in several diseases. Optimized mitochondrial quality control pathways. In this review we outline the current knowledge linking mitochondria-dependent signaling pathways to muscle homeostasis in aging and disease and the resulting implications for the development of novel therapeutic approaches to prevent muscle loss.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Scott Powers, University of Florida, USA Aaron Paul Russell, Deakin University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Vanina Romanello vanina.romanello@unipd.it; Marco Sandri marco.sandri@unipd.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 13 November 2015 Accepted: 22 December 2015 Published: 12 January 2016

Citation:

Romanello V and Sandri M (2016) Mitochondrial Quality Control and Muscle Mass Maintenance. Front. Physiol. 6:422. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00422 Keywords: atrophy, mitochondria, fission, fusion, biogenesis, autophagy, muscle, sarcopenia

INTRODUCTION

Nearly 40-50% of total body mass in non-obese mammals is composed by skeletal muscles. Striated muscles are plastic tissues that can undergo adaptive changes in their structure or functional properties to meet new challenges. For example, muscle mass can either increase or decrease in response to metabolic demands like exercise or inactivity. Moreover, muscle strength or resistance to fatigue can be modulated by training or detraining. The regulation of muscle size, due to its limited proliferative capacity, is determined by the coordinated balance between protein synthesis and protein degradation. Mechanical overload or anabolic hormonal stimulation shifts the balance toward protein synthesis with consequent increases in fiber size, a process called hypertrophy. Conversely, in catabolic conditions protein degradation exceeds protein synthesis leading to muscle weakness and muscle atrophy. The decrease in cell size is mainly due to loss of organelles, cytoplasm and proteins. Skeletal muscle atrophy occurs in several pathological conditions like disuse, denervation, immobilization, sepsis, burn injury, cancer, AIDS, diabetes, heart and renal failure and during aging. Importantly, the decrease of muscle mass increases morbity, impairs the efficacy of many therapeutic treatments and contributes to mortality. Muscle mass is mainly controlled by two major signaling pathways: TGF^β/Smads and IGF1-AKT-mTOR-FoxO. TGFβ superfamily of ligands regulate the size of muscles via the Smad transcription factors (Sandri, 2013). Smad2/3 control catabolic genes while Smad1/5/8 regulate anabolic genes (Sartori et al., 2013, 2014). The IGF1-AKT- mTOR axis increases protein synthesis by stimulating the translational machinery while simultaneously blocking FoxOs transcription factors and protein degradation pathways (Sandri, 2013). Two main ATP-dependent proteolytic systems are activated during muscle atrophy in order to contribute to muscle loss. The ubiquitin-proteasome system degrades predominantly myofibrillar proteins, whereas the autophagy-lysosome system removes dysfunctional organelles, protein aggregates as well as unfolded and toxic proteins. Muscle atrophy requires the activation of gene transcription programs that regulate the expression of a subset of genes that are named atrophy-related genes or atrogenes (Bodine et al., 2001; Gomes et al., 2001; Lecker et al., 2004; Sandri et al., 2004; Sacheck et al., 2007). These atrogenes belong to several fundamental biological processes such as the ubiquitin-proteasome and autophagylysosome systems, protein syntesis, ROS detoxification, DNA repair, unfolding protein response (UPR), mitochondria function and energy balance. FoxO family of transcription factors (FoxO1, FoxO3, and FoxO4), which are targets of AKT, are key mediators of the catabolic response during atrophy (Sandri et al., 2004; Mammucari et al., 2007; Milan et al., 2015). Indeed, specific inhibition of FoxOs in muscle protects from cancer cachexia-, fasting- or denervation-induced atrophy (Judge et al., 2014; Milan et al., 2015) as they are critical for the regulation of several atrogenes. Moreover, at least half of the atrogenes require FoxOs for their up or downregulation (Milan et al., 2015). FoxOdependent atrogenes include the E3 Ubiquitin ligases Atrogin-1, MuRF-1, MUSA1, SMART, and several autophagy-related genes such as LC3, GABARAPL1, BNIP3, CATHEPSIN L (Bodine et al., 2001; Sandri et al., 2004; Mammucari et al., 2007; Milan et al., 2015). Therefore, FoxOs coordinate both major proteolytic systems of the cell, the autophagy-lysosome and the ubiquitinproteasome.

Interestingly, in addition to genes linked with proteolytic pathways, more than 10% of the atrophy-related genes are directly involved in energy production. Furthermore, several genes coding for enzymes important in glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately suppressed in atrophying muscles (Lecker et al., 2004). These interesting findings suggest that alterations in mitochondria and the mitochondrial network morphology can have potential deleterious consequences for the maintenance of muscle mass and function. Recent data shows that the mitochondrial network communicates with myonuclei to adapt muscle function to the physiological or pathological demands. Here we will review the principal pathways that control mitochondrial quality and the importance of mitochondrial network in the regulation of muscle mass and metabolism.

OPTIMIZATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTION: A QUALITY CONTROL ISSUE

Mitochondria are continuously challenged by reactive oxygen species (ROS), an inexorable by-product of oxidative phosphorylation. In order to prevent an excessive production of ROS but also the release of dangerous factors such as cytochrome c, AIF or endonuclease G, mammalian cells contain several systems that maintain mitochondrial integrity and function. This mitochondrial quality control includes pathways related to protein folding and degradation as well as systems involved in organelle shape, movement and turnover (**Figure 1**). The activation of each specific quality control system depends on the degree of mitochondrial damage.

Mitochondrial Proteolysis Controls Both Mitochondrial Protein Turnover and Mitochondrial Function

Proteomic studies identified in human mitochondria approximately 1200 proteins (Calvo et al., 2015). However, only 1% of these proteins is encoded by mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) (13 proteins in humans). Therefore, the remaining 99% is encoded by nuclear DNA (nDNA) genes, which are synthesized by ribosomes in cytoplasm and are imported into mitochondria (Harbauer et al., 2014). The incorporation of these precursors into specific mitochondria subcompartments such as the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM), the intermembrane space (IMS), the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) and the mitochondrial matrix requires a specific and highly regulated import machineries (Harbauer et al., 2014). To maintain the proteostasis in each mitochondrial compartment, specific proteases (mitoproteases) will rapidly degrade misfolded or oxidized proteins. Mitoproteases-mediated quality control is the first line of defense against a mild mitochondrial damage. In the mitochondrial matrix, protein turnover is controlled by 3 AAA proteases: the soluble Lon and ClpP and the membrane-bound m-AAA. Protein degradation in the IMS is controlled by the membrane-bound i-AAA Yme1L1, the soluble HtrA2/Omi, the metallopeptidases OMA1 and the rhomboid protease PARL. Different reports showed that these mitoproteases do not only monitor mitochondrial protein quality but they can also decide mitochondrial fate. For example, m -AAA, Yme1L1, HtrA2, OMA1, and PARL l cleave the profusion protein Opa1 affecting mitochondrial morphology and function (Alavi and Fuhrmann, 2013). In addition, PARL modulates mitophagy by degrading the mitophagy protein PINK1 (Jin et al., 2010). For a review on the roles and the pathological relevance of these mitoproteases please refer to Quiros et al. (2015). Beside subcompartment-specific proteases, mitochondrial protein turnover is regulated also by the cytosolic ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS). The UPS marks proteins for proteasomal degradation by the covalent linkage of a chain of ubiquitin proteins. A proteomic study in mouse cardiac muscle identified numerous OMM as well as IMS, IMM, and matrix proteins to be ubiquitinated (Jeon et al., 2007). A still unanswered question is how the cytosolic proteasome can degrade integral mitochondrial membrane proteins. During ER stress, misfolded proteins accumulate into the ER lumen and need to be retrotranslocated into the cytosol where they are flagged with ubiquitin and degraded by the proteasome in a process called ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD). Mitochondria have an ERAD-like mechanism, the mitochondriaassociated degradation (MAD) pathway (Heo et al., 2010). ERAD and MAD pathways share some key components like the AAA ATPase p97 and the cofactor Npl4 (Ye et al., 2003; Heo et al., 2010). p97/Npl4 complex regulates the retrotranslocation of



FIGURE 1 | **Mitochondrial quality control pathways are depicted.** The actions of specific mitoproteases, Lon, ClpP, Oma1, Yme1L1, and PARL, maintain mitochondrial proteostasis and regulate mitochondrial function. PARL, Oma1, and Yme1L1 control mitochondrial dynamics by proteolytically processing Opa1 protein, which is important for mitochondrial function. PARL degrades PINK1, regulating mitophagy. Drp1, Fis, and Mff are the major proteins involved in mitochondrial fission. Partially damaged mitochondrial network divides into two fragments with different $\Delta \Psi m$. The fragment with higher $\Delta \Psi m$ rejoins the functional mitochondria network through mitochondrial fusion. Depolarized organelles will be removed by mitophagy. Bnip3 acts as a mitophagic receptor, binding to LC3 to tether mitochondria to the autophagosome. PINK1 accumulates on the surface of depolarized mitochondria where it phosphorylates ubiquitinated OMM proteins and the Parkin UBL domain. Parkin will further promote the ubiquitination of the outer mitochondrial membrane proteins, like MFN1/2. Then, the ubiquitinated proteins can be recognized by the adaptors p62/SQSTM1, Optineurin (OPTN), and NPD52 to initiate mitophagy.

proteins from both the ER (Ye et al., 2001, 2003) and OMM (Heo et al., 2010; Tanaka et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2011). In mitochondria, p97 provides the driving force to extract Mfn1, Mfn2 and the anti-apoptotic protein Mcl1 from the OMM and chaperoned them for their degradation by the proteasome in the cytosol (Tanaka et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2011). Several components of the UPS are recruited to mitochondria such as the E3 ligases Parkin, March V/Mitol, Huwe, and Mulan (Livnat-Levanon and Glickman, 2011). These mitochondrial E3 ligases are a good example of the synergistic crosstalk between different mitochondria quality control systems. For instance, the activity of these ubiquitin ligases impacts on mitochondrial morphology and half-life. Indeed, Parkin-mediated ubiquitination of Mfn1, Mfn2, and VDAC1 blocks/reduces mitochondrial fusion and promotes mitophagy (Narendra et al., 2008; Gegg et al., 2010; Geisler et al., 2010; Tanaka et al., 2010). On the other hand, in physiological conditions Parkin avoid mitochondrial fragmentation by repressing Drp1 levels (Wang et al., 2011). Finally, MarchV/Mitol ubiquitinates Drp1, Fis1, and mitofusins 1 and 2 (Nakamura et al., 2006; Yonashiro et al., 2006; Karbowski et al., 2007). One intriguing issue is whether intramitochondrial proteins that do not face the cytosol can be substrates of the MAD pathway. Even though a retrotranslocation machinery has not been identified, some evidence indicates that the UPS controls IMM proteins. In fact, as a consequence of proximity to the respiratory chain, IMM proteins are exposed to ROS generated by mitochondrial respiration and therefore, oxidized. For example, the mitochondrial uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2) (Azzu and Brand, 2010; Bragoszewski et al., 2013) and the subunit of the OXPHOS complex V OSCP have been found to be retrotranslocated to the OMM for ubiquitination and proteasome degradation (Margineantu et al., 2007). Indeed, proteasome inhibition leads to accumulation of the IMM proteins UCP2, COXI, III, IV, OSCP (Margineantu et al., 2007; Azzu and Brand, 2010). Although the role of the UPS in different cellular processes has been well characterized, studies concerning the interaction with mitochondria are only at the beginning. Several critical issues related to how substrates are identified and how they are transported out for degradation need to be solved in the future.

Under stress conditions, when the degradation pathways are not sufficient to blunt the damage and restore a normal mitochondrial function, a retrograde signal is activated which coordinates nuclear gene expression. This mitochondria-to-nucleus response is named mitochondrial unfolding protein response (UPR^{mt}) (Zhao et al., 2002). The ultimate purpose of UPR^{mt} is to maintain proteostasis by promoting the expression of chaperones to improve protein folding, inhibit protein synthesis to alleviate ER stress and to induce expression of m-AAA proteases like ClpP and Yme1 to remove damaged proteins. For reviews on this topic see (Jovaisaite and Auwerx, 2015; Schulz and Haynes, 2015).

Mitochondrial Dynamics: Not Only a Matter of Shape

Mitochondrial dynamics is defined by the capacity of the organelle to rapidly change its size, shape and distribution by continuously alternating fusion and fission events. Fusion leads to elongated mitochondria with increased interconnectivity into a tubular network. On the contrary, fission fragments the network into unconnected shorter organelles. In physiological conditions, most mammalian cells show a continuous filamentous mitochondrial network with the exception of cardiomyocytes that display fragmented mitochondria that do not form a network (Song and Dorn, 2015). However, the mitochondrial pool rapidly changes its morphology according to the cellular needs. Increased mitochondrial fusion facilitates the redistribution of metabolites, proteins and mtDNA within the network. Moreover, fusion between healthy and damaged organelles allows to dilute the damaged material into the healthy network, avoids the accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria and maintains their overall fitness (function) (Twig et al., 2008). On the other hand, mitochondrial fragmentation is a mechanism that segregates dysfunctional or damaged components of the mitochondrial network, allowing their removal via mitophagy (Otera and Mihara, 2011).

However, excessive fission generates isolated mitochondria which are less efficient in ATP production and are dysfunctional because they consume ATP to maintain their membrane potential (Benard et al., 2007).

Fusion Machinery

Mitochondrial structure is optimized to ensure respiration and ATP production with a minimal release of ROS. This architecture must be preserved during fusion and fission events. Therefore, when mitochondria fuse they follow a scheme which starts with mitochondrial tethering, continues with fusion of OMM and concludes with fusion of IMM. In mammals, the membranebound GTPases mitofusin 1 (Mfn1), mitofusin 2 (Mfn2), and optic atrophy protein 1 (Opa1) are required for fusion of the OMM and IMM respectively.

OMM profusion proteins

Mfn1 and Mfn2 are integrated into the OMM and have two cytosolic heptad repeat domains (HR1 and HR2) which interact to form a dimeric anti parallel coiled-coil structure.

Both mitofusins can consequently interact homotypically (Mfn1-Mfn1, Mfn2-Mfn2) or heterotypically (Mfn1-Mfn2) to promote the tethering of different adjacent mitochondria and fusion of the OMMs (Koshiba et al., 2004). These proteins have a high degree of homology but they do not have the same functions. Mfn1 has higher GTPase and organelle fusion activity while Mfn2 has greater affinity for GTP (Ishihara et al., 2004). Aditionally, Mfn2 and not Mfn1 is expressed on the mitochondria-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes (MAM) and to a lesser extent to the endoplasmic/sarcoplasmic reticulum (ER/SR) (de Brito and Scorrano, 2009). This unique distribution allows for the close communication between the two organelles. Indeed, Mfn2 bridges mitochondria to ER/SR facilitating important processes linked to ER-mitochondria interactions like calcium homeostasis and signaling (de Brito and Scorrano, 2009; Ngoh et al., 2012; Sebastian et al., 2012; Munoz et al., 2013; Ainbinder et al., 2015). Recent data indicates Mfn2 as a modulator of the UPR during ER stress. In fact, Mfn2 deficiency leads to fragmented ER network and ER stress (Ngoh et al., 2012; Sebastian et al., 2012; Munoz et al., 2013; Bhandari et al., 2015) by chronic activation of PERK (Munoz et al., 2013). Mfn2, like the other mitochondria-shaping proteins is not free from post-translational modifications. For instance, when Mfn2 is phosphorylated by PINK1, it becomes a receptor for the ubiquitin ligase Parkin (Chen and Dorn, 2013). In addition, the E3 ligases HUWE1 and Mul1 also promote Mfn2 ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (Leboucher et al., 2012; Lokireddy et al., 2012). Conversely, the formation of a Lys63- polyubiquitin chain by the E3 ligase MARCHV/Mitol does not induce Mfn2 degradation but increases its activity as well as MAM formation and function (Sugiura et al., 2013). Altogether, Mfn2 promotes mitochondrial fusion, enhances ER-mitochondria and activates mitophagy via PINK1/Parkin pathway.

Opa1: The pleiotropic IMM fusion protein

The profusion protein Opa1 is regulated by proteolytic processing. There are several splicing variants of Opa1 (8 in humans and 4 in mice) which are expressed in a tissue specific manner. Some of them are cleaved to generate soluble short Opa1 (Opa1S) from long Opa1 isoforms (Opa1L) (Ishihara et al., 2006). Opa1L is anchored to the IMM by a transmembrane domain at the N-terminus and can be further cleaved in exon 5 (site S1) by OMA1, a process that is mitochondrial membrane potential($\Delta \Psi$ m)-dependent (Ehses et al., 2009; Head et al., 2009). The mitoprotease Yme1 cut the site S2 in exon 5b of a subset of Opa1L belonging to the splicing variants 4, 6, 7, and 8 (Anand et al., 2014). As aforementioned, other mitoproteases such as m -AAA, HtrA2, and PARL l are also involved in Opa1 processing (Alavi and Fuhrmann, 2013). Furthermore, Opal is cleaved in its C-terminal region by an unknown cysteine protease in the post-prandial liver, in a process dependent on Mfn2 and independent of OMA1 (Sood et al., 2014). Opa1dependent mitochondrial fusion needs Mfn1 (Cipolat et al., 2004) as well as Opa1S and Opa1L forms (Frezza et al., 2006; Song et al., 2007). However, under stress conditions fusion can rely only on Opa1L while Opa1S forms are dispensable (Tondera et al., 2009; Anand et al., 2014). In addition, oligomerization of soluble and membrane-bound OPA1 isoforms controls cristae remodeling and the assembly of respiratory chain complexes into supercomplexes, a structure that enhances mitochondrial respiration (Cogliati et al., 2013). On the contrary, complete conversion of Opa1L into Opa1S inhibits fusion and increases mitochondrial fission (Ishihara et al., 2006; Anand et al., 2014).

Fission Machinery

Mitochondrial fission depends on the cytosolic GTPase dynaminrelated protein 1 (Drp1). Drp1 is recruited to the OMM where it assembles into multimeric ring complexes that form active GTP-dependent mitochondrial fission sites (Smirnova et al., 2001). Drp1 lacks hydrophobic membrane-binding domains and for this reason its recruitment on OMM is dependent on mitochondrial membrane proteins that act as receptors. Accordingly, Drp1 interacts with the integral OMM proteins: Fis1, Mff, mitochondrial elongation factor 2/mitochondrial dynamics protein 49 (MIEF2/MiD49) and MIEF1/MiD51. Fis1 is the major Drp1 receptor in yeasts (Karren et al., 2005). However, increasing evidence suggests that in mammals Fis1 is not the only OMM-anchor receptor of Drp1. For example, downregulation of Fis1 leads to mitochondrial elongation, even if the recruitment of Drp1 to mitochondria is not reduced (Lee et al., 2004). Furthermore, conditional deletion of Fis1 in a carcinoma model did not lead to defects in mitochondrial fission, indicating that Fis1 is not essential for fission (Otera et al., 2010). Recently, new components of the mammalian fission machinery were identified (Otera et al., 2010; Palmer et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2011). Mff, the OMM-anchored mitochondrial fission factor, colocalizes with Drp1 on mammalian mitochondria. Its overexpression promotes mitochondrial fission with increased Drp1 recruitment to mitochondria. On the contrary, silencing Mff generates elongated mitochondria and Drp1 cytosolic distribution. Moreover, Drp1 affinity for Mff is higher than for Fis, suggesting that Mff preferentially functions as Drp1 receptor (Otera et al., 2010). MIEF1/MiD51 and the variant MIEF2/MiD49 recruit Drp1 to mitochondria independently of Fis1or Mff. Moreover, overexpression of MiD51 does not induce mitochondrial fragmentation but instead prevents mitochondrial fission by sequestering and inhibiting Drp1 (Palmer et al., 2011, 2013; Zhao et al., 2011; Loson et al., 2013). MIEF1/MiD51 preferentially binds Fis1 but can also interact with DRP1 and consequently, depending from the levels of Fis1, two different protein complexes are generated. When the level of Fis1 is high, it sequesters MIEF1/MiD51 that cannot anymore interact and inhibit DRP1 allowing mitochondrial fission. In contrast, the downregulation of Fis1 releases MIEF1/MiD51 that can now block Drp1 resulting in mitochondrial fusion (Zhao et al., 2011). Finally, in yeast Drp1 has been suggested to act as a regulatory factor not only of fission but also of fusion (Huang et al., 2011). In fact, it has been reported that mitochondria-localized Drp1 can interact with the HR1 domain of MFN2 to promote mitochondrial fusion (Huang et al., 2011).

DRP1 regulation

The complexity of Drp1 regulation has been recently reviewed (Elgass et al., 2013; Otera et al., 2013), here we will briefly

summarize some critical steps. Drp1-dependent mitochondrial fission is regulated by post-translational modifications like ubiquitination, phosphorylation and SUMOylation to ensure a rapid adaptation to cellular needs (Otera et al., 2013). For example, Drp1 is targeted for proteasomal degradation by Parkin-mediated ubiquitination (Wang et al., 2011) while the ubiquitination mediated by MARCHV/Mitol is controversial with different outcomes depending on cell context (Nakamura et al., 2006; Karbowski et al., 2007). Sumoylation of Drp1 by the SUMO E3 ligase mitochondria-anchored protein ligase (MAPL) stimulates mitochondrial fission (Braschi et al., 2009). Phosphorylation of different residues of DRP1 cause opposing effects. During mitosis, when organelles are inherited by daughter cells, mitochondrial fission activity is promoted by Cdk1-cyclin B-dependent Drp1 phosphorylation at Ser616 (in humans) in the GTPase effector domain (GED) (Taguchi et al., 2007). However, Drp1 activity is also induced by the posphorylation of Ser637 in the GED by the calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I alpha (CaMK1 alpha). As a result, this phosphorylation increases mitochondrial translocation of Drp1 because it facilitates the interaction with Fis1 (Han et al., 2008). However, phosphorylation of the same Ser637 by the protein kinase A (PKA) has an opposite effect causing DRP1 retention in the cytosol (Cribbs and Strack, 2007). This inhibition is counteracted by the calcium dependent phosphatase, calcineurin (Cribbs and Strack, 2007; Cereghetti et al., 2008). An interesting model of how post-translational modulation of fission can impinge on both, fusion and autophagy is what happens during early stages of starvation. Under this condition, mitochondrial fission is impaired due to the inhibition of Drp1. Two different reports indicate that starvation in cells leads to increased phosphorylation of Ser637 due to PKA activity as well as to decreased phosphorylation of Ser616. As a consequence, Drp1 is retained in the cytosol and mitochondria are elongated and spared from autophagic degradation. The resulting tubular mitochondrial network displays an increased number and density of cristae and presents more dimers of the ATP synthase (Gomes et al., 2011; Rambold et al., 2011). In conclusion, the shaping machinery adapts mitochondrial morphology to the bioenergetic requirements of the cell determining the homeostasis and the fate of the cell. Even though, our knowledge of the mechanisms controlling mitochondria dynamics is growing, many aspects of this process are still unclear.

Lysosomal-Dependent Degradation of Mitochondria: Mitochondria-Derived Vescicles (MDV) vs. Mitophagy

Depending from the type of injury, mitochondria can adopt two different routes for delivering the damaged components to lysosome for degradation. When mitochondria deterioration is mild without global mitochondrial depolarization, local removal of mitochondrial content can be done by the generation of vesicles that bud-off from mitochondria and contain matrix components (Soubannier et al., 2012a,b). These mitochondriaderived vescicles (MDV) are 70–150 nm in size and do not require the fission machinery for their biogenesis. MDVs carry oxidized proteins coming from different mitochondrial compartments and are directed to lysosomes (Soubannier et al., 2012b). Therefore, mitochondrial oxidative stress induces MDVs via Pink-Parkin system (McLelland et al., 2014) independently of the autophagy-related proteins Atg5, Rab9, or Beclin (McLelland et al., 2014). Since Drp1 fission activity is not required for MDV budding (Soubannier et al., 2012a,b), the identification of the machinery necessary for MDV biogenesis is still unknown. This system works in conjunction with other mitochondria quality control pathways like mitochondrial proteolysis and dynamics and precedes mitophagy. In fact, when mitochondria are irreversibly damaged, they are excised from the mitochondrial network by the fission machinery and sequestered into autophagic vesicles for their degradation in the lysosome. This selective mitochondrial degradation via autophagy is called mitophagy. Apart from removal of dysfunctional mitochondria, mitophagy is essential for mitochondria turnover in the basal state and during the development of specialized cells such as red blood cells (Sandoval et al., 2008). The loss of mitochondrial membrane potential is a major trigger for mitophagy (Elmore et al., 2001). The selectivity of mitophagy is controlled by mitochondria dynamics and by the proteins PINK1, Parkin, Bnip3L/Nix, and Bnip3.

Recessively inherited forms of Parkinson's disease are associated with loss-of-function mutations of the PTEN-induced kinase 1 (PINK1) and the E3 ubiquitin ligase Parkin. Under basal conditions Pink1 is imported into the IMM where it is cleaved by PARL in a voltage dependent manner. The resulting fragments will be further degraded by the cytosolic UPS (Jin et al., 2010). Therefore, healthy mitochondria have undetectable levels of PINK1. However, when $\Delta \Psi m$ is lost, full length PINK1 is not further imported and accumulates on OMM. Here, PINK1 phosphorylates ubiquitin at Ser65 of ubiquitinated OMM proteins and the ubiquitin-like domain of Parkin (Kane et al., 2014; Kazlauskaite et al., 2014; Koyano et al., 2014). Once phosphorylated, Parkin enhances the mitophagy signal by generating more ubiquitin chains on OMM proteins that can be further substrates for PINK1 (Lazarou et al., 2015). Subsequently, the autophagic adaptors optineurin, NDP52 (Lazarou et al., 2015) bind the phosphorylated ubiquitins tagging the OMM proteins with LC3 to initiate mitophagy. The contribution of the autophagy adaptor p62/SQSTM1 has been found to be dispensable for mitophagy but important for perinuclear clustering of depolarized mitochondria (Narendra et al., 2010; Lazarou et al., 2015). However, these data were obtained in vitro and thus the physiological relevance in vivo needs to be validated. For instance, while p62 and NBR1 are well expressed in adult muscles, optineurin and NDP52 proteins are barely detectable (Nicot et al., 2014; Lazarou et al., 2015). Bnip3 and Nix (also called Bnip3L) belong to the BH3-only proteins and are implicated in both apoptosis and mitophagy. These proteins translocate to mitochondria, form homodimers and disrupt mitochondrial membrane potential (Sandoval et al., 2008). They contain two evolutionary conserved LIR (LC3 Interacting Region) domains to bind LC3 and GABARAP. Nix preferentially interacts with GABARAP whereas Bnip3 binds LC3 (Novak et al., 2010; Hanna et al., 2012). These results indicate that Bnip3 and Nix have an important role in mitochondrial turnover, acting as autophagy receptors which tether the mitochondria to the autophagosome. Moreover, the induction of autophagy by the overexpression of Bnip3 in cardiomyocytes requires Drp1 translocation to mitochondria to mediate mitochondrial fission (Lee et al., 2011).

UNRAVELING THE MECHANISMS LINKING MITOCHONDRIAL FITNESS TO MUSCLE HEALTH

Energy requirements during contraction in skeletal muscles increase instantaneously up to 100-fold the consumption of ATP (Blei et al., 1993; Gaitanos et al., 1993). Therefore, to support this high demand of ATP, skeletal and cardiac muscles rely on oxidative phosphorylation for energy production. Indeed these tissues contain the greatest amount of mitochondria. Several reports identified within the myofibers two distinct mitochondrial populations that differ in their subcellular localization, morphology as well as biochemical and functional properties (Howald et al., 1985; Hoppeler et al., 1987; Romanello and Sandri, 2013). Subsarcolemmal (SS) mitochondria are located just underneath the sarcolemma and have a large, lamellar shape. In contrast, the intermyofibrillar (IMF) mitochondria are smaller, more compact, and located between the contractile filaments. However, the existence of two separated mitochondrial pools was challenged by recent findings on highresolution, three-dimensional electron microscopy (FIB-SEM). Dahl and collaborators showed that SS and IMF are physically connected in human muscles (Dahl et al., 2015). Moreover, Ballaban's lab identified 4 different mitochondrial morphologies: the paravascular mitochondria (PVM), I-band mitochondria (IBM), fiber parallel mitochondria (FPM), and cross fiber connection mitochondria (CFCM) (Glancy et al., 2015). All these mitochondria are highly interconnected forming a conductive pathway that can rapidly distribute energy in the form of electrical conduction throughout myofibers, enabling muscles to respond immediately to changes in energy requirements.

Exercise and Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-γ Coactivator-1 (PGC-1) Family Members

There is compelling evidence that regular exercise has many beneficial effects for human health and life span (Neufer et al., 2015). The effects of exercise are sensed by most organs including cardiovascular, neuroendocrine, respiratory and musculoskeletal systems. Importantly, some forms of exercise training counteract skeletal muscle loss (Hourde et al., 2013; Cohen et al., 2015). On the other hand, physical inactivity has been identified as the fourth risk factor of morbidity/disability and mortality (Neufer et al., 2015). Beneficial adaptations to endurance exercise training (moderate intensity with prolonged duration) in skeletal muscle include the activation of transcriptional dependent pathways that impinge on mitochondrial biogenesis (Little et al., 2011), mitochondrial quality and mitophagy (Grumati et al., 2011; He et al., 2012a; Lo Verso et al., 2014).

PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β

Mitochondrial biogenesis requires a coordinated action on nuclear and mitochondrial genomes that is regulated by the coactivators PGC-1a and PGC-1B (peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α and β) PGC-1 family members are preferentially expressed in tissues enriched in mitochondria like heart, adipose tissue and slow-twitch skeletal muscle. Exercise, fasting and cold exposure highly regulate their expression. Since PGC-1a and PGC-1B are coactivators that lack DNA binding domains, they elicit their function by modulating the activity of several transcription factors including PPARs, nuclear respiratory factors (NRFs), myocyte enhancing factors (MEFs), estrogen-related receptor (ERR), forkhead box (FoxOs), and vin-vang (YY1) (Lin et al., 2005; Olesen et al., 2010; Zechner et al., 2010). Exercise greatly stimulates PGC-1a via a transcription-dependent upregulation and by several post-translational modifications like phosphorylation and deacetylation (Wright et al., 2007; Cantó et al., 2009; Egan et al., 2010). Moreover, acute endurance exercise promotes the translocation of PGC-1a from the cytosol to the nucleus (Wright et al., 2007) and mitochondria (Safdar et al., 2011). This subcellular relocalization helps nuclear and mitochondrial crosstalk to promote mitochondrial biogenesis (Safdar et al., 2011). Indeed, both Tfam and nuclear gene products are imported into mitochondria where they regulate the expression of mitochondrial proteins required for ATP synthesis. Interestingly, deletion of PGC-1 α or PGC-1 β in mice showed mild phenotypes (Leone et al., 2005; Lelliott et al., 2006; Vianna et al., 2006; Sonoda et al., 2007). Although, exercise capacity was found reduced in PGC-1a knockout mice (Leone et al., 2005; Handschin et al., 2007; Wende et al., 2007), exercise-induced mitochondrial adaptations in PGC-1a knockout mice were similar to wild-type animals (Leick et al., 2008; Geng et al., 2010). These confilicting results can be probably explained because these two coactivators are redundant and partially compensate each other. In fact, when PGC-1ß is deleted on a generalized PGC-1a-deficient background (Zechner et al., 2010) it was shown that these factors share a subset of target genes and display overlapping functions. Accordingly, exercise performance, in this model, is greatly decreased compared to single PGC-1a or PGC-1ß knockout animals (Zechner et al., 2010). PGC-1a and PGC-1B are necessary for the maintenance of mitochondrial function (Zechner et al., 2010). Therefore, the deletion of both, PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β induce severe mitochondrial dysfunction that leads to rapid depletion of glycogen stores and to premature fatigue during exercise (Zechner et al., 2010). Moreover, PGC-1 α and PGC-1 β control mitochondrial dynamics by stimulating Mfn1 and Mfn2 gene expression in a ERRα-dependent manner (Soriano et al., 2006; Russell et al., 2013). Accordingly, Mfn1, Mfn2, and Drp1 are severely downregulated in PGC-1a and PGC-1b muscle-specific knockout mice (Zechner et al., 2010). Moreover, PGC-1a fine tunes autophagy regulation during some forms of disuse atrophy (Vainshtein et al., 2015). Therefore, PGC-1 coactivators not only increase mitochondrial content but also mitochondrial quality by modulating fusion/fission processes and mitophagy. Surprisingly, PGC-1a and PGC-1ß muscle-specific knockout mice do not exhibit defects in muscle fiber type formation in terms of myosin content (Zechner et al., 2010). This is in contrast with a previous study that showed an increase of type I fibers in transgenic mice that specifically express PGC-1 α in fast glycolytic muscles (Lin et al., 2002). PGC-1a mRNA levels drop in different atrophying conditions like denervation (Sandri et al., 2006), hind limb suspension (Cannavino et al., 2015) aging (Chabi et al., 2008) or type 2 diabetic patients (Patti et al., 2003). Importantly, maintaining PGC-1a levels high during catabolic conditions, either by the use of transgenic mice or by transfecting adult muscle fibers, spares muscle mass during hind limb suspension, sarcopenia, cardiac cachexia, denervation, fasting, or expression of constitutively active FoxO3 (Sandri et al., 2006; Wenz et al., 2009; Geng et al., 2011; Cannavino et al., 2015). Similar beneficial effects have been recently obtained by overexpression of PGC-1β, an homolog of PGC-1α (Brault et al., 2010). The positive action on muscle mass of these cofactors is caused by the inhibition of the autophagic-lysosomal and the ubiquitin proteasome degradation pathways. PGC-1α and β reduce protein breakdown by inhibiting the transcriptional activity of FoxO3 and NF-KB, but they do not affect protein synthesis (Brault et al., 2010). Thus, these cofactors can prevent the excessive activation of proteolytic systems by inhibiting the action of the pro-atrophy transcription factors without perturbing the translational machinery.

PGC-1α4

A new splicing variant transcript from PGC-1a gene, PGC-1α4, was identified and shown to be involved in the regulation of muscle mass (Ruas et al., 2012). PGC-1a4 expression is induced with resistance exercise protocols (fewer repetitions at high muscle loads aimed at increasing muscle mass) and not with endurance exercise. Skeletal muscle-specific transgenic overexpression of PGC-1a4 results into hypertrophic and stronger mice (Ruas et al., 2012). PGC-1a4 controls muscle mass by inducing IGF1 and repressing the myostatin pathway. Importantly, PGC-1a4 overexpression counteract muscle loss induced by hindlimb suspension and cancer-cachexia (Ruas et al., 2012). However, the results obtained by Ruas and collegues are in contrast with different reports analyzing exercise-mediated adaptations in human muscles (Ydfors et al., 2013; Lundberg et al., 2014; Silvennoinen et al., 2015). In humans, PGC-1a4 is regulated transiently with exercise regardless of mode (resistance or endurance) (Ydfors et al., 2013; Lundberg et al., 2014; Silvennoinen et al., 2015). Moreover, chronic training adaptations, such as increases in muscle mass and force do not correlate with changes in the expression of PGC-1a4 after resistance exercise or after the combination of aerobic and resistance exercise (Lundberg et al., 2014).

Calcium and AMPK Signaling Pathways

The beneficial effects of exercise can be also mediated by contraction-induced changes in calcium homeostasis, ATP consumption and ROS production. The alteration in calcium levels activates calcium-sensitive signaling such as calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases (CaMK) and calcineurin/NFAT systems that are important for fiber type regulation and muscle plasticity (Wu et al., 2002; Blaauw et al., 2013).

ER-mitochondria crosstalk is essential for excitation-calcium coupling during muscle contraction. Indeed a great amount of ATP produced by mitochondria is consumed by SERCA pumps. Moreover, the positioning of intermyofibrillar mitochondria nearby to SR makes them affected by the calcium wave of contraction. In this context, the role of mitochondrial calcium uptake in the maintenance of skeletal muscle mass was recently investigated (Mammucari et al., 2015). In vivo gain- and loss-of-function experiments in skeletal muscle showed that modulation of mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) controls mitochondrial volume. Overexpression of MCU in muscles leads to increased protein synthesis with a resulting hypertrophic phenotype which impinge on IGF1/AKT and PGC-1a4 pathways. Moreover, MCU overexpression protects from denervation-induced atrophy. Supporting the importance of MCU in skeletal muscle is the identification of mutations of MICU1, an MCU regulator, in patients with proximal muscle weakness, learning difficulties and extrapiramidal motor disorder (Logan et al., 2014). In addition, different reports linked calcium homeostasis with the control of muscle mass (Blaauw et al., 2013). Therefore, the investigation of calcium entry pathways in skeletal muscle mitochondria open the possibility to better understand the role of calcium in ER-mitochondria communication and its impacts on muscle mass regulation.

On the other side ATP depletion modifies the AMP/ATP ratio, activating the energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK). The activation of this signal transducer is crucial for the metabolic adaptations in response to energy stress. AMPK inhibition of anabolic pathways together with stimulation of catabolic pathways are aimed at conserving/restoring ATP (Ha et al., 2015). In skeletal muscle AMPK activation is sufficient to increase glucose uptake (by increasing GLUT4 translocation), fatty acid oxidation and mitochondrial biogenesis. In fact, AMPK-dependent phosphorylation of PGC-1a is required for the induction of PGC-1a promoter and for the transcription of many AMPK target genes (Jäger et al., 2007). Summarizing, both calcium-dependent pathways and AMPK modulate the activity and the expression of PGC-1α (Wu et al., 2002; Jäger et al., 2007). Therefore, many of the beneficial effects of exercise converge on the activation of PGC-1 signaling which is central for the mitochondrial and metabolic adaptation to exercise.

Autophagy and ROS Production

Different reports demonstrated that acute as well chronic exercise stimulates autophagy in different tissues (Grumati et al., 2011; He et al., 2012a,b; Lo Verso et al., 2014). Experiments conducted in inducible Atg7-deficient mice unraveled the mechanisms behind autophagy induction following exercise (Lo Verso et al., 2014). Interestingly, autophagy impairment does not affect exercise performance suggesting that autophagy is not required to sustain muscle contraction during exercise training (Lira et al., 2013; Lo Verso et al., 2014). However, autophagy is critical for muscle homeostasis after eccentric contractions. In fact, autophagy is necessary to remove dysfunctional mitochondria that have been altered by exercise in order to prevent excessive ROS

production (Lo Verso et al., 2014). It is well known that exercise training and muscle contraction cause an increase in ROS production and a transient oxidative stress (Davies et al., 1982; Powers and Jackson, 2008). Indeed, oxidative stress has an important role in muscle signaling (Finkel, 1998; Rhee et al., 2000; Sena and Chandel, 2012), but can also induce damage to contractile proteins and organelles (Carnio et al., 2014). Although counterintuitive, antioxidant treatment leads to exercise intolerance in wild-type animals and do not ameliorate the physical performance of autophagydeficient mice (Lo Verso et al., 2014). Moreover, control animals treated with antioxidants display mitochondrial dysfunction and autophagy impairment. Different reports support a crucial role of oxidative stress signaling during exercise in the maintenance of mitochondrial fitness (Gomez-Cabrera et al., 2005, 2008) and in the induction of molecular regulators of insulin sensitivity and antioxidant defense (Ristow et al., 2009). All together these results are consistent with the mitohormesis concept (Ristow and Schmeisser, 2014). Mitohormesis, the non-linear response to mitochondrial ROS formation, exhibits a dual dose-response (Ristow and Schmeisser, 2014). Accordingly, high ROS levels are detrimental due to the induction of oxidative stress with cellular damage. On the contrary, low ROS levels are essential for maintenance of cellular function as well as for improving oxidative stress for the promotion of health and lifespan (Ristow and Schmeisser, 2011; Owusu-Ansah et al., 2013). Therefore, understanding how mitohormesis is regulated could promise a potential application in the promotion of cellular homeostasis and longevity.

IGF1/PI3K/AKT/mTOR Pathway

Although both endurance as well as resistance exercise can promote significant health benefits, the molecular response signature will be different according to the frequency, intensity, duration and the type of exercise (resistance or endurance). The objectives of resistance exercise are an increase in muscle mass, strength and power. The resistance exercise-induced adaptive hypertrophic response is mediated by the anabolic factor insulin growth factor 1 (IGF1) via the IGF1/PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. Indeed, increased IGF1 levels precedes muscle hypertrophy achieved by functional overload (Adams and Haddad, 1996). Moreover, IGF1 stimulates fatty acid uptake and insuling sensitivity (Clemmons, 2012) explaining in part some of the beneficial effects of exercise. ATP citrate lyase (ACL) is a cytosolic enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of mitochondria-derived citrate into oxaloacetate and Acetyl-CoA important for lipid synthesis and acetylation. ACL activity is controlled by a posttranslational modification via the IGF1/PI3K/AKT pathway. Overexpression of ACL in muscles improved mitochondrial function via stabilization of respiratory chain supercomplexes formation due to increases in cardiolipin synthesis (Das et al., 2015). Thus, IGF1 treatment of myotubes significantly increases mitochondrial respiration due to IGF1-dependent ACL activation suggesting that the activation of the IGF1-ACL pathway increases protein synthesis as well as stimulating the formation of the ATP necessary for this anabolic process (Das et al., 2015). The correlation of mitochondrial fitness to muscle homeostasis is confirmed by the fact that ACL overexpression in human myotubes is sufficient to induce hypertrophy while ACL activity is downregulated in sarcopenic and in dexamethasone-induced atrophic muscles (Das et al., 2015). All together, these different models offer a useful platform to further investigate the molecular mechanisms explaining how improvements in mitochondrial function can be translated into an increase in protein synthesis and therefore in hypertrophy.

HOW DOES MITOCHONDRIAL DYSFUNCTION ACTIVATE MUSCLE PROTEOLYTIC PATHWAYS?

Muscle atrophy is an active process, controlled by specific signaling pathways and transcriptional programs (Lecker et al., 2004; Sandri, 2013). Of note, the muscle wasting transcriptome signature is characterized by the coordinated reduction of genes encoding key enzymes for ATP production and glycolysis (Lecker et al., 2004). Accordingly, alterations in mitochondrial morphology and function are frequently associated with atrophying muscles in aging (see Section "The Role of Disrupted Mitochondria Quality Control Pathways in Aging Sarcopenia") as well as in several wasting conditions such as burn injury (Porter et al., 2013), intensive care unit-acquired weakness

(Friedrich et al., 2015), insulin resistance (Crescenzo et al., 2014), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Mathur et al., 2014), cancer cachexia (Antunes et al., 2014), and in different neuromuscular disorders (Katsetos et al., 2013). Over the last years, several in vivo genetic perturbation models indicate a key role of mitochondrial morphology and mitochondrial dysfunction signaling in the activation of nuclear programs controlling muscle loss. The maintenance of a functional mitochondrial network is indeed particularly important for tissues that are highly structured and metabolically active such as neurons, cardiac and skeletal muscles. These tissues are constituted by post-mitotic cells that do not divide and consequently, cannot dilute damaged/dysfunctional mitochondria through cellular division. Therefore, post-mitotic tissues depend on the activation of mitochondria quality control pathways to preserve or restore mitochondrial function.

Mitochondrial damage is attenuated with different defensive strategies including the activation of mitochondrial proteolytic systems, mitochondrial dynamics and the lysosomal degradation of mitochondrial cargo. For this reason, a failure in any of these systems predisposes to tissue dysfunction and degeneration (**Figure 2**). The importance of the actions of mitochondrial proteases, which remove misfolded or damaged mitochondrial proteins, in the control of muscle mass was confirmed by data obtained with several knockout animal models. Loss in the activities of the proteases PARL



control mechanisms are impaired. ROS produced by the defective organelles induces muscle atrophy through the activation of the JNK-FoxO signaling pathway and of ER stress. Moreover, the release of dangerous factors such as AIF, cytochrome c and ROS can induce apoptosis and/or necroptosis. The activation of the energy sensor AMPK by an increase in the AMP/ATP ratio inhibits mTOR and directly phosphorylates FoxO3 (Ser413 and Ser588) increasing its transcriptional activity, affecting muscle mass. The dashed line indicates a mechanism that needs more studies. (Cipolat et al., 2006), Omi/HtrA2 (Jones et al., 2003; Martins et al., 2004), and Hax1 (Chao et al., 2008) lead to a similar phenotype, characterized by mitochondrial dysfunction, increased apoptosis, neurodegeneration and atrophy. A fine equilibrium of mitochondrial fusion/fission processes is needed to preserve muscle mass and prevent muscle wasting. This balance is regulated according to the physiological needs of cells.

Fusion Machinery and Atrophy

Fused mitochondria are preferred when optimal mitochondrial function is needed. Indeed intermixing of mitochondrial content by mitochondrial fusion increases the bioenergetic capacity of the cell and is essential for the excitacion-contraction coupling in skeletal muscles (Eisner et al., 2014). Moreover, under conditions of high energy demand, mitochondrial fusion has a survival function, by protecting mitochondria against mitophagy, optimizing ATP production and leading to a sustained cell viability during nutrient deprivation (Gomes et al., 2011; Rambold et al., 2011). The biological importance of mitochondrial fusion in early development is revealed by the embryonic lethality of mouse knockouts for Opa1, Mfn1, and Mfn2 (Chen et al., 2003; Davies et al., 2007). However, few conditional tissue-specific knockout mice have been generated (Chen et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2011) and some of them show a lethal phenotype therefore, limiting the studies of the role of these factors in mitochondrial function in adulthood. Therefore, little is known about the contribution of fusion machinery to mitochondrial function and tissue homeostasis in most tissues in vivo, including skeletal muscle fibers. The neurodegenerative disorders dominant optic atrophy (DOA) (Amati-Bonneau et al., 2008) and Charcot-Marie-Tooth type 2A (CMT2A) (Zuchner et al., 2004), are associated with loss of function mutations of Opa1 and Mfn2 genes, respectively. Noteworthy, patients affected with both DOA and CMT2A develop myopathies (Yu-Wai-Man et al., 2010; Feely et al., 2011). Likewise, neuromuscular defects related to precocious age-dependent axonal and myelin degeneration are present in mouse models resembling the Opa1 mutations most frequently associated with DOA patients (Alavi et al., 2009; Sarzi et al., 2012). Skeletal muscle from these models have alterations at the ultrastructural level with increased smaller mitochondria. In addition, mitochondria display disorganized cristae and accumulate lipid droplets (Sarzi et al., 2012).

Opa1 and Muscle Mass

Further support in the role of Opa1 in the homeostatic control of muscle mass comes from the observations obtained with a genetic model of controlled Opa1overexpression (Civiletto et al., 2015; Varanita et al., 2015). Opa1 transgenic mice are protected from acute muscle loss induced by denervation (Varanita et al., 2015) as well as from chronic muscle loss in a model of myopathy caused by muscle-specific deletion of the mitochondrial subunit COX15 (Civiletto et al., 2015). The analysis of the expression levels of the major atrogenes belonging to the ubiquitinproteasome and of the autophagy-lysosome systems revealed a reduction of MuRF1 and LC3 expression levels in denervated Opa1 transgenic muscles. Furthermore, increased levels of Opa1 during denervation were sufficient to blunt denervation-induced mitochondrial dysfunction (Varanita et al., 2015).

Mfn2 and Muscle Loss

In line with the relevance of mitochondrial fusion proteins in the normal physiology of skeletal muscles, Mfn2 downregulation induces changes in ER-mitochondria communication that alters mitochondrial calcium buffering (Sebastian et al., 2012; Ainbinder et al., 2015). Moreover, Mfn2 protein levels are reduced in several catabolic conditions (Bach et al., 2005; Hernandez-Alvarez et al., 2010; Lokireddy et al., 2012). Mul1 is a FoxO-dependent ubiquitin-ligase involved in the ubiquitination and further degradation of Mfn2 during muscle atrophy. Accordingly, the maintenance of high Mfn2 proteins levels in starved muscles achieved by the downregulation of Mul1 partially protected from starvation-induced muscle loss (Lokireddy et al., 2012). On the contrary, the ablation of Mfn1 and Mfn2 in muscle-specific knockout mice induces a profound muscle atrophy. These models display mitochondrial dysfunction and compensatory mitochondrial proliferation, reduction of mtDNA as well as accumulation of point mutations and deletions of the mitochondrial genome (Chen et al., 2010). Mechanistically, Mfn2 deficiency in muscles induces a remodeling of the mitochondrial network leading to mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS production (Sebastian et al., 2012). Oxidative stress signaling is sufficient to activate an UPR that blunts insulin signaling via JNK and leads to insulin resistance (Sebastian et al., 2012). Mitochondrial fission is an essential component of the mitochondrial quality control mechanism. When mitochondria divide, two organelles are generated, one with high membrane potential that might undergo fusion and another fragment with low mitochondrial potential and reduced levels of OPA1 that will not rejoin the mitochondrial network and will be likely removed by autophagy (Twig et al., 2008).

Fission Machinery and Atrophy

Impairment of fission leads to the disruption of the selective mitochondrial autophagic degradation followed by accumulation of dysfunctional organelles (Twig et al., 2008; Dagda et al., 2009; Kageyama et al., 2014; Ikeda et al., 2015; Song et al., 2015). In fact, mutations in mitochondrial fission components can be lethal. An infant girl born with a dominant-negative mutation of Drp1 presented alterations in brain development and in metabolism that cause neonatal lethality (Waterham et al., 2007). Moreover, genetic perturbations leading to the ablation of Drp1 in heart or brain are lethal (Ishihara et al., 2009; Wakabayashi et al., 2009; Kageyama et al., 2014; Ikeda et al., 2015; Song et al., 2015). Three different reports investigate Drp1 role in heart physiology. Disrupted mitochondrial fission, obtained with cardiac-specific ablation of Drp1, induces accumulation of defective mitochondria due to impaired autophagy/mitophagy, that over-time promotes cardiomyocyte death (Kageyama et al., 2014; Ikeda et al., 2015; Song et al., 2015). In addition, abnormalities in mitochondrial fission has also been implicated in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's, Huntington, and Parkinson (Chaturvedi and Flint Beal, 2013). In skeletal
muscle, atrophying conditions such as fasting, denervation or the overexpression of a constitutively active form of FoxO3 are characterized by alterations of the mitochondrial network (Romanello et al., 2010). Furthermore, the disruption of the mitochondrial network is a crucial amplificatory loop for the muscle atrophy program. The acute overexpression in muscles of the fission machinery per se promotes changes of mitochondrial morphology which are followed by mitochondrial dysfunction, energy stress and AMPK activation. As a consequence, AMPK modulates FoxO3 transcriptional activity in order to induce muscle atrophy via the activation of ubiquitin-proteasome and autophagy pathways (Romanello et al., 2010). Accordingly, inhibition of fission machineries or downregulation of AMPK is sufficient to protect against muscle loss in atrophying conditions (Romanello et al., 2010). These findings pave the way to further investigate the causal link between changes in mitochondria morphology and alterations in muscle homeostasis. A recent report investigates the consequences of mitochondrial network remodeling on muscle growth. The constitutive muscle-specific overexpression of Drp1 (Touvier et al., 2015) leads to muscle mass loss and decreased exercise performance (Touvier et al., 2015). In this mouse model, stress-induced mitochondriadependent signals activate both, the UPR^{mt} and the eIF2α-ATF4-Fgf21 axis causing a reduction in protein synthesis and a blockade of growth hormones actions that prevent muscle growth (Touvier et al., 2015).

Autophagy and Atrophy

Mitophagy is a housekeeping mechanism important to keep under control the turnover of mitochondria in both, the basal state as well as under stress conditions. A finely tuned autophagic system is required for muscle maintenance. Notably, genetic manipulations to activate or inhibit autophagy results into muscle atrophy (Mammucari et al., 2007; Masiero et al., 2009; Romanello et al., 2010). Therefore, autophagy needs to be properly regulated, otherwise it can become detrimental instead of being protective. Several lines of evidence demonstrate that constitutive basal autophagy, which preserves mitochondrial function, is crucial for skeletal muscle homeostasis. Indeed, dysregulation of autophagic flux is detrimental for myofiber health and is a common feature of a group of muscle disorders with alterations of lysosomal proteins such as Danon or Pompe Disease as well as in the Vici Syndrome (Sandri et al., 2013). Moreover, defective autophagy plays a role in congenital muscular dystrophies caused by defects in collagen VI production (Grumati et al., 2010), laminin A/C (Ramos et al., 2012), or dystrophin (De Palma et al., 2012). These dystrophic models have in common a hyperactivation of Akt/mTOR signaling pathway that inhibits autophagy. Dystrophic muscles present accumulation of structurally altered mitochondria together with myofiber degeneration. Noteworthy, reactivation of autophagy flux by dietary or pharmacological tools, like rapamycin, cyclosporine A, or AICAR rescues the dystrophic phenotype by clearing the abnormal mitochondria (Grumati et al., 2010; De Palma et al., 2012; Pauly et al., 2012; Ramos et al., 2012). In agreement, suppression of autophagy by muscle-specific ablation of Atg5 and Atg7, the E3 ubiquitin ligases necessary for autophagosome formation, exacerbates fasting- and denervation- induced atrophy (Masiero et al., 2009). Moreover, impairment of autophagy induces accumulation of abnormal mitochondria, induction of oxidative stress, apoptosis, muscle atrophy, weakness and several features of myopathy (Raben et al., 2008; Masiero et al., 2009). Likewise, reduction of mitophagy caused by ablation of Pink and Parkin induces mitochondrial dysfunction and increased sensitivity to oxidative stress followed by muscle degeneration (Clark et al., 2006; Park et al., 2006; Billia et al., 2011). On the contrary, autophagic flux is increased in muscles in both exercise (Grumati et al., 2011; Lo Verso et al., 2014) and catabolic conditions (Sandri, 2013). For example, in skeletal muscle, mitochondrial dysfunction caused by the transient overexpression of FoxO3, Mul1 (Lokireddy et al., 2012), Bnip3, or Nix (Romanello et al., 2010) triggers autophagy and induces muscle atrophy (Mammucari et al., 2007; Romanello et al., 2010). Naf-1, the nutrient-deprivation autophagy- factor 1, is a ER-Bcl2 interacting protein identified as a novel autophagy regulator. Its downregulation is accompanied by the presence of abnormal mitochondria and increased autophagy that leads to muscle weakness and atrophy (Chang et al., 2012).

Mitophagy Impairment and ROS Production

Oxidative stress is increased when autophagy is dysregulated. ROS has detrimental effects both within and outside mitochondria. Indeed, autophagy deficient muscle show an increase of myosin and actin oxidation that reduces their sliding properties and causes muscle weakness. Anti-oxidant treatment restores a normal force generation and sliding properties even if it does not rescue muscle atrophy (Carnio et al., 2014). Mutations of the Superoxide Dismutase (SOD1) gene is behind 20% of cases of inherited amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). ALS is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by motoneuron degeneration and muscle atrophy. Aberrant ROS production affects mitochondrial function producing a feedback loop that in turn exacerbates mitochondrial damage. Transgenic muscle-specific mice expressing the SOD1 G93A mutation, an ALS-associated human SOD1 mutation display muscle atrophy which is mainly through autophagy activation (Dobrowolny et al., 2008).

Autophagy and Muscle Metabolism

Skeletal muscle plays a significant role in the metabolic control of glucose, lipids, and energy. Importantly, these processes are coordinated with changes in mitochondrial content, shape, and/or function. Therefore, the question now arises as to how modulation of the mitochondrial quality pathways and specifically of mitophagy can affect muscle metabolism. Despite conflicting results, two different studies investigate the connection between autophagy/mitophagy and metabolic regulation in muscles. The first one, uses transgenic mice with knock-in mutations on Bcl2 phosphorylation sites that cannot trigger autophagy by fasting or exercise. These mice show decreased exercise endurance, impaired exercise-induced glucose uptake and are more sensitive to high fat diet-induced glucose intolerance (He et al., 2012a). Since the transgene is expressed in all cell types, it cannot be ruled out whether the observed

effects are resulting from the combination of the actions exerted by different metabolically active tissues (liver, heart, muscle, brain). In the second study, muscle-specific autophagy deficient mice (Atg7 knockout) are protected from high-fat diet induced obesity and insulin resistance. The protective effects depend on dysfunctional mitochondrial signals sufficient to activate an UPR via ATF4, which induces Fgf21 expression (Kim et al., 2013). Therefore, it is not clear how autophagy can fine-tune the metabolic pathways in response to different cellular cues. An important future goal is to establish the metabolic impact of mitochondrial quality control pathways in skeletal muscle.

Oxidative Stress and Atrophy

As already discussed, ROS act in a hormetic fashion (Ristow and Schmeisser, 2014). The beneficial or detrimental action will depend on the level and persistance of ROS flow, as well as on the antioxidant capacity of target cells (Barbieri and Sestili, 2012). While low levels of ROS are associated with positive effects on muscle physiology, on the other hand, excessive production of free radicals accelerates muscle proteolysis (Powers et al., 2012; Reid et al., 2014). Accordingly, the exposure of oxidants to myotubes results in muscle atrophy (McClung et al., 2009; Gilliam et al., 2012). In addition, several models of disuse atrophy like mechanical ventilation, limb immobilization, hindlimb unloading or bed rest are associated with increased ROS production (Pellegrino et al., 2011). Recent evidence indicates mitochondrial ROS production as a required signaling step to induce mitochondrial dysfunction and muscle disuse atrophy (Min et al., 2011; Powers et al., 2011; Talbert et al., 2013b). Mechanistically, oxidative stress can impinge on proteolytic pathways in multiple ways; First, ROS can regulate NF-kB and FoxO transcriptional factors (Dodd et al., 2010) activating the autophagy-lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome systems (Taillandier et al., 1996; Levine et al., 2008, 2011; Andrianjafiniony et al., 2010; Hussain et al., 2010; Brocca et al., 2012). Second, the muscle proteases calpain (Taillandier et al., 1996; McClung et al., 2009; Andrianjafiniony et al., 2010; Nelson et al., 2012; Talbert et al., 2013a) and caspase-3 (Levine et al., 2008; Nelson et al., 2012; Talbert et al., 2013a) are activated during disuse atrophy. Third, oxidized proteins are more prone to proteolysis because: (a) their susceptibility to be degraded by caspase-3 and calpain is enhanced, in part because of unfolding of the proteins (Smuder et al., 2010), (b) they can be directly degraded by the proteasome without being ubiquitinated (Grune et al., 2003), and (c) ubiquitin conjugation activity is increased by oxidative stress (Shang et al., 1997).

Summarizing, all these data strongly support the involvement of mitochondrial morphology and/or function in the activation of signaling pathways that control muscle mass.

THE ROLE OF DISRUPTED MITOCHONDRIA QUALITY CONTROL PATHWAYS IN AGING SARCOPENIA

Sarcopenia is defined as the progressive age-related decline in muscle mass and force. It is considered a primary risk

for developing major human pathologies that can result into disability and increased vulnerability to death. It has been estimated that roughly, 1.1 and 1.9/kg of muscle mass are lost per decade in women and men, respectively (Janssen et al., 2000). Of note, muscle strength precedes muscle loss, declining threetimes faster than muscle loss (Goodpaster et al., 2006). Ageassociated muscle loss begins at a slow rate around 30 years of age, then it accelerates and starts to be noticeable after 45 years of age (Janssen et al., 2000). Beyond the sixth decade of life more severe alterations such as spinal motor neurons alterations can be observed (Booth et al., 1994) while the most affected age is over 80 years old (Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2010). The average life expectancy of human beings is rapidly increasing. According to the National Institute on Aging (NIH), in 2010 8% of the world's population were people over 65 years old and this number is expected to double by 2050. Although the resulting clinical, economical and social relevance of sarcopenia, the mechanisms that drive the age-related loss of muscle mass and function are not completely understood. Sarcopenia is a complex multifactorial process. Recently, nine primary hallmarks of aging were specified (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013). Among these, mitochondrial dysfunction has been long suggested as one of the mechanisms of aging sarcopenia (Trounce et al., 1989; Melov et al., 2007; Gouspillou et al., 2010, 2014a,b; Picard et al., 2011; Carnio et al., 2014).

Decreased Mitochondrial Biogenesis

It has been shown that muscle mitochondrial content declines with age (Conley et al., 2000; Short et al., 2005; Chabi et al., 2008), however, there is no clear consensus (Mathieu-Costello et al., 2005; Callahan et al., 2014; Gouspillou et al., 2014b). Mitochondrial biogenesis is important for determining mitochondrial content and function. It depends on the transcription, translation and import of new proteins into pre-existing organelles. In agreement to the observed ageassociated mitochondrial content reduction and dysfunction, PGC1-α mRNA and protein levels are reduced in aged muscles (Short et al., 2005; Chabi et al., 2008; Safdar et al., 2010; Ghosh et al., 2011; Joseph et al., 2012; Ibebunjo et al., 2013). On the other hand, muscle-specific PGC1- α transgenic mice are protected from the reduction in mitochondrial function and content observed during aging (Wenz et al., 2009). Moreover, overexpression of PGC1-a is sufficient to prevent age-related muscle loss (Wenz et al., 2009). Blunted mitochondrial biogenesis in aging is supported also by the fact that nascent mitochondrial precursors are more prone to be degraded by cytosolic factors (Huang et al., 2010).

Age-Associated Mitochondrial Oxidative Damage

Several mechanisms necessary for mitochondrial homeostasis are dysregulated in sarcopenia. In fact, during aging, ROS production increases over a certain threshold, overcoming cellular antioxidant defense. Therefore, the initial homeostatic response of ROS signaling is subverted and accelerates the age-associated damage (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013). The resulting oxidative stress, induces post-translational modifications which compromise protein function (Baraibar et al., 2013). The target proteins modified by oxidative stress (the oxy-proteome components) in aged muscles have been identified recently, by the resolution of carbonylated proteins (an indicator of oxidized damaged proteins) by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (Lourenco Dos Santos et al., 2015). Many of them are mitochondrial proteins which affect mitochondrial proteostasis (Lourenco Dos Santos et al., 2015; Ross et al., 2015).

Mitochondrial Dynamics Changes

Despite certain discrepancy between reports, the balance between fusion and fission is altered in sarcopenic muscles. Some studies reported that muscle mitochondria in old rats are smaller than young controls (Ljubicic et al., 2009; Iqbal et al., 2013). On the other hand, giant mitochondria were observed in aged muscles of houseflies (Rockstein and Bhatnagar, 1965), muscle cells of humans (Beregi et al., 1988), mice (Beregi et al., 1988), and rats (Navratil et al., 2008). Analysis of the longitudinal vs. transversal mitochondrial orientation with transmission electron microscopy reveals that muscle mitochondria from aged mice are much more enlarged and branched than young muscles (Leduc-Gaudet et al., 2015). Even though the authors did not find any difference in the expression of the dynamic machineries between young and old mice, they suggest that the alteration of mitochondrial morphology in old muscles is the result of a fusion/fission imbalance toward mitochondrial fusion (Bori et al., 2012; Leduc-Gaudet et al., 2015). In contrast, other groups find a downregulation only of Opa1 (Navratil et al., 2008; Joseph et al., 2012) or an upregulation of the fission machinery (Iqbal et al., 2013). Interestingly, a transcriptomic and proteomic study found that reduced expression of all the components of the mitochondria dynamic machineries correlates with age-related muscle loss in rats (Ibebunjo et al., 2013). The employment of new tools, like FIB-SEM, would be useful to correlate mitochondrial dynamics alterations with mitochondrial function in sarcopenic muscles.

The Role of Mitophagy in Sarcopenia

Several evidences indicate an alteration in mitochondrial turnover during sarcopenia. Considering the decline of mitochondrial biogenesis together with the progressive accumulation of macromolecules and dysfunctional organelles it seems to create a likely basis for impaired mitochondrial function and removal during aging. In agreement, some autophagic regulators like LC3 lipidation, Atg7, p62, beclin1, Bnip3, Parkin, and LAMP2 decrease with age (Russ et al., 2012; Joseph et al., 2013; Carnio et al., 2014; Gouspillou et al., 2014b). Moreover, a genetic muscle-specific model of autophagy deletion (Atg7 knockout mice) displays precocious aging characterized by increased oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, muscle loss and weakness and degeneration of neuromuscular junctions. All together, these results put mitophagy central in age-related mitochondrial dysfunction and critical to prevent age-related denervation and weakness. In contrast, others found increased levels of lipidated LC3 (Wenz et al., 2009), Atg7, beclin1 (Fry et al., 2013), parkin, and p62 (O'Leary et al., 2013). The divergence in these results highlight the necessity of complementing the analysis of the expression of single autophagic regulators with assays to evaluate the complete autophagic process by flux measurements for the correct interpretation of the results (Klionsky et al., 2012).

Interventions to Attenuate Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Aging

Even though, aging sarcopenia is an unavoidable consequence of getting old, it can be reduced with regular exercise and with nutritional interventions. Notably, the benefits of both strategies are mediated by activation of autophagy. Exercise training increases mitochondrial content and turnover by activating both, mitochondrial biogenesis (Little et al., 2011) and autophagy (Vainshtein et al., 2014). As mitochondrial turnover and function are both altered in sarcopenic muscles, exercise seems to be a good countermeasure to improve mitochondrial function (Jubrias et al., 2001; Short et al., 2003; Menshikova et al., 2006; Melov et al., 2007) and therefore, to reduce the sarcopenic process (Jubrias et al., 2001; Melov et al., 2007; Kern et al., 2014; Zampieri et al., 2015). Interestingly, Melov et al. (2007) defined the aging transcriptome signature. The sarcopenic muscle profile was enriched with genes associated with mitochondrial dysfunction compared with young muscles (Melov et al., 2007).Genes important for energy production and mitochondrial function decreased with age. Examples of these genes are the genes encoding the ubiquinol-cytochrome C reductase hinge protein (UQCRH), the β subunit of succinyl-CoA synthase (SUCLA2), and the C subunit of succinate dehydrogenase (SDH). Six months of resistance training were sufficient to revert the transcriptome expression profile of the genes associated with mitochondrial metabolism and electron transport to the expression levels characteristic of young people. However, at the functional/phenotypical levels resistance exercise partially improved muscle strength (Melov et al., 2007). Importantly, the benefits of exercise in reverting the sarcopenic phenotype do not have the same effect on advanced age (over 80 years of age) which have limited muscle plasticity (Slivka et al., 2008; Raue et al., 2009), with the oldest ones being the most affected by the consequences of aging muscle atrophy (Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2010). Caloric restriction (CR) is a powerful nutritional intervention that has been reported to increase lifespan, to maintain metabolism at a more youthful-like state and to prevent chronic diseases (Fontana and Partridge, 2015). The investigation of the effects of lifelong CR in rats muscles demonstrated that CR increases the expression of some autophagic proteins like LC3, Atg7, and 9 and LAMP2 attenuating the age-dependent decline in autophagy. Therefore, the chronic activation of autophagy decreases oxidative damage as well as apopoptotic DNA fragmentation and is sufficient to reduce age-related myocyte degeneration maintaining skeletal muscle homeostasis (Wohlgemuth et al., 2010). Chronic moderate CR adaptation in muscles from humans (30% lower energy intake) and rats is mediated by three major pathways: IGF1/insulin/FoxO, mitochondrial biogenesis, and inflammation (Mercken et al., 2013). CR-mediated responses lead to reduction of IGF1/AKT pathway with the consequent increase of FoxO3 and 4 transcript as well as an upregulation of FoxO-dependent antioxidant system and autophagy-related genes (Mercken et al., 2013). Moreover, CR induces a transcriptional reprogramming profile of molecular pathways that become more similar to the profile of young individuals (Mercken et al., 2013). The involvement of age-dependent mitochondrial decline in sarcopenia as well as the physiological significance of this decline clearly needs more studies. In years to come it will be exciting to see if manipulations aimed at enhancing mitochondria quality control pathways will be sufficient to promote a healthy aging of muscles.

FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

In the last years our understanding of the different mechanisms controlling mitochondrial morphology/function and the impact of these pathways in the homeostatic control of muscle mass has experienced an unprecedented advance. However, there are still many challenges that should be addressed. First, since the components of the mitochondria quality control system are closely interconnected, the alteration in one system can impinge on the activation/inhibition of the other repair mechanism. Therefore, this interplay, which is of fundamental importance for the integration of mitochondrial function within the network, should be considered in future studies. Second, mitochondria are social organelles that establish direct or indirect

REFERENCES

- Adams, G. R., and Haddad, F. (1996). The relationships among IGF-1, DNA content, and protein accumulation during skeletal muscle hypertrophy. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 81, 2509–2516.
- Ainbinder, A., Boncompagni, S., Protasi, F., and Dirksen, R. T. (2015). Role of Mitofusin-2 in mitochondrial localization and calcium uptake in skeletal muscle. *Cell Calcium* 57, 14–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2014.11.002
- Alavi, M. V., and Fuhrmann, N. (2013). Dominant optic atrophy, OPA1, and mitochondrial quality control: understanding mitochondrial network dynamics. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 8:32. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-8-32
- Alavi, M. V., Fuhrmann, N., Nguyen, H. P., Yu-Wai-Man, P., Heiduschka, P., Chinnery, P. F., et al. (2009). Subtle neurological and metabolic abnormalities in an Opa1 mouse model of autosomal dominant optic atrophy. *Exp. Neurol.* 220, 404–409. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.09.026
- Amati-Bonneau, P., Valentino, M. L., Reynier, P., Gallardo, M. E., Bornstein, B., Boissiere, A., et al. (2008). OPA1 mutations induce mitochondrial DNA instability and optic atrophy 'plus' phenotypes. *Brain* 131, 338–351. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm298
- Anand, R., Wai, T., Baker, M. J., Kladt, N., Schauss, A. C., Rugarli, E., et al. (2014). The i-AAA protease YME1L and OMA1 cleave OPA1 to balance mitochondrial fusion and fission. *J. Cell Biol.* 204, 919–929. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201308006
- Andrianjafiniony, T., Dupré-Aucouturier, S., Letexier, D., Couchoux, H., and Desplanches, D. (2010). Oxidative stress, apoptosis, and proteolysis in skeletal muscle repair after unloading. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 299, C307–C315. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00069.2010
- Antunes, D., Padrão, A. I., Maciel, E., Santinha, D., Oliveira, P., Vitorino, R., et al. (2014). Molecular insights into mitochondrial dysfunction in cancer-related muscle wasting. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1841, 896–905. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.03.004
- Azzu, V., and Brand, M. D. (2010). Degradation of an intramitochondrial protein by the cytosolic proteasome. *J. Cell Sci.* 123, 578–585. doi: 10.1242/jcs.060004
- Bach, D., Naon, D., Pich, S., Soriano, F. X., Vega, N., Rieusset, J., et al. (2005). Expression of Mfn2, the Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A gene, in

(via mitochondria-derived vesicles) contacts with other cellular components. Indeed, mitochondrial communication with the endoplasmic reticulum, peroxisomes, and lysosomes/vacuoles are hot topics of study at the moment. Then, it will be of great interest to investigate the functional consequences of these interactions in the physiology of muscle in the future. Finally, mitochondria-derived metabolites can shuttle within the cell and within the whole organism. Thus, exploring the interrelation between mitochondria quality control pathways and the metabolic regulation of muscle mass as well as the muscle-interorgans crosstalk should give additional insights to understand the way these relationships can be manipulated to treat human diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VR and MS wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to colleagues whose studies were not cited owing to space limitations. We thank Bert Blaauw for the critical reading. Our work is supported from ERC (282310-MyoPHAGY), Italian Ministry of Education (MiUR) (PRIN 2010/2011), Foundation Leducq, STINT program and CARIPARO to MS.

human skeletal muscle: effects of type 2 diabetes, obesity, weight loss, and the regulatory role of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6. *Diabetes* 54, 2685–2693. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.9.2685

- Baraibar, M. A., Gueugneau, M., Duguez, S., Butler-Browne, G., Bechet, D., and Friguet, B. (2013). Expression and modification proteomics during skeletal muscle ageing. *Biogerontology* 14, 339–352. doi: 10.1007/s10522-013-9426-7
- Barbieri, E., and Sestili, P. (2012). Reactive oxygen species in skeletal muscle signaling. J. Signal Transduct. 2012, 982794. doi: 10.1155/2012/982794
- Benard, G., Bellance, N., James, D., Parrone, P., Fernandez, H., Letellier, T., et al. (2007). Mitochondrial bioenergetics and structural network organization. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 838–848. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03381
- Beregi, E., Regius, O., Hüttl, T., and Göbl, Z. (1988). Age-related changes in the skeletal muscle cells. Z. Gerontol. 21, 83–86.
- Bhandari, P., Song, M., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2015). Dissociation of mitochondrial from sarcoplasmic reticular stress in Drosophila cardiomyopathy induced by molecularly distinct mitochondrial fusion defects. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 80, 71–80. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.12.018
- Billia, F., Hauck, L., Konecny, F., Rao, V., Shen, J., and Mak, T. W. (2011). PTENinducible kinase 1 (PINK1)/Park6 is indispensable for normal heart function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 9572–9577. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1106291108
- Blaauw, B., Schiaffino, S., and Reggiani, C. (2013). Mechanisms modulating skeletal muscle phenotype. *Compr. Physiol.* 3, 1645–1687. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c130009
- Blei, M. L., Conley, K. E., and Kushmerick, M. J. (1993). Separate measures of ATP utilization and recovery in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 465, 203–222. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019673
- Bodine, S. C., Latres, E., Baumhueter, S., Lai, V. K., Nunez, L., Clarke, B. A., et al. (2001). Identification of ubiquitin ligases required for skeletal muscle atrophy. *Science* 294, 1704–1708. doi: 10.1126/science.1065874
- Booth, F. W., Weeden, S. H., and Tseng, B. S. (1994). Effect of aging on human skeletal muscle and motor function. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 26, 556–560. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199405000-00006
- Bori, Z., Zhao, Z., Koltai, E., Fatouros, I. G., Jamurtas, A. Z., Douroudos, I. I., et al. (2012). The effects of aging, physical training, and a single bout of exercise on

mitochondrial protein expression in human skeletal muscle. *Exp. Gerontol.* 47, 417–424. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2012.03.004

- Bragoszewski, P., Gornicka, A., Sztolsztener, M. E., and Chacinska, A. (2013). The ubiquitin-proteasome system regulates mitochondrial intermembrane space proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 33, 2136–2148. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01579-12
- Braschi, E., Zunino, R., and McBride, H. M. (2009). MAPL is a new mitochondrial SUMO E3 ligase that regulates mitochondrial fission. *EMBO Rep.* 10, 748–754. doi: 10.1038/embor.2009.86
- Brault, J. J., Jespersen, J. G., and Goldberg, A. L. (2010). Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1alpha or 1beta overexpression inhibits muscle protein degradation, induction of ubiquitin ligases, and disuse atrophy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 19460–19471. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.113092
- Brocca, L., Cannavino, J., Coletto, L., Biolo, G., Sandri, M., Bottinelli, R., et al. (2012). The time course of the adaptations of human muscle proteome to bed rest and the underlying mechanisms. *J. Physiol.* 590, 5211–5230. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.240267
- Callahan, D. M., Bedrin, N. G., Subramanian, M., Berking, J., Ades, P. A., Toth, M. J., et al. (2014). Age-related structural alterations in human skeletal muscle fibers and mitochondria are sex specific: relationship to single-fiber function. *J. Appl. Physiol.* (1985). 116, 1582–1592. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01362.2013
- Calvo, S. E., Clauser, K. R., and Mootha, V. K. (2015). MitoCarta2.0: an updated inventory of mammalian mitochondrial proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1003. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cannavino, J., Brocca, L., Sandri, M., Grassi, B., Bottinelli, R., and Pellegrino, M. A. (2015). The role of alterations in mitochondrial dynamics and PGClalpha over-expression in fast muscle atrophy following hindlimb unloading. *J. Physiol.* 593, 1981–1995. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.286740
- Cantó, C., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Feige, J. N., Lagouge, M., Noriega, L., Milne, J. C., et al. (2009). AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. *Nature* 458, 1056–1060. doi: 10.1038/nature07813
- Carnio, S., LoVerso, F., Baraibar, M. A., Longa, E., Khan, M. M., Maffei, M., et al. (2014). Autophagy impairment in muscle induces neuromuscular junction degeneration and precocious aging. *Cell Rep.* 8, 1509–1521. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.061
- Cereghetti, G. M., Stangherlin, A., Martins de Brito, O., Chang, C. R., Blackstone, C., Bernardi, P., et al. (2008). Dephosphorylation by calcineurin regulates translocation of Drp1 to mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 15803–15808. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808249105
- Chabi, B., Ljubicic, V., Menzies, K. J., Huang, J. H., Saleem, A., and Hood, D. A. (2008). Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 7, 2–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2007.00347.x
- Chang, N. C., Nguyen, M., Bourdon, J., Risse, P. A., Martin, J., Danialou, G., et al. (2012). Bcl-2-associated autophagy regulator Naf-1 required for maintenance of skeletal muscle. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 2277–2287. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ dds048
- Chao, J. R., Parganas, E., Boyd, K., Hong, C. Y., Opferman, J. T., and Ihle, J. N. (2008). Hax1-mediated processing of HtrA2 by Parl allows survival of lymphocytes and neurons. *Nature* 452, 98–102. doi: 10.1038/nature06604
- Chaturvedi, R. K., and Flint Beal, M. (2013). Mitochondrial diseases of the brain. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 63, 1–29. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.03.018
- Chen, H., Detmer, S. A., Ewald, A. J., Griffin, E. E., Fraser, S. E., and Chan, D. C. (2003). Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development. *J. Cell Biol.* 160, 189–200. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200211046
- Chen, H., Vermulst, M., Wang, Y. E., Chomyn, A., Prolla, T. A., McCaffery, J. M., et al. (2010). Mitochondrial fusion is required for mtDNA stability in skeletal muscle and tolerance of mtDNA mutations. *Cell* 141, 280–289. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.026
- Chen, Y., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2013). PINK1-phosphorylated mitofusin 2 is a Parkin receptor for culling damaged mitochondria. *Science* 340, 471–475. doi: 10.1126/science.1231031
- Chen, Y., Liu, Y., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2011). Mitochondrial fusion is essential for organelle function and cardiac homeostasis. *Circ. Res.* 109, 1327–1331. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.258723
- Cipolat, S., Martins de Brito, O., Dal Zilio, B., and Scorrano, L. (2004). OPA1 requires mitofusin 1 to promote mitochondrial fusion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 101, 15927–15932. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407043101

- Cipolat, S., Rudka, T., Hartmann, D., Costa, V., Serneels, L., Craessaerts, K., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial rhomboid PARL regulates cytochrome c release during apoptosis via OPA1-dependent cristae remodeling. *Cell* 126, 163–175. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.021
- Civiletto, G., Varanita, T., Cerutti, R., Gorletta, T., Barbaro, S., Marchet, S., et al. (2015). Opa1 overexpression ameliorates the phenotype of two mitochondrial disease mouse models. *Cell Metab.* 21, 845–854. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.04.016
- Clark, I. E., Dodson, M. W., Jiang, C., Cao, J. H., Huh, J. R., Seol, J. H., et al. (2006). Drosophila pink1 is required for mitochondrial function and interacts genetically with parkin. *Nature* 441, 1162–1166. doi: 10.1038/nature04779
- Clemmons, D. R. (2012). Metabolic actions of insulin-like growth factor-I in normal physiology and diabetes. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am.* 41, 425–443, vii-viii. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2012.04.017
- Cogliati, S., Frezza, C., Soriano, M. E., Varanita, T., Quintana-Cabrera, R., Corrado, M., et al. (2013). Mitochondrial cristae shape determines respiratory chain supercomplexes assembly and respiratory efficiency. *Cell* 155, 160–171. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.032
- Cohen, S., Nathan, J. A., and Goldberg, A. L. (2015). Muscle wasting in disease: molecular mechanisms and promising therapies. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 14, 58–74. doi: 10.1038/nrd4467
- Conley, K. E., Jubrias, S. A., and Esselman, P. C. (2000). Oxidative capacity and ageing in human muscle. J. Physiol. 526(Pt 1), 203–210. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00203.x
- Crescenzo, R., Bianco, F., Mazzoli, A., Giacco, A., Liverini, G., and Iossa, S. (2014). Mitochondrial efficiency and insulin resistance. *Front. Physiol.* 5:512. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00512
- Cribbs, J. T., and Strack, S. (2007). Reversible phosphorylation of Drp1 by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase and calcineurin regulates mitochondrial fission and cell death. *EMBO Rep.* 8, 939–944. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7401062
- Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., Landi, F., Topinková, E., and Michel, J. P. (2010). Understanding sarcopenia as a geriatric syndrome. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 13, 1–7. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328333c1c1
- Dagda, R. K., Cherra, S. J. III, Kulich, S. M., Tandon, A., Park, D., and Chu, C. T. (2009). Loss of PINK1 function promotes mitophagy through effects on oxidative stress and mitochondrial fission. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 13843–13855. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808515200
- Dahl, R., Larsen, S., Dohlmann, T. L., Qvortrup, K., Helge, J. W., Dela, F., et al. (2015). Three-dimensional reconstruction of the human skeletal muscle mitochondrial network as a tool to assess mitochondrial content and structural organization. *Acta Physiol. (Oxf).* 213, 145–155. doi: 10.1111/apha. 12289
- Das, S., Morvan, F., Jourde, B., Meier, V., Kahle, P., Brebbia, P., et al. (2015). ATP citrate lyase improves mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle. *Cell Metab.* 21, 868–876. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.05.006
- Davies, K. J., Quintanilha, A. T., Brooks, G. A., and Packer, L. (1982). Free radicals and tissue damage produced by exercise. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 107, 1198–1205. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(82)80124-1
- Davies, V. J., Hollins, A. J., Piechota, M. J., Yip, W., Davies, J. R., White, K. E., et al. (2007). Opa1 deficiency in a mouse model of autosomal dominant optic atrophy impairs mitochondrial morphology, optic nerve structure and visual function. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 1307–1318. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddm079
- de Brito, O. M., and Scorrano, L. (2009). Mitofusin-2 regulates mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum morphology and tethering: the role of Ras. *Mitochondrion* 9, 222–226. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2009.02.005
- De Palma, C., Morisi, F., Cheli, S., Pambianco, S., Cappello, V., Vezzoli, M., et al. (2012). Autophagy as a new therapeutic target in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cell Death Dis.* 3:e418. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2012.159
- Dobrowolny, G., Aucello, M., Rizzuto, E., Beccafico, S., Mammucari, C., Boncompagni, S., et al. (2008). Skeletal muscle is a primary target of SOD1G93A-mediated toxicity. *Cell Metab.* 8, 425–436. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008.09.002
- Dodd, S. L., Gagnon, B. J., Senf, S. M., Hain, B. A., and Judge, A. R. (2010). Ros-mediated activation of NF-kappaB and Foxo during muscle disuse. *Muscle Nerve*. 41, 110–113. doi: 10.1002/mus.21526
- Egan, B., Carson, B. P., Garcia-Roves, P. M., Chibalin, A. V., Sarsfield, F. M., Barron, N., et al. (2010). Exercise intensity-dependent regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor coactivator-1 mRNA abundance is associated

with differential activation of upstream signalling kinases in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 588, 1779–1790. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.188011

- Ehses, S., Raschke, I., Mancuso, G., Bernacchia, A., Geimer, S., Tondera, D., et al. (2009). Regulation of OPA1 processing and mitochondrial fusion by m-AAA protease isoenzymes and OMA1. *J. Cell Biol.* 187, 1023–1036. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200906084
- Eisner, V., Lenaers, G., and Hajnóczky, G. (2014). Mitochondrial fusion is frequent in skeletal muscle and supports excitation-contraction coupling. J. Cell Biol. 205, 179–195. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201312066
- Elgass, K., Pakay, J., Ryan, M. T., and Palmer, C. S. (2013). Recent advances into the understanding of mitochondrial fission. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1833, 150–161. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.05.002
- Elmore, S. P., Qian, T., Grissom, S. F., and Lemasters, J. J. (2001). The mitochondrial permeability transition initiates autophagy in rat hepatocytes. *FASEB J.* 15, 2286–2287. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0206fje
- Feely, S. M., Laura, M., Siskind, C. E., Sottile, S., Davis, M., Gibbons, V. S., et al. (2011). MFN2 mutations cause severe phenotypes in most patients with CMT2A. *Neurology* 76, 1690–1696. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182 1a441e
- Finkel, T. (1998). Oxygen radicals and signaling. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 10, 248–253. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(98)80147-6
- Fontana, L., and Partridge, L. (2015). Promoting health and longevity through diet: from model organisms to humans. *Cell* 161, 106–118. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.020
- Frezza, C., Cipolat, S., Martins de Brito, O., Micaroni, M., Beznoussenko, G. V., Rudka, T., et al. (2006). OPA1 controls apoptotic cristae remodeling independently from mitochondrial fusion. *Cell* 126, 177–189. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.025
- Friedrich, O., Reid, M. B., Van den Berghe, G., Vanhorebeek, I., Hermans, G., Rich, M. M., et al. (2015). The sick and the weak: neuropathies/myopathies in the critically ill. *Physiol. Rev.* 95, 1025–1109. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00028.2014
- Fry, C. S., Drummond, M. J., Glynn, E. L., Dickinson, J. M., Gundermann, D. M., Timmerman, K. L., et al. (2013). Skeletal muscle autophagy and protein breakdown following resistance exercise are similar in younger and older adults. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 68, 599–607. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gls209
- Gaitanos, G. C., Williams, C., Boobis, L. H., and Brooks, S. (1993). Human muscle metabolism during intermittent maximal exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 75, 712–719.
- Gegg, M. E., Cooper, J. M., Chau, K. Y., Rojo, M., Schapira, A. H., and Taanman, J. W. (2010). Mitofusin 1 and mitofusin 2 are ubiquitinated in a PINK1/parkindependent manner upon induction of mitophagy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 4861–4870. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq419
- Geisler, S., Holmström, K. M., Skujat, D., Fiesel, F. C., Rothfuss, O. C., Kahle, P. J., et al. (2010). PINK1/Parkin-mediated mitophagy is dependent on VDAC1 and p62/SQSTM1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 119–131. doi: 10.1038/ncb2012
- Geng, T., Li, P., Okutsu, M., Yin, X., Kwek, J., Zhang, M., et al. (2010). PGClalpha plays a functional role in exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis and angiogenesis but not fiber-type transformation in mouse skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 298, C572–C579. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00481.2009
- Geng, T., Li, P., Yin, X., and Yan, Z. (2011). PGC-1alpha promotes nitric oxide antioxidant defenses and inhibits FOXO signaling against cardiac cachexia in mice. Am. J. Pathol. 178, 1738–1748. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.01.005
- Ghosh, S., Lertwattanarak, R., Lefort, N., Molina-Carrion, M., Joya-Galeana, J., Bowen, B. P., et al. (2011). Reduction in reactive oxygen species production by mitochondria from elderly subjects with normal and impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes* 60, 2051–2060. doi: 10.2337/db11-0121
- Gilliam, L. A., Moylan, J. S., Patterson, E. W., Smith, J. D., Wilson, A. S., Rabbani, Z., et al. (2012). Doxorubicin acts via mitochondrial ROS to stimulate catabolism in C2C12 myotubes. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 302, C195–C202. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00217.2011
- Glancy, B., Hartnell, L. M., Malide, D., Yu, Z. X., Combs, C. A., Connelly, P. S., et al. (2015). Mitochondrial reticulum for cellular energy distribution in muscle. *Nature* 523, 617–620. doi: 10.1038/nature14614
- Gomes, L. C., Di Benedetto, G., and Scorrano, L. (2011). During autophagy mitochondria elongate, are spared from degradation and sustain cell viability. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 589–598. doi: 10.1038/ncb2220
- Gomes, M. D., Lecker, S. H., Jagoe, R. T., Navon, A., and Goldberg, A. L. (2001). Atrogin-1, a muscle-specific F-box protein highly expressed

during muscle atrophy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 14440-14445. doi: 10.1073/pnas.251541198

- Gomez-Cabrera, M. C., Borrás, C., Pallardó, F. V., Sastre, J., Ji, L. L., and Vina, J. (2005). Decreasing xanthine oxidase-mediated oxidative stress prevents useful cellular adaptations to exercise in rats. *J. Physiol.* 567, 113–120. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.080564
- Gomez-Cabrera, M. C., Domenech, E., Romagnoli, M., Arduini, A., Borras, C., Pallardo, F. V., et al. (2008). Oral administration of vitamin C decreases muscle mitochondrial biogenesis and hampers training-induced adaptations in endurance performance. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 87, 142–149.
- Goodpaster, B. H., Park, S. W., Harris, T. B., Kritchevsky, S. B., Nevitt, M., Schwartz, A. V., et al. (2006). The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 61, 1059–1064. doi: 10.1093/gerona/61. 10.1059
- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Biran, M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2014a). Mitochondrial energetics is impaired *in vivo* in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell.* 13, 39–48. doi: 10.1111/acel. 12147
- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Franconi, J. M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2010). Alteration of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in aged skeletal muscle involves modification of adenine nucleotide translocator. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1797, 143–151. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.09.004
- Gouspillou, G., Sgarioto, N., Kapchinsky, S., Purves-Smith, F., Norris, B., Pion, C. H., et al. (2014b). Increased sensitivity to mitochondrial permeability transition and myonuclear translocation of endonuclease G in atrophied muscle of physically active older humans. *FASEB J.* 28, 1621–1633. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-242750
- Grumati, P., Coletto, L., Sabatelli, P., Cescon, M., Angelin, A., Bertaggia, E., et al. (2010). Autophagy is defective in collagen VI muscular dystrophies, and its reactivation rescues myofiber degeneration. *Nat. Med.* 16, 1313–1320. doi: 10.1038/nm.2247
- Grumati, P., Coletto, L., Schiavinato, A., Castagnaro, S., Bertaggia, E., Sandri, M., et al. (2011). Physical exercise stimulates autophagy in normal skeletal muscles but is detrimental for collagen VI-deficient muscles. *Autophagy* 7, 1415–1423. doi: 10.4161/auto.7.12.17877
- Grune, T., Merker, K., Sandig, G., and Davies, K. J. (2003). Selective degradation of oxidatively modified protein substrates by the proteasome. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 305, 709–718. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00809-X
- Ha, J., Guan, K. L., and Kim, J. (2015). AMPK and autophagy in glucose/glycogen metabolism. *Mol. Aspects Med.* doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2015.08.002. [Epub ahead of print].
- Han, X. J., Lu, Y. F., Li, S. A., Kaitsuka, T., Sato, Y., Tomizawa, K., et al. (2008). CaM kinase I alpha-induced phosphorylation of Drp1 regulates mitochondrial morphology. J. Cell Biol. 182, 573–585. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200802164
- Handschin, C., Chin, S., Li, P., Liu, F., Maratos-Flier, E., Lebrasseur, N. K., et al. (2007). Skeletal muscle fiber-type switching, exercise intolerance, and myopathy in PGC-1alpha muscle-specific knock-out animals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 30014–30021. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704817200
- Hanna, R. A., Quinsay, M. N., Orogo, A. M., Giang, K., Rikka, S., and Gustafsson, Å. B. (2012). Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (LC3) interacts with Bnip3 to selectively remove endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria via autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 19094–19104. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.322933
- Harbauer, A. B., Zahedi, R. P., Sickmann, A., Pfanner, N., and Meisinger, C. (2014). The protein import machinery of mitochondria-a regulatory hub in metabolism, stress, and disease. *Cell Metab.* 19, 357–372. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.010
- He, C., Bassik, M. C., Moresi, V., Sun, K., Wei, Y., Zou, Z., et al. (2012a). Exerciseinduced BCL2-regulated autophagy is required for muscle glucose homeostasis. *Nature* 481, 511–515. doi: 10.1038/nature10758
- He, C., Sumpter, R. Jr., and Levine, B. (2012b). Exercise induces autophagy in peripheral tissues and in the brain. *Autophagy* 8, 1548–1551. doi: 10.4161/auto.21327
- Head, B., Griparic, L., Amiri, M., Gandre-Babbe, S., and van der Bliek, A. M. (2009). Inducible proteolytic inactivation of OPA1 mediated by the OMA1 protease in mammalian cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 187, 959–966. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200906083

- Heo, J. M., Livnat-Levanon, N., Taylor, E. B., Jones, K. T., Dephoure, N., Ring, J., et al. (2010). A stress-responsive system for mitochondrial protein degradation. *Mol. Cell.* 40, 465–480. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.10.021
- Hernandez-Alvarez, M. I., Thabit, H., Burns, N., Shah, S., Brema, I., Hatunic, M., et al. (2010). Subjects with early-onset type 2 diabetes show defective activation of the skeletal muscle PGC-1{alpha}/Mitofusin-2 regulatory pathway in response to physical activity. *Diabetes Care* 33, 645–651. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1305
- Hoppeler, H., Hudlicka, O., and Uhlmann, E. (1987). Relationship between mitochondria and oxygen consumption in isolated cat muscles. J. Physiol. 385, 661–675. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1987.sp016513
- Hourdé, C., Joanne, P., Medja, F., Mougenot, N., Jacquet, A., Mouisel, E., et al. (2013). Voluntary physical activity protects from susceptibility to skeletal muscle contraction-induced injury but worsens heart function in mdx mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 182, 1509–1518. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.01.020
- Howald, H., Hoppeler, H., Claassen, H., Mathieu, O., and Straub, R. (1985). Influences of endurance training on the ultrastructural composition of the different muscle fiber types in humans. *Pflugers Arch.* 403, 369–376. doi: 10.1007/BF00589248
- Huang, J. H., Joseph, A. M., Ljubicic, V., Iqbal, S., and Hood, D. A. (2010). Effect of age on the processing and import of matrix-destined mitochondrial proteins in skeletal muscle. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 65, 138–146. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glp201
- Huang, P., Galloway, C. A., and Yoon, Y. (2011). Control of mitochondrial morphology through differential interactions of mitochondrial fusion and fission proteins. *PLoS ONE* 6:e20655. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 20655
- Hussain, S. N., Mofarrahi, M., Sigala, I., Kim, H. C., Vassilakopoulos, T., Maltais, F., et al. (2010). Mechanical ventilation-induced diaphragm disuse in humans triggers autophagy. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 182, 1377–1386. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201002-0234OC
- Ibebunjo, C., Chick, J. M., Kendall, T., Eash, J. K., Li, C., Zhang, Y., et al. (2013). Genomic and proteomic profiling reveals reduced mitochondrial function and disruption of the neuromuscular junction driving rat sarcopenia. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 33, 194–212.
- Ikeda, Y., Shirakabe, A., Maejima, Y., Zhai, P., Sciarretta, S., Toli, J., et al. (2015). Endogenous Drp1 mediates mitochondrial autophagy and protects the heart against energy stress. *Circ. Res.* 116, 264–278. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303356
- Iqbal, S., Ostojic, O., Singh, K., Joseph, A. M., and Hood, D. A. (2013). Expression of mitochondrial fission and fusion regulatory proteins in skeletal muscle during chronic use and disuse. *Muscle Nerve.* 48, 963–970. doi: 10.1002/mus.23838
- Ishihara, N., Eura, Y., and Mihara, K. (2004). Mitofusin 1 and 2 play distinct roles in mitochondrial fusion reactions via GTPase activity. J. Cell Sci. 117, 6535–6546. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01565
- Ishihara, N., Fujita, Y., Oka, T., and Mihara, K. (2006). Regulation of mitochondrial morphology through proteolytic cleavage of OPA1. *EMBO J.* 25, 2966–2977. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601184
- Ishihara, N., Nomura, M., Jofuku, A., Kato, H., Suzuki, S. O., Masuda, K., et al. (2009). Mitochondrial fission factor Drp1 is essential for embryonic development and synapse formation in mice. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 958–966. doi: 10.1038/ncb1907
- Jäger, S., Handschin, C., St-Pierre, J., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2007). AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 12017–12022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705070104
- Janssen, I., Heymsfield, S. B., Wang, Z. M., and Ross, R. (2000). Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18-88 yr. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 89, 81–88.
- Jeon, H. B., Choi, E. S., Yoon, J. H., Hwang, J. H., Chang, J. W., Lee, E. K., et al. (2007). A proteomics approach to identify the ubiquitinated proteins in mouse heart. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 357, 731–736. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.04.015
- Jin, S. M., Lazarou, M., Wang, C., Kane, L. A., Narendra, D. P., and Youle, R. J. (2010). Mitochondrial membrane potential regulates PINK1 import and proteolytic destabilization by PARL. J. Cell Biol. 191, 933–942. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201008084

- Jones, J. M., Datta, P., Srinivasula, S. M., Ji, W., Gupta, S., Zhang, Z., et al. (2003). Loss of Omi mitochondrial protease activity causes the neuromuscular disorder of mnd2 mutant mice. *Nature* 425, 721–727. doi: 10.1038/nature02052
- Joseph, A. M., Adhihetty, P. J., Buford, T. W., Wohlgemuth, S. E., Lees, H. A., Nguyen, L. M., et al. (2012). The impact of aging on mitochondrial function and biogenesis pathways in skeletal muscle of sedentary high- and lowfunctioning elderly individuals. *Aging Cell*. 11, 801–809. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00844.x
- Joseph, A. M., Adhihetty, P. J., Wawrzyniak, N. R., Wohlgemuth, S. E., Picca, A., Kujoth, G. C., et al. (2013). Dysregulation of mitochondrial quality control processes contribute to sarcopenia in a mouse model of premature aging. *PLoS ONE* 8:e69327. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069327
- Jovaisaite, V., and Auwerx, J. (2015). The mitochondrial unfolded protein response-synchronizing genomes. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 33, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2014.12.003
- Jubrias, S. A., Esselman, P. C., Price, L. B., Cress, M. E., and Conley, K. E. (2001). Large energetic adaptations of elderly muscle to resistance and endurance training. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 90, 1663–1670.
- Judge, S. M., Wu, C. L., Beharry, A. W., Roberts, B. M., Ferreira, L. F., Kandarian, S. C., et al. (2014). Genome-wide identification of FoxO-dependent gene networks in skeletal muscle during C26 cancer cachexia. *BMC Cancer*. 14:997. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-997
- Kageyama, Y., Hoshijima, M., Seo, K., Bedja, D., Sysa-Shah, P., Andrabi, S. A., et al. (2014). Parkin-independent mitophagy requires Drp1 and maintains the integrity of mammalian heart and brain. *EMBO J.* 33, 2798–2813. doi: 10.15252/embj.201488658
- Kane, L. A., Lazarou, M., Fogel, A. I., Li, Y., Yamano, K., Sarraf, S. A., et al. (2014). PINK1 phosphorylates ubiquitin to activate Parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. J. Cell Biol. 205, 143–153. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201402104
- Karbowski, M., Neutzner, A., and Youle, R. J. (2007). The mitochondrial E3 ubiquitin ligase MARCH5 is required for Drp1 dependent mitochondrial division. J. Cell Biol. 178, 71–84. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200611064
- Karren, M. A., Coonrod, E. M., Anderson, T. K., and Shaw, J. M. (2005). The role of Fis1p-Mdv1p interactions in mitochondrial fission complex assembly. J. Cell Biol. 171, 291–301. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200506158
- Katsetos, C. D., Koutzaki, S., and Melvin, J. J. (2013). Mitochondrial dysfunction in neuromuscular disorders. *Semin. Pediatr. Neurol.* 20, 202–215. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2013.10.010
- Kazlauskaite, A., Kondapalli, C., Gourlay, R., Campbell, D. G., Ritorto, M. S., Hofmann, K., et al. (2014). Parkin is activated by PINK1-dependent phosphorylation of ubiquitin at Ser65. *Biochem. J.* 460, 127–139. doi: 10.1042/BJ20140334
- Kern, H., Barberi, L., Lofler, S., Sbardella, S., Burggraf, S., Fruhmann, H., et al. (2014). Electrical stimulation counteracts muscle decline in seniors. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:189. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00189
- Kim, K. H., Jeong, Y. T., Oh, H., Kim, S. H., Cho, J. M., Kim, Y. N., et al. (2013). Autophagy deficiency leads to protection from obesity and insulin resistance by inducing Fgf21 as a mitokine. *Nat. Med.* 19, 83–92. doi: 10.1038/nm.3014
- Klionsky, D. J., Abdalla, F. C., Abeliovich, H., Abraham, R. T., Acevedo-Arozena, A., Adeli, K., et al. (2012). Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy. *Autophagy* 8, 445–544. doi: 10.4161/auto. 19496
- Koshiba, T., Detmer, S. A., Kaiser, J. T., Chen, H., McCaffery, J. M., and Chan, D. C. (2004). Structural basis of mitochondrial tethering by mitofusin complexes. *Science* 305, 858–862. doi: 10.1126/science.1099793
- Koyano, F., Okatsu, K., Kosako, H., Tamura, Y., Go, E., Kimura, M., et al. (2014). Ubiquitin is phosphorylated by PINK1 to activate parkin. *Nature* 510, 162–166. doi: 10.1038/nature13392
- Lazarou, M., Sliter, D. A., Kane, L. A., Sarraf, S. A., Wang, C., Burman, J. L., et al. (2015). The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce mitophagy. *Nature* 524, 309–314. doi: 10.1038/nature14893
- Leboucher, G. P., Tsai, Y. C., Yang, M., Shaw, K. C., Zhou, M., Veenstra, T. D., et al. (2012). Stress-induced phosphorylation and proteasomal degradation of mitofusin 2 facilitates mitochondrial fragmentation and apoptosis. *Mol. Cell.* 47, 547–557. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.05.041
- Lecker, S. H., Jagoe, R. T., Gilbert, A., Gomes, M., Baracos, V., Bailey, J., et al. (2004). Multiple types of skeletal muscle atrophy involve a common program of changes in gene expression. *FASEB J.* 18, 39–51. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0610com

- Leduc-Gaudet, J. P., Picard, M., St-Jean Pelletier, F., Sgarioto, N., Auger, M. J., Vallee, J., et al. (2015). Mitochondrial morphology is altered in atrophied skeletal muscle of aged mice. *Oncotarget* 6, 17923–17937. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4235
- Lee, Y., Lee, H. Y., Hanna, R. A., and Gustafsson, A. B. (2011). Mitochondrial autophagy by Bnip3 involves Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission and recruitment of Parkin in cardiac myocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 301, H1924–H1931. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00368.2011
- Lee, Y. J., Jeong, S. Y., Karbowski, M., Smith, C. L., and Youle, R. J. (2004). Roles of the mammalian mitochondrial fission and fusion mediators Fis1, Drp1, and Opa1 in apoptosis. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 15, 5001–5011. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E04-04-0294
- Leick, L., Wojtaszewski, J. F., Johansen, S. T., Kiilerich, K., Comes, G., Hellsten, Y., et al. (2008). PGC-1alpha is not mandatory for exercise- and training-induced adaptive gene responses in mouse skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 294, E463–E474. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00666.2007
- Lelliott, C. J., Medina-Gomez, G., Petrovic, N., Kis, A., Feldmann, H. M., Bjursell, M., et al. (2006). Ablation of PGC-1beta results in defective mitochondrial activity, thermogenesis, hepatic function, and cardiac performance. *PLoS Biol.* 4:e369. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040369
- Leone, T. C., Lehman, J. J., Finck, B. N., Schaeffer, P. J., Wende, A. R., Boudina, S., et al. (2005). PGC-1alpha deficiency causes multi-system energy metabolic derangements: muscle dysfunction, abnormal weight control and hepatic steatosis. *PLoS Biol.* 3:e101. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0030101
- Levine, S., Biswas, C., Dierov, J., Barsotti, R., Shrager, J. B., Nguyen, T., et al. (2011). Increased proteolysis, myosin depletion, and atrophic AKT-FOXO signaling in human diaphragm disuse. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 183, 483–490. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200910-1487OC
- Levine, S., Nguyen, T., Taylor, N., Friscia, M. E., Budak, M. T., Rothenberg, P., et al. (2008). Rapid disuse atrophy of diaphragm fibers in mechanically ventilated humans. N. Engl. J. Med. 358, 1327–1335. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa070447
- Lin, J., Handschin, C., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2005). Metabolic control through the PGC-1 family of transcription coactivators. *Cell Metab.* 1, 361–370. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.05.004
- Lin, J., Wu, H., Tarr, P. T., Zhang, C. Y., Wu, Z., Boss, O., et al. (2002). Transcriptional co-activator PGC-1 alpha drives the formation of slow-twitch muscle fibres. *Nature* 418, 797–801. doi: 10.1038/nature00904
- Lira, V. A., Okutsu, M., Zhang, M., Greene, N. P., Laker, R. C., Breen, D. S., et al. (2013). Autophagy is required for exercise training-induced skeletal muscle adaptation and improvement of physical performance. *FASEB J.* 27, 4184–4193. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-228486
- Little, J. P., Safdar, A., Benton, C. R., and Wright, D. C. (2011). Skeletal muscle and beyond: the role of exercise as a mediator of systemic mitochondrial biogenesis. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 36, 598–607. doi: 10.1139/h11-076
- Livnat-Levanon, N., and Glickman, M. H. (2011). Ubiquitin-proteasome system and mitochondria - reciprocity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1809, 80–87. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2010.07.005
- Ljubicic, V., Joseph, A. M., Adhihetty, P. J., Huang, J. H., Saleem, A., Uguccioni, G., et al. (2009). Molecular basis for an attenuated mitochondrial adaptive plasticity in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging* 1, 818–830.
- Logan, C. V., Szabadkai, G., Sharpe, J. A., Parry, D. A., Torelli, S., Childs, A. M., et al. (2014). Loss-of-function mutations in MICU1 cause a brain and muscle disorder linked to primary alterations in mitochondrial calcium signaling. *Nat. Genet.* 46, 188–193. doi: 10.1038/ng.2851
- Lokireddy, S., Wijesoma, I. W., Teng, S., Bonala, S., Gluckman, P. D., McFarlane, C., et al. (2012). The ubiquitin ligase Mul1 induces mitophagy in skeletal muscle in response to muscle-wasting stimuli. *Cell Metab.* 16, 613–624. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.005
- Lopez-Otin, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., and Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell* 153, 1194–1217. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039
- Loson, O. C., Song, Z., Chen, H., and Chan, D. C. (2013). Fis1, Mff, MiD49, and MiD51 mediate Drp1 recruitment in mitochondrial fission. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 24, 659–667. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E12-10-0721
- Lourenco Dos Santos, S., Baraibar, M. A., Lundberg, S., Eeg-Olofsson, O., Larsson, L., and Friguet, B. (2015). Oxidative proteome alterations during skeletal muscle ageing. *Redox Biol.* 5, 267–274. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2015.05.006
- Lo Verso, F., Carnio, S., Vainshtein, A., and Sandri, M. (2014). Autophagy is not required to sustain exercise and PRKAA1/AMPK activity but is important

to prevent mitochondrial damage during physical activity. *Autophagy* 10, 1883–1894. doi: 10.4161/auto.32154

- Lundberg, T. R., Fernandez-Gonzalo, R., Norrbom, J., Fischer, H., Tesch, P. A., and Gustafsson, T. (2014). Truncated splice variant PGC-1alpha4 is not associated with exercise-induced human muscle hypertrophy. *Acta Physiol.* 212, 142–151. doi: 10.1111/apha.12310
- Mammucari, C., Gherardi, G., Zamparo, I., Raffaello, A., Boncompagni, S., Chemello, F., et al. (2015). The mitochondrial calcium uniporter controls skeletal muscle trophism *in vivo*. *Cell Rep.* 10, 1269–1279. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.056
- Mammucari, C., Milan, G., Romanello, V., Masiero, E., Rudolf, R., Del Piccolo, P., et al. (2007). FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle *in vivo*. *Cell Metab.* 6, 458–471. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.11.001
- Margineantu, D. H., Emerson, C. B., Diaz, D., and Hockenbery, D. M. (2007). Hsp90 inhibition decreases mitochondrial protein turnover. *PLoS ONE* 2:e1066. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001066
- Martins, L. M., Morrison, A., Klupsch, K., Fedele, V., Moisoi, N., Teismann, P., et al. (2004). Neuroprotective role of the Reaper-related serine protease HtrA2/Omi revealed by targeted deletion in mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 9848–9862. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.22.9848-9862.2004
- Masiero, E., Agatea, L., Mammucari, C., Blaauw, B., Loro, E., Komatsu, M., et al. (2009). Autophagy is required to maintain muscle mass. *Cell Metab.* 10, 507–515. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2009.10.008
- Mathieu-Costello, O., Ju, Y., Trejo-Morales, M., and Cui, L. (2005). Greater capillary-fiber interface per fiber mitochondrial volume in skeletal muscles of old rats. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 99, 281–289. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00750.2004
- Mathur, S., Brooks, D., and Carvalho, C. R. (2014). Structural alterations of skeletal muscle in copd. Front. Physiol. 5:104. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00104
- McClung, J. M., Judge, A. R., Talbert, E. E., and Powers, S. K. (2009). Calpain-1 is required for hydrogen peroxide-induced myotube atrophy. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 296, C363–C371. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00497.2008
- McLelland, G. L., Soubannier, V., Chen, C. X., McBride, H. M., and Fon, E. A. (2014). Parkin and PINK1 function in a vesicular trafficking pathway regulating mitochondrial quality control. *EMBO J.* 33, 282–295. doi: 10.1002/embj.201385902
- Melov, S., Tarnopolsky, M. A., Beckman, K., Felkey, K., and Hubbard, A. (2007). Resistance exercise reverses aging in human skeletal muscle. *PLoS ONE* 2:e465. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000465
- Menshikova, E. V., Ritov, V. B., Fairfull, L., Ferrell, R. E., Kelley, D. E., and Goodpaster, B. H. (2006). Effects of exercise on mitochondrial content and function in aging human skeletal muscle. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 61, 534–540. doi: 10.1093/gerona/61.6.534
- Mercken, E. M., Crosby, S. D., Lamming, D. W., JeBailey, L., Krzysik-Walker, S., Villareal, D. T., et al. (2013). Calorie restriction in humans inhibits the PI3K/AKT pathway and induces a younger transcription profile. *Aging Cell*. 12, 645–651. doi: 10.1111/acel.12088
- Milan, G., Romanello, V., Pescatore, F., Armani, A., Paik, J. H., Frasson, L., et al. (2015). Regulation of autophagy and the ubiquitin-proteasome system by the FoxO transcriptional network during muscle atrophy. *Nat. Commun.* 6, 6670. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7670
- Min, K., Smuder, A. J., Kwon, O. S., Kavazis, A. N., Szeto, H. H., and Powers, S. K. (2011). Mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants protect skeletal muscle against immobilization-induced muscle atrophy. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 111, 1459–1466. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.005 91.2011
- Munoz, J. P., Ivanova, S., Sanchez-Wandelmer, J., Martinez-Cristobal, P., Noguera, E., Sancho, A., et al. (2013). Mfn2 modulates the UPR and mitochondrial function via repression of PERK. *EMBO J.* 32, 2348–2361. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.168
- Nakamura, N., Kimura, Y., Tokuda, M., Honda, S., and Hirose, S. (2006). MARCH-V is a novel mitofusin 2- and Drp1-binding protein able to change mitochondrial morphology. *EMBO Rep.* 7, 1019–1022. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400790
- Narendra, D., Kane, L. A., Hauser, D. N., Fearnley, I. M., and Youle, R. J. (2010). p62/SQSTM1 is required for Parkin-induced mitochondrial clustering but not mitophagy; VDAC1 is dispensable for both. *Autophagy* 6, 1090–1106. doi: 10.4161/auto.6.8.13426

- Narendra, D., Tanaka, A., Suen, D. F., and Youle, R. J. (2008). Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy. J. Cell Biol. 183, 795–803. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200809125
- Navratil, M., Terman, A., and Arriaga, E. A. (2008). Giant mitochondria do not fuse and exchange their contents with normal mitochondria. *Exp. Cell Res.* 314, 164–172. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.09.013
- Nelson, W. B., Smuder, A. J., Hudson, M. B., Talbert, E. E., and Powers, S. K. (2012). Cross-talk between the calpain and caspase-3 proteolytic systems in the diaphragm during prolonged mechanical ventilation. *Crit. Care Med.* 40, 1857–1863. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318246bb5d
- Neufer, P. D., Bamman, M. M., Muoio, D. M., Bouchard, C., Cooper, D. M., Goodpaster, B. H., et al. (2015). Understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms of physical activity-induced health benefits. *Cell Metab.* 22, 4–11. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.05.011
- Ngoh, G. A., Papanicolaou, K. N., and Walsh, K. (2012). Loss of mitofusin 2 promotes endoplasmic reticulum stress. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 20321–20332. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.359174
- Nicot, A. S., Lo Verso, F., Ratti, F., Pilot-Storck, F., Streichenberger, N., Sandri, M., et al. (2014). Phosphorylation of NBR1 by GSK3 modulates protein aggregation. *Autophagy* 10, 1036–1053. doi: 10.4161/auto.28479
- Novak, I., Kirkin, V., McEwan, D. G., Zhang, J., Wild, P., Rozenknop, A., et al. (2010). Nix is a selective autophagy receptor for mitochondrial clearance. *EMBO Rep.* 11, 45–51. doi: 10.1038/embor.2009.256
- O'Leary, M. F., Vainshtein, A., Iqbal, S., Ostojic, O., and Hood, D. A. (2013). Adaptive plasticity of autophagic proteins to denervation in aging skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 304, C422–C430. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00240.2012
- Olesen, J., Kiilerich, K., and Pilegaard, H. (2010). PGC-1alpha-mediated adaptations in skeletal muscle. *Pflugers Arch.* 460, 153–162. doi: 10.1007/s00424-010-0834-0
- Otera, H., Ishihara, N., and Mihara, K. (2013). New insights into the function and regulation of mitochondrial fission. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1833, 1256–1268. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.02.002
- Otera, H., and Mihara, K. (2011). Molecular mechanisms and physiologic functions of mitochondrial dynamics. J. Biochem. 149, 241–251. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvr002
- Otera, H., Wang, C., Cleland, M. M., Setoguchi, K., Yokota, S., Youle, R. J., et al. (2010). Mff is an essential factor for mitochondrial recruitment of Drp1 during mitochondrial fission in mammalian cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 191, 1141–1158. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201007152
- Owusu-Ansah, E., Song, W., and Perrimon, N. (2013). Muscle mitohormesis promotes longevity via systemic repression of insulin signaling. *Cell* 155, 699–712. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.021
- Palmer, C. S., Elgass, K. D., Parton, R. G., Osellame, L. D., Stojanovski, D., and Ryan, M. T. (2013). Adaptor proteins MiD49 and MiD51 can act independently of Mff and Fis1 in Drp1 recruitment and are specific for mitochondrial fission. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 27584–27593. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.479873
- Palmer, C. S., Osellame, L. D., Laine, D., Koutsopoulos, O. S., Frazier, A. E., and Ryan, M. T. (2011). MiD49 and MiD51, new components of the mitochondrial fission machinery. *EMBO Rep.* 12, 565–573. doi: 10.1038/embor.2011.54
- Park, J., Lee, S. B., Lee, S., Kim, Y., Song, S., Kim, S., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Drosophila PINK1 mutants is complemented by parkin. *Nature* 441, 1157–1161. doi: 10.1038/nature04788
- Patti, M. E., Butte, A. J., Crunkhorn, S., Cusi, K., Berria, R., Kashyap, S., et al. (2003). Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: potential role of PGC1 and NRF1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 8466–8471. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1032913100
- Pauly, M., Daussin, F., Burelle, Y., Li, T., Godin, R., Fauconnier, J., et al. (2012). AMPK activation stimulates autophagy and ameliorates muscular dystrophy in the mdx mouse diaphragm. *Am. J. Pathol.* 181, 583–592. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.04.004
- Pellegrino, M. A., Desaphy, J. F., Brocca, L., Pierno, S., Camerino, D. C., and Bottinelli, R. (2011). Redox homeostasis, oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy. J. Physiol. 589, 2147–2160. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.203232
- Picard, M., Ritchie, D., Thomas, M. M., Wright, K. J., and Hepple, R. T. (2011). Alterations in intrinsic mitochondrial function with aging are fiber typespecific and do not explain differential atrophy between muscles. *Aging Cell*. 10, 1047–1055. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00745.x

- Porter, C., Herndon, D. N., Sidossis, L. S., and Borsheim, E. (2013). The impact of severe burns on skeletal muscle mitochondrial function. *Burns* 39, 1039–1047. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2013.03.018
- Powers, S. K., Hudson, M. B., Nelson, W. B., Talbert, E. E., Min, K., Szeto, H. H., et al. (2011). Mitochondria-targeted antioxidants protect against mechanical ventilation-induced diaphragm weakness. *Crit. Care Med.* 39, 1749–1759. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182190b62
- Powers, S. K., and Jackson, M. J. (2008). Exercise-induced oxidative stress: cellular mechanisms and impact on muscle force production. *Physiol. Rev.* 88, 1243–1276. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2007
- Powers, S. K., Smuder, A. J., and Judge, A. R. (2012). Oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy: cause or consequence? *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 15, 240–245. doi: 10.1097/mco.0b013e328352b4c2
- Quiros, P. M., Langer, T., and Lopez-Otin, C. (2015). New roles for mitochondrial proteases in health, ageing and disease. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 16, 345–359. doi: 10.1038/nrm3984
- Raben, N., Hill, V., Shea, L., Takikita, S., Baum, R., Mizushima, N., et al. (2008). Suppression of autophagy in skeletal muscle uncovers the accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins and their potential role in muscle damage in Pompe disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 3897–3908. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn292
- Rambold, A. S., Kostelecky, B., Elia, N., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2011). Tubular network formation protects mitochondria from autophagosomal degradation during nutrient starvation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 10190–10195. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1107402108
- Ramos, F. J., Chen, S. C., Garelick, M. G., Dai, D. F., Liao, C. Y., Schreiber, K. H., et al. (2012). Rapamycin reverses elevated mTORC1 signaling in lamin A/C-deficient mice, rescues cardiac and skeletal muscle function, and extends survival. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4, 144ra103. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003802
- Raue, U., Slivka, D., Minchev, K., and Trappe, S. (2009). Improvements in whole muscle and myocellular function are limited with high-intensity resistance training in octogenarian women. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 106, 1611–1617. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.91587.2008
- Reid, M. B., Judge, A. R., and Bodine, S. C. (2014). CrossTalk opposing view: the dominant mechanism causing disuse muscle atrophy is proteolysis. J. Physiol. 592, 5345–5347. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.279406
- Rhee, S. G., Bae, Y. S., Lee, S. R., and Kwon, J. (2000). Hydrogen peroxide: a key messenger that modulates protein phosphorylation through cysteine oxidation. *Sci. STKE*. 2000:pe1. doi: 10.1126/stke.2000.53.pe1
- Ristow, M., and Schmeisser, K. (2014). Mitohormesis: promoting health and lifespan by increased levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS). *Dose Response* 12, 288–341. doi: 10.2203/dose-response.13-035.Ristow
- Ristow, M., and Schmeisser, S. (2011). Extending life span by increasing oxidative stress. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 51, 327–336. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.05.010
- Ristow, M., Zarse, K., Oberbach, A., Kloting, N., Birringer, M., Kiehntopf, M., et al. (2009). Antioxidants prevent health-promoting effects of physical exercise in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 8665–8670. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903485106
- Rockstein, M., and Bhatnagar, P. L. (1965). Age Changes in Size and Number of the Giant Mitochondria in the Flight Muscle of the Common Housefly (*Musca Domestica L.*). J. Insect Physiol. 11, 481–491. doi: 10.1016/0022-1910(65) 90053-3
- Romanello, V., Guadagnin, E., Gomes, L., Roder, I., Sandri, C., Petersen, Y., et al. (2010). Mitochondrial fission and remodelling contributes to muscle atrophy. *EMBO J.* 29, 1774–1785. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.60
- Romanello, V., and Sandri, M. (2013). Mitochondrial biogenesis and fragmentation as regulators of protein degradation in striated muscles. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 55, 64–72. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2012.08.001
- Ross, J. M., Olson, L., and Coppotelli, G. (2015). Mitochondrial and ubiquitin proteasome system dysfunction in ageing and disease: two sides of the same coin? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 19458–19476. doi: 10.3390/ijms160819458
- Ruas, J. L., White, J. P., Rao, R. R., Kleiner, S., Brannan, K. T., Harrison, B. C., et al. (2012). A PGC-1alpha isoform induced by resistance training regulates skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Cell* 151, 1319–1331. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 10.050
- Russ, D. W., Krause, J., Wills, A., and Arreguin, R. (2012). "SR stress" in mixed hindlimb muscles of aging male rats. *Biogerontology* 13, 547–555. doi: 10.1007/s10522-012-9399-y

- Russell, A. P., Wada, S., Vergani, L., Hock, M. B., Lamon, S., Leger, B., et al. (2013). Disruption of skeletal muscle mitochondrial network genes and miRNAs in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 49, 107–117. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.08.015
- Sacheck, J. M., Hyatt, J. P., Raffaello, A., Jagoe, R. T., Roy, R. R., Edgerton, V. R., et al. (2007). Rapid disuse and denervation atrophy involve transcriptional changes similar to those of muscle wasting during systemic diseases. *FASEB J.* 21, 140–155. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6604com
- Safdar, A., Hamadeh, M. J., Kaczor, J. J., Raha, S., Debeer, J., and Tarnopolsky, M. A. (2010). Aberrant mitochondrial homeostasis in the skeletal muscle of sedentary older adults. *PLoS ONE* 5:e10778. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010778
- Safdar, A., Little, J. P., Stokl, A. J., Hettinga, B. P., Akhtar, M., and Tarnopolsky, M. A. (2011). Exercise increases mitochondrial PGC-1alpha content and promotes nuclear-mitochondrial cross-talk to coordinate mitochondrial biogenesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 10605–10617. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.211466
- Sandoval, H., Thiagarajan, P., Dasgupta, S. K., Schumacher, A., Prchal, J. T., Chen, M., et al. (2008). Essential role for Nix in autophagic maturation of erythroid cells. *Nature* 454, 232–235. doi: 10.1038/nature07006
- Sandri, M. (2013). Protein breakdown in muscle wasting: role of autophagylysosome and ubiquitin-proteasome. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 45, 2121–2129. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2013.04.023
- Sandri, M., Coletto, L., Grumati, P., and Bonaldo, P. (2013). Misregulation of autophagy and protein degradation systems in myopathies and muscular dystrophies. J. Cell Sci. 126, 5325–5333. doi: 10.1242/jcs.114041
- Sandri, M., Lin, J., Handschin, C., Yang, W., Arany, Z. P., Lecker, S. H., et al. (2006). PGC-1alpha protects skeletal muscle from atrophy by suppressing FoxO3 action and atrophy-specific gene transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 103, 16260–16265. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607795103
- Sandri, M., Sandri, C., Gilbert, A., Skurk, C., Calabria, E., Picard, A., et al. (2004). Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophy-related ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy. *Cell* 117, 399–412. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00400-3
- Sartori, R., Gregorevic, P., and Sandri, M. (2014). TGFbeta and BMP signaling in skeletal muscle: potential significance for muscle-related disease. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 25, 464–471. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2014.06.002
- Sartori, R., Schirwis, E., Blaauw, B., Bortolanza, S., Zhao, J., Enzo, E., et al. (2013). BMP signaling controls muscle mass. *Nat. Genet.* 45, 1309–1318. doi: 10.1038/ng.2772
- Sarzi, E., Angebault, C., Seveno, M., Gueguen, N., Chaix, B., Bielicki, G., et al. (2012). The human OPA1delTTAG mutation induces premature agerelated systemic neurodegeneration in mouse. *Brain* 135, 3599–3613. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws303
- Schulz, A. M., and Haynes, C. M. (2015). UPR-mediated cytoprotection and organismal aging. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2015.03.008. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sebastian, D., Hernandez-Alvarez, M. I., Segales, J., Sorianello, E., Munoz, J. P., Sala, D., et al. (2012). Mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) links mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum function with insulin signaling and is essential for normal glucose homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 5523–5528. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1108220109
- Sena, L. A., and Chandel, N. S. (2012). Physiological roles of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. *Mol. Cell* 48, 158–167. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.09.025
- Shang, F., Gong, X., and Taylor, A. (1997). Activity of ubiquitin-dependent pathway in response to oxidative stress. Ubiquitin-activating enzyme is transiently up-regulated. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 23086–23093. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.37.23086
- Short, K. R., Bigelow, M. L., Kahl, J., Singh, R., Coenen-Schimke, J., Raghavakaimal, S., et al. (2005). Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial function with aging in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 5618–5623. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501559102
- Short, K. R., Vittone, J. L., Bigelow, M. L., Proctor, D. N., Rizza, R. A., Coenen-Schimke, J. M., et al. (2003). Impact of aerobic exercise training on agerelated changes in insulin sensitivity and muscle oxidative capacity. *Diabetes* 52, 1888–1896. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.8.1888
- Silvennoinen, M., Ahtiainen, J. P., Hulmi, J. J., Pekkala, S., Taipale, R. S., Nindl, B. C., et al. (2015). PGC-1 isoforms and their target genes are expressed differently in human skeletal muscle following resistance and endurance exercise. *Physiol. Rep.* 3:e12563. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12563

- Slivka, D., Raue, U., Hollon, C., Minchev, K., and Trappe, S. (2008). Single muscle fiber adaptations to resistance training in old (>80 yr) men: evidence for limited skeletal muscle plasticity. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 295, R273–R280. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00093.2008
- Smirnova, E., Griparic, L., Shurland, D. L., and van der Bliek, A. M. (2001). Dynamin-related protein Drp1 is required for mitochondrial division in mammalian cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 12, 2245–2256. doi: 10.1091/mbc.12.8.2245
- Smuder, A. J., Kavazis, A. N., Hudson, M. B., Nelson, W. B., and Powers, S. K. (2010). Oxidation enhances myofibrillar protein degradation via calpain and caspase-3. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 49, 1152–1160. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.06.025
- Song, M., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2015). Mitoconfusion: noncanonical functioning of dynamism factors in static mitochondria of the heart. *Cell Metab.* 21, 195–205. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.12.019
- Song, M., Mihara, K., Chen, Y., Scorrano, L., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2015). Mitochondrial fission and fusion factors reciprocally orchestrate mitophagic culling in mouse hearts and cultured fibroblasts. *Cell Metab.* 21, 273–285. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.12.011
- Song, Z., Chen, H., Fiket, M., Alexander, C., and Chan, D. C. (2007). OPA1 processing controls mitochondrial fusion and is regulated by mRNA splicing, membrane potential, and Yme1L. J. Cell Biol. 178, 749–755. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200704110
- Sonoda, J., Mehl, I. R., Chong, L. W., Nofsinger, R. R., and Evans, R. M. (2007). PGC-1beta controls mitochondrial metabolism to modulate circadian activity, adaptive thermogenesis, and hepatic steatosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 5223–5228. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611623104
- Sood, A., Jeyaraju, D. V., Prudent, J., Caron, A., Lemieux, P., McBride, H. M., et al. (2014). A Mitofusin-2-dependent inactivating cleavage of Opa1 links changes in mitochondria cristae and ER contacts in the postprandial liver. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 16017–16022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1408061111
- Soriano, F. X., Liesa, M., Bach, D., Chan, D. C., Palacin, M., and Zorzano, A. (2006). Evidence for a mitochondrial regulatory pathway defined by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1 alpha, estrogen-related receptor-alpha, and mitofusin 2. *Diabetes* 55, 1783–1791. doi: 10.2337/db0 5-0509
- Soubannier, V., McLelland, G. L., Zunino, R., Braschi, E., Rippstein, P., Fon, E. A., et al. (2012a). A vesicular transport pathway shuttles cargo from mitochondria to lysosomes. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 135–141. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.11.057
- Soubannier, V., Rippstein, P., Kaufman, B. A., Shoubridge, E. A., and McBride, H. M. (2012b). Reconstitution of mitochondria derived vesicle formation demonstrates selective enrichment of oxidized cargo. *PLoS ONE* 7:e52830. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052830
- Sugiura, A., Nagashima, S., Tokuyama, T., Amo, T., Matsuki, Y., Ishido, S., et al. (2013). MITOL regulates endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts via Mitofusin2. *Mol. Cell.* 51, 20–34. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.04.023
- Taguchi, N., Ishihara, N., Jofuku, A., Oka, T., and Mihara, K. (2007). Mitotic phosphorylation of dynamin-related GTPase Drp1 participates in mitochondrial fission. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 11521–11529. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M607279200
- Taillandier, D., Aurousseau, E., Meynial-Denis, D., Bechet, D., Ferrara, M., Cottin, P., et al. (1996). Coordinate activation of lysosomal, Ca²⁺-activated and ATPubiquitin-dependent proteinases in the unweighted rat soleus muscle. *Biochem. J.* 316(Pt 1), 65–72.
- Talbert, E. E., Smuder, A. J., Min, K., Kwon, O. S., and Powers, S. K. (2013a). Calpain and caspase-3 play required roles in immobilizationinduced limb muscle atrophy. *J. Appl. Physiol.* (1985) 114, 1482–1489. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00925.2012
- Talbert, E. E., Smuder, A. J., Min, K., Kwon, O. S., Szeto, H. H., and Powers, S. K. (2013b). Immobilization-induced activation of key proteolytic systems in skeletal muscles is prevented by a mitochondria-targeted antioxidant. *J. Appl. Physiol.* (1985). 115, 529–538. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00471.2013
- Tanaka, A., Cleland, M. M., Xu, S., Narendra, D. P., Suen, D. F., Karbowski, M., et al. (2010). Proteasome and p97 mediate mitophagy and degradation of mitofusins induced by Parkin. *J. Cell Biol.* 191, 1367–1380. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201007013
- Tondera, D., Grandemange, S., Jourdain, A., Karbowski, M., Mattenberger, Y., Herzig, S., et al. (2009). SLP-2 is required for stress-induced mitochondrial hyperfusion. *EMBO J.* 28, 1589–1600. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.89

- Touvier, T., De Palma, C., Rigamonti, E., Scagliola, A., Incerti, E., Mazelin, L., et al. (2015). Muscle-specific Drp1 overexpression impairs skeletal muscle growth via translational attenuation. *Cell Death Dis.* 6:e1663. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.595
- Trounce, I., Byrne, E., and Marzuki, S. (1989). Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiratory chain function: possible factor in ageing. *Lancet* 1, 637–639. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(89)92143-0
- Twig, G., Elorza, A., Molina, A. J., Mohamed, H., Wikstrom, J. D., Walzer, G., et al. (2008). Fission and selective fusion govern mitochondrial segregation and elimination by autophagy. *EMBO J.* 27, 433–446. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.76 01963
- Vainshtein, A., Desjardins, E. M., Armani, A., Sandri, M., and Hood, D. A. (2015). PGC-1alpha modulates denervation-induced mitophagy in skeletal muscle. *Skelet. Muscle* 5, 9. doi: 10.1186/s13395-015-0033-y
- Vainshtein, A., Grumati, P., Sandri, M., and Bonaldo, P. (2014). Skeletal muscle, autophagy, and physical activity: the menage a trois of metabolic regulation in health and disease. J. Mol. Med. 92, 127–137. doi: 10.1007/s00109-01 3-1096-z
- Varanita, T., Soriano, M. E., Romanello, V., Zaglia, T., Quintana-Cabrera, R., Semenzato, M., et al. (2015). The OPA1-dependent mitochondrial cristae remodeling pathway controls atrophic, apoptotic, and ischemic tissue damage. *Cell Metab.* 21, 834–844. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.05.007
- Vianna, C. R., Huntgeburth, M., Coppari, R., Choi, C. S., Lin, J., Krauss, S., et al. (2006). Hypomorphic mutation of PGC-1beta causes mitochondrial dysfunction and liver insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 4, 453–464. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.11.003
- Wakabayashi, J., Zhang, Z., Wakabayashi, N., Tamura, Y., Fukaya, M., Kensler, T. W., et al. (2009). The dynamin-related GTPase Drp1 is required for embryonic and brain development in mice. J. Cell Biol. 186, 805–816. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200903065
- Wang, H., Song, P., Du, L., Tian, W., Yue, W., Liu, M., et al. (2011). Parkin ubiquitinates Drp1 for proteasome-dependent degradation: implication of dysregulated mitochondrial dynamics in Parkinson disease. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 11649–11658. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.144238
- Waterham, H. R., Koster, J., van Roermund, C. W., Mooyer, P. A., Wanders, R. J., and Leonard, J. V. (2007). A lethal defect of mitochondrial and peroxisomal fission. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 356, 1736–1741. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa064436
- Wende, A. R., Schaeffer, P. J., Parker, G. J., Zechner, C., Han, D. H., Chen, M. M., et al. (2007). A role for the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1alpha in muscle refueling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 36642–36651. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M7070 06200
- Wenz, T., Rossi, S. G., Rotundo, R. L., Spiegelman, B. M., and Moraes, C. T. (2009). Increased muscle PGC-1alpha expression protects from sarcopenia and metabolic disease during aging. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 20405–20410. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911570106
- Wohlgemuth, S. E., Seo, A. Y., Marzetti, E., Lees, H. A., and Leeuwenburgh, C. (2010). Skeletal muscle autophagy and apoptosis during aging: effects of calorie restriction and life-long exercise. *Exp. Gerontol.* 45, 138–148. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2009.11.002
- Wright, D. C., Han, D. H., Garcia-Roves, P. M., Geiger, P. C., Jones, T. E., and Holloszy, J. O. (2007). Exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis begins before the increase in muscle PGC-1alpha expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 194–199. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606116200
- Wu, H., Kanatous, S. B., Thurmond, F. A., Gallardo, T., Isotani, E., Bassel-Duby, R., et al. (2002). Regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle by CaMK. Science 296, 349–352. doi: 10.1126/science.1071163

- Xu, S., Peng, G., Wang, Y., Fang, S., and Karbowski, M. (2011). The AAA-ATPase p97 is essential for outer mitochondrial membrane protein turnover. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 22, 291–300. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-09-0748
- Ydfors, M., Fischer, H., Mascher, H., Blomstrand, E., Norrbom, J., and Gustafsson, T. (2013). The truncated splice variants, NT-PGC-1alpha and PGC-1alpha4, increase with both endurance and resistance exercise in human skeletal muscle. *Physiol. Rep.* 1:e00140. doi: 10.1002/phy2.140
- Ye, Y., Meyer, H. H., and Rapoport, T. A. (2001). The AAA ATPase Cdc48/p97 and its partners transport proteins from the ER into the cytosol. *Nature* 414, 652–656. doi: 10.1038/414652a
- Ye, Y., Meyer, H. H., and Rapoport, T. A. (2003). Function of the p97-Ufd1-Npl4 complex in retrotranslocation from the ER to the cytosol: dual recognition of nonubiquitinated polypeptide segments and polyubiquitin chains. J. Cell Biol. 162, 71–84. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200302169
- Yonashiro, R., Ishido, S., Kyo, S., Fukuda, T., Goto, E., Matsuki, Y., et al. (2006). A novel mitochondrial ubiquitin ligase plays a critical role in mitochondrial dynamics. *EMBO J.* 25, 3618–3626. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601249
- Yu-Wai-Man, P., Griffiths, P. G., Gorman, G. S., Lourenco, C. M., Wright, A. F., Auer-Grumbach, M., et al. (2010). Multi-system neurological disease is common in patients with OPA1 mutations. *Brain* 133, 771–786. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq007
- Zampieri, S., Pietrangelo, L., Loefler, S., Fruhmann, H., Vogelauer, M., Burggraf, S., et al. (2015). Lifelong physical exercise delays age-associated skeletal muscle decline. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 70, 163–173. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu006
- Zechner, C., Lai, L., Zechner, J. F., Geng, T., Yan, Z., Rumsey, J. W., et al. (2010). Total skeletal muscle PGC-1 deficiency uncouples mitochondrial derangements from fiber type determination and insulin sensitivity. *Cell Metab.* 12, 633–642. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.11.008
- Zhang, Z., Wakabayashi, N., Wakabayashi, J., Tamura, Y., Song, W. J., Sereda, S., et al. (2011). The dynamin-related GTPase Opa1 is required for glucosestimulated ATP production in pancreatic beta cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 22, 2235–2245. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-12-0933
- Zhao, J., Liu, T., Jin, S., Wang, X., Qu, M., Uhlen, P., et al. (2011). Human MIEF1 recruits Drp1 to mitochondrial outer membranes and promotes mitochondrial fusion rather than fission. *EMBO J.* 30, 2762–2778. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.198
- Zhao, Q., Wang, J., Levichkin, I. V., Stasinopoulos, S., Ryan, M. T., and Hoogenraad, N. J. (2002). A mitochondrial specific stress response in mammalian cells. *EMBO J.* 21, 4411–4419. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdf445
- Zuchner, S., Mersiyanova, I. V., Muglia, M., Bissar-Tadmouri, N., Rochelle, J., Dadali, E. L., et al. (2004). Mutations in the mitochondrial GTPase mitofusin 2 cause Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A. *Nat. Genet.* 36, 449–451. doi: 10.1038/ng1341

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Romanello and Sandri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mitochondrial Regulation of the Muscle Microenvironment in Critical Limb Ischemia

Terence E. Ryan^{1,2}, Cameron A. Schmidt^{1,2}, Tom D. Green^{1,2}, David A. Brown^{1,2}, P. Darrell Neufer^{1,2} and Joseph M. McClung^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Physiology, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA, ² East Carolina Diabetes and Obesity Institute, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA

Critical limb ischemia (CLI) is the most severe clinical presentation of peripheral arterial disease and manifests as chronic limb pain at rest and/or tissue necrosis. Current clinical interventions are largely ineffective and therapeutic angiogenesis based trials have shown little efficacy, highlighting the dire need for new ideas and novel therapeutic approaches. Despite a decade of research related to skeletal muscle as a determinant of morbidity and mortality outcomes in CLI, very little progress has been made toward an effective therapy aimed directly at the muscle myopathies of this disease. Within the muscle cell, mitochondria are well positioned to modulate the ischemic cellular response, as they are the principal sites of cellular energy production and the major regulators of cellular redox charge and cell death. In this mini review, we update the crucial importance of skeletal muscle to CLI pathology and examine the evolving influence of muscle and endothelial cell mitochondria in the complex ischemic microenvironment. Finally, we discuss the novelty of muscle mitochondria as a therapeutic target for ischemic pathology in the context of the complex co-morbidities often associated with CLI.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Russell T. Hepple, McGill University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Scott Powers, University of Florida, USA Ranganath Mamidi, Case Western Reserve University, USA

*Correspondence:

Joseph M. McClung mcclungj@ecu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 05 August 2015 Accepted: 02 November 2015 Published: 18 November 2015

Citation:

Ryan TE, Schmidt CA, Green TD, Brown DA, Neufer PD and McClung JM (2015) Mitochondrial Regulation of the Muscle Microenvironment in Critical Limb Ischemia. Front. Physiol. 6:336. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00336 Keywords: skeletal muscle, vascular diseases, mitochondria, ischemia, peripheral arterial disease, angiogenesis

INTRODUCTION

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) presents as either symptom-free, intermittent claudication (IC, pain with exertion that is relieved with rest) or critical limb ischemia (CLI, pain at rest with or without tissue necrosis or gangrene). CLI carries alarmingly high morbidity and mortality rates and patients have a risk of major amputation or death that approaches 40% in 1 year (Dormandy et al., 1999; Hirsch et al., 2001; Taylor et al., 2009). A common misconception is that CLI represents the natural progression of IC in patients; however the same degree of stenosis can present as symptom-free, IC, or CLI, implying that factors other than limb blood flow contribute to pathology. Despite recent advances in stem cell biology and genetics (Matzke and Lepantalo, 2001; Chalothorn et al., 2007; Dokun et al., 2008; Chalothorn and Faber, 2010; Wang et al., 2010, 2012; Katwal and Dokun, 2011), surprisingly little progress has been made toward effective therapeutic options for CLI, warranting the consideration of alternative and novel treatment approaches. Limb skeletal muscle is uniquely positioned to alter the clinical course of CLI due to its inherent plasticity, role as a paracrine signaling organ, and reservoir of endogenous pluripotent progenitor cells (Seale et al., 2001; Chargé and Rudnicki, 2004; Abou-Khalil et al., 2010). Currently, PAD research is overwhelmingly focused on limb collateral vessel development and nascent conduit promotion

and survival (Annex, 2013), while potential alternative therapies directed at limb muscle in CLI have been slow to develop. In this mini-review we highlight the importance of skeletal muscle in the manifestation of CLI and discuss the potential influence of muscle and endothelial cell mitochondria on the ischemic limb.

SKELETAL MUSCLE PATHOLOGY IN THE ISCHEMIC LIMB

Variations in the clinical course of CLI raise the intriguing possibility that disease manifestation is in part dependent on genetic determinants of susceptibility to ischemia (Matzke and Lepantalo, 2001; Chalothorn et al., 2007; Dokun et al., 2008; Chalothorn and Faber, 2010; Wang et al., 2010, 2012; Katwal and Dokun, 2011). The genetics of PAD are not well understood (Gudmundsson et al., 2002; Knowles et al., 2007; Messina, 2008; Katwal and Dokun, 2011; Leeper et al., 2012; Murabito et al., 2012) but present a complicated paradigm whereby differential determinants could direct the ischemic responses of multiple cell types (endothelial, muscle, fibroblast, etc.) in the affected limb. In this regard, inbred mouse strains have dramatically different responses to a murine model of PAD, analogous to the range of responses seen in humans. For example, limb perfusion recovers rapidly and without tissue loss in C57BL/6J (BL6) mice while BALB/cJ mice display significant tissue necrosis and poor perfusion recovery (Chalothorn et al., 2007; Dokun et al., 2008; Chalothorn and Faber, 2010; Wang et al., 2010). Inherent genetic differences in muscle regeneration are known to occur in BALB/cJ mice (Grounds, 1987; Grounds and McGeachie, 1989; McGeachie and Grounds, 1995; Mitchell et al., 1995; Roberts et al., 1997; Lagrota-Candido et al., 2010), and includes temporal alterations in the expression of traditional vascular growth factors and their receptors (McClung et al., 2012) that coincide with the strain-dependent segregation of limb blood flow. Differentiating muscle cells secrete traditional vascular growth factors that act as both autocrine and paracrine factors to stimulate maturation in both endothelial and muscle cells (McClung et al., 2012, 2015; Mofarrahi et al., 2015) and represent a unique source of regenerative signals that could potentially be harnessed to improve the local ischemic microenvironment. Because a large proportion of murine pre-clinical limb ischemia work is performed in mice on either a mixed or largely BL6 background, regeneration from ischemic muscle myopathy is often masked or ignored.

In a clinical CLI scenario, focusing on solely the vascular response is predicated on the idea that the ischemic muscle tissue is dispensable, at least short-term. Treatments that induce revascularization and/or nascent collateral vessel formation have proven ineffective to date (Annex, 2013; Hammer and Steiner, 2013; Cooke and Losordo, 2015) and indicate that a "restoration of flow approach" is not independently sufficient to rescue the limb. It is likely that myopathy and vasculopathy are interrelated components of a coordinated tissue response to CLI. Recent insights into the skeletal muscle response indicate that while the background genetics of an individual contributes to the density of pre-existing collateral vessels and the endogenous ability to generate nascent collateral vessels and capillaries, this simply isn't the sole determinant of pathology. The plasticity of the skeletal muscle facilitates temporal ischemic degeneration/regeneration in this environment, whereby genetically pre-determined deficits in muscle regenerative processes would result in cellular apoptosis and tissue necrosis that could negatively impact both endogenous neovascularization and/or the survival of a vessel graft. Simply put, limb muscle tissue that is already necrotic or beyond repair by endogenous regenerative mechanisms is representative of a local ischemic environment that is unable to sustain or promote neovascularization (Figure 1). Intricate coordination of therapies targeting muscle plasticity may be required to allow tissue survival and facilitate recovery until blood flow can be fully restored by surgical intervention and/or collateral vessel formation.

The importance of striated muscle to ischemic outcomes is readily accepted in cardiac ischemia/reperfusion, and there are numerous clinical trials involving therapeutic targeting of the cardiomyocyte (*clinicaltrials.gov*: NCT01502774, NCT01374321,



FIGURE 1 | Simplified model of the proposed role of muscle myopathy in the progression of limb pathology in critical limb ischemia. Individual genetics play a role in determining the severity of the ischemic manifestation of limb pathology. Clinical interventions (endovascular or revascularization in nature) occur after the patient clinically presents with identifiable symptoms/manifestation of PAD, at a time when muscle myopathy is initiated or ongoing. Ischemic muscle myopathy involves muscle degeneration/regeneration cycles that: (1) function properly and result in a limb tissue microenvironment that is supportive of neovascularization and/or the clinical intervention, reducing morbidity and increasing the likelihood of limb survival, or (2) improperly function, resulting in a microenvironment that promotes continued degenerative myopathy and vascular regression that ultimately leads to tissue necrosis, morbidity, and secondary amputation. The role of mitochondrial function in ischemic limb muscle myopathy is not currently understood, but represents an exciting area for therapeutic exploration. NCT01172171, NCT00966563, NCT01572909). Therapies aimed at the skeletal muscle represent an untapped arena with great potential to advance the field of CLI research. Table 1 highlights the clinical work verifying limb skeletal muscle's role in PAD mortality over the last 10-years. Documented histochemical evidence of skeletal muscle myopathies and necrosis in PAD patients exists (Rissanen et al., 2002; Pipinos et al., 2007, 2008a); however the majority of the field operates under the assumption that myopathy is not important (Sealock et al., 2014). In stark contrast, muscle biologists studying neuromuscular diseases, dystrophy, or myofibrillar myopathies have embraced the contributions of the vasculature to the pathologic manifestations of their respective diseases. Abnormal skeletal muscle perfusion and resultant ischemia are believed to contribute to the pathology of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies, and have spawned the "two hit (ischemia-metabolic stress) hypothesis" for muscle injury in these diseases (Asai et al., 2007). This hypothesis has driven approaches to treat these muscular dystrophies with phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors like tadalafil, which improves blood flow, in an attempt to circumvent the ischemic component and improve muscle bioenergetics (Martin et al., 2012). Given the similarities between dystrophic myopathies and those identified with CLI, therapies aimed at skeletal muscle could be effective treatments for tissue degeneration and dysfunction during ischemia while also providing benefits to the vascular compartment of the affected limb. Interestingly, a common pathology linking neuromuscular disorders involving degeneration/regeneration is mitochondrial dysfunction (Katsetos et al., 2013). Mitochondria have recently garnered attention in the PAD literature (Brass, 2013; Hiatt et al., 2015) and may represent an evolutionarily conserved "starting point" for investigation into CLI myopathy.

SKELETAL MUSCLE MITOCHONDRIA IN THE ISCHEMIC LIMB

Mitochondria have numerous roles in the muscle cell, including the generation and maintenance of energy and redox charge, gatekeeping the mortality of ischemic cells

(Karch and Molkentin, 2015; Shirihai et al., 2015), and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Mitochondria also communicate with the rest of the cell through "signals" such as metabolites, cytochrome c release, and via redox-dependent cascades. Decreased muscle metabolism, impaired mitochondrial respiration, decreased expression of mitochondrial enzymes, increased oxidative stress, and somatic mutations in mitochondrial genes have been reported in limb muscle of patients' with PAD (Keller et al., 1985; Hands et al., 1986; Zatina et al., 1986; Bhat et al., 1999; Brass and Hiatt, 2000; Pipinos et al., 2000a, 2006, 2008b; Brass et al., 2004; Isbell et al., 2006; Schocke et al., 2008; Wurdeman et al., 2012; Weiss et al., 2013; Koutakis et al., 2014). Using non-invasive magnetic resonance spectroscopy, several labs have demonstrated that limb muscle from PAD patients' displays slower phosphocreatine (PCr) recovery, indicative of a lower muscle/mitochondrial oxidative capacity (Keller et al., 1985; Hands et al., 1986; Pipinos et al., 2000a,b; Isbell et al., 2006; Schocke et al., 2008). Interpretation of these data can be complicated by the influence of an intact but poorly functioning vascular system, perpetuating the idea that the reduced PCr recovery rates are more related to poor perfusion during the recovery period. Gastrocnemius muscle biopsies from PAD patients, however, also demonstrate reduced mitochondrial content and enzyme activity ex vivo (where oxygen delivery is not a limitation; Pipinos et al., 2003, 2006, 2007), and pre-clinical studies have recapitulated these findings (Pipinos et al., 2008b; Lejay et al., 2015). It is not currently known whether alterations in mitochondrial content or function cause ischemic muscle myopathy, but a recent report linked muscle mitochondrial content (reported as citrate synthase protein abundance) to PAD mortality (Thompson et al., 2014).

A lack of oxygen delivery to limb muscle tissue induces a progressive accumulation of ischemic injury that manifests as declining muscle function (Pipinos et al., 2007, 2008a; McDermott et al., 2012; Cluff et al., 2013; Weiss et al., 2013; Koutakis et al., 2014). A potential source for this tissue injury may be mitochondrial-derived ROS and the resulting oxidative stress with chronically elevated ROS. Pipinos et al. reported the first indirect evidence for skeletal muscle "oxidative stress" in patients with PAD (Pipinos et al., 2006). Recent work from this group

TABLE 1 Clinical studies implicating	skeletal muscle function with mortality.
--	--

Study	n	Patient population	Skeletal muscle factors associated with mortality
Gardner et al., 2008	434	PAD	6-min walk test, speed, and stair climbing scores
de Liefde et al., 2009	2191	PAD	Total treadmill walking distance
Singh et al., 2010	410	PAD	Attenuated knee extensor/flexion and hip extension strength in men, but not women
McDermott et al., 2011	440	PAD	Decline in 6-min walk test, and fast- and usual-paced 4-m walk test
McDermott et al., 2012	434	PAD	Lower calf muscle density and strength
Raval et al., 2012	425	PAD	Obesity associated with lower calf muscle density and greater declines in muscle density over time
Jain et al., 2013	442	PAD	Walking speed and strain climbing scores from walking impairment questionnaire
Leeper et al., 2013	725	PAD	Symptom limited walking time on ramped treadmill test
Thompson et al., 2014	187	PAD	Calf muscle citrate synthase activity (marker of mitochondrial content)
Matsubara et al., 2015	64	CLI	5-year survival rate significantly lower in patients with sarcopenia (total body)

A brief literature search using PUBMED, MEDLINE, and SCOPUS was conducted. Studies assessing the association between skeletal muscle health/function and cardiovascular/allcause mortality are shown above with abbreviated summary of findings. PAD, peripheral arterial disease; CLI, critical limb ischemia; n, number of patients.

suggests that these same indirect markers of oxidative stress may be related to disease severity (Fontaine Stage and ABI; Weiss et al., 2013). The potential also exists for repeated ischemia-reperfusion events in skeletal muscle from CLI patients (Lejay et al., 2014). When blood flow and pressure is low, arterial blockages may result in low oxygen tensions in muscle tissue that could be severe enough to inhibit mitochondrial complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase) and consequently electron flow in the electron transport system. This would result in the accumulation of metabolites and reducing equivalents (NADH and FADH₂) that, upon reoxygenation by surgical intervention or endogenous collateral flow with activity or mechanical loading, would be rapidly metabolized. These ischemia-reperfusion events have been well documented to produce large amounts of ROS in cardiac, brain, liver and renal tissues (Chouchani et al., 2014) and could be intermittently triggered by small amounts of physical activity or mechanical loading. For additional details on oxidative stress with PAD, we would recommend other excellent reviews (Brass, 1996; Pipinos et al., 2007, 2008a).

Because mitochondria are a major source of both reductive power (e.g., NADPH) and oxidants (superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide), they serve as a metabolic rheostat controlling cellular redox homeostasis. Flux through both the reductive and oxidative arms contributes to redox signaling through redox modifications to cysteine residues that regulate the structure/function of target proteins (Go and Jones, 2013). Post-translational modifications such as S-nitrosylation, glutathionylation, sulfenylation, and disulfide bond formation are also considered mechanisms of redox signaling. Although the redox signaling field is at an early stage, recent studies suggest regulation of several cellular pathways relevant to the ischemic microenvironment including: muscle autophagy (Rahman et al., 2014), contractile dysfunction (reviewed in Powers et al., 2011), atrophy (Lawler et al., 2003), mitochondrial fission and fusion (reviewed in Willems et al., 2015), vascular growth and remodeling (reviewed in Bir et al., 2012), gene stability (Mikhed et al., 2015), and cellular proliferation and death (Wang et al., 2013; L'honoré et al., 2014). An oxidative shift with elevated ROS production in one cell type may have a direct and/or indirect effect on other resident cell types. Although it is difficult to imagine that charged, highly reactive oxygen/nitrogen species arising within subcellular organelles (e.g., mitochondria) or from cytosolic enzymes (e.g., xanthine oxidase) could escape the oxidant buffering systems (e.g., glutathione peroxidases, peroxiredoxins, superoxide dismutase, catalase) and travel to neighboring cells, ROS species, particularly those not carrying a charge (e.g., H₂O₂), produced by membrane bound enzymes (e.g., NADPH oxidase) may be capable of directly affecting nearby cells. It is likely that altered redox homeostasis in one cell would dramatically alter the local microenvironment through paracrine signaling. For example, skeletal muscle redox alterations have been shown to decrease endothelial cell angiogenic properties via the HIF-1a signaling cascade (Dromparis et al., 2014). Further, HIF-1a is a known transcriptional regulator for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which plays a vital role in angiogenesis (Rhoads et al., 2009).

ENDOTHELIAL MITOCHONDRIA IN THE ISCHEMIC LIMB

Early research on the cellular bioenergetics of endothelial cells (ECs) suggested a heavy cellular reliance on glycolytic metabolism for the energy requirements of normal processes (Dobrina and Rossi, 1983; Leighton et al., 1987; Krützfeldt et al., 1990; Laing et al., 1992). These studies reported high activities of key enzymes in glycolytic metabolism (phosphofructokinase, hexokinase), high rates of lactate production in aerobic conditions, and low rates of glucose oxidation especially when high levels of glucose are present (Crabtree Effect). Additionally, ECs have a relatively low mitochondrial content, [less than 5% of the cell volume vs. 5-20% in skeletal muscle (Hoppeler et al., 1981; Groschner et al., 2012; Dahl et al., 2015; Jacobs et al., 2015)]. Some studies suggest mitochondrial ATP production is dispensable in ECs (Quintero et al., 2006) and there appears to be supportive evidence in that limb ECs are resistant to ischemic insult in CLI patients (Mertens et al., 1990; Noll et al., 1990). There is also a distinct body of research, however, indicating that mitochondria are critical organelles to the viability and function of ECs (Quintero et al., 2006; Goveia et al., 2014; Eelen et al., 2015). Mesenchymal stem cells form tunneling nanotubes that transfer mitochondria to ECs to rescue cellular aerobic respiration and stave off apoptosis induced by ischemia/reperfusion (Liu et al., 2014), a response that could be particularly important in stroke patients (Chan, 2005; Li et al., 2012; Lejay et al., 2014; Mishiro et al., 2014). Capillary EC mitochondrial cytopathies decrease angiogenesis and precede myofiber injury in early infants with mitochondrial diseases, a finding termed "mitochondrial angiopathy" (Sarnat et al., 2012). Overexpression of mitochondrial Thioredoxin-2 (Trx2) improves EC proliferation and arteriogenesis in the ischemic limb (Dai et al., 2009) and cancer researchers now utilize mitochondrial uncouplers in attempts to reduce tumor size due to their effects on neovascularization (Coutelle et al., 2014). These recent findings support an integral role for the mitochondria in the regulation of EC function and indicate this organelle's potential as a therapeutic target for CLI.

MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS

Mitochondria are dynamic organelles that rely on complex signals orchestrating dynamic fission and fusion events believed to be responsible for regulating mitochondrial quality control. Fission and fusion are involved in the elimination of damaged/dysfunctional mitochondria (Song et al., 2015) which may serve as major sources of ROS. A cell's decision to remove dysfunctional mitochondria plays a vital role in limiting cellular damage/apoptosis while maintaining cell function. Damaged and depolarized mitochondria are targeted by PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1), which drives Parkin-mediated mitophagic engulfment by autophagosomes (termed "mitophagy," for detailed reviews see Dorn and Kitsis, 2015; Shirihai et al., 2015). Recent preclinical evidence suggests that defects in mitophagy exacerbate cardiomyocyte injury and decrease survival following ischemia/reperfusion (Song et al., 2014), indicating an increased cellular sensitivity to ischemic stress (Kubli et al., 2013). Mitophagy is critically important to the plasticity of skeletal muscle (Liesa and Shirihai, 2013) and is a unique process that could be similarly important to the health of the vasculature in the ischemic limb. Ischemia/reperfusion-induced impairments in EC mitochondrial respiratory capacity have been intricately linked to accelerated fission caused by excessive oxidative and nitrosative stress (Giedt et al., 2012). Moreover, siRNA-knockdown of mitofusin-1 or mitofusin-2 impairs EC angiogenic function in vitro and increases markers of apoptosis under stress (serum-deprivation; Lugus et al., 2011). There are no current investigations into the potential role of mitophagy in limb muscle pathology with CLI, although mitochondrial dynamics provide an attractive candidate for exploration. The accumulation of damaged mitochondria is likely to lead to increased ROS, an oxidative shift in the redox environment, and impaired energy production; all factors contributing to a pathologic ischemic microenvironment.

PRIMARY CLI RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ALTERED MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTION

There are numerous risk factors linked to the CLI manifestation in PAD patients (Fowkes et al., 2013; Nehler et al., 2014). The two strongest risk factors for CLI, smoking and diabetes, are particularly provocative in terms of the subject matter of this review due to the ability of both to impair mitochondrial function in multiple cellular compartments of the ischemic limb.

Smoking

From a physiologic perspective, smoking impairs microvascular reactivity (Ijzerman et al., 2003), increases intima-media carotid wall thickness (Howard et al., 1994), decreases flowmediated dilation in the brachial artery (Langham et al., 2015) and increases the likelihood of atherosclerotic lesion formation (Yanbaeva et al., 2007). Pre-clinically, chronic cigarette smoke exposure severely alters vascular structure and function, including facilitating oxidative and nitrosative stress (Talukder et al., 2011). ECs exposed to cigarette smoke extract in vitro have lower mitochondrial integrity, rapid loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, and arrest of cell cycle progression (Henderson et al., 2008). Interference of the respiratory chain by either hydroquinone or carbon monoxide is believed to be a key component of smoking induced mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscles (Degens et al., 2015), as well as impaired oxygen delivery due to carbon monoxide binding with hemoglobin/myoglobin. Interestingly, the combination of high-fat diet and nicotine results in increased oxidative stress and substantial lipid accumulation adjacent to swollen intramyofibrillar mitochondria in peripheral skeletal muscle (Sinha-Hikim et al., 2014). Taken together, the global cellular response to smoking demonstrates the potential for smoking to alter not only physiologic vessel function and the time-course of atherosclerotic lesion formation, but also the health of peripheral muscle cells. Interestingly, only a small series of research studies examine the muscle regenerative aspect, several of which are linked with healing rates after orthopedic surgery (Karim et al., 2006; Lundgreen et al., 2014; Mall et al., 2014). There are, however, a number of studies demonstrating ultrastructural and functional alterations in cardiomyocyte mitochondria after exposure to cigarette smoke (Yamada et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2013; Tippetts et al., 2014). Further work is necessitated to directly examine the effects of smoking on the mitochondria of the ischemic limb muscle, but this area represents an exciting arena with the potential to result in singular therapies for multiple co-morbidities associated with smoking and cardiovascular disease.

Diabetes

Type II Diabetic patients with PAD are five times more likely to present clinically with CLI accompanied by tissue loss (Jude et al., 2001) and do not respond well to revascularization or endovascular interventions (Derubertis et al., 2008; Malmstedt et al., 2008). While diabetes may exacerbate the development of plaque blockages in the arteries, the impact of metabolic syndrome/diabetes on other tissue compartments has not been investigated in the context of CLI. As a common risk-factor, one explanation for the diabetic increase in PAD susceptibility could conceivably be exacerbated muscle damage originating from compromised mitochondrial function prior to the onset of ischemia. Diabetes both reduces skeletal muscle mitochondrial function (Kelley et al., 2002; Petersen et al., 2004; Bonnard et al., 2008) and increases mitochondrial fission, fragmentation, and ROS production in human venous ECs (Shenouda et al., 2011), indicating the potential for exacerbated ischemic responses in multiple cellular compartments of the ischemic limb. Chronic oxidative stress caused by nutrient oversupply to muscle mitochondria is implicated in reduced diabetic mitochondrial respiratory function (Bonnard et al., 2008; Anderson et al., 2009a,b), whereas mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants confer protection against diet-induced dysfunction (Hoehn et al., 2009; Anderson et al., 2009b; Lee et al., 2010). Taken together, these findings suggest the possibility that compromised muscle and endothelial mitochondrial function may be pre-conditioning the limb tissue to respond poorly to the ischemic insult in diabetic CLI patients, resulting in greater myopathy and sustained tissue degeneration regardless of genetic susceptibility.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

A critical barrier to developing therapeutic strategies to PAD has been a lack of understanding of the mechanisms underlying the etiology and pathology of PAD. While the cause of PAD is unquestionably occlusive arterial disease, the limited success of surgical and angiogenic treatments suggest that factors other than blood flow may significantly contribute to patient outcomes. Physiologically, angiogenesis and neovascularization are directed by the metabolic demand of the resident tissue. Simply put, the return of blood flow will have little effect if the limb tissue is beyond repair. In this review, we have highlighted recent trends in CLI research that suggest limb musculature may be a viable and potentially parallel therapeutic option for both the myopathy and vasculopathy of CLI. Furthermore, limb muscle and EC mitochondria provide attractive specific targets for novel therapeutic intervention.

REFERENCES

- Abou-Khalil, R., Mounier, R., and Chazaud, B. (2010). Regulation of myogenic stem cell behavior by vessel cells: the "menage a trois" of satellite cells, periendothelial cells and endothelial cells. *Cell Cycle* 9, 892–896. doi: 10.4161/cc.9.5.10851
- Anderson, E. J., Kypson, A. P., Rodriguez, E., Anderson, C. A., Lehr, E. J., and Neufer, P. D. (2009a). Substrate-specific derangements in mitochondrial metabolism and redox balance in the atrium of the type 2 diabetic human heart. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 54, 1891–1898. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.07.031
- Anderson, E. J., Lustig, M. E., Boyle, K. E., Woodlief, T. L., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T., et al. (2009b). Mitochondrial H2O2 emission and cellular redox state link excess fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 573–581. doi: 10.1172/JCI37048
- Annex, B. H. (2013). Therapeutic angiogenesis for critical limb ischaemia. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 10, 387–396. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2013.70
- Asai, A., Sahani, N., Kaneki, M., Ouchi, Y., Martyn, J. A., and Yasuhara, S. E. (2007). Primary role of functional ischemia, quantitative evidence for the twohit mechanism, and phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor therapy in mouse muscular dystrophy. *PLoS ONE* 2:e806. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000806
- Bhat, H. K., Hiatt, W. R., Hoppel, C. L., and Brass, E. P. (1999). Skeletal muscle mitochondrial DNA injury in patients with unilateral peripheral arterial disease. *Circulation* 99, 807–812. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.6.807
- Bir, S. C., Kolluru, G. K., Fang, K., and Kevil, C. G. (2012). Redox balance dynamically regulates vascular growth and remodeling. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 23, 745–757. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.05.003
- Bonnard, C., Durand, A., Peyrol, S., Chanseaume, E., Chauvin, M. A., Morio, B., et al. (2008). Mitochondrial dysfunction results from oxidative stress in the skeletal muscle of diet-induced insulin-resistant mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118, 789–800. doi: 10.1172/jci32601
- Brass, E. P. (1996). Skeletal muscle metabolism as a target for drug therapy in peripheral arterial disease. *Vasc. Med.* 1, 55–59.
- Brass, E. P. (2013). Intermittent claudication: new targets for drug development. Drugs 73, 999–1014. doi: 10.1007/s40265-013-0078-3
- Brass, E. P., and Hiatt, W. R. (2000). Acquired skeletal muscle metabolic myopathy in atherosclerotic peripheral arterial disease. *Vasc. Med.* 5, 55–59. doi: 10.1177/1358836X0000500109
- Brass, E. P., Hiatt, W. R., and Green, S. (2004). Skeletal muscle metabolic changes in peripheral arterial disease contribute to exercise intolerance: a point-counterpoint discussion. *Vasc. Med.* 9, 293–301. doi: 10.1191/1358863x04vm572ra
- Chalothorn, D., Clayton, J. A., Zhang, H., Pomp, D., and Faber, J. E. (2007). Collateral density, remodeling, and VEGF-A expression differ widely between mouse strains. *Physiol. Genomics* 30, 179–191. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00047.2007
- Chalothorn, D., and Faber, J. E. (2010). Strain-dependent variation in collateral circulatory function in mouse hindlimb. *Physiol. Genomics* 42, 469–479. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00070.2010
- Chan, P. H. (2005). Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress as determinants of cell death/survival in stroke. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1042, 203–209. doi: 10.1196/annals.1338.022
- Chargé, S. B., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2004). Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 209–238. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00019.2003
- Chouchani, E. T., Pell, V. R., Gaude, E., Aksentijevic, D., Sundier, S. Y., Robb, E. L., et al. (2014). Ischaemic accumulation of succinate controls reperfusion injury through mitochondrial ROS. *Nature* 515, 431–435. doi: 10.1038/nature13909
- Cluff, K., Miserlis, D., Naganathan, G. K., Pipinos, I. I., Koutakis, P., Samal, A., et al. (2013). Morphometric analysis of gastrocnemius muscle biopsies

SOURCES OF FUNDING

JM supported by NIH/NHLBI R00HL103797 and R01HL125695, and a Brody Brothers Endowment Award, DB supported by NIH/NHLBI R01 HL123647 and R15 HL122922, PN supported by NIH/NIDDK R01 DK096907.

from patients with peripheral arterial disease: objective grading of muscle degeneration. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 305, R291–R299. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00525.2012

- Cooke, J. P., and Losordo, D. W. (2015). Modulating the vascular response to limb ischemia: angiogenic and cell therapies. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1561–1578. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.303565
- Coutelle, O., Hornig-Do, H. T., Witt, A., Andree, M., Schiffmann, L. M., Piekarek, M., et al. (2014). Embelin inhibits endothelial mitochondrial respiration and impairs neoangiogenesis during tumor growth and wound healing. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 6, 624–639. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201303016
- Dahl, R., Larsen, S., Dohlmann, T. L., Qvortrup, K., Helge, J. W., Dela, F., et al. (2015). Three-dimensional reconstruction of the human skeletal muscle mitochondrial network as a tool to assess mitochondrial content and structural organization. *Acta Physiol.* 213, 145–155. doi: 10.1111/apha.12289
- Dai, S., He, Y., Zhang, H., Yu, L., Wan, T., Xu, Z., et al. (2009). Endothelialspecific expression of mitochondrial thioredoxin promotes ischemia-mediated arteriogenesis and angiogenesis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 29, 495–502. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.180349
- Degens, H., Gayan-Ramirez, G., and Van Hees, H. W. (2015). Smoking-induced skeletal muscle dysfunction: from evidence to mechanisms. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 191, 620–625. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201410-1830PP
- de Liefde, I. I., Hoeks, S. S., van Gestel, Y. R., Klein, J., Bax, J. J., Verhagen, H. J., et al. (2009). The prognostic value of impaired walking distance on long-term outcome in patients with known or suspected peripheral arterial disease. *Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* 38, 482–487. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2009.02.022
- Derubertis, B. G., Pierce, M., Ryer, E. J., Trocciola, S., Kent, K. C., and Faries, P. L. (2008). Reduced primary patency rate in diabetic patients after percutaneous intervention results from more frequent presentation with limb-threatening ischemia. J. Vasc. Surg. 47, 101–108. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2007.09.018
- Dobrina, A., and Rossi, F. (1983). Metabolic properties of freshly isolated bovine endothelial cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 762, 295–301. doi: 10.1016/0167-4889(83)90084-8
- Dokun, A. O., Keum, S., Hazarika, S., Li, Y., Lamonte, G. M., Wheeler, F., et al. (2008). A quantitative trait locus (LSq-1) on mouse chromosome 7 is linked to the absence of tissue loss after surgical hindlimb ischemia. *Circulation* 117, 1207–1215. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.736447
- Dormandy, J., Heeck, L., and Vig, S. (1999). The fate of patients with critical leg ischemia. *Semin. Vasc. Surg.* 12, 142–147.
- Dorn, G. W. II, and Kitsis, R. N. (2015). The mitochondrial dynamismmitophagy-cell death interactome: multiple roles performed by members of a mitochondrial molecular ensemble. *Circ. Res.* 116, 167–182. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303554
- Dromparis, P., Sutendra, G., Paulin, R., Proctor, S., Michelakis, E. D., and McMurtry, M. S. (2014). Pioglitazone inhibits HIF-1alpha-dependent angiogenesis in rats by paracrine and direct effects on endothelial cells. *J. Mol. Med.* 92, 497–507. doi: 10.1007/s00109-013-1115-0
- Eelen, G., De Zeeuw, P., Simons, M., and Carmeliet, P. (2015). Endothelial cell metabolism in normal and diseased vasculature. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1231–1244. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.302855
- Fowkes, F. G., Rudan, D., Rudan, I., Aboyans, V., Denenberg, J. O., McDermott, M. M., et al. (2013). Comparison of global estimates of prevalence and risk factors for peripheral artery disease in 2000 and 2010: a systematic review and analysis. *Lancet* 382, 1329–1340. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13) 61249-0
- Gardner, A. W., Montgomery, P. S., and Parker, D. E. (2008). Physical activity is a predictor of all-cause mortality in patients with intermittent claudication. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 47, 117–122. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2007.09.033
- Giedt, R. J., Yang, C., Zweier, J. L., Matzavinos, A., and Alevriadou, B. R. (2012). Mitochondrial fission in endothelial cells after simulated ischemia/reperfusion:

role of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52, 348-356. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.10.491

- Go, Y. M., and Jones, D. P. (2013). The redox proteome. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 26512–26520. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R113.464131
- Goveia, J., Stapor, P., and Carmeliet, P. (2014). Principles of targeting endothelial cell metabolism to treat angiogenesis and endothelial cell dysfunction in disease. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 6, 1105–1120. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201 404156
- Groschner, L. N., Waldeck-Weiermair, M., Malli, R., and Graier, W. F. (2012). Endothelial mitochondria-less respiration, more integration. *Pflugers Arch.* 464, 63–76. doi: 10.1007/s00424-012-1085-z
- Grounds, M. D. (1987). Phagocytosis of necrotic muscle in muscle isografts is influenced by the strain, age, and sex of host mice. J. Pathol. 153, 71–82. doi: 10.1002/path.1711530110
- Grounds, M. D., and McGeachie, J. K. (1989). A comparison of muscle precursor replication in crush-injured skeletal muscle of Swiss and BALBc mice. *Cell Tissue Res.* 255, 385–391. doi: 10.1007/BF00224122
- Gudmundsson, G., Matthiasson, S. E., Arason, H., Johannsson, H., Runarsson, F., Bjarnason, H., et al. (2002). Localization of a gene for peripheral arterial occlusive disease to chromosome 1p31. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 70, 586–592. doi: 10.1086/339251
- Hammer, A., and Steiner, S. (2013). Gene therapy for therapeutic angiogenesis in peripheral arterial disease - a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. VASA 42, 331–339. doi: 10.1024/0301-1526/a000298
- Hands, L. J., Bore, P. J., Galloway, G., Morris, P. J., and Radda, G. K. (1986). Muscle metabolism in patients with peripheral vascular-disease investigated by P-31 nuclear-magnetic-resonance spectroscopy. *Clin. Sci.* 71, 283–290. doi: 10.1042/cs0710283
- Henderson, B., Csordas, A., Backovic, A., Kind, M., Bernhard, D., and Wick, G. (2008). Cigarette smoke is an endothelial stressor and leads to cell cycle arrest. *Atherosclerosis* 201, 298–305. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.02.022
- Hiatt, W. R., Armstrong, E. J., Larson, C. J., and Brass, E. P. (2015). Pathogenesis of the limb manifestations and exercise limitations in peripheral artery disease. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1527–1539. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303566
- Hirsch, A. T., Criqui, M. H., Treat-Jacobson, D., Regensteiner, J. G., Creager, M. A., Olin, J. W., et al. (2001). Peripheral arterial disease detection, awareness, and treatment in primary care. *JAMA* 286, 1317–1324. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.11.1317
- Hoehn, K. L., Salmon, A. B., Hohnen-Behrens, C., Turner, N., Hoy, A. J., Maghzal, G. J., et al. (2009). Insulin resistance is a cellular antioxidant defense mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 17787–17792. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902380106
- Hoppeler, H., Mathieu, O., Krauer, R., Claassen, H., Armstrong, R. B., and Weibel, E. R. (1981). Design of the mammalian respiratory system. VI Distribution of mitochondria and capillaries in various muscles. *Respir. Physiol.* 44, 87–111. doi: 10.1016/0034-5687(81)90078-5
- Howard, G., Burke, G. L., Szklo, M., Tell, G. S., Eckfeldt, J., Evans, G., et al. (1994). Active and passive smoking are associated with increased carotid wall thickness. The atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 154, 1277–1282. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1994.00420110125014
- Hu, N., Han, X., Lane, E. K., Gao, F., Zhang, Y., and Ren, J. (2013). Cardiacspecific overexpression of metallothionein rescues against cigarette smoking exposure-induced myocardial contractile and mitochondrial damage. *PLoS ONE* 8:e57151. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057151
- Ijzerman, R. G., Serne, E. H., Van Weissenbruch, M. M., De Jongh, R. T., and Stehouwer, C. D. (2003). Cigarette smoking is associated with an acute impairment of microvascular function in humans. *Clin. Sci.* 104, 247–252. doi: 10.1042/cs1040247
- Isbell, D. C., Berr, S. S., Toledano, A. Y., Epstein, F. H., Meyer, C. H., Rogers, W. J., et al. (2006). Delayed calf muscle phosphocreatine recovery after exercise identifies peripheral arterial disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 47, 2289–2295. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.12.069
- Jacobs, R. A., Lundby, A. M., Fenk, S., Gehrig, S., Siebenmann, C., Fluck, D., et al. (2015). Twenty-eight days of exposure to 3,454 m increases mitochondrial volume density in human skeletal muscle. *J. Physiol.* doi: 10.1113/JP271118. [Epub ahead of print].

- Jain, A., Liu, K., Ferrucci, L., Criqui, M. H., Tian, L., Gurainik, J. M., et al. (2013). Declining walking impairment questionnaire scores are associated with subsequent increased mortality in peripheral arterial disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 61, 1820–1829. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.01.060
- Jude, E. B., Oyibo, S. O., Chalmers, N., and Boulton, A. J. (2001). Peripheral arterial disease in diabetic and nondiabetic patients: a comparison of severity and outcome. *Diabetes Care* 24, 1433–1437. doi: 10.2337/diacare.24.8.1433
- Karch, J., and Molkentin, J. D. (2015). Regulated necrotic cell death: the passive aggressive side of bax and bak. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1800–1809. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.305421
- Karim, A., Pandit, H., Murray, J., Wandless, F., and Thomas, N. P. (2006). Smoking and reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. *J. Bone Joint Surg. Br.* 88, 1027–1031. doi: 10.1302/0301-620X.88B8.17189
- Katsetos, C. D., Koutzaki, S., and Melvin, J. J. (2013). Mitochondrial dysfunction in neuromuscular disorders. *Semin. Pediatr. Neurol.* 20, 202–215. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2013.10.010
- Katwal, A. B., and Dokun, A. O. (2011). Peripheral arterial disease in diabetes: is there a role for genetics? *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 11, 218–225. doi: 10.1007/s11892-011-0188-9
- Keller, U., Oberhansli, R., Huber, P., Widmer, L. K., Aue, W. P., Hassink, R. I., et al. (1985). Phosphocreatine content and intracellular pH of calf muscle measured by phosphorus NMR spectroscopy in occlusive arterial disease of the legs. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 15, 382–388. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1985.tb00289.x
- Kelley, D. E., He, J., Menshikova, E. V., and Ritov, V. B. (2002). Dysfunction of mitochondria in human skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 51, 2944–2950. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.10.2944
- Knowles, J. W., Assimes, T. L., Li, J., Quertermous, T., and Cooke, J. P. (2007). Genetic susceptibility to peripheral arterial disease: a dark corner in vascular biology. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 27, 2068–2078. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000282199.66398.8c
- Koutakis, P., Weiss, D. J., Miserlis, D., Shostrom, V. K., Papoutsi, E., Ha, D. M., et al. (2014). Oxidative damage in the gastrocnemius of patients with peripheral artery disease is myofiber type selective. *Redox Biol.* 2, 921–928. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2014.07.002
- Krützfeldt, A., Spahr, R., Mertens, S., Siegmund, B., and Piper, H. M. (1990). Metabolism of exogenous substrates by coronary endothelial cells in culture. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 22, 1393–1404. doi: 10.1016/0022-2828(90)90984-A
- Kubli, D. A., Zhang, X., Lee, Y., Hanna, R. A., Quinsay, M. N., Nguyen, C. K., et al. (2013). Parkin protein deficiency exacerbates cardiac injury and reduces survival following myocardial infarction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 915–926. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.411363
- Lagrota-Candido, J., Canella, I., Pinheiro, D. F., Santos-Silva, L. P., Ferreira, R. S., Guimarães-Joca, F. J., et al. (2010). Characteristic pattern of skeletal muscle remodelling in different mouse strains. *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.* 91, 522–529. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2613.2010.00737.x
- Laing, R. A., Chiba, K., Tsubota, K., and Oak, S. S. (1992). Metabolic and morphologic changes in the corneal endothelium. The effects of potassium cyanide, iodoacetamide, and ouabain. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 33, 3315–3324.
- Langham, M. C., Zhou, Y., Chirico, E. N., Magland, J. F., Sehgal, C. M., Englund, E. K., et al. (2015). Effects of age and smoking on endothelial function assessed by quantitative cardiovascular magnetic resonance in the peripheral and central vasculature. J. Cardiovasc. Magn. Reson. 17, 19. doi: 10.1186/s12968-015-0110-8
- Lawler, J. M., Song, W., and Demaree, S. R. (2003). Hindlimb unloading increases oxidative stress and disrupts antioxidant capacity in skeletal muscle. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 35, 9–16. doi: 10.1016/S0891-5849(03)00186-2
- Lee, H. Y., Choi, C. S., Birkenfeld, A. L., Alves, T. C., Jornayvaz, F. R., Jurczak, M. J., et al. (2010). Targeted expression of catalase to mitochondria prevents age-associated reductions in mitochondrial function and insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 12, 668–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2010.11.004
- Leeper, N. J., Kullo, I. J., and Cooke, J. P. (2012). Genetics of peripheral artery disease. *Circulation* 125, 3220–3228. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.033878
- Leeper, N. J., Myers, J., Zhou, M., Nead, K. T., Syed, A., Kojima, Y., et al. (2013). Exercise capacity is the strongest predictor of mortality in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 57, 728–733. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2012.07.051

- Leighton, B., Curi, R., Hussein, A., and Newsholme, E. A. (1987). Maximum activities of some key enzymes of glycolysis, glutaminolysis, Krebs cycle and fatty acid utilization in bovine pulmonary endothelial cells. *FEBS Lett.* 225, 93–96. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(87)81137-7
- Lejay, A., Choquet, P., Thaveau, F., Singh, F., Schlagowski, A., Charles, A. L., et al. (2015). A new murine model of sustainable and durable chronic critical limb ischemia fairly mimicking human pathology. *Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* 49, 205–212. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2014.12.010
- Lejay, A., Meyer, A., Schlagowski, A. I., Charles, A. L., Singh, F., Bouitbir, J., et al. (2014). Mitochondria: mitochondrial participation in ischemiareperfusion injury in skeletal muscle. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 50, 101–105. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.02.013
- L'honoré, A., Commère, P. H., Ouimette, J. F., Montarras, D., Drouin, J., and Buckingham, M. (2014). Redox regulation by Pitx2 and Pitx3 is critical for fetal myogenesis. *Dev. Cell* 29, 392–405. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2014.04.006
- Li, J., Ma, X., Yu, W., Lou, Z., Mu, D., Wang, Y., et al. (2012). Reperfusion promotes mitochondrial dysfunction following focal cerebral ischemia in rats. *PLoS ONE* 7:e46498. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046498
- Liesa, M., and Shirihai, O. S. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure. *Cell Metab.* 17, 491–506. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.002
- Liu, K., Ji, K., Guo, L., Wu, W., Lu, H., Shan, P., et al. (2014). Mesenchymal stem cells rescue injured endothelial cells in an *in vitro* ischemia-reperfusion model via tunneling nanotube like structure-mediated mitochondrial transfer. *Microvasc. Res.* 92, 10–18. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2014.01.008
- Lugus, J. J., Ngoh, G. A., Bachschmid, M. M., and Walsh, K. (2011). Mitofusins are required for angiogenic function and modulate different signaling pathways in cultured endothelial cells. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 51, 885–893. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2011.07.023
- Lundgreen, K., Lian, O. B., Scott, A., Nassab, P., Fearon, A., and Engebretsen, L. (2014). Rotator cuff tear degeneration and cell apoptosis in smokers versus nonsmokers. *Arthroscopy* 30, 936–941. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.03.027
- Mall, N. A., Tanaka, M. J., Choi, L. S., and Paletta, G. A. Jr. (2014). Factors affecting rotator cuff healing. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 96, 778–788. doi: 10.2106/JBJS.M.00583
- Malmstedt, J., Leander, K., Wahlberg, E., Karlström, L., Alfredsson, L., and Swedenborg, J. (2008). Outcome after leg bypass surgery for critical limb ischemia is poor in patients with diabetes: a population-based cohort study. *Diabetes Care* 31, 887–892. doi: 10.2337/dc07-2424
- Martin, E. A., Barresi, R., Byrne, B. J., Tsimerinov, E. I., Scott, B. L., Walker, A. E., et al. (2012). Tadalafil alleviates muscle ischemia in patients with Becker muscular dystrophy. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4:162ra155. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004327
- Matsubara, Y., Matsumoto, T., Aoyagi, Y., Tanaka, S., Okadome, J., Morisaki, K., et al. (2015). Sarcopenia is a prognostic factor for overall survival in patients with critical limb ischemia. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 61, 945–950. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2014.10.094
- Matzke, S., and Lepantalo, M. (2001). Claudication does not always precede critical leg ischemia. *Vasc. Med.* 6, 77–80. doi: 10.1177/1358836X0100600202
- McClung, J. M., Mccord, T. J., Keum, S., Johnson, S., Annex, B. H., Marchuk, D. A., et al. (2012). Skeletal muscle-specific genetic determinants contribute to the differential strain-dependent effects of hindlimb ischemia in mice. Am. J. Pathol. 180, 2156–2169. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.01.032
- McClung, J. M., Reinardy, J. L., Mueller, S. B., McCord, T. J., Kontos, C. D., Brown, D. A., et al. (2015). Muscle cell derived angiopoietin-1 contributes to both myogenesis and angiogenesis in the ischemic environment. *Front. Physiol.* 6:161. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00161
- McDermott, M. M., Liu, K., Ferrucci, L., Tian, L., Gurainik, J. M., Liao, Y., et al. (2011). Decline in functional performance predicts later increased mobility loss and mortality in peripheral arterial disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 57, 962–970. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.09.053
- McDermott, M. M., Liu, K., Tian, L., Guralnik, J. M., Criqui, M. H., Liao, Y., et al. (2012). Calf muscle characteristics, strength measures, and mortality in peripheral arterial disease: a longitudinal study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 59, 1159–1167. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.12.019
- McGeachie, J. K., and Grounds, M. D. (1995). Retarded myogenic cell replication in regenerating skeletal muscles of old mice: an autoradiographic study in

young and old BALBc and SJL/J mice. Cell Tissue Res. 280, 277-282. doi: 10.1007/BF00307799

- Mertens, S., Noll, T., Spahr, R., Krützfeldt, A., and Piper, H. M. (1990). Energetic response of coronary endothelial cells to hypoxia. Am. J. Physiol. 258, H689– H694.
- Messina, L. M. (2008). Elucidating the genetic basis of peripheral arterial disease: identification of a quantitative trait locus that determines the phenotypic response to experimental hindlimb ischemia. *Circulation* 117, 1127–1129. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.752055
- Mikhed, Y., Görlach, A., Knaus, U. G., and Daiber, A. (2015). Redox regulation of genome stability by effects on gene expression, epigenetic pathways and DNA damage/repair. *Redox Biol.* 5, 275–289. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2015.05.008
- Mishiro, K., Imai, T., Sugitani, S., Kitashoji, A., Suzuki, Y., Takagi, T., et al. (2014). Diabetes mellitus aggravates hemorrhagic transformation after ischemic stroke via mitochondrial defects leading to endothelial apoptosis. *PLoS ONE* 9:e103818. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103818
- Mitchell, C. A., Grounds, M. D., and Papadimitriou, J. M. (1995). The genotype of bone marrow-derived inflammatory cells does not account for differences in skeletal muscle regeneration between SJL/J and BALB/c mice. *Cell Tissue Res.* 280, 407–413. doi: 10.1007/BF00307814
- Mofarrahi, M., McClung, J. M., Kontos, C. D., Davis, E. C., Tappuni, B., Moroz, N., et al. (2015). Angiopoietin-1 enhances skeletal muscle regeneration in mice. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 308, R576–R589. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00267.2014
- Murabito, J. M., White, C. C., Kavousi, M., Sun, Y. V., Feitosa, M. F., Nambi, V., et al. (2012). Association between chromosome 9p21 variants and the ankle-brachial index identified by a meta-analysis of 21 genome-wide association studies. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* 5, 100–112. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.111.961292
- Nehler, M. R., Duval, S., Diao, L., Annex, B. H., Hiatt, W. R., Rogers, K., et al. (2014). Epidemiology of peripheral arterial disease and critical limb ischemia in an insured national population. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 60, 686.e2–695.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2014.03.290
- Noll, T., Wissemann, P., Mertens, S., Krützfeldt, A., Spahr, R., and Piper, H. M. (1990). Hypoxia tolerance of coronary endothelial cells. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 277, 467–476. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-8181-5_52
- Petersen, K. F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Garcia, R., and Shulman, G. I. (2004). Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 350, 664–671. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa031314
- Pipinos, I. I., Judge, A. R., Selsby, J. T., Zhu, Z., Swanson, S. A., Nella, A. A., et al. (2007). The myopathy of peripheral arterial occlusive disease: part 1. Functional and histomorphological changes and evidence for mitochondrial dysfunction. *Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* 41, 481–489. doi: 10.1177/1538574407311106
- Pipinos, I. I., Judge, A. R., Selsby, J. T., Zhu, Z., Swanson, S. A., Nella, A. A., et al. (2008a). The myopathy of peripheral arterial occlusive disease: Part 2. Oxidative stress, neuropathy, and shift in muscle fiber type. *Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* 42, 101–112. doi: 10.1177/1538574408315995
- Pipinos, I. I., Judge, A. R., Zhu, Z., Selsby, J. T., Swanson, S. A., Johanning, J. M., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial defects and oxidative damage in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 41, 262–269. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2006.04.003
- Pipinos, I. I., Sharov, V. G., Shepard, A. D., Anagnostopoulos, P. V., Katsamouris, A., Todor, A., et al. (2003). Abnormal mitochondrial respiration in skeletal muscle in patients with peripheral arterial disease. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 38, 827–832. doi: 10.1016/S0741-5214(03)00602-5
- Pipinos, I. I., Shepard, A. D., Anagnostopoulos, P. V., Katsamouris, A., and Boska, M. D. (2000a). Phosphorus 31 nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy suggests a mitochondrial defect in claudicating skeletal muscle. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 31, 944–952. doi: 10.1067/mva.2000.106421
- Pipinos, I. I., Shepard, A. D., Anagnostopoulos, P. V., Katsamouris, A., and Boska, M. D. (2000b). Phosphorus 31 nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy suggests a mitochondrial defect in claudicating skeletal muscle. *J. Vasc. Surg.* 31, 944–952. doi: 10.1067/mva.2000.106421
- Pipinos, I. I., Swanson, S. A., Zhu, Z., Nella, A. A., Weiss, D. J., Gutti, T. L., et al. (2008b). Chronically ischemic mouse skeletal muscle exhibits myopathy in association with mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative

damage. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R290-R296. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90374.2008

- Powers, S. K., Ji, L. L., Kavazis, A. N., and Jackson, M. J. (2011). Reactive oxygen species: impact on skeletal muscle. *Compr. Physiol.* 1, 941–969. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c100054
- Quintero, M., Colombo, S. L., Godfrey, A., and Moncada, S. (2006). Mitochondria as signaling organelles in the vascular endothelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 5379–5384. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601026103
- Rahman, M., Mofarrahi, M., Kristof, A. S., Nkengfac, B., Harel, S., and Hussain, S. N. (2014). Reactive oxygen species regulation of autophagy in skeletal muscles. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 20, 443–459. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5410
- Raval, Z., Liu, K., Tian, L., Ferrucci, L., Gurainik, J. M., Liao, Y., et al. (2012). Higher body mass index is associated with more adverse changes in calf muscle characteristics in peripheral arterial disease. J. Vasc. Surg. 55, 1015–1024. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2011.10.105
- Rhoads, R. P., Johnson, R. M., Rathbone, C. R., Liu, X., Temm-Grove, C., Sheehan, S. M., et al. (2009). Satellite cell-mediated angiogenesis *in vitro* coincides with a functional hypoxia-inducible factor pathway. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 296, C1321–C1328. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00391.2008
- Rissanen, T. T., Vajanto, I., Hiltunen, M. O., Rutanen, J., Kettunen, M. I., Niemi, M., et al. (2002). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (KDR/Flk-1) in ischemic skeletal muscle and its regeneration. Am. J. Pathol. 160, 1393–1403. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62566-7
- Roberts, P., McGeachie, J. K., and Grounds, M. D. (1997). The host environment determines strain-specific differences in the timing of skeletal muscle regeneration: cross-transplantation studies between SJL/J and BALB/c mice. J. Anat. 191 (Pt 4), 585–594. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-7580.1997.19140585.x
- Sarnat, H. B., Flores-Sarnat, L., Casey, R., Scott, P., and Khan, A. (2012). Endothelial ultrastructural alterations of intramuscular capillaries in infantile mitochondrial cytopathies: "mitochondrial angiopathy" *Neuropathology* 32, 617–627. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2012.01308.x
- Schocke, M., Esterhammer, R., and Greiner, A. (2008). High-energy phosphate metabolism in the exercising muscle of patients with peripheral arterial disease. VASA 37, 199–210. doi: 10.1024/0301-1526.37.3.199
- Seale, P., Asakura, A., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2001). The potential of muscle stem cells. *Dev. Cell* 1, 333–342. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(01) 00049-1
- Sealock, R., Zhang, H., Lucitti, J. L., Moore, S. M., and Faber, J. E. (2014). Congenic fine-mapping identifies a major causal locus for variation in the native collateral circulation and ischemic injury in brain and lower extremity. *Circ. Res.* 114, 660–671. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302931
- Shenouda, S. M., Widlansky, M. E., Chen, K., Xu, G., Holbrook, M., Tabit, C. E., et al. (2011). Altered mitochondrial dynamics contributes to endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* 124, 444–453. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.014506
- Shirihai, O. S., Song, M., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2015). How mitochondrial dynamism orchestrates mitophagy. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1835–1849. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.306374
- Singh, N., Liu, K., Tian, L., Criqui, M. H., Gurainik, J. M., Ferucci, L., et al. (2010). Leg strength predicts mortality in men but not in women with peripheral arterial disease. J. Vasc. Surg. 52, 624–631. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2010.03.066
- Sinha-Hikim, I., Friedman, T. C., Shin, C. S., Lee, D., Ivey, R., and Sinha-Hikim, A. P. (2014). Nicotine in combination with a high-fat diet causes intramyocellular mitochondrial abnormalities in male mice. *Endocrinology* 155, 865–872. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1795
- Song, M., Chen, Y., Gong, G., Murphy, E., Rabinovitch, P. S., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2014). Super-suppression of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species signaling impairs compensatory autophagy in primary mitophagic cardiomyopathy. *Circ. Res.* 115, 348–353. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115. 304384
- Song, M., Mihara, K., Chen, Y., Scorrano, L., and Dorn, G. W. II. (2015). Mitochondrial fission and fusion factors reciprocally orchestrate mitophagic

culling in mouse hearts and cultured fibroblasts. Cell Metab. 21, 273–285. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.12.011

- Talukder, M. A., Johnson, W. M., Varadharaj, S., Lian, J., Kearns, P. N., El-Mahdy, M. A., et al. (2011). Chronic cigarette smoking causes hypertension, increased oxidative stress, impaired NO bioavailability, endothelial dysfunction, and cardiac remodeling in mice. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 300, H388– H396. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00868.2010
- Taylor, S. M., Cull, D. L., Kalbaugh, C. A., Senter, H. F., Langan, E. M. III, Carsten, C. G. III, et al. (2009). Comparison of interventional outcomes according to preoperative indication: a single center analysis of 2,240 limb revascularizations. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 208, 770–778. discussion: 778–780. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2009.01.025
- Thompson, J. R., Swanson, S. A., Haynatzki, G., Koutakis, P., Johanning, J. M., Reppert, P. R., et al. (2014). Protein concentration and mitochondrial content in the gastrocnemius predicts mortality rates in patients with peripheral arterial disease. Ann. Surg. 261, 605–610. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000643
- Tippetts, T. S., Winden, D. R., Swensen, A. C., Nelson, M. B., Thatcher, M. O., Saito, R. R., et al. (2014). Cigarette smoke increases cardiomyocyte ceramide accumulation and inhibits mitochondrial respiration. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 14:165. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-14-165
- Wang, K., Zhang, T., Dong, Q., Nice, E. C., Huang, C., and Wei, Y. (2013). Redox homeostasis: the linchpin in stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Cell Death Dis.* 4:e537. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.50
- Wang, S., Zhang, H., Dai, X., Sealock, R., and Faber, J. E. (2010). Genetic architecture underlying variation in extent and remodeling of the collateral circulation. *Circ. Res.* 107, 558–568. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.224634
- Wang, S., Zhang, H., Wiltshire, T., Sealock, R., and Faber, J. E. (2012). Genetic dissection of the Canq1 locus governing variation in extent of the collateral circulation. *PLoS ONE* 7:e31910. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031910
- Weiss, D. J., Casale, G. P., Koutakis, P., Nella, A. A., Swanson, S. A., Zhu, Z., et al. (2013). Oxidative damage and myofiber degeneration in the gastrocnemius of patients with peripheral arterial disease. *J. Transl. Med.* 11:230. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-230
- Willems, P. H., Rossignol, R., Dieteren, C. E., Murphy, M. P., and Koopman, W. J. (2015). Redox homeostasis and mitochondrial dynamics. *Cell Metab.* 22, 207–218. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.06.006
- Wurdeman, S. R., Myers, S. A., Johanning, J. M., Pipinos, I. I., and Stergiou, N. (2012). External work is deficient in both limbs of patients with unilateral PAD. *Med. Eng. Phys.* 34, 1421–1426. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2012.01.004
- Yamada, S., Zhang, X. Q., Kadono, T., Matsuoka, N., Rollins, D., Badger, T., et al. (2009). Direct toxic effects of aqueous extract of cigarette smoke on cardiac myocytes at clinically relevant concentrations. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 236, 71–77. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2009.01.008
- Yanbaeva, D. G., Dentener, M. A., Creutzberg, E. C., Wesseling, G., and Wouters, E. F. (2007). Systemic effects of smoking. *Chest* 131, 1557–1566. doi: 10.1378/chest.06-2179
- Zatina, M. A., Berkowitz, H. D., Gross, G. M., Maris, J. M., and Chance, B. (1986). P-31 nuclear-magnetic-resonance spectroscopy - noninvasive biochemicalanalysis of the ischemic extremity. J. Vasc. Surg. 3, 411–420.

Conflict of Interest Statement: David A. Brown has served as a consultant for Stealth BioTherapeutics, which is developing novel treatments for mitochondrial diseases. The other authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Ryan, Schmidt, Green, Brown, Neufer and McClung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Complex Coordination of Cell Plasticity by a PGC-1α-controlled Transcriptional Network in Skeletal Muscle

Barbara Kupr and Christoph Handschin*

Biozentrum, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

Skeletal muscle cells exhibit an enormous plastic capacity in order to adapt to external stimuli. Even though our overall understanding of the molecular mechanisms that underlie phenotypic changes in skeletal muscle cells remains poor, several factors involved in the regulation and coordination of relevant transcriptional programs have been identified in recent years. For example, the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α) is a central regulatory nexus in the adaptation of muscle to endurance training. Intriguingly, PGC-1 α integrates numerous signaling pathways and translates their activity into various transcriptional programs. This selectivity is in part controlled by differential expression of PGC-1 α variants and post-translational modifications of the PGC-1 α protein. PGC-1 α -controlled activation of transcriptional networks subsequently enables a spatio-temporal specification and hence allows a complex coordination of changes in metabolic and contractile properties, protein synthesis and degradation rates and other features of trained muscle. In this review, we discuss recent advances in our understanding of PGC-1 α -regulated skeletal muscle cell plasticity in health and disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Russell T. Hepple, McGill University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Espen Spangenburg, East Carolina University, USA Aaron Paul Russell, Aaron Russell, Australia

*Correspondence:

Christoph Handschin christoph.handschin@unibas.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 August 2015 Accepted: 27 October 2015 Published: 09 November 2015

Citation:

Kupr B and Handschin C (2015) Complex Coordination of Cell Plasticity by a PGC-1α-controlled Transcriptional Network in Skeletal Muscle. Front. Physiol. 6:325. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00325 Keywords: skeletal muscle, transcriptional regulation, PGC-1a, exercise, metabolism, co-regulator

INTRODUCTION

Cell plasticity is often controlled by complex transcriptional networks. While traditionally, much of the research on such networks was focused on transcription factors, the important role of co-regulators has been increasingly appreciated in recent years (Dasgupta et al., 2014; Mouchiroud et al., 2014). Co-regulator proteins have no intrinsic DNA-binding domain and thus rely on transcription factors to be recruited to regulatory elements. The ability of co-regulators to bind to various partners enables the regulation of broad, complex transcriptional programs. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α) is a prototypical member of this class of proteins. Initially discovered in a screen comparing white and brown adipose tissue, expression of PGC-1 α has subsequently been documented in all tissues with a high energetic demand, including brain, kidney, skeletal, and cardiac muscle, liver, pancreas, or the retina (Martínez-Redondo et al., 2015). The core function of PGC-1 α likewise controls highly tissue-specific programs, such as hepatic gluconeogenesis or mitochondrial uncoupling in brown adipose tissue. Since the phenotype of global PGC-1 α transgenic and

knockout mice is complex (Lin et al., 2004; Liang et al., 2009), many insights into organ-specific function and regulation of PGC-1a, including those discussed in this review unless otherwise stated, have mostly been obtained from murine tissuespecific gain- and loss-of-function models (Handschin et al., 2005). In skeletal muscle, specific overexpression of PGC-1a at physiological levels is sufficient to induce an endurancetrained phenotype (Lin et al., 2002) while super-physiological overexpression promotes fiber damage and impaired muscle function (Lin et al., 2002; Miura et al., 2006). Inversely, ablation of PGC-1a gene expression in this tissue promotes several typical signs of pathological inactivity, including a local and systemic chronic inflammation (Handschin et al., 2007a,b). A reduction in PGC-1a gene expression in human skeletal muscle has been associated with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, at least in some patient cohorts (Patti et al., 2003). Of note, mice with a heterozygous deletion of PGC-1a in skeletal muscle also exhibit a dysregulation of glucose homeostasis (Handschin et al., 2007b).

PGC-1a integrates the activity of the major signaling pathways that are important in a contracting muscle fiber and accordingly, PGC-1a transcript and protein levels are elevated after a training bout (Pérez-Schindler and Handschin, 2013). As consequence, PGC-1 α then controls the biological program encompassing all plastic changes of the muscle cell to endurance exercise. For example, mice with elevated muscle PGC-1a levels exhibit a higher number of mitochondria, a switch toward oxidative, slow-twitch muscle fiber types, altered substrate synthesis and metabolism, and a reduction in muscle protein breakdown (Handschin, 2010). Importantly, the effects of PGC-1a extend beyond muscle cells: elevation of PGC- 1α in muscle leads to higher tissue vascularization (Arany et al., 2008) and a remodeling of the post- and presynaptic side of the neuromuscular junction (Handschin et al., 2007c; Arnold et al., 2014). Furthermore, PGC-1α-regulated endocrine mediators, members of the so-called myokine protein family, promote beige fat cell differentiation and activation in white adipose tissue or neurogenesis in the hippocampus and thereby dramatically extend the reach of muscle PGC-1a (Schnyder and Handschin, 2015). Surprisingly, while overexpression of PGC-1a is sufficient to induce an endurance-trained muscle phenotype, several aspects of training adaptation seem to be retained even in mice with a global or muscle-specific knockout of this coactivator, respectively (Leick et al., 2008; Rowe et al., 2012). Discrepancies in such studies however indicate that the specific animal model, training type, timing, intensity, and other aspects of the exercise protocol are important for the assessment of the requirement of PGC-1 α in exercise adaptation (Geng et al., 2010). Furthermore, these studies imply a redundant regulation of these evolutionarily extremely important plastic changes in skeletal muscle in which PGC-1a can be partially replaced by other, so far unknown regulators. Thus, in a physiological setting, PGC-1a controls a highly complex transcriptional network that requires spatial and temporal specification, coordination of anabolic and catabolic pathways as well as precise activation and termination. In this mini review, we highlight some of the recent mechanistic findings that contribute to the ability of

 $PGC\mbox{-}1\alpha$ to regulate transcription in such a broad and precise manner.

INTEGRATION OF CONTRACTION-INDUCED SIGNALING PATHWAYS BY PGC-1α IN SKELETAL MUSCLE

Muscle fiber contraction is linked to activation by the motor neuron, mechanical stress, relative tissue physoxia, an altered neuroendocrine milieu, changes in metabolic demand and other stimuli that engage various signaling pathways. All of these signals converge on PGC-1a and promote a transcriptional induction of the gene or induce posttranslational modifications (PTM) of the protein (Figure 1A), including PGC-1a protein phosphorylation by various kinases on different phosphorylation sites, acetylation, methylation, sumoylation, ubiquitination, and acetylglucosamination (Figure 1B; Fernandez-Marcos and Auwerx, 2011). The effects of most of these modifications on PGC-1α function are still poorly understood. Some of the PTMs can alter the stability of the PGC-1a protein or modulate the interaction with transcription factors or other co-regulators. For example, phosphorylation by the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) results in a prolongation of the normally very short half-life of the PGC-1 α protein of \sim 2.5 h (Puigserver et al., 2001), at least in part by preventing ubiquitination of PGC-1a and therefore stabilizing the protein (Olson et al., 2008). The AMP-dependent protein kinase (AMPK) likewise phosphorylates the PGC-1a protein in addition to its positive effect on PGC-1a gene transcription and predominantly triggers catabolic pathways to rectify a relative energy deficit, e.g., in exercise (Jager et al., 2007). Such a temporal specification is extremely important to avoid futile cycles of PGC-1α-controlled anabolic and catabolic pathways, e.g., fatty acid β-oxidation and de novo lipogenesis (Summermatter et al., 2010). Moreover, PTMs could also determine spatial differentiation of PGC-1a function. For example, the interaction between PGC-1 α and the GA-binding protein (GABP, also called nuclear respiratory factor 2 or NRF2) not only requires the presence of host cell factor (HCF) as an additional adaptor protein, but also specific phosphorylation events both on PGC-1a as well as the GABPB1 subunit of the GABP complex (Handschin et al., 2007c). These PTMs can be triggered by motor neuronevoked neuregulin stimulation of the muscle fiber and thereby control a specific transcriptional activation of post-synaptic neuromuscular junction genes by PGC-1a and GABP exclusively in sub-synaptic nuclei (Handschin et al., 2007c). Thus, in addition to the modulation of protein stability, PTMs might alter the activity and stability of PGC-1 α as well as the ability to interact with transcription factors and thereby regulate specific transcriptional programs (Handschin and Spiegelman, 2006). For most modifications of the PGC-1a protein, a "PTM code" (Lonard and O'malley, 2007) that determines transcription factor interaction specificity has not been elucidated. A prototypical example for a PGC-1a PTM code however is provided by the S6 kinase (S6K)-mediated phosphorylation that selectively



Fwb7/Cdc4; SIRT1, sirtuin-1; Su, sumoylation; Sumo1, small ubiquitin related modifier 1; Ubi, ubiquitination; YY1, yin yang 1.

retains the ability of PGC-1 α to boost fatty acid oxidation and mitochondrial function while attenuating its effect on gluconeogenesis in the liver (Lustig et al., 2011). Mechanistically, these PTMs reduce the interaction between PGC-1 α and the hepatic nuclear factor 4 α (HNF4 α), but not co-activation of the estrogen-related receptor α (ERR α) or PPAR α . In addition to binding to transcription factors, PTMs of the PGC-1 α protein can also affect the interaction with other co-regulators. For example, the co-repressors p160 myb binding protein (p160MBP) and receptor interacting protein 140 (RIP140) are recruited to PGC-1 α in a PTM-dependent manner: p160MBP inhibits the ability of PGC-1 α to regulate mitochondrial gene expression in the absence of p38 MAPK-mediated phosphorylation (Fan et al., 2004) while RIP140 associates with and represses sumoylated

PGC-1a (Rytinki and Palvimo, 2009). Other co-repressors reduce PGC-1a activity by competing for binding to transcription factors, for example modulation of ERRa co-activation by the nuclear receptor co-repressor 1 (NCoR1; Pérez-Schindler et al., 2012) or of the glucocorticoid receptor by the small heterodimer partner (SHP; Borgius et al., 2002). PTM-dependent binding events are also observed for co-activators as exemplified by the interaction of PGC-1a with the Mediator 1 (MED1) subunit of the TRAP/DRIP/mediator complex that is disrupted after phosphorylation of PGC-1a by the Cdc2-like kinase 2 (Clk2; Tabata et al., 2014). Ubiguitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation of the PGC-1a protein form a negative feedback loop to ensure timely termination of the PGC-1a response (Sano et al., 2007). This process might be triggered by PGC-1a protein selfaggregation upon reaching a critical threshold (Sano et al., 2007). Thus, PGC-1α serves as recipient of a multitude of PTMs, thereby integrates the activity of the respective signaling pathways and subsequently triggers a transcriptional response that is adapted to the specific cellular context.

REGULATORY AND FUNCTIONAL DIVERSITY BASED ON THE PGC-1α GENE STRUCTURE AND TRANSCRIPT VARIANTS

PGC-1a gene expression is rapidly and robustly increased in response to external stimuli that increase the energy demand such as cold in brown fat, fasting in the liver, or contraction in skeletal muscle (Lin et al., 2005). The cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) and the activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2), both of which bind to cAMP response elements (CRE), are common regulators of PGC-1a transcription in most tissues. In addition, tissue-specific transcription factors provide an additional layer of control, e.g., myocyte enhancer factors 2C/D (MEF2C and -2D) in muscle cells (Pérez-Schindler and Handschin, 2013). A positive autoregulatory loop of MEF2C/D co-activation by PGC-1a on its own promoter furthermore contributes to adequate and controlled induction of PGC-1a transcription in this tissue (Handschin et al., 2003). Intriguingly, this theme of using cross- and autoregulatory loops, thus forming biological switches, is also observed in early downstream target gene regulation, for example in the induction of ERR α and GABPA by PGC-1α (Mootha et al., 2004).

PGC-1 α transcription can be initiated from three start sites on two alternative promoters. Moreover, alternative RNA processing further increases the number of PGC-1 α transcripts and, as a consequence, protein variants (Martínez-Redondo et al., 2015). Even though the regulatory elements of the two promoters have not yet been studied in detail, the proximal promoter seems to provide a more robust basal expression while the distal promoter that is approximately 13 kb upstream exhibits a higher dynamic range in gene expression, at least in skeletal muscle (Martínez-Redondo et al., 2015). It is still unclear whether alternative promoter usage is closely linked to the transcription of PGC-1 α isoforms. Moreover, the functional consequence of the selective expression of most PGC-1 α transcript variants is unknown. Surprisingly however, the PGC-1 α 4 variant seems to regulate a highly distinct transcriptional program with very little overlap compared to that of the other variants (Ruas et al., 2012). PGC-1 α 4 contributes to skeletal muscle adaptation to resistance training and the ensuing fiber hypertrophy (Ruas et al., 2012), at least in certain contexts (Pérez-Schindler et al., 2013), diametrically opposite to the endurance exercise-like phenotype triggered by the other PGC-1 α isoforms. In humans however, some studies questioned an exclusive correlation between PGC-1 α 4 expression and resistance training (Lundberg et al., 2014) warranting further studies. In any case however, the gene structure and transcript processing of PGC-1 α thus provide an additional layer of regulatory and functional specification (Handschin and Spiegelman, 2006).

PGC-1α-CONTROLLED TRANSCRIPTIONAL NETWORK REGULATION ALLOWS CONTEXT-DEPENDENT CONTROL AND SPECIFICATION

Originally, PGC-1a has been discovered as a coactivator of PPARy and was hence named accordingly (Puigserver et al., 1998). It however became clear that PGC-1a not only interacts with this, but also a number of other nuclear receptors and non-nuclear receptor transcription factors. Intriguingly, these interactions are mediated by different structural domains within the PGC-1a protein, with a more N-terminal preference for nuclear receptor co-activation while others, for example MEF2 or forkhead box protein 1 (Foxo1) bind PGC-1a closer to the C-terminus (Lin et al., 2005). Therefore, the functional specificity of PGC-1a isoforms that lack certain domains of the full-length protein could stem from the specific ablation and enhancement of binding to transcription factor partners (Handschin and Spiegelman, 2006; Martínez-Redondo et al., 2015). Despite the identification of various interaction partners, PGC-1 α seems to have a special relationship with ERR α , at least in the regulation of mitochondrial genes (Mootha et al., 2004). ERRa is an orphan nuclear receptor that is mainly activated by co-activator binding in a ligand-independent manner (Kallen et al., 2004). Moreover, PGC-1a rapidly induces the transcription of ERRα as an early response target gene (Mootha et al., 2004). It thus is not surprising that pharmacological inhibition of the interaction between PGC-1a and ERRa or knockdown of ERRa has a potent effect on many PGC-1a target genes in muscle cells (Mootha et al., 2004; Schreiber et al., 2004). A global analysis of PGC-1a recruitment to regulatory elements in the mouse genome combined with an expression analysis however revealed a so-far largely underestimated number of putative transcription factor partners beyond ERRa to be involved in PGC-1α-mediated target gene regulation in muscle cells (Baresic et al., 2014). Furthermore, transcription factor motif activity response analysis not only predicts ERRa to be involved in the regulation of primary, but also secondary PGC-1a target genes, thus both in the co-activated state but also working without PGC- 1α in this context. These data indicate a much higher complexity of transcription factor engagement by PGC-1a than previously

suggested. Second, the combination of PGC-1a ChIPseq and gene expression data revealed that of the high number of PGC- 1α repressed genes, only a small minority, ~5%, have a PGC- 1α DNA recruitment peak within a distance of ± 10 kb of their promoter. Accordingly, the findings imply that the effect of PGC- 1α on gene repression is predominantly indirect and that PGC- 1α lacks an intrinsic inhibitory function (Baresic et al., 2014). While a systematic analysis of gene repression by PGC-1a remains to be done, PGC-1a-dependent reduction of the activating phosphorylation of the p65 subunit of the nuclear factor KB (NF- κ B; Eisele et al., 2013) could account for at least some of the indirect inhibitory effect of PGC-1a on pro-inflammatory muscle gene expression (Eisele and Handschin, 2014). Third, this systematic study revealed novel insights into the mechanisms that ensure functional redundancy and complementation of PGC-1amediated transcriptional control. Principal component analysis of the transcription factor binding motifs within the regions of PGC-1a DNA recruitment implied an important role for the activator protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factor complex in PGC-1α-controlled gene expression (Baresic et al., 2014). AP-1 is a well-studied stress response gene in various cellular contexts, but has so far never been associated with PGC-1a function in muscle. Interestingly, the group of direct targets for AP-1 and PGC-1a was significantly enriched in genes associated with the cellular response to hypoxia, including several regulators of vascularization. This regulation complements the previously discovered control of the expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by PGC-1a and ERRa (Arany et al., 2008). These findings imply that this seemingly redundant usage of different transcription factors to regulate the same biological program ensures adequate regulation of this critical process. Alternatively, the ability of PGC-1a to enhance the transcriptional activity of different partners might also indicate that PGC-1a is able to regulate the respective target genes in different cellular contexts, e.g., by binding to ERRa in a metabolically stressed muscle cell and acting together with AP-1 upon reduced physoxic conditions (Figure 2). Exercise triggers a hypoxic response including an activation of the hypoxiainducible factor-1 (HIF-1) in muscle cells by a lowering of the relative tissue oxygen availability due to a dysbalance between oxygen consumption and supply, exacerbated by contractionmediated constriction of blood vessels (Lindholm and Rundqvist, 2015). Together, the current data highlight the vast complexity of diverse mechanisms by which PGC-1a exerts a pleiotropic response in muscle cells.

CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

In essence, PGC-1 α is a protein docking platform that on one side is recruited to transcription factors bound to their target gene promoters and enhancers, and on the other side interacts with components of the histone acetyltransferase (Puigserver et al., 1999), TRAP/DRIP/mediator (Wallberg et al., 2003), and SWI/SNF (Li et al., 2008) co-regulator protein complexes. Thereby, PGC-1 α greatly boosts transcription even though PGC-1 α lacks any discernable intrinsic enzymatic activity. Despite this ostensible simplicity in function, PGC-1 α can



control highly complex transcriptional programs in various tissues with a significant impact on organ plasticity. The ability of PGC-1a to integrate different signaling pathways through a multitude of PTMs, selective activation of alternative promoters and expression of transcript variants could provide a mechanistic explanation for the key regulatory function of PGC-1 α in the regulation of tissue phenotypes. However, more studies will be required to obtain a better understanding and overview on the different aspects of the regulation of a coactivator-controlled transcriptional network, which not only is of high interest to understand the basic biology, but could also have a significant clinical impact. In a physiological and pathophysiological context, elevation of PGC-1a in muscle promotes a high endurance phenotype and ameliorates various muscle diseases with different etiologies, including Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Handschin et al., 2007c), denervationinduced fiber atrophy (Sandri et al., 2006), or sarcopenia (Wenz et al., 2014), respectively. To date, it is not clear which functions of muscle PGC-1 α are responsible for such a broad therapeutic effect (Handschin, 2009). Similarly, pharmacological agents that robustly, specifically and safely elevate PGC-1a in skeletal muscle in the desired therapeutic window remain elusive (Svensson and Handschin, 2014). Finally, based on studies with musclespecific PGC-1a transgenic animals that have an accelerated development of insulin resistance on a high fat diet (Choi et al., 2008), which can only be rectified by bona fide physical activity (Summermatter et al., 2013), the application of socalled "exercise mimetics," compounds that elicit exercise-like effects in muscle and other tissues, might be problematic. Therefore, to design partial exercise mimetics or new compounds that specifically activate certain functions of PGC-1a, better knowledge about upstream regulators and downstream effects on the transcriptional network are needed. In particular, even though a strong correlation between muscle PGC-1α expression, exercise, and diseases states has been repeatedly documented in

REFERENCES

- Arany, Z., Foo, S. Y., Ma, Y. H., Ruas, J. L., Bommi-Reddy, A., Girnun, G., et al. (2008). HIF-independent regulation of VEGF and angiogenesis by the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1 alpha. *Nature* 451, 1008–1012. doi: 10.1038/nature06613
- Arnold, A. S., Gill, J., Christe, M., Ruiz, R., McGuirk, S., St-Pierre, J., et al. (2014). Morphological and functional remodelling of the neuromuscular junction by skeletal muscle PGC-1alpha. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3569. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4569
- Baresic, M., Salatino, S., Kupr, B., van Nimwegen, E., and Handschin, C. (2014). Transcriptional network analysis in muscle reveals ap-1 as a partner of PGC-1 alpha in the regulation of the hypoxic gene program. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 34, 2996–3012. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01710-13
- Borgius, L. J., Steffensen, K. R., Gustafsson, J. A., and Treuter, E. (2002). Glucocorticoid signaling is perturbed by the atypical orphan receptor and corepressor SHP. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 49761–49766. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205641200
- Choi, C. S., Befroy, D. E., Codella, R., Kim, S., Reznick, R. M., Hwang, Y. J., et al. (2008). Paradoxical effects of increased expression of PGC-1alpha on muscle mitochondrial function and insulin-stimulated muscle glucose metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 19926–19931. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810339105
- Dasgupta, S., Lonard, D. M., and O'Malley, B. W. (2014). Nuclear receptor coactivators: master regulators of human health and disease. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 65, 279–292. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-051812-145316
- Eisele, P. S., and Handschin, C. (2014). Functional crosstalk of PGC-1 coactivators and inflammation in skeletal muscle pathophysiology. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 36, 27–53. doi: 10.1007/s00281-013-0406-4
- Eisele, P. S., Salatino, S., Sobek, J., Hottiger, M. O., and Handschin, C. (2013). The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator lalpha/beta (PGC-1) coactivators repress the transcriptional activity of NF-kappaB in skeletal muscle cells. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 2246–2260. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.375253
- Fan, M., Rhee, J., St-Pierre, J., Handschin, C., Puigserver, P., Lin, J., et al. (2004). Suppression of mitochondrial respiration through recruitment of p160 myb binding protein to PGC-1alpha: modulation by p38 MAPK. *Genes Dev.* 18, 278–289. doi: 10.1101/gad.1152204
- Fernandez-Marcos, P. J., and Auwerx, J. (2011). Regulation of PGC-1alpha, a nodal regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 93, 884S-890S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.001917
- Geng, T., Li, P., Okutsu, M., Yin, X., Kwek, J., Zhang, M., et al. (2010). PGClalpha plays a functional role in exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis and angiogenesis but not fiber-type transformation in mouse skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 298, C572–C579. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.0048 1.2009

humans (e.g., see Silvennoinen et al., 2015), information about the regulation and function of human muscle PGC-1 α so far remains largely descriptive. Until further insights are obtained, physical activity thus remains a cheap and effective way for the prevention and treatment of many chronic diseases (Handschin and Spiegelman, 2008), at least in exercise-tolerant patients.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Svenia Schnyder for critical comments on the manuscript. Work in our lab is supported by the ERC Consolidator grant 616830-MUSCLE_NET, the Swiss National Science Foundation, SystemsX.ch, the Swiss Society for Research on Muscle Diseases (SSEM), the "Novartis Stiftung für medizinisch-biologische Forschung," the University of Basel and the Biozentrum. BK is supported by the Biozentrum Basel International PhD Program "Fellowships for Excellence."

- Handschin, C. (2009). The biology of PGC-1alpha and its therapeutic potential. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 30, 322–329. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2009.03.006
- Handschin, C. (2010). Regulation of skeletal muscle cell plasticity by the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1alpha. J. Recept. Signal Transduct. Res. 30, 376–384. doi: 10.3109/10799891003641074
- Handschin, C., Chin, S., Li, P., Liu, F., Maratos-Flier, E., Lebrasseur, N. K., et al. (2007a). Skeletal muscle fiber-type switching, exercise intolerance, and myopathy in PGC-1 alpha muscle-specific knock-out animals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 30014–30021. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704817200
- Handschin, C., Choi, C. S., Chin, S., Kim, S., Kawamori, D., Kurpad, A. J., et al. (2007b). Abnormal glucose homeostasis in skeletal muscle-specific PGC-1 alpha knockout mice reveals skeletal muscle-pancreatic beta cell crosstalk. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 3463–3474. doi: 10.1172/JCI31785
- Handschin, C., Kobayashi, Y. M., Chin, S., Seale, P., Campbell, K. P., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2007c). PGC-1 alpha regulates the neuromuscular junction program and ameliorates Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Genes Dev.* 21, 770–783. doi: 10.1101/gad.1525107
- Handschin, C., Lin, J., Rhee, J., Peyer, A. K., Chin, S., Wu, P. H., et al. (2005). Nutritional regulation of hepatic heme biosynthesis and porphyria through PGC-1alpha. *Cell* 122, 505–515. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.06.040
- Handschin, C., Rhee, J., Lin, J., Tarr, P. T., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2003). An autoregulatory loop controls peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1alpha expression in muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 7111–7116. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1232352100
- Handschin, C., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2006). Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1 coactivators, energy hemeostasis, and metabolism. *Endocr. Rev.* 27, 728–735. doi: 10.1210/er.2006-0037
- Handschin, C., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2008). The role of exercise and PGC1 alpha in inflammation and chronic disease. *Nature* 454, 463–469. doi: 10.1038/nature07206
- Jager, S., Handschin, C., Pierre, J., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2007). AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1 alpha. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 12017–12022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705070104
- Kallen, J., Schlaeppi, J. M., Bitsch, F., Filipuzzi, I., Schilb, A., Riou, V., et al. (2004). Evidence for ligand-independent transcriptional activation of the human estrogen-related receptor alpha (ERRalpha): crystal structure of ERRalpha ligand binding domain in complex with peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor coactivator-1alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 49330–49337. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M407999200
- Leick, L., Wojtaszewski, J. F., Johansen, S. T., Kiilerich, K., Comes, G., Hellsten, Y., et al. (2008). PGC-1alpha is not mandatory for exercise- and training-induced adaptive gene responses in mouse skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 294, E463–E474. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00666.2007

- Li, S., Liu, C., Li, N., Hao, T., Han, T., Hill, D. E., et al. (2008). Genomewide coactivation analysis of PGC-1alpha identifies BAF60a as a regulator of hepatic lipid metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 8, 105–117. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008. 06.013
- Liang, H., Balas, B., Tantiwong, P., Dube, J., Goodpaster, B. H., O'Doherty, R. M., et al. (2009). Whole body overexpression of PGC-1alpha has opposite effects on hepatic and muscle insulin sensitivity. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 296, E945–E954. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90292.2008
- Lin, J., Handschin, C., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2005). Metabolic control through the PGC-1 family of transcription coactivators. *Cell Metab.* 1, 361–370. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.05.004
- Lin, J., Wu, H., Tarr, P. T., Zhang, C. Y., Wu, Z., Boss, O., et al. (2002). Transcriptional co-activator PGC-1 alpha drives the formation of slow-twitch muscle fibres. *Nature* 418, 797–801. doi: 10.1038/nature00904
- Lin, J., Wu, P. H., Tarr, P. T., Lindenberg, K. S., St-Pierre, J., Zhang, C. Y., et al. (2004). Defects in adaptive energy metabolism with CNS-linked hyperactivity in PGC-1alpha null mice. *Cell* 119, 121–135. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.09.013
- Lindholm, M. E., and Rundqvist, H. (2015). Skeletal muscle HIF-1 and exercise. *Exp. Physiol.* doi: 10.1113/EP085318. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lonard, D. M., and O'malley, B. W. (2007). Nuclear receptor coregulators: judges, juries, and executioners of cellular regulation. *Mol. Cell* 27, 691–700. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2007.08.012
- Lundberg, T. R., Fernandez-Gonzalo, R., Norrbom, J., Fischer, H., Tesch, P. A., and Gustafsson, T. (2014). Truncated splice variant PGC-1alpha4 is not associated with exercise-induced human muscle hypertrophy. *Acta Physiol.* 212, 142–151. doi: 10.1111/apha.12310
- Lustig, Y., Ruas, J. L., Estall, J. L., Lo, J. C., Devarakonda, S., Laznik, D., et al. (2011). Separation of the gluconeogenic and mitochondrial functions of PGC-1 alpha through S6 kinase. *Genes Dev.* 25, 1232–1244. doi: 10.1101/gad.2054711
- Martínez-Redondo, V., Pettersson, A. T., and Ruas, J. L. (2015). The hitchhiker's guide to PGC-1alpha isoform structure and biological functions. *Diabetologia* 58, 1969–1977. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3671-z
- Miura, S., Tomitsuka, E., Kamei, Y., Yamazaki, T., Kai, Y., Tamura, M., et al. (2006). Overexpression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma co-activator-lalpha leads to muscle atrophy with depletion of ATP. Am. J. Pathol. 169, 1129–1139. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.060034
- Mootha, V. K., Handschin, C., Arlow, D., Xie, X., St Pierre, J., Sihag, S., et al. (2004). Erralpha and Gabpa/b specify PGC-1alpha-dependent oxidative phosphorylation gene expression that is altered in diabetic muscle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 6570–6575. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401401101
- Mouchiroud, L., Eichner, L. J., Shaw, R. J., and Auwerx, J. (2014). Transcriptional coregulators: fine-tuning metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 20, 26–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.03.027
- Olson, B. L., Hock, M. B., Ekholm-Reed, S., Wohlschlegel, J. A., Dev, K. K., Kralli, A., et al. (2008). SCFCdc4 acts antagonistically to the PGC-1alpha transcriptional coactivator by targeting it for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis. *Genes Dev.* 22, 252–264. doi: 10.1101/gad.1624208
- Patti, M. E., Butte, A. J., Crunkhorn, S., Cusi, K., Berria, R., Kashyap, S., et al. (2003). Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: potential role of PGC1 and NRF1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 8466–8471. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1032913100
- Pérez-Schindler, J., and Handschin, C. (2013). New insights in the regulation of skeletal muscle PGC-1α by exercise and metabolic diseases. *Drug Discov. Today Dis. Models* 10, e79–e85. doi: 10.1016/j.ddmod.2012.12.002
- Pérez-Schindler, J., Summermatter, S., Salatino, S., Zorzato, F., Beer, M., Balwierz, P. J., et al. (2012). The corepressor NCoR1 antagonizes PGClalpha and estrogen-related receptor alpha in the regulation of skeletal muscle function and oxidative metabolism. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 32, 4913–4924. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00877-12
- Pérez-Schindler, J., Summermatter, S., Santos, G., Zorzato, F., and Handschin, C. (2013). The transcriptional coactivator PGC-1 alpha is dispensable for chronic overload-induced skeletal muscle hypertrophy and metabolic remodeling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 20314–20319. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1312039110
- Puigserver, P., Adelmant, C., Wu, Z. D., Fan, M., Xu, J. M., O'malley, B., et al. (1999). Activation of PPAR gamma coactivator-1 through transcription factor docking. *Science* 286, 1368–1371. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5443.1368
- Puigserver, P., Rhee, J., Lin, J. D., Wu, Z. D., Yoon, J. C., Zhang, C. Y., et al. (2001). Cytokine stimulation of energy expenditure through p38 MAP

kinase activation of PPAR gamma coactivator-1. *Mol. Cell* 8, 971–982. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00390-2

- Puigserver, P., Wu, Z., Park, C. W., Graves, R., Wright, M., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1998). A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. *Cell* 92, 829–839.
- Rowe, G. C., El-Khoury, R., Patten, I. S., Rustin, P., and Arany, Z. (2012). PGClalpha is dispensable for exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle. *PLoS ONE* 7:e41817. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041817
- Ruas, J. L., White, J. P., Rao, R. R., Kleiner, S., Brannan, K. T., Harrison, B. C., et al. (2012). A PGC-1 alpha isoform induced by resistance training regulates skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Cell* 151, 1319–1331. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.10.050
- Rytinki, M. M., and Palvimo, J. J. (2009). SUMOylation attenuates the function of PGC-1alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 26184–26193. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.038943
- Sandri, M., Lin, J. D., Handschin, C., Yang, W. L., Arany, Z. P., Lecker, S. H., et al. (2006). PGC-1 alpha a protects skeletal muscle from atrophy by suppressing Fox03 action and atrophy-specific gene transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 103, 16260–16265. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607795103
- Sano, M., Tokudome, S., Shimizu, N., Yoshikawa, N., Ogawa, C., Shirakawa, K., et al. (2007). Intramolecular control of protein stability, subnuclear compartmentalization, and coactivator function of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 25970–25980. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703634200
- Schnyder, S., and Handschin, C. (2015). Skeletal muscle as an endocrine organ: PGC-1α, myokines and exercise. *Bone* 80, 115–125. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2015.02.008
- Schreiber, S. N., Emter, R., Hock, M. B., Knutti, D., Cardenas, J., Podvinec, M., et al. (2004). The estrogen-related receptor alpha (ERRalpha) functions in PPARgamma coactivator 1alpha (PGC-1alpha)-induced mitochondrial biogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 6472–6477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308686101
- Silvennoinen, M., Ahtiainen, J. P., Hulmi, J. J., Pekkala, S., Taipale, R. S., Nindl, B. C., et al. (2015). PGC-1 isoforms and their target genes are expressed differently in human skeletal muscle following resistance and endurance exercise. *Physiol. Rep.* 3:e12563. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12563
- Summermatter, S., Baum, O., Santos, G., Hoppeler, H., and Handschin, C. (2010). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha (PGC-1 alpha) promotes skeletal muscle lipid refueling *in vivo* by activating de novo lipogenesis and the pentose phosphate pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 32793–32800. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.145995
- Summermatter, S., Shui, G. H., Maag, D., Santos, G., Wenk, M. R., and Handschin, C. (2013). PGC-1 alpha improves glucose homeostasis in skeletal muscle in an activity-dependent manner. *Diabetes* 62, 85–95. doi: 10.2337/db12-0291
- Svensson, K., and Handschin, C. (2014). Modulation of PGC-1alpha activity as a treatment for metabolic and muscle-related diseases. *Drug Discov. Today* 19, 1024–1029. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2014.02.013
- Tabata, M., Rodgers, J. T., Hall, J. A., Lee, Y., Jedrychowski, M. P., Gygi, S. P., et al. (2014). Cdc2-like kinase 2 suppresses hepatic fatty acid oxidation and ketogenesis through disruption of the PGC-1alpha and MED1 complex. *Diabetes* 63, 1519–1532. doi: 10.2337/db13-1304
- Wallberg, A. E., Yamamura, S., Malik, S., Spiegelman, B. M., and Roeder, R. G. (2003). Coordination of p300-mediated chromatin remodeling and TRAP/mediator function through coactivator PGC-1alpha. *Mol. Cell* 12, 1137–1149. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00391-5
- Wenz, T., Rossi, S. G., Rotundo, R. L., Spiegelman, B. M., and Moraes, C. T. (2014). Increased muscle PGC-1 alpha expression protects from sarcopenia and metabolic disease during aging (vol 106, pg 20405, 2009). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 15851–15851. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1419095111

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Kupr and Handschin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Regulation of skeletal muscle mitochondrial activity by thyroid hormones: focus on the "old" triiodothyronine and the "emerging" 3,5-diiodothyronine

Assunta Lombardi^{1*†}, Maria Moreno^{2†}, Pieter de Lange³, Susanna lossa¹, Rosa A. Busiello² and Fernando Goglia^{2*}

¹ Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, ² Department of Science and Technology, University of Sannio, Benevento, Italy, ³ Department of Environmental, Biological and Pharmaceutical Sciences and Technologies, Second University of Naples, Caserta, Italy

3,5,3'-Triiodo-L-thyronine (T3) plays a crucial role in regulating metabolic rate and fuel oxidation; however, the mechanisms by which it affects whole-body energy metabolism are still not completely understood. Skeletal muscle (SKM) plays a relevant role in energy metabolism and responds to thyroid state by remodeling the metabolic characteristics and cytoarchitecture of myocytes. These processes are coordinated with changes in mitochondrial content, bioenergetics, substrate oxidation rate, and oxidative phosphorylation efficiency. Recent data indicate that "emerging" iodothyronines have biological activity. Among these, 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine (T2) affects energy metabolism, SKM substrate utilization, and mitochondrial functionality. The effects it exerts on SKM mitochondria involve more aspects of mitochondrial bioenergetics; among these, respiratory chain activity, mitochondrial thermogenesis, and lipid-handling are stimulated rapidly. This mini review focuses on signaling and biochemical pathways activated by T3 and T2 in SKM that influence the above processes. These novel aspects of thyroid physiology could reveal new perspectives for understanding the involvement of SKM mitochondria in hypo- and hyper-thyroidism.

Keywords: mitochondria, lipid metabolism, uncoupling, thyroid hormones, diiodothyronines

Introduction

Skeletal muscle (SKM) is a metabolically active tissue representing about 40% of total body mass. It significantly affects energy expenditure and plays a significant role in glucose, lipid, and energy homeostasis. SKM shows a remarkable plasticity in functional adaptation and remodeling in response to physiological stimuli, such as exercise, fasting, and hormonal signals. Among the hormones able to influence SKM development, metabolism, and structure, thyroid hormone (T3) plays a key role (Salvatore et al., 2014). SKM responds to variations in thyroid state by coordinately remodeling its cytoarchitecture and metabolic characteristics, with mitochondria playing a significant role. Concerning metabolic adaptations, T3 enhances the use of lipids and carbohydrates as fuel substrates (de Lange et al., 2008; Lombardi et al., 2012), as well as alteration of mitochondrial number and functionality.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gilles Gouspillou, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Ann Marie Zavacki, Brigham and Women's Hospital, USA Damien Roussel, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, France

*Correspondence:

Assunta Lombardi, Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Via Cinthia Complesso Universitario MSA (Edificio 7), 80126 Naples, Italy assunta.lombardi@unina.it; Fernando Goglia, Department of Science and Technology, University of Sannio, Via Port'Arsa 11, 82100 Benevento, Italy goglia@unisannio.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Striated Muscle Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 26 June 2015 Accepted: 07 August 2015 Published: 21 August 2015

Citation:

Lombardi A, Moreno M, de Lange P, lossa S, Busiello RA and Goglia F (2015) Regulation of skeletal muscle mitochondrial activity by thyroid hormones: focus on the "old" triiodothyronine and the "emerging" 3,5-diiodothyronine. Front. Physiol. 6:237. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00237 Growing evidence indicates 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine (T2) as a biologically active thyroid hormone derivative able to affect energy metabolism (Goglia, 2015 and references within). T2 increases resting metabolic rate, enhances lipid utilization as a fuel substrate, and prevents the occurrence of dietinduced obesity and associated diseases, including liver steatosis, hypertriglyceridemia, hypercholesterolemia (Lanni et al., 2005; de Lange et al., 2011), and insulin resistance (de Lange et al., 2011; Moreno et al., 2011). In SKM, T2 ameliorates the tissue's response to insulin that is impaired by a high fat diet (Moreno et al., 2011). Importantly, previous studies have shown that, contrary to T3, T2 does not induce thyrotoxicity or undesirable side effects at the cardiovascular level at the doses used (25 μ g/100 g rat body weight, Lanni et al., 2005; de Lange et al., 2011).

The present mini review provides an overview of the involvement of SKM mitochondria in T3 and/or T2 effects exerted on modulation of SKM metabolism/plasticity. In particular, it focuses on signaling and biochemical pathways activated by the two iodothyronines in SKM, promoting variations in substrate metabolism, lipid handling, and thermogenesis at the mitochondrial level.

Effect of Thyroid Hormones on SKM Mitochondrial Biogenesis

T3 influences mitochondrial activity and biogenesis by modulating, in a coordinate fashion, expression of proteins encoded by both the nuclear and mitochondrial genome.

Nuclear Events

T3 acts through nuclear receptors (TRs), namely TR α and TR β , ligand-dependent transcription factors that are constitutively bound to thyroid hormone response elements (TREs). The binding of T3 to TRs leads to stimulation or inhibition of nuclear gene transcription (Brent, 2012). T3 regulates the transcription of a series of genes harboring TREs (direct T3 target genes), some of which serve as intermediate factors (e.g., transcriptional factors and coactivators) needed to regulate a second series of genes (indirect T3 target genes). In SKM, T3-modulated transcription is primarily mediated by the TRa1 isoform and involves a wide array of genes influencing SKM contractile and metabolic properties, as well as those coding components of the tricarboxylic acid cycle and mitochondrial respiratory chain (Wiesner et al., 1992; Short et al., 2001; Clement et al., 2002). In SKM, T3 also influences the transcription of genes controlling mRNA maturation and protein translation. Indeed, T3 upregulates transcripts encoding ribunucleoproteins and splicing factors as well as ribosomal proteins and translation initiation factors (eIF1A, Clement et al., 2002).

T3 positively regulates the expression of intermediate factors, such as nuclear respiratory factors (NRF)-1 and -2, which enhance the expression of mitochondrial transcription factor-A, a nuclear-encoded transcription factor essential for replication, maintenance, and transcription of mitochondrial DNA. T3 also controls the expression of coactivator of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) PGC-1 α (Weitzel et al., 2001), a central regulator of mitochondrial gene expression and biogenesis (Puigserver, 2005). PGC-1α regulates gene expression through its interactions with DNA-bound transcription factors, including TR, PPAR, and NRF-1 (Knutti and Kralli, 2001, Figure 1).

In rats, the effect induced by T3 on mitochondrial content and activity is amplified in slow oxidative compared to fast glycolytic muscles (Bahi et al., 2005). This could be explained by higher expression of TR α 1 and PGC1 α observed in slow oxidative muscle (Garnier et al., 2003; Bahi et al., 2005) associated with opposite regulation of TR α transcription by T3 in the two distinct muscle types (activation in slow oxidative and reduction in fast glycolytic muscle). Conversely, in humans, T3 does not influence NRF-1 or PGC1 α levels in SKM (Barbe et al., 2001). Thus, the effect of T3 on SKM mitochondrial biogenesis seems to be species-specific and dependent on SKM metabolism.

In SKM, AMP-activated kinase (AMPK) regulates the expression of genes related to mitochondrial biogenesis, energy production, and oxidative protection. AMPK phosphorylates and activates PGC1 α (Jäger et al., 2007; Cantó et al., 2009), and both chronic and acute administration of T3 to euthyroid (Irrcher et al., 2008) and hypothyroid rats (Branvold et al., 2008; de Lange et al., 2008) induces AMPK activation, a putative mediator of the effect of T3 on SKM mitochondrial biogenesis (**Figure 1**).

Mitochondrial Events

Mitochondrial gene expression is also directly activated by T3 through its binding to mitochondrial matrix-localized specific receptors (p43). p43 is a truncated form of TRa1 and is synthesized by the use of an internal initiation site of translation (Wrutniak et al., 1995; Wrutniak-Cabello et al., 2001). The T3-p43 complex binds to TREs of the mitochondrial genome and induces transcription (Casas et al., 1999) in parallel to the transcription of nuclear genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation, thus ensuring complementary signaling between nuclear and mitochondrial pathways (Figure 1). p43 regulates SKM phenotypes, contractile features, and metabolism. In mice, p43 deletion leads to muscle hypertrophy and a shift in the direction of more rapid muscle fiber types coordinated with a reduction in mitochondrial content (Pessemesse et al., 2012). p43 overexpression leads to muscle wasting with aging (Casas et al., 2009), suggesting a possible oxidative stress-associated toxic effect due to prolonged stimulation of mitochondrial activity, leading to a deficit of new skeletal muscle fiber replacement and differentiation over time.

P28 is another truncated form of TR- α 1 that is localized in the inner mitochondrial membrane and shows a binding affinity for T3 higher than nuclear receptors. Despite it has been shown that p28 regulates mitochondrial functionality in fibroblast, its specific function has not been elucidated yet (Pessemesse et al., 2014).

Effect of T2 on Mitochondrial Biogenesis

Studies supporting the possibility of T2's effects on mitochondrial biogenesis have been focused on liver and brown adipose tissue (de Lange et al., 2011; Lombardi et al., 2015). In SKM, it is possible that activation of AMPK by T2 (Lombardi et al., 2009a) could trigger transcriptional processes leading to mitochondrial



biogenesis (see above). Direct evidence regarding the ability of T2 to influence mitochondrial biogenesis in SKM is currently lacking and this aspect needs further investigation.

Whether or not the effects of T2 are mediated by TRs is still under investigation. A recent study in mice showed that T2 evokes TR-mediated effects only when administered at very high doses ($250 \mu g/100 g$ bw administered daily for 4 week, Jonas et al., 2015). When used at high doses an interaction of T2 with TRs could take place despite the much lower affinity of T2 for TRs when compared to T3 (Ball et al., 1997; Cioffi et al., 2010; de Lange et al., 2011; Mendoza et al., 2013). Interestingly, in a teleost fish species (Tilapia) T2 interacts with a TR β receptor isoform and activates gene transcription *ex vivo* in a cell- and promoter-specific manner (Mendoza et al., 2013). Thus, further experiments are needed to elucidate whether and how T2 can modulate gene transcription.

Thyroid Hormones Influence SKM Mitochondrial Functionality and Thermogenesis

Mitochondrial functionality is profoundly affected by thyroid state. In SKM, in the transition between hypo- and hyperthyroidism, a progressive increase in mitochondrial substrate oxidation is detected regardless of substrate [i.e., glycolytic(Venditti et al., 2003, 2007) or lipid-associated substrates (Silvestri et al., 2005; Lombardi et al., 2012)].

Mitochondrial Uncoupling

Mitochondrial respiration is not fully coupled to ATP synthesis since part of the energy contained in the reduced substrate is lost as heat. Most of the uncoupling is due to a leak of protons across the mitochondrial inner membrane (proton-leak); a failure in proton pumping during electron transport (redox slip) also induces mitochondrial uncoupling. In SKM, protonleak accounts for a significant portion of the cellular metabolic rate, either when muscle is at rest (Rolfe and Brand, 1996) or in the contracting state (Rolfe et al., 1999). Proton-leak is the sum of two processes: basal and inducible proton-leak (Brand and Esteves, 2005). Basal proton-leak is not acutely regulated. It depends on the fatty-acyl composition of the mitochondrial inner membrane and on the presence of adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT). Inducible proton-leak is acutely controlled by activation of specific proteins, with uncoupling protein (UCP3 in SKM) and ANT (ANT1 in SKM) playing a crucial role (Divakaruni and Brand, 2011).

T3 Induces SKM Mitochondrial Uncoupling

SKM mitochondrial uncoupling induced by T3 has been reported *in vivo* (Lebon et al., 2001) and *ex vivo* (Lanni et al., 1999; de Lange et al., 2001; Lombardi et al., 2002, 2012). Interestingly,

despite uncoupling activation by T3, no variation or increase in SKM ATP levels takes place (Jucker et al., 2000; Lebon et al., 2001; Short et al., 2001). The uncoupling associated with T3-induced mitochondrial biogenesis could counteract possible ATP variations. In addition, an increase in the ability of SKM mitochondria to produce ATP could also take place, as already observed in liver (Harper and Brand, 1993; Nogueira et al., 2002).

The existence of a positive correlation between T3 and SKM mitochondrial proton-leak is also evident during aging. In fact, aging is associated with a decrease in circulating T3 that is evident in 24 month-old rats (Iossa et al., 2002; Silvestri et al., 2008; Valle et al., 2008); therefore, aging represents a condition of physiological hypothyroidism. Concomitantly, SKM mitochondria from old rats exhibited a significant decrease in proton-leak (Lombardi et al., 2009a; Crescenzo et al., 2014), suggesting that with increasing age, the efficiency of oxidative phosphorylation increases in SKM mitochondria. Similar results have been obtained in vivo in aged rat SKM, where a trend of higher coupling efficiency was found (Gouspillou et al., 2014). When mitochondria are more efficient, fewer substrates are oxidized to obtain ATP. Therefore, increased mitochondrial coupling in SKM could contribute to the decreased energy expenditure that characterizes the progression of aging and hypothyroidism since SKM energy metabolism accounts for about 30% of whole-body energy expenditure under resting conditions (Rolfe and Brown, 1997).

Factors Involved in T3 Induced- SKM Mitochondrial Uncoupling

T3 affects both basal (Lombardi et al., 2012) and inducible SKM proton-leak (Lanni et al., 1999; Silvestri et al., 2005; Lombardi et al., 2012), with UCP3 and ANT being involved in the effects on free fatty acid (FA)-inducible proton-leak (Figure 2). In the transition between hypo- and hyper-thyroidism, the contribution of ANT to FA-induced uncoupling becomes progressively more relevant despite there being no variation in ANT-1 mRNA levels detected (Dümmler et al., 1996; Lombardi et al., 2002). This could be attributed to the gradual increase in mitochondrial SKM FA levels (Lombardi et al., 2002), known activators of ANT-mediated uncoupling (Skulachev, 1991). Concerning UCP3, T3 increases its transcription (Lanni et al., 1999; Barbe et al., 2001), the effect being observed within 8h of T3 administration to hypothyroid rats (de Lange et al., 2001, 2007). The mechanism of UCP3 promoter stimulation by T3 seems to be species-specific since it involves FA and their target receptors (PPAR\delta) in humans and rats but not mice (de Lange et al., 2007).

Besides regulating UCP3 expression, T3 also promotes UCP3mediated uncoupling by synergistically stimulating biochemical pathways underlying activation of this protein (Silvestri et al., 2005). Indeed, T3 enhances reactive oxygen species formation (Venditti et al., 2003, 2007; Silvestri et al., 2005) and mitochondrial FA availability (Lombardi et al., 2002; Silvestri et al., 2005) that have been shown to act in combination to induce UCP3-mediated uncoupling (Echtay et al., 2002; Lombardi et al., 2008, 2010). A single administration of T3 to hypothyroid rats induces parallel increases in (i) whole animal resting metabolic rate, (ii) SKM mitochondrial UCP3 content, and (iii) SKM mitochondrial uncoupling, thus indicating the importance of UCP3 in the regulation of rat resting metabolic rate by T3 (de Lange et al., 2001; Flandin et al., 2009). UCP3 is also involved in mitigation of reactive oxygen species production (Brand and Esteves, 2005) and counteracting lipotoxicity induced by accumulation of FA and lipid hydroperoxides in the mitochondrial matrix (Goglia and Skulachev, 2005; Schrauwen et al., 2006; Lombardi et al., 2010). Thus, the upregulation of UCP3 by T3 would alleviate mitochondrial damage resulting from chronic mitochondrial activation associated with hyperthyroidism.

3,5-T2 Affects Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation in SKM

The administration of T2 to hypothyroid rats rapidly enhances both coupled and uncoupled respiration with mechanisms that are independent of de novo transcription and translation (Lombardi et al., 2007). Indeed, T2 promotes activation of the kinetics of the reactions involved in the oxidation of substrates (among these respiratory chain), while not primarily influencing reactions involved in the synthesis and export of ATP (Lombardi et al., 2007, **Figure 2**).

The mechanism by which T2 affects uncoupled mitochondrial respiration mainly involves proton leak, since T2 does not affect redox slip nor induce any significant change in the overall respiratory chain H⁺/O ratio (Lombardi et al., 2007). Contrary to what is observed for T3, T2 does not activate basal proton-leak, rather its effect is totally dependent on FA presence (Lombardi et al., 2009a, 2012). Although, it is clear that T2 promotes FA-inducible proton-leak, the molecular component involved have not been individuated yet (**Figure 2**).

Thyroid Hormones Influence SKM Mitochondrial Lipid Handling

Alterations in thyroid state are associated with changes in energy demand, with SKM adapting its metabolism by modulating substrate utilization. In the hypothyroid state, SKM enhances FA import into myocytes, a process associated with a decrease in the ability of mitochondria to use FA as fuel and enhancement of oxidative phosphorylation efficiency. Thus, the imbalance between FA supply and oxidation leads to accumulation of intramyocyte triglycerides (Lombardi et al., 2012). On the other hand, in the hyperthyroid condition, an increase in FA uptake into myocytes is associated with a rise in FA oxidation, which becomes less efficient because of proton-leak activation. Consequently, FAs are not deposited as triglycerides (Lombardi et al., 2012, **Figure 2**).

T3 Affects Mitochondrial Fatty Acid Oxidation

More processes are crucial for SKM mitochondrial FA oxidation, which include FA availability to mitochondria, import of acyl-CoA into the mitochondrion, mitochondrial oxidative capacity, and feedback inhibition by intermediates present in the FA oxidation pathway. T3 influences all the cited processes. Indeed, it promotes mitochondrial localization of FAT/CD36 (Lombardi et al., 2012), known to increase FA supply to the mitochondria (Holloway et al., 2009). This event is coordinated with the import of acyl-CoA into the mitochondria, obtained by activation of



the carnitine-palmitoyl-transferase (CPT) complex (considered a rate-limiting step for FA uptake into mitochondrion). T3 modulates transcription of CPT complex components (e.g., CPT-1 and -2, Silvestri et al., 2005). In addition, in SKM, T3 promotes AMPK activation and inhibition of its downstream target, acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC, Branvold et al., 2008; de Lange et al., 2008; Irrcher et al., 2008). ACC inhibition leads to a reduction in malonyl-CoA levels that inhibits CPT-1 activity. Thus, the activation of AMPK-ACC-malonyl-CoA signaling leads to sequential enhancement of CPT-1 activity, mitochondrial acyl-CoA uptake, and oxidation (de Lange et al., 2008, **Figure 2**).

Mitochondrial Lipid Handling and Uncoupling: Interrelated Role in Mediating the Effect of T3 on SKM Mitochondria

Inside mitochondria, a rise in NADH/NAD $^+$ and CoA-SH/acetyl-CoA ratios, as well as accumulation of $\beta\text{-}oxidation$

intermediate metabolites, can cause feedback inhibition of the β-oxidation pathway (Koves et al., 2008). The T3induced uncoupling effect contributes to maintaining the above ratios at low levels and thus, functioning to sustain an elevated mitochondrial FA oxidation rate. Furthermore, the activation of SKM intra-mitochondrial thioesterase (MTE; catalyzes cleavage of acyl-CoA to CoA and free FA) by T3 (Silvestri et al., 2005) contributes to sustaining a high FA oxidation rate, since it maintains a high CoA/acetyl-CoA ratio and supplies CoA, whose pool is limited, for βoxidation. Intra-mitochondrial production of FA, catalyzed by MTE, could play a role in FA-induced proton leak activated by T3. Thus, an interlink between lipid-handling and mitochondrial uncoupling coexists: the activation of uncoupling could facilitate the FA oxidation rate and, at the same time, the increase availability of FA to mitochondria, associated with lipid handling, would promote FA-induced mitochondrial uncoupling.

T2 Affects SKM Fatty Acid Oxidation

The rapid stimulatory effect of T2 on mitochondrial respiration seems to be specific to FA metabolism, since T2 does not influence mitochondrial ability to use pyruvate as a substrate (Lombardi et al., 2009a). T2 has an effect similar to that induced by T3 in increasing SKM FA uptake and channeling FAs to mitochondria and increasing their oxidation. Indeed, T2 and T3 activate translocation of FAT/CD36 from cellular depots to the sarcolemma and mitochondria, each in a very rapid fashion. In this aspect, the two iodothyronines seem to mimic the effect of physical exercise, which influences FAT/CD36-mediated transport of lipids across the sarcolemmal membrane and into the mitochondria (Holloway et al., 2009).

Although both T2 and T3 increase the SKM mitochondrial FA oxidation rate in hypothyroid rats, the onset of CPT and mitochondrial respiratory pathway activation differ since the two processes were already activated 1 h after T2 administration,

References

- Bahi, L., Garnier, A., Fortin, D., Serrurier, B., Veksler, V., Bigard, A. X., et al. (2005). Differential effects of thyroid hormones on energy metabolism of rat slow- and fast-twitch muscles. J. Cell Physiol. 203, 589–598. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.20273
- Ball, S. G., Sokolov, J., and Chin, W. W. (1997). 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine (T2) has selective thyromimetic effects *in vivo* and *in vitro*. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 19, 137–147. doi: 10.1677/jme.0.0190137
- Barbe, P., Larrouy, D., Boulanger, C., Chevillotte, E., Viguerie, N., Thalamas, C., et al. (2001). Triiodothyronine-mediated up-regulation of UCP2 and UCP3 mRNA expression in human SKM without coordinated induction of mitochondrial respiratory chain genes. *FASEB J.* 15, 13–15. doi: 10.1096/fj.00-0502fje
- Brand, M. D., and Esteves, T. C. (2005). Physiological functions of the mitochondrial uncoupling proteins UCP2 and UCP3. *Cell Metab.* 2, 85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.06.002
- Branvold, D. J., Allred, D. R., Beckstead, D. J., Kim, H. J., Fillmore, N., Condon, B. M., et al. (2008). Thyroid hormone effects on LKB1, MO25, phospho-AMPK, phospho-CREB, and PGC-1alpha in rat muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 105, 1218–1227. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00997.2007
- Brent, G. A. (2012). Mechanisms of thyroid hormone action. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 3035–3043. doi: 10.1172/JCI60047
- Cantó, C., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Feige, J. N., Lagouge, M., Noriega, L., Milne, J. C., et al. (2009). AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. *Nature* 458, 1056–1060. doi: 10.1038/nature07813
- Casas, F., Pessemesse, L., Grandemange, S., Seyer, P., Baris, O., Gueguen, N., et al. (2009). Overexpression of the mitochondrial T3 receptor induces SKM atrophy during aging. *PLoS ONE* 4:e5631. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0005631
- Casas, F., Rochard, P., Rodier, A., Cassar-Malek, I., Marchal-Victorion, S., Wiesner, R. J., et al. (1999). A variant form of the nuclear triiodothyronine receptor c-ErbAalpha1 plays a direct role in regulation of mitochondrial RNA synthesis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19, 7913–7924.
- Cioffi, F., Zambad, S. P., Chhipa, L., Senese, R., Busiello, R. A., Tuli, D., et al. (2010). TRC150094, a novel functional analog of iodothyronines, reduces adiposity by increasing energy expenditure and fatty acid oxidation in rats receiving a high-fat diet. *FASEB J.* 24, 3451–3461. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-157115
- Clement, K., Viguerie, N., Diehn, M., Alizadeh, A., Barbe, P., Thalamas, C., et al. (2002). *In vivo* regulation of human SKM gene expression by thyroid hormone. *Genome Res.* 12, 281–291. doi: 10.1101/gr.207702
- Crescenzo, R., Bianco, F., Mazzoli, A., Giacco, A., Liverini, G., and Iossa, S. (2014). Alterations in proton leak, oxidative status and uncoupling protein 3 content in

whereas T3 was ineffective at that time point (Lombardi et al., 2012). Within 1 h, T2 rapidly activated the AMPK-CPT-malonyl-CoA signaling pathway that leads to enhancement of FA uptake in mitochondria via increased CPT-1 activity (**Figure 2**). Rapid activation of MTE-1 and proton-leak by T2 would contribute to maintaining high FA oxidation rates (Lombardi et al., 2009b).

Conclusions

SKM mitochondrial physiology is profoundly affected by the thyroid state and underlies a significant part of the metabolic effects induced by T3. The recent discovery of T2 as a metabolically active thyroid hormone derivatives indicates that thyroid physiology is continually evolving. These novel aspects of thyroid physiology could reveal new perspectives for understanding the contribution of SKM mitochondria to different thyroid states.

skeletal muscle subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar mitochondria in old rats. *BMC Geriatr.* 4:79. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-14-79

- de Lange, P., Cioffi, F., Senese, R., Moreno, M., Lombardi, A., Silvestri, E., et al. (2011). Nonthyrotoxic prevention of diet-induced insulin resistance by 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine in rats. *Diabetes* 60, 2730–2739. doi: 10.2337/ db11-0207
- de Lange, P., Feola, A., Ragni, M., Senese, R., Moreno, M., Lombardi, A., et al. (2007). Differential 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine-mediated regulation of uncoupling protein 3 transcription: role of Fatty acids. *Endocrinology* 148, 4064–4072. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-0206
- de Lange, P., Lanni, A., Beneduce, L., Moreno, M., Lombardi, A., Silvestri, E., et al. (2001). Uncoupling protein-3 is a molecular determinant for the regulation of resting metabolic rate by thyroid hormone. *Endocrinology* 142, 3414–3420. doi: 10.1210/endo.142.8.8303
- de Lange, P., Senese, R., Cioffi, F., Moreno, M., Lombardi, A., Silvestri, E., et al. (2008). Rapid activation by 3,5,3'-L-triiodothyronine of adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase/acetyl-coenzyme a carboxylase and akt/protein kinase B signaling pathways: relation to changes in fuel metabolism and myosin heavy-chain protein content in rat gastrocnemius muscle *in vivo. Endocrinology* 149, 6462–6470. doi: 10.1210/ en.2008-0202
- Divakaruni, A. S., and Brand, M. D. (2011). The regulation and physiology of mitochondrial proton-leak. *Physiology* 26, 192–205. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00046.2010
- Dümmler, K., Müller, S., and Seitz, H. J. (1996). Regulation of adenine nucleotide translocase and glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase expression by thyroid hormones in different rat tissues. *Biochem. J.* 317, 913–918.
- Echtay, K. S., Roussel, D., St-Pierre, J., Jekabsons, M. B., Cadenas, S., Stuart, J. A., et al. (2002). Superoxide activates mitochondrial uncoupling proteins. *Nature* 415, 96–99. doi: 10.1038/415096a
- Flandin, P., Lehr, L., Asensio, C., Giacobino, J. P., Rohner-Jeanrenaud, F., Muzzin, P., et al. (2009). Uncoupling protein-3 as a molecular determinant of the action of 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine on energy metabolism. *Endocrine* 36, 246–254. doi: 10.1007/s12020-009-9217-8
- Garnier, A., Fortin, D., Delomenie, C., Momken, I., Veksler, V., and Ventura-Clapier, R. (2003). Depressed mitochondrial transcription factors and oxidative capacity in rat failing cardiac and SKMs. *J. Physiol.* 551, 491–501. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.045104
- Goglia, F., and Skulachev, V. P. (2005). A function for novel uncoupling proteins: antioxidant defense of mitochondrial matrix by translocating fatty acid peroxides from the inner to the outer membrane leale. *FASEB J.* 17, 1585–1591. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0159hyp
- Goglia, F. (2015). The effects of 3,5-diiodothyronine on energy balance. Front. Physiol. 5:528. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00528

- Gouspillou, G., Bourdel-Marchasson, I., Rouland, R., Calmettes, G., Biran, M., Deschodt-Arsac, V., et al. (2014). Mitochondrial energetics is impaired *in vivo* in aged skeletal muscle. *Aging Cell* 13, 39–48. doi: 10.1111/acel.12147
- Harper, M. E., and Brand, M. D. (1993). The quantitative contributions of mitochondrial proton leak and ATP turnover reactions to the changed respiration rates of hepatocytes from rats of different thyroid status. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 14850–14860.
- Holloway, G. P., Jain, S. S., Bezaire, V., Han, X. X., Glatz, J. F., Luiken, J. J., et al. (2009). FAT/CD36-null mice reveal that mitochondrial FAT/CD36 is required to upregulate mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation in contracting muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 297, R960–R967. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.91021.2008
- Iossa, S., Mollica, M. P., Lionetti, L., Crescenzo, R., Botta, M., Barletta, A., et al. (2002). Acetyl-carnitine supplementation differently influences nutrient partitioning, serum leptin concentration and skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration in young and old rats. J. Nutr. 132, 636–642.
- Irrcher, I., Walkinshaw, D. R., Sheehan, T. E., and Hood, D. A. (2008). Thyroid hormone (T3) rapidly activates p38 and AMPK in skeletal muscle *in vivo*. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 104, 178–185. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00643.2007
- Jäger, S., Handschin, C., St-Pierre, J., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2007). AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 12017–1222. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705070104
- Jonas, W., Lietzow, J., Wohlgemuth, F., Hoefig, C. S., Wiedmer, P., Schweizer, U., et al. (2015). 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine (3,5-T₂) exerts thyromimetic effects on hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid axis, body composition, and energy metabolism in male diet-induced obese mice. *Endocrinology* 156, 389–399. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1604
- Jucker, B. M., Dufour, S., Ren, J., Cao, X., Previs, S. F., Underhill, B., et al. (2000). Assessment of mitochondrial energy coupling *in vivo* by 13C/31P NMR. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 6880–6884. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120131997
- Knutti, D., and Kralli, A. (2001). PGC-1, a versatile coactivator. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 12, 360–365. doi: 10.1016/S1043-2760(01)00457-X
- Koves, T. R., Ussher, J. R., Noland, R. C., Slentz, D., Mosedale, M., Ilkayeva, O., et al. (2008). Mitochondrial overload and incomplete fatty acid oxidation contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 7, 45–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.10.013
- Lanni, A., Beneduce, L., Lombardi, A., Moreno, M., Boss, O., Muzzin, P., et al. (1999). Expression of uncoupling protein-3 and mitochondrial activity in the transition from hypothyroid to hyperthyroid state in rat skeletal muscle. *FEBS Lett.* 444, 250–254.
- Lanni, A., Moreno, M., Lombardi, A., de Lange, P., Silvestri, E., Ragni, M., et al. (2005). 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine powerfully reduces adiposity in rats by increasing the burning of fats. *FASEB J.* 19, 1552–1554. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-3977fje
- Lebon, V., Dufour, S., Petersen, K. F., Ren, J., Jucker, B. M., Slezak, L. A., et al. (2001). Effect of triiodothyronine on mitochondrial energy coupling in human skeletal muscle. J. Clin. Invest. 108, 733–737. doi: 10.1172/JCI11775
- Lombardi, A., Busiello, R. A., Napolitano, L., Cioffi, F., Moreno, M., de Lange, P., et al. (2010). UCP3 translocates lipid hydroperoxide and mediates lipid hydroperoxide-dependent mitochondrial uncoupling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 16599–16605. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.102699
- Lombardi, A., de Lange, P., Silvestri, E., Busiello, R. A., Lanni, A., Goglia, F., et al. (2009a). 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine rapidly enhances mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation rate and thermogenesis in rat skeletal muscle: AMP-activated protein kinase involvement. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 296, E497–E502. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90642.2008
- Lombardi, A., De Matteis, R., Moreno, M., Napolitano, L., Busiello, R. A., Senese, R., et al. (2012). Responses of skeletal muscle lipid metabolism in rat gastrocnemius to hypothyroidism and iodothyronine administration: a putative role for FAT/CD36. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 303, E1222–E1233. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00037.2012
- Lombardi, A., Grasso, P., Moreno, M., de Lange, P., Silvestri, E., Lanni, A., et al. (2008). Interrelated influence of superoxides and free fatty acids over mitochondrial uncoupling in skeletal muscle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1777, 826–833. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.04.019
- Lombardi, A., Lanni, A., de Lange, P., Silvestri, E., Grasso, P., Senese, R., et al. (2007). Acute administration of 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine to

hypothyroid rats affects bioenergetic parameters in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* 581, 5911–5916. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007. 11.073

- Lombardi, A., Senese, R., De Matteis, R., Busiello, R. A., Cioffi, F., Goglia, F., et al. (2015). 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine activates brown adipose tissue thermogenesis in hypothyroid rats. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0116498. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116498
- Lombardi, A., Silvestri, E., Cioffi, F., Senese, R., Lanni, A., Goglia, F., et al. (2009b). Defining the transcriptomic and proteomic profiles of rat ageing skeletal muscle by the use of a cDNA array, 2D- and Blue native-PAGE approach. J. Proteomics 72, 708–721. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2009.02.007
- Lombardi, A., Silvestri, E., Moreno, M., de Lange, P., Farina, P., Goglia, F., et al. (2002). Skeletal muscle mitochondrial free-fatty-acid content and membrane potential sensitivity in different thyroid states: involvement of uncoupling protein-3 and adenine nucleotide translocase. *FEBS Lett.* 532, 12–16. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03690-6
- Mendoza, A., Navarrete-Ramírez, P., Hernández-Puga, G., Villalobos, P., Holze, G., Renaud, J. P., et al. (2013). 3,5-T₂ is an alternative ligand for the thyroid hormone receptor β 1. *Endocrinology* 154, 2948–2958. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1030
- Moreno, M., Silvestri, E., De Matteis, R., de Lange, P., Lombardi, A., Glinni, D., et al. (2011). 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine prevents high-fat-diet-induced insulin resistance in rat skeletal muscle through metabolic and structural adaptations. *FASEB J.* 25, 3312–3324. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-181982
- Nogueira, V., Walter, L., Avéret, N., Fontaine, E., Rigoulet, M., and Leverve, X. M. (2002). Thyroid status is a key regulator of both flux and efficiency of oxidative phosphorylation in rat hepatocytes. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 34, 55–66 doi: 10.1023/A:1013822820840
- Pessemesse, L., Lepourry, L., Bouton, K., Levin, J., Cabello, G., Wrutniak-Cabello, C., et al. (2014). p28, a truncated form of TRα1 regulates mitochondrial physiology. *FEBS Lett.* 588, 4037–4043. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2014.09.026
- Pessemesse, L., Schlernitzauer, A., Sar, C., Levin, J., Grandemange, S., Seyerv, P., et al. (2012). Depletion of the p43 mitochondrial T3 receptor in mice affects SKM development and activity. *FASEB J.* 26, 748–756. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-195933
- Puigserver, P. (2005). Tissue-specific regulation of metabolic pathways through the transcriptional coactivator PGC1-alpha. Int. J. Obes. (Lond.) 29, S5–S9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802905
- Rolfe, D. F., and Brand, M. D. (1996). Proton-leak and control of oxidative phosphorylation in perfused, resting rat SKM. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1276, 45–50. doi: 10.1016/0005-2728(96)00029-1
- Rolfe, D. F., Newman, J. M., Buckingham, J. A., Clark, M. G., and Brand, M. D. (1999). Contribution of mitochondrial proton-leak to respiration rate in working SKM and liver to SMR. Am. J. Physiol. 276(Pt 1), C692–C699.
- Rolfe, D. F. S., and Brown, G. C. (1997). Cellular energy utilisation and molecular origin of standard metabolic rate in mammals. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 731–758.
- Salvatore, D., Simonides, W. S., Dentice, M., Zavacki, A. M., and Larsen, P. R. (2014). Thyroid hormones and skeletal muscle-new insights and potential implications. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 10, 206–214. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2013.238
- Schrauwen, P., Hoeks, J., and Hesselink, M. K. (2006). Putative function and physiological relevance of the mitochondrial uncoupling protein-3: involvement in fatty acid metabolism? *Prog. Lipid Res.* 45, 17–41. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2005.11.001
- Short, K. R., Nygren, J., Barazzoni, R., Levine, J., and Nair, K. S. (2001). T(3) increases mitochondrial ATP production in oxidative muscle despite increased expression of UCP2 and -3. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 280, E761–E769.
- Silvestri, E., Lombardi, A., de Lange, P., Schiavo, L., Lanni, A., Goglia, F., et al. (2008). Age-related changes in renal and hepatic cellular mechanisms associated with variations in rat serum thyroid hormone levels. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 294, E1160–E1168. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00044.2008
- Silvestri, E., Moreno, M., Lombardi, A., Ragni, M., de Lange, P., Alexson, S. E., et al. (2005). Thyroid-hormone effects on putative biochemical pathways involved in UCP3 activation in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* 579, 1639–1645. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.02.022
- Skulachev, V. P. (1991). Fatty acid circuit as a physiological mechanism of uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation. *FEBS Lett.* 294, 158–162. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(91)80658-P

- Valle, A., Santandreu, F. M., García-Palmer, F. J., Roca, P., and Oliver, J. (2008). The serum levels of 17β -estradiol, progesterone and triiodothyronine correlate with brown adipose tissue thermogenic parameters during aging. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 22, 337–346. doi: 10.1159/000149812
- Venditti, P., Bari, A., Di Stefano, L., and Di Meo, S. (2007). Role of mitochondria in exercise-induced oxidative stress in skeletal muscle from hyperthyroid rats. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 463, 12–18. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2007. 02.004
- Venditti, P., Puca, A., and Di Meo, S. (2003). Effect of thyroid state on rate and sites of H2O2 production in rat skeletal muscle mitochondria. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 411, 121–128. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00720-8
- Weitzel, J. M., Radtke, C., and Seitz, H. J. (2001). Two thyroid hormone-mediated gene expression patterns *in vivo* identified by cDNA expression arrays in rat. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 5148–5155. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.24.5148
- Wiesner, R. J., Kurowski, T. T., and Zak, R. (1992). Regulation by thyroid hormone of nuclear and mitochondrial genes encoding subunits of cytochrome-c oxidase in rat liver and SKM. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6, 1458–1467.

- Wrutniak, C., Cassar-Malek, I., Marchal, S., Rascle, A., Heusser, S., Keller, J. M., et al. (1995). A 43-kDa protein related to c-Erb A alpha 1 is located in the mitochondrial matrix of rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 16347–16354.
- Wrutniak-Cabello, C., Casas, F., and Cabello, G. (2001). Thyroid hormone action in mitochondria. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 26, 67–77. doi: 10.1677/jme.0.0260067

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Lombardi, Moreno, de Lange, Iossa, Busiello and Goglia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

